
 

 
 

Notice of meeting of  
 

Executive 
 
To: Councillors Waller (Chair), Ayre, Steve Galloway, Moore, 

Morley, Reid and Runciman 
 

Date: Tuesday, 16 February 2010 
 

Time: 2.00 pm 
 

Venue: The Guildhall 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

Notice to Members - Calling In: 
 
Members are reminded that, should they wish to call in any item on 
this agenda, notice must be given to Democracy Support Group by: 
 
10:00 am on Monday 15 February 2010, if an item is called in 
before a decision is taken, or 
 
4:00 pm on Thursday 18 February 2010, if an item is called in 
after a decision has been taken. 
 
Items called in will be considered by the Scrutiny Management 
Committee. 
 

 
1. Declarations of Interest   

 

At this point, Members are asked to declare any personal or 
prejudicial interest they may have in the business on this agenda. 
 

2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

To approve and sign the minutes of the Executive meeting held on 
2 February 2010. 
 



 
3. Public Participation   

 

At this point in the meeting, members of the public who have 
registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or a 
matter within the Executive’s remit can do so.  The deadline for 
registering is 5:00 pm on Monday 15 February 2010. 
 

4. Executive Forward Plan  (Pages 7 - 8) 
 

To receive details of those items that are listed on the Forward Plan 
for the next two Executive meetings. 
 

5. 10:10 Campaign and Sustainability Update  (Pages 9 - 28) 
 

This report responds to the council motion of October 2009 on the 
national 10:10 Campaign and sets out how City of York Council will 
look to achieve a 10% reduction in CO2 emissions in 2010 as 
required by the campaign.  The report also provides updates on 
some of the major projects being carried out across York with the 
Sustainability team. 
 

6. Community Stadium - Update Report  (Pages 29 - 46) 
 

The purpose of this report is to provide the Executive with an 
update on the progress of the Community Stadium project. 
 

7. Review of Discretionary Concessions Provision and the 
Introduction of a "Taxicard" for Disabled York Residents  
(Pages 47 - 60) 
 

This report is presented in response to the recommendation made 
at the Executive meeting of 20 January 2009 to explore the 
possibility of introducing an electronic, stored value, taxi-card to 
replace the national transport tokens being issued to entitled 
disabled residents. 
 

8. Comments from the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Regarding the Referral from the Executive on Overspends in 
Adult Social Services  (Pages 61 - 76) 
 

This report sets out the comments of the Health Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee on the referral from the Executive regarding 
overspends in Adult Social Services.  Councillor Alexander, Chair 
of the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, will be in attendance 
at the meeting to present the Committee’s comments. 



 
 

9. Third Performance and Financial Monitor for 2009-10  (Pages 
77 - 98) 
 

This report provides details of the headline performance issues for 
the third performance monitor of 2009-10 covering the period from 
1 April to 31 December 2009. 
 

10. Capital Programme Monitor 3  (Pages 99 - 126) 
 

This report presents the likely outturn position of the 2009/10 
Capital Programme based on the spend profile and information to 
mid January 2010, and seeks approval for changes to the 
programme and slippage of funding, where required. 
 

11. Treasury Management Monitor 3 and Prudential Indicators 
09/10  (Pages 127 - 142) 
 

This report presents an update on the Treasury Management 
performance for the period 1 April 09 to 31 December 2009 
compared against the budget presented to Council on 21 February 
2009. 
 

12. Capital programme Budget 2010/11 to 2014/15  (Pages 143 - 
178) 
 

This report presents the 5 year capital programme budget for the 
period 2010/11 to 2014/15 including new capital schemes and 
appropriate funding arrangements, and asks Members to 
recommend it to Budget Council for approval. 
 
 

13. Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential 
Indicators for 2010/11 to 2014/15  (Pages 179 - 220) 
 

This report asks the Executive to recommend that Budget Council 
approve an integrated Treasury Management Strategy Statement, 
the proposed Prudential Indicators for 2010/11 to 2014/15, 
adoption of the revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice, revised Treasury Management Policy Statement, 
reporting arrangements, Treasury Management Scheme of 
Delegation and role of the section 151 officer. 
 



 
14. Financial Strategy 2010 - 2016  (Pages 221 - 330) 

 

This report presents the Financial Strategy for the period 2010 - 
2016, including the detailed Revenue Budget proposals for 
2010/11, and asks Members to recommend the proposals to 
Budget Council. 
 
 

15. Urgent Business   
 

Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the 
Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Democracy Officer:  
 
Name: Fiona Young 
Contact details: 

• Telephone – (01904) 551027 
• E-mail – fiona.young@york.gov.uk 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

• Registering to speak 
• Business of the meeting 
• Any special arrangements 
• Copies of reports 

 
Contact details are set out above.  

 



About City of York Council Meetings 
 

Would you like to speak at this meeting? 
If you would, you will need to: 

• register by contacting the Democracy Officer (whose name and contact 
details can be found on the agenda for the meeting) no later than 5.00 
pm on the last working day before the meeting; 

• ensure that what you want to say speak relates to an item of business on 
the agenda or an issue which the committee has power to consider (speak 
to the Democracy Officer for advice on this); 

• find out about the rules for public speaking from the Democracy Officer. 
A leaflet on public participation is available on the Council’s website or 
from Democratic Services by telephoning York (01904) 551088 
 
Further information about what’s being discussed at this meeting 
All the reports which Members will be considering are available for viewing 
online on the Council’s website.  Alternatively, copies of individual reports or the 
full agenda are available from Democratic Services.  Contact the Democracy 
Officer whose name and contact details are given on the agenda for the 
meeting. Please note a small charge may be made for full copies of the 
agenda requested to cover administration costs. 
 
Access Arrangements 
We will make every effort to make the meeting accessible to you.  The meeting 
will usually be held in a wheelchair accessible venue with an induction hearing 
loop.  We can provide the agenda or reports in large print, electronically 
(computer disk or by email), in Braille or on audio tape.  Some formats will take 
longer than others so please give as much notice as possible (at least 48 hours 
for Braille or audio tape).   
 
If you have any further access requirements such as parking close-by or a sign 
language interpreter then please let us know.  Contact the Democracy Officer 
whose name and contact details are given on the order of business for the 
meeting. 
 
Every effort will also be made to make information available in another 
language, either by providing translated information or an interpreter providing 
sufficient advance notice is given.  Telephone York (01904) 551550 for this 
service. 

 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



 
Holding the Executive to Account 
The majority of councillors are not appointed to the Executive (40 out of 47).  
Any 3 non-Executive councillors can ‘call-in’ an item of business from a 
published Executive (or Executive Member Decision Session) agenda. The 
Executive will still discuss the ‘called in’ business on the published date and will 
set out its views for consideration by a specially convened Scrutiny 
Management Committee (SMC).  That SMC meeting will then make its 
recommendations to the next scheduled Executive meeting in the following 
week, where a final decision on the ‘called-in’ business will be made.  
 
Scrutiny Committees 
The purpose of all scrutiny and ad-hoc scrutiny committees appointed by the 
Council is to:  

• Monitor the performance and effectiveness of services; 
• Review existing policies and assist in the development of new ones, as 

necessary; and 
• Monitor best value continuous service improvement plans 

 
Who Gets Agenda and Reports for our Meetings?  

• Councillors get copies of all agenda and reports for the committees to 
which they are appointed by the Council; 

• Relevant Council Officers get copies of relevant agenda and reports for 
the committees which they report to;  

• Public libraries get copies of all public agenda/reports.  
 

Page 2



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

MEETING EXECUTIVE 

DATE 2 FEBRUARY 2010 

PRESENT COUNCILLORS WALLER (CHAIR), AYRE, 
STEVE GALLOWAY, MOORE, MORLEY, REID AND 
RUNCIMAN 

 
146. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Members were invited to declare at this point in the meeting any personal 
or prejudicial interests they might have in the business on the agenda.  No 
interests were declared. 
 
 

147. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Executive meeting held on 19 

January 2010 be approved and signed by the Chair as a 
correct record. 

 
 

148. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak at the 
meeting under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme. 
 
 

149. EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLAN  
 
Members received and noted details of those items that were listed on the 
Forward Plan for the next two Executive meetings at the time the agenda 
was published. 
 
 

150. FEEDBACK ON ONE PLACE WEBSITE / APPROVAL FOR YORK'S 
PROFILE ON THE YORK & NORTH YORKSHIRE LOCAL 
INFORMATION SYSTEM  
 
Members considered a report which presented feedback from the analysis 
work requested on the Audit Commission’s ‘One Place’ website data.  The 
report also outlined progress on the York & North Yorkshire Local 
Information System (LIS), aimed at sharing information with members of 
the North Yorkshire Strategic Partnership, and sought approval to launch 
the first stage of the LIS.   
 
The Audit Commission had confirmed the accuracy of the data about York 
presented on their One Place website.  A recent internal analysis on those 
indicators which were verifiable had also shown the data to be correct.  
Discussions were taking place with the Audit Commission to gain feedback 

Agenda Item 2Page 3



on a number of observations, relating mainly to presentation and 
interpretation of the data, as detailed in paragraph 7 of the report.  Officers 
reported at the meeting that the issues identified on specific indicators had 
now been corrected.  It was clear that One Place would in future be a very 
useful source of data which would inform performance management 
reports and decision making across the Council and the City, with links to 
the proposed York & North Yorkshire LIS.  Officers  
 
In June 2009, York had agreed to join York and North Yorkshire Strategic 
Partnership in developing an LIS, on the proviso that funding was made 
available and links with Leeds City Region were explored.  The lead 
authority, North Yorkshire County Council, had received 3-year funding 
from the Regional Improvement and Efficiency Partnership to support the 
project.  The LIS would provide a map-based, on-line local statistics 
service for the public and a large shared data warehouse facility for the use 
of partners.  It was now at a point where the first stage of the York profile 
could be demonstrated and made live at any point after final approval from 
Members.  A summary of the anticipated benefits of the project was set out 
in Annex 1 to the report.  Example screen shots of the York profile were 
provided at Annex 2. 
 
RESOLVED: (i) That the results of the analysis exercise carried out on 

the Audit Commission’s One Place site, and the further work 
under way with auditors and other organisations, be noted. 

 
REASON: So that Members are informed of progress in ensuring that 

public data relating to the City is accurate and presented 
clearly. 

 
 (ii) That the launch of the York profile on the North 

Yorkshire & York Local Information System, to enable the 
move from the draft stage to a live stage on the NYCC 
website (Option 1) be approved.1 

 
REASON: To take advantage of an external funding opportunity, further 

improve knowledge about our communities and share 
information with partners and other organisations. 

 
 (iii) That Officers be required to monitor the use of City of 

York Council officer time in joining with the Local Information 
System, and that this be delivered at no additional cost to the 
Council. 2 

 
 (iv) That future reports indicate clearly what outcomes 

have resulted from the application of the new system. 3 
 
REASON: To ensure that the value of the system can be clearly 

demonstrated. 
 
 (v) That the Assistant Director of Resources (Customer 

Services and Governance) be requested to take on 
responsibility for the cross-referencing of data held on the LIS 

Page 4



with the information held by the Audit Commission on the 
One Place website. 4 

 
REASON: In order to avoid any future conflicts of content and 

presentation between the two systems. 
 
Action Required  
  
1. Implement the launch of the York profile on the LIS  
2. Arrange for the use of Officer time and cost on the LIS to 
be monitored  
3. Ensure that future reports include outcomes from LIS  
4. Ensure that LIS / One Place data is cross-referenced   
 
 

 
 
PS  
PS  
 
PS  
PS  

 
 
 
 
A Waller, Chair 
[The meeting started at 2.00 pm and finished at 2.10 pm]. 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



Executive Meeting 16 February 2010  
 
EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLAN (as at  28 January 2010) 
 
Table 1: Items scheduled on the Forward Plan for the Executive Meeting on 2 March 2010 
Title & Description Author Portfolio Holder 

No items now scheduled for this meeting   

 
Table 2: Items scheduled on the Forward Plan for the Executive Meeting on 16 March 2010 
 

Information Governance Policy and Strategy 2010 

Purpose of report: For information at: Review and update of the 2007 strategy 
taking account of new guidance and internal developments. 
Salient points are: No Request of additional resources. Service by service 
review is the strategy. LGA backing. Internal drivers are HQ move and More for 
York.  
 
Members are asked to: support the strategy that CMT has adopted, which will 
improve service delivery, enhance information governance and reduce 
financial and reputational risk to the council 

Robert Beane Executive Member for 
Corporate Services 

 
Table 3: Items slipped on the Forward Plan with the agreement of the Group Leaders 
Title & Description Author Portfolio 

Holder 
Original Date Revised Date Reason for Slippage 

Fleet Management and 
Vehicle Maintenance 

Purpose of report: To 
update members on 
progress with the vehicle 
maintenance facility and 
consider options for the 
future of fleet management 
and vehicle maintenance. 

Geoff Derham Executive 
Member for 
Neighbourhoods 

16 February 2010 June 2010 Owing to staffing 
issues. 
 
 
 
 

A
genda Item

 4
P

age 7



 
Members are asked to: 
Consider the options and 
approve the option 
recommended by officers. 

Minutes of Working 
Groups 

Purpose of Report: This 
report presents the minutes 
of recent meetings of the 
Young People’s Working 
Group, the LDF Working 
Group and the Social 
Inclusion Working Group and 
asks Members to consider 
the advice given by the 
Groups in their capacity as 
advisory bodies to the 
Executive. 
 
Members are asked to: Note 
the minutes and to decide 
whether they wish to approve 
the specific 
recommendations made by 
the Working Groups, and /or 
respond to any of the advice 
offered by the Working 
Groups. 

Jayne Carr Executive 
Leader 

2 March 2010 30 March 2010 This was the only item 
scheduled for this 
meeting. 

 

P
age 8



 

 

 

 
 

Executive 
 

 
16th February 2010  

 
Report of the Assistant Director: Planning and Sustainable Development 

City Strategy 

10:10 Campaign and Sustainability Update  

Summary 

1. This report responds to the council motion of October 2009 on the 
national 10:10 Campaign and sets out how City of York Council (CYC) 
will look to achieve a 10 per cent reduction in CO2 emissions in 2010 
as required by the Campaign. 

2. The report also provides information updates on some of the major 
projects being carried out across York, within the Sustainability team of 
CYC, including; the Climate Change Framework and Action Plan, 
Renewable Energy Viability Study for York, and Green Streets 
Challenge. 

10:10  

3. In October 2009 Full Council passed a motion signing up to the 
national 10:10 campaign and requiring officers to bring a paper to 
Executive setting out how CYC will meet the campaign requirement to 
reduce carbon dioxide emissions from council operations by 10 percent 
in 2010. 

4. The overall aim of the Campaign is for people, business, education and 
organisations to reduce their CO2 emissions by 10 per cent over the 
course of 2010.  Further information can be found at www.1010uk.org 

5. For CYC this means reducing CO2 emissions by approximately 1,220 
tonnes between 1st April 2010 and 31st March 2011. The emission 
reduction is based on 2008/09 figures. A definitive emission reduction 
total will not be known until June 2010, when NI185 data is submitted 
to DEFRA. 

6. The 10 per cent reduction target excludes schools and outsourced 
services. Therefore CYC’s emission reductions will come principally 
from buildings (excluding schools), transport and street lighting. 

7. Through the Council’s Carbon Management Programme (CMP) 
projects are being identified to enable a 25 per cent reduction in CO2 
emissions by 2013. A number of these projects will also contribute to 
the 10 per cent reduction target allocated to the Campaign. To date 
over 1100 tonnes of carbon dioxide have been saved through the CMP. 

Agenda Item 5Page 9



8. Table 1 sets out the proposed projects which will contribute to a 10 per 
cent reduction in 2010/11. 

Table 1: 10:10 Campaign projects – project breakdown 
1. Mercury lanterns replacement 
Project description 
1,300 mercury vapour lanterns will be replaced with modern 
alternatives. On completion, all mercury vapour lanterns will have been 
removed from the City. 

Lead 
department 

Estimated 
CO2 

savings (t) 

Estimated 
cost (£) 

Financial 
savings 

(£) 

Funding secured? 

Highway 
infrastructure 

120 132,000 21,242 / 
year 

Funding anticipated 
from 2010/11 capital 
programme*  

2. 250 watt to 150 watt lantern conversions 
Project description 
50 250 watt lanterns will be replaced with 150 watt white light 
examples. The project will build on the work undertaken in 2009/10 
which installed 50 such lanterns in the city centre. 

Lead 
department 

Estimated 
CO2 

savings (t) 

Estimated 
cost (£) 

Financial 
savings 

(£) 

Funding secured? 

Highway 
infrastructure 

12 17,500 2,080 / 
year 

Funding anticipated 
from 2010/11 capital 
programme* 

3. Solar bollards 
Project description 
The project involves disconnecting 50 bollards/signs from the mains 
electricity supply and using solar panels to provide the power needed 
to operate them. 

Lead 
department 

Estimated 
CO2 

savings (t) 

Estimated 
cost (£) 

Financial 
savings 

(£) 

Funding secured? 

Highway 
infrastructure 

11 25,000 2,000 / 
year 

Funding anticipated 
from 2010/11 capital 
programme* 

4. LED lanterns 
Project description 
50 lanterns will be replaced with LED alternatives. The project builds 
on a trial which took place during 2009/10 with 10 LED lanterns in the 
South Bank area of the city. 

Lead 
department 

Estimated 
CO2 

savings (t) 

Estimated 
cost (£) 

Financial 
savings 

(£) 

Funding secured? 

Highway 
infrastructure 

2 25,000 427 / 
year 

Funding anticipated 
from 2010/11 capital 
programme* 

 
 

Page 10



5. powerPerfector voltage optimisers 
Project description 
powerPerfector is a voltage power optimiser, giving energy, cost and carbon 
savings by efficiently optimising a site’s supply voltage. By optimising the 
voltage, electrical equipment runs more efficiently and consumes less energy. 
The project will install one device in the workshops at the EcoDepot.  
Lead department Estimated 

CO2 
savings (t) 

Estimated 
cost (£) 

Financial 
savings 

(£) 

Funding secured? 

Energy team 18 16,901 3,388 / 
year 

Funding anticipated 
from Salix Finance.  

6. Staff awareness, training visits and turn heating down hjgfhjgfhjgfjkjk        
Project description 
Smart meters have been installed in a number of Council buildings. The 
installation of new meters will help in monitoring and inform staff on site of 
how well their improvement measures are working through: 

• bespoke training and building audits in carbon reduction; 
• league tables and target setting for energy reduction in Council 

buildings; and, 
• traffic light switches – label all switches so people know what they are 

and if they can be switched off. Posters to be displayed in offices so it 
is clear what equipment is to be left on. 

A programme of training is to be established for key staff and will include: 
• building managers and caretakers – general awareness training, 

correct setting of controls and making use of monitoring information; 
• building users – general awareness and good housekeeping; 
• procurement staff – awareness of long-term energy costs when 

purchasing equipment, including the use of lifetime costings; and, 
• architects and design staff – training in low energy building design and 

integration of renewable energy technologies into building design. 
A programme of disseminating clear advice to building users will be 
developed via a network of Energy Champions. This will include: 

• switching off computers when not in use and enabling energy 
management software; 

• using energy save options on photocopiers and other office 
equipment; 

• switching off lights in empty rooms or when daylight provides sufficient 
light; 

• correct use of thermostats for heating and air conditioning; 
• closing windows and external doors in winter; and, 
• purchasing energy efficient goods. 

The maximum recommended temperature for heating offices is 19°C. The 
turning the heating down project involves ensuring that all Council buildings 
are heated to a maximum temperature of 19°C. Doing so will ensure less 
energy is used. 
 
 
 

Page 11



Lead 
department 

Estimated 
CO2 

savings (t) 

Estimated 
cost (£) 

Financial 
savings 

(£) 

Funding secured? 

Energy and 
sustainability 
team 

300 0 5,000 / 
year 

Yes 

7. Oaklands Sports Centre  
Project description 
The existing Oaklands Sports Centre has been extended to incorporate a new 
swimming pool. This replaces Edward Wilson swimming pool which has 
closed.   

Lead 
department 

Estimated 
CO2 

savings (t) 

Estimated 
cost (£) 

Financial 
savings 

(£) 

Funding secured? 

Property 
services 

349 n/a No 
saving – 
10,000 
cost 

Yes. £10,000 cost is as a 
result of the fuel for the 
biomass boiler, which is 
more expensive than gas 
at present. 

8. Building rationalisation 
Project description 
As a result of the new Oaklands Sport Centre, Edward Wilson swimming pool 
is surplus to requirements. Therefore, the Council is no longer paying for the 
fuel to heat/run the buildings and as a result has made carbon savings.   

Lead 
department 

Estimated 
CO2 

savings (t) 

Estimated 
cost (£) 

Financial 
savings 

(£) 

Funding secured? 

Property 
services 

450 0 No 
saving 

Yes. The budget which 
was used to run the 
swimming pool has been 
transferred to Oaklands 
Sports Centre. 

Total carbon savings 1,262 tonnes 
 
* £200k is required to fund these projects. Funding is being sought from the Capital 
Programme through the CRAM process at the current time. If funding is not identified, 145 
tonnes will have to be found from as yet unidentified other projects to allow the Council to 
meet its commitment under the 10:10 Campaign. Please see section 10 for more details. 
 

9. As set out above it is estimated that 1262 tonnes will be saved in 
2010/2011. This is 42 tonnes over the anticipated 1220 tonnes target. 

10. However, experience through the CMP, projects shows that estimated 
CO2 savings and actual CO2 savings can vary for a number of 
operational reasons. For this reason, and should CRAM funding and 
Salix funding not be secured, a series of contingency projects will also 
be investigated by the Sustainability Team and Carbon Management 
Programme Core Team over the coming months. These potential 
projects for possible inclusion in 10:10 (and CMP) are:  

Page 12



• Webaspx route optimisation software to allow efficiencies (carbon 
and financial) to be made in the refuse vehicles’ collection rounds; 

• Printer/photocopier rationalisation programme as part of More for 
York; 

• Power configuration software for all newly purchased PCs; and, 
• Transport behaviour change in partnership with Human Resources 

and Development and Transport teams, e.g. public transport policy, 
re-evaluation of business mileage payments. 

 
11. Joining 10:10 is not just about reducing CYC’s own emissions: it’s 

about becoming part of a national drive to reduce the entire country’s 
carbon footprint. As such, an important part of the 10:10 commitment is 
spreading the word and seeking to get other people and organisations 
involved. CYC will develop a 10:10 communication campaign by March 
2010 and promote and invite staff, residents and other organisations 
across York to take part in the campaign.  

 

Climate Change update 

12. As part of the Sustainable Community Strategy, the City of York 
Council and the Without Walls Partnership are committed to creating a 
Sustainable City.  

13. The Without Walls Partnership are also committed to combating and 
adapting to Climate Change. They are finalising a draft Climate Change 
(CC) Framework and Action Plan by April 2010.  

14. To date the CC Framework and Action Plan have been drafted and 
circulated to members of the Environment Partnership Board and 
Climate Change subgroup seeking to set targets and actions agreed 
with Partners across the City.  

15. Currently the Climate Change Subgroup of the Environment 
Partnership Board, and supported by the Sustainability team, are 
finalising the Framework and Action Plan. The drafts will be presented 
to the Without Walls Board and CYC Executive from April 2010. Public 
consultation will also follow in the summer. It is envisaged that the 
documents will be officially launched and implemented from September 
2010. To date consultation has been internal across CYC and through 
the Without Walls Partnership. A communication plan will also 
accompany the drafts. 

16. A briefing paper summarising the Framework and Action Plan can be 
found in Appendix 1. 

17. It is likely that the Framework and Action Plan will look to meet the 
national Climate Change Act 2008 targets. This act legally binds the 
UK to at least a 80 percent reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 
2050. Figure 1. illustrates what these targets mean for York’s emission 
reduction (based on the most up to date data available for York from 
Department for Energy and Climate Change (DECC).  

Page 13



0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

2005
2010

2015
2020

2025
2030

2035
2040

2045
2050

Industry CO2 (t)

Domestic CO2 (t)

Transport CO2 (t)

 
Figure 1. Actual and projected carbon emissions, per sector, for York in line with the 
national 80% reduction target by 2050 (source DECC 2009) 

 

18. However, following the Full Council motion (approved on 3rd December 
2009) this framework and action plan will now need to reference the 
Council’s commitment to the Covenants of Mayors and the Friends of 
the Earth ‘Get serious’ campaign. These commit the City to a 40% 
reduction in carbon emissions by 2020. Officers are investigating how 
such a target can be met in York and what resources are needed to 
support this work. 

19. In September 2009 CYC’s Sustainability Team held a ‘Working 
Together to Tackle Climate Change Event’. Part of this event begun to 
investigate and identify future threats and opportunities associated to 
climate change. Using regional projected climate data,  key impacts, 
consequences and suggested future action that will allow York to adapt 
and prepare for a changing climate were all discussed. This work is 
now being followed up with relevant officers across CYC (the main 
areas are flood risk, risk to buildings, staff, residents, essential 
infrastructure and  services). This work will fed into the Climate Change 
Framework and Action Plan. 

20. To support this work, and essential to meeting requirements of national 
indicator 188 (NI 188 adapting to climate change), a local climate 
impact profile is also to be carried out to identify York’s current and 
past vulnerability to weather related events, including extreme weather 
events such as heavy rainfall. This work will help York to risk assess 
and see the areas that it needs to address to better prepare the City for 
a changing climate in the future. The Profile will also fed into the 
Climate Change Framework and Action Plan.  

21. NI 188 is currently ranked as red as CYC failed to meet level 1 of the 
NI 188 criteria. However, an action plan to achieve NI 188 level 1 by 
March 2010 is in place. This should see CYC back on track with 
meeting the LAA target of level 1 for 2009/10. 

Page 14



Renewable Energy Viability Study  

 
22. In June 2009 City Strategy DMT approved the commissioning of a 

Renewable Energy Viability Study. This study will support the LDF’s 
Core Strategy and its evidence base for renewable energy and carbon 
dioxide reduction targets. 

23. The Study will be completed by April 2010 and will identify local viability 
and potential for renewable and low-carbon technologies in York. It will 
also illustrate the potential such technologies will have in meeting 
York’s regional renewable energy target. A full report will be taken to 
LDF working group, DMT, CMT and Executive once this study is in a 
completed draft format. 

24. Good progress has been made on this study – meetings between the 
consultant team and CYC officers have seen initial stages of the work 
programme complete. 

25. This study will also be used to generate suitable projects across the 
City as part of the Climate Change Framework and Action Plan. It will 
also support the work of the Green Jobs Task Force by highlighting the 
potential for the creation of renewable energy related jobs/sectors in 
York.  

26. Based on the results the study will inform the policy approach taken to 
renewable energy and energy efficiency in the LDF Core Strategy and 
all subsequent LDF documents, including the Allocation DPD and the 
two Area Action Plans. In addition it will also be incorporated into 
Supplementary Planning Documents and will have a direct influence 
over the development control process 

Sustainable City Community Projects  

Green Streets Challenge 

27. As requested by the Executive Member for City Strategy, this update 
covers the Green Streets Challenge, one of the Without Walls Local 
Area Agreement Delivery Grant funded projects. 

28. This project is led by the Stockholm Environment Institute (SEI) on 
behalf of the Environment Partnership Board (EPB) (of the Without 
Walls Partnership). Regular progress updates have been presented to 
the EPB, most recently in January 2010. 

29. This project calculated the carbon footprint for York’s neighbourhoods 
and used this data to then identify the areas in the City where there 
was a high potential to help homes reduce their carbon footprint by 10 
per cent.  

30. To date the carbon footprint for York has been published by the SEI. A 
full copy of this report and its findings is available at: http://sei-
international.org/?p=publications&task=view&pid=1312 

31. As part of phase II of this project, the SEI have identified areas in 
Holgate and Micklegate wards that have a high potential to reduce their 

Page 15



carbon footprint through energy saving measure and smarter 
/sustainable lifestyle and  transport choices.  

32. In these chosen wards, 500 homes have been contacted and invited to 
take the Green Streets Challenge. From January 2010 – June 2010 
homes taking part will aim to reduce their carbon footprint by 10%. 
Residents are offered expert advice and access to a Green Street 
Mentor (through SEI) , plus a carbon footprint action plan from the SEI. 

33. CYC staff are a part of the planned expert advice package, including 
Recycling, Transport and Sustainability officers. The Energy Saving 
Trust Advice Centre are also playing a significant part offering expert 
advice. CYC Officers will need to provide degrees of support and 
assistance to the SEI from February 2010 with advice and guidance in 
the above areas. 

34. So far 5 community events have been undertaken and total of 102 
Residents have been recruited on the doorstop. 

35. Three additional teams have also joined the challenge. These include a 
Church team at St Edwards the Confessor Church in Dringhouses (14), 
Park Grove Primary School (4-10) and Heworth Primary School (10).   

36. In January 2010 the Challenge started fully. A pledge party was held 
for all the participants by SEI.  Over the next 6 months participating 
homes will try to reduce their footprint.  A prize is to be offered to 
winner(s). 

37. A full report is attached as Appendix 2.  

Options 

38. This report presents the project proposals which will enable CYC to 
meet the 10:10 commitment and also provides an update on other 
sustainability projects across the City. Executive are asked to endorse 
the 10:10 projects, note the good progress being made with other 
sustainability projects and support the Without Walls Green Streets 
project. 

Corporate Priorities 

39. The projects outlined above relate to the priority to reduce the 
environmental impacts of Council activities. The 10:10 Campaign will 
help to reduce CO2 emissions from our buildings, street lighting and 
transport by 10 per cent within a year and support a 25 per cent 
reduction by 2013 as required by the Carbon Management Programme 
(CMP).  

40. The projects are necessarily in accordance with the Sustainable 
Community Strategy. 

Implications 

41. Financial: Funding for certain 10:10 projects (where identified) requires 
CYC / partner funding.  

42. Human Resources (HR): There are no HR implications. 

Page 16



43. Equalities: There are no equalities implications. 

44. Legal: There are no legal implications. 

45. Crime and Disorder: There are no crime and disorder implications. 

46. Information Technology (IT): There are no IT implications. 

47. Property: Due to the lack of resources (officer time) available to 
implement projects for the 10:10 campaign within transport, property 
are delivering a greater proportion of the projects which will deliver a 10 
per cent reduction. This may present a capacity issue for property. 

48. Other: There are no other implications. 

Risk Management 

49. Risk - Failure to secure Salix and CRAM funding for 10:10 projects 1-5.  
Without funding from Salix and CRAM projects 1 –5 will not be carried 
out. This will potentially affect the ability of CYC to meet the 10:10 
target. 

50. Mitigation - To ensure that this does not happen contingency planning 
and the investigation of the projects detailed in section 10 should be 
undertaken.  

51. Risk – failure to secure CYC funding for Street lighting projects would 
result in a failure to deliver these projects (see project table). This will 
potentially affect the ability of CYC to meet the 10:10 target. 

52. Mitigation - To ensure that this does not happen contingency planning 
and the investigation of the projects detailed in section 10 should be 
undertaken. 

53. Risk - Sustainability Officers and other CYC Officers have competing 
demands on their time which may result in one or more of the projects 
identified above not being delivered within the timescales set out in this 
paper. To ensure this does not happen rigorous project planning / 
performance management measures should be put in place and 
regular updates provided.  

Recommendations 

54. Executive are asked to endorse the 10:10 projects, note the good 
progress being made with other sustainability projects and support the 
Without Walls Green Streets project. 

 

Reason: To update Members on the progress to date. 

 

 

 

Page 17



 

Contact Details 

Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
David Warburton 
Design, Conservation and 
Sustainable Development 
 
Tel: (01904) 551666  

Michael Slater 
Assistant Director 
 
Tel: (01904) 551330 

Report Approved √ Date 3 Feb 2010 

    

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  List information for all 
Implication ie Financial                                Implication ie Legal 
Name                                                          Name 
Title                                                            Title 
Tel No.                                                       Tel No. 
 
Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all 
Micklegate and Holgate for one section of the report 

All tick 
 

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
 
Annexes 
 
Appendix 1 – York’s Climate Change Framework and Action Plan 
Appendix 2 – York Green Streets Challenge Project 
Appendix 3 – Campaign Project Breakdown 

Page 18



 
 

 
Appendix 1  
 
York’s Climate change Framework and Action Plan York  
 
Background 
The Climate Change Framework is the first of a series of documents that will enable 
York to accelerate actions to reduce carbon emissions across the city. It demonstrates 
the actions already on-going across the city and highlights the key areas the city needs 
to begin to address.  
 
The Framework will be reviewed and refined every three-five years in order to eventually 
reach the 2050 UK target of an 80% reduction in carbon dioxide emissions. The 
framework is to be used by organisations across the city to focus and develop a 
coordinated climate change action plan for York. A draft framework and action plan has 
been created and is currently being finalised with Partners. It will be complete by spring 
2010.  
 

Figure 1 demonstrates the composition of the climate change framework and the 
components that make up the climate change action plan for York. The framework is the 
overarching document focusing the creation of the action plan.  
 

 
 

Climate Change 
Framework 

Mitigation Action 
Plan (plans to reduce 

emissions) 

 Adaptation Action 
Plan (plans to 

prepare for climate 
change) 

A Climate Change  
Action Plan for York  
                      

Page 19



 
 

 
 
Figure 1. Composition of the Climate Change Framework for York. 
 
The Climate Change Action Plan for York will be a combination of specific action plans, 
guided by the Climate Change Framework. The plans are broken into mitigation actions, 
actions that will reduce emissions from across the city, and adaptation actions, action 
that will help the city to better prepare and adapt to climate change. This is summarised 
below. Figure 2 illustrates this structure. 
 

 
  
Figure 2 summarises the composition of the detailed action plans 
 
The Draft Climate Change Framework 
 
 Draft Vision  
 
To reduce greenhouse gas emissions across York and better prepare and adapt 
York’s communities and businesses for the likely impacts associated with climate 
change.  
 

Climate Change 
Action Plan for 

York  

Mitigation Action 
Plan (plans to 
reduce emissions) 

 Adaptation 
Action Plan (plans 
to prepare for climate 
change) 

 
Local Climate  
Impact Study  

Carbon 
Footprint 
work 

Various action 
plans to create – 
Sustainable: 
1.homes, 
2.buildings             
3 energy         
4.waste  
5.transport 
6.economy 
7.planning 
8.lifestyles 
9.partnerships 

+ + Adaptive 
Actions 

1 

9 

4 

2 
3 

5 
6 
7 
8 

Page 20



 
 

 
Draft Objectives  
 
• To reduce York’s greenhouse emissions in line with government targets 
• To guide and coordinate carbon/ greenhouse gas reduction initiatives across York 
• To guide and coordinate actions to better prepare York for future climate change 
• To raise awareness and understanding of climate change throughout the Without 

Walls Partnership, City of York Council, residents/communities and businesses 
across York 

• Contribute to the City’s Sustainable Community Strategy, Local Development 
Framework and emerging Local Transport Plan 3. 

 
Draft Headline target  
This framework sets out and commits the city to long term, overarching targets 
associated to reductions in CO2 emissions.  
 
• York will look to reduce end user emissions – emissions based on the energy 

consumption from the business and public sector and residential housing, along with 
fuel purchase data demonstrating road transport use, within the boundaries of the 
city. As a city we will:  

 
 
 
 
 
• Over the next 6 months intermediate targets will be established inline with the 

Climate Change Committee targets. The contribution that policies generated 
by City of York Council and Partners will be established and this will form the 
short and long term targets. 

 
• York will also look to reduce its resident’s carbon footprint and will: 
 

 
 

 
 
 
The climate change action plan will take these headline targets and break them down in 
to specific categories of actions and will set shorter and medium term targets to ensure 
these headline targets are met. These targets will be reviewed at least every 3/5 years.   
 
Significant progress has already been made across York.  The City and it partners now 
need to focus attention in keys areas to achieve the headline targets above.  
 

‘ reduce York’s carbon emissions from 1.2 million tonnes of CO2 by 
80% to 240,000 tonnes of CO2 by 2050.’  

 

‘ reduce the average York resident’s Carbon Footprint of 12.58 tonnes 
to 2.5  tonnes (80%) by 2050.’  

Page 21



 
 

 
The Environment Partnership has formed a climate change sub-group.  This group of 
experts will take this framework as the starting point to create a detailed action plan that 
will deliver the necessary reductions outlined above. 
 
The 10 areas of the framework 
 
In order to tackle climate change, York will address the following essential areas which 
the city and its partners can influence and focus future action towards. These areas of 
action that the framework focuses on creating are: 
 

1. Sustainable homes  
2. Sustainable buildings 
3. Sustainable energy 
4. Sustainable waste management 
5. Sustainable transport system  
6. Sustainable low carbon economy  
7. Sustainable planning and land use  
8. Sustainable low carbon lifestyles 
9. Sustainable WoW  
10. Prepared Sustainable York 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 22



Appendix 2 

 1

 
 

Progress Report 
13 January 2010 

 
This report aims to provide an update on progress of the York Green Streets 

Challenge project.  

 

Selection of Neighbourhoods 

The project successfully undertook a comprehensive assessment of the 

neighbourhood carbon footprint. This was published in September 2009 and is 

available here: http://sei-international.org/?p=publications&task=view&pid=1312. This 

provided an overview of the neighbourhood carbon footprint of York and identified 

neighbourhoods where there would be greatest potential for change. Based on the 

study it was decided that five streets in the Scarcroft Road area (Area 1) and the five 

streets in Holgate (Area 2) would be targeted. 

 

Recruitment 

Approximately 500 households were targeted in the two areas in November 2009. A 

total of 102 Residents were recruited on the doorstop (Area 1: Saturday 14 

November 2009; Area 2: Saturday 21 November 2009). They were then invited to a 

neighbourhood workshop (Area 1: Wednesday 18 November 2009 at Scarcoft 

Primary School; Area 2:  Wednesday 25 November 2009 at Holgate Methodist 

Church). At the workshop their data was used to calculate their carbon footprint. In 

addition, people were available to give advice on energy saving and waste recycling. 

Those residents who could not attend were asked to return the questionnaires by 

post. In total 25 residents attended the workshops.  

 

Those residents who completed and returned the questionnaires total 41.  

 

The Holgate team event was held on Monday 7 December at Holgate Working Men’s 

club while the Scarcroft team event was held on Tuesday 8 December at the Winning 

Page 23



Appendix 2 

 2

Post pub. These events provided an opportunity for residents to meet other 

neighbours taking part in the challenge, receive a print-out of their carbon footprint 

and an action plan to reduce it. In addition, residents played a green quiz as an 

icebreaker to get people taking about the issues.  

 

A total of 15 people attended the events.  

 

Additional Teams  

Three additional teams have joined the challenge. These include a Church team at St 

Edwards the Confessor Church in Dringhouses (14), Park Grove Primary School (4-

10) and Heworth Primary School (10).   

 

These additions, whilst outside the initial areas of the Challenge, will provide a new 

dimension to the approach being tested. It allows SEI to examine how effective a 

range of community groups from contrasting wards can work to reduce their 

collective carbon footprint.   

 

The final number of people who have completed the carbon footprint questionnaire 

and have signed up to take the challenge total 83. However, five people have 

dropped out of the challenge since initially signing up. These people were mainly 

recruited on the doorstep.  

 

It was decided to extend the deadline until 31 January 2010 to allow other community 

based teams to join the challenge. This will mean the final challenge will not end until 

the end of July. One month later then initially envisaged. 

 

Green Streets Launch Event 

The official launch of the York Green Streets Challenge took place at the Kings 

Manor on Saturday 9 January 2010. All participants were invited to attend. The event 

was attended by approximately 50 people including children, local councillors (Cllrs 

Merret, Taylor and D'Agorne) as well as local MP Hugh Bayley. At the event 

participants pledged what actions they will take to reduce their carbon footprint over 

the period January to July 2010.  

 

Page 24



Appendix 2 

 3

 

York Press, Tuesday 12 January 2010 

The project website is now being finalised and will provide a central source of 

information on the project with blogs/updates from the teams. In addition, it will 

provide information on what people can do to reduce their carbon footprints that are 

not are not involved in the challenge. 

 

Next Steps 

The next stage of the project is to hold local team meetings before the end of 

February. Events will be held at Park Grove and Heworth Primary Schools on the 26 

and 27 January 2010. This will provide an opportunity to recruit additional people.  

 

Each local team will be offered a list of speakers to talk to them about saving energy, 

transport, recycling and composting. In addition, the teams will be encouraged to 

host their own events or suggest a Green Streets event.  

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



Major Service Areas 
(excluding schools and 

housing)
tCO2 emissions 2008/09 (taken from NI 

185)
10% CO2 reduction 

target
Streetlighting 2650 265
Buildings Electrical 2660 266
Buildings Heating 3250 325
Transport 3640 364
TOTAL 12200 1220

Activity Project
Total CO2 

emissions for 
activity

Estimated CO2 
savings (t )

Cumulative % saving

Estimated cost 
(£)

Capital
Revenue

Financial savings 
(£ )

Funding secured?
Notes (including other 
impacts e.g on air 

quality)

Risks (e.g. requires 
behaviour change)

Lead department

1. Mercury lanterns 
replacement

1,300 mercury vapour lanterns will be 
replaced with modern alternatives. On 
completion, all mercury vapour lanterns 
will have been removed from the City.

120 120 120 9.51% £132,000.00 21,242 / year
Funding anticipated 
from 2010/11 capital 

programme* 

Funding is not 
allocated from the 
capital programme; 

lanterns do not perform 
as expected

Highway infrastructure

2. 250 watt to 150 watt 
lantern conversions

50 250 watt lanterns will be replaced with 
150 watt white light examples. The 

project will build on the work undertaken 
in 2009/10 which installed 50 such 

lanterns in the city centre.

12 12 132 0.95% £17,500.00 2,080 / year
Funding anticipated 
from 2010/11 capital 

programme*

Funding is not 
allocated from the 
capital programme; 

lanterns do not perform 
as expected

Highway infrastructure

3. Solar bollards

The project involves disconnecting 50 
bollards/signs from the mains electricity 
supply and using solar panels to provide 

the power needed to operate them.

11 11 143 0.87% £25,000.00 2,000 / year
Funding anticipated 
from 2010/11 capital 

programme*

Funding is not 
allocated from the 
capital programme; 

bollards do not perform 
as expected

Highway infrastructure

4. LED lanterns

50 lanterns will be replaced with LED 
alternatives. The project builds on a trial 
which took place during 2009/10 with 10 
LED lanterns in the South Bank area of 

the city.

2 2 145 0.16% £25,000.00 427 / year
Funding anticipated 
from 2010/11 capital 

programme*

Funding is not 
allocated from the 
capital programme; 

lanterns do not perform 
as expected

Highway infrastructure

TOTAL 2650 145

5. powerPerfector 
voltage optimisers

powerPerfector is a voltage power 
optimiser, giving energy, cost and carbon 
savings by efficiently optimising a site’s 
supply voltage. By optimising the voltage, 
electrical equipment runs more efficiently 
and consumes less energy. The project 
will install one device in the workshops at 

the EcoDepot. 

18 18 163 1.43% £16,901.00 3,388 / year
Funding anticipated 
from Salix Finance. 

Funding is not 
allocated from Salix 

Finance, 
powerPerfector does 

not perform as 
expected

Energy team

TOTAL 2660 18

6. Staff awareness, 
training visits and turn 
heating down

Smart meters have been installed in a 
number of Council buildings. The 

installation of new meters will help in 
monitoring and inform staff on site of how 

well their improvement measures are 
working. A programme of training is to be 
established for key staff. A programme of 
disseminating clear advice to to building 
users will be developed via a network of 

Energy Champions. The turning the 
heating down project involves ensuring 
that all Council buildings are heated to a 

maximum temperature of 19°C.

Currently unable to 
quantify the amount 
of CO2 emissions 
which are caused 
directly by staff.

300 463 23.77% £0.00 5,000 / year Yes

Requires behaviour 
change; activities have 

limited effect in 
reducing emissions

Energy and 
sustainability teams

7. Oaklands Sports 
Centre

The existing Oaklands Sports Centre has 
been extended to incorporate a new 
swimming pool. This replaces Edward 

Wilson swimming pool which has closed.  

n/a 349 812 27.66% n/a

No saving - 
£10,000 cost / year 
as a result of the 

fuel for the biomass 
boiler, which is 
more expensive 

than gas at present.

Yes

Potential air quality 
issues as a result of the 
use of a biomass boiler at 

the site

Building does not 
perform as well as 
expected; building is 
managed in a poor 

manner; biomass fuel 
found to be too costly

Property services

8. Building 
rationalisation

As a result of the new Oaklands Sport 
Centre, Edward Wilson swimming pool is 
surplus to requirements. Therefore, the 
Council is no longer paying for the fuel to 
heat/run the buildings and as a result has 

made carbon savings.  

450 450 1262 35.66% £0.00

No saving - The 
budget which was 
used to run the 

swimming pool has 
been transferred to 
Oaklands Sports 

Centre.

Yes n/a Property services

TOTAL 3250 1099
Transport
TOTAL 3640
TOTAL 12200 1262

Streetlighting

Buildings Electrical

Buildings Heating also (note includes some Electrical savings)

P
age 27



P
age 28

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

  

 

   

 
Executive  
 
Report of the Director of City Strategy 

 

Community Stadium – Update Report    

Summary 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Executive with an update on the 
progress of the Community Stadium project. 

2. The project is on track and proposals with options to take the project forward 
will be reported to the Executive by July 2010.  

3. The feasibility work is being finalised and a range of options is being tested.  
Development appraisals for the most appropriate sites and uses are underway.  
The project will have a major capital cost, however the feasibility work has 
identified an opportunity to lever-in significant funds from commercial 
development.  This may provide the funding required to deliver the stadium, 
the wider community benefits and the future of the City’s professional sports 
clubs.     

4. Due to the commercial sensitivities of this work it is not possible at this stage to 
provide specific details regarding sites, costs and uses.  This might jeopardise 
the interests of the council and its partners, as well as the successful delivery 
of the project.   

Background 

5. An Outline Business Case which established the vision of a hub of sport, well-
being and learning was considered by the Executive on 23rd July 2009.  It was 
agreed that more detailed feasibility be commissioned to develop a robust and 
deliverable proposal. The following principles have been established to provide 
a framework as the project’s scope is developed:  

§ A shared stadium for York City and York Knights to meet minimum league 
requirements. 

§ A replacement athletics facility to a minimum of county standards (not inside 
the main stadium). 

§ A location that maximises access opportunities for the people of York, the 
wider region and its visitors. 

§ A facility that maximises community use including sport, education and 
health / well-being. 

§ A viable business venture which is commercially sustainable. 

Agenda Item 6Page 29



 

  

§ An environmentally sustainable development. 
 

6. It is in its capacity as a community facilitator that the Council is leading this 
project to improve the range and accessibility of sports / well being facilities 
and assist York City FC to secure its future.  The Council has identified the 
project as a corporate priority and has allocated resources to assist in its 
delivery.   

Project Progress 

7. This is a complex development project that has now reached an important 
stage in the feasibility.  This work is almost complete, but it is not yet possible 
to draw all the strands of the feasibility together. Due to the commercially 
sensitive and confidential nature of certain elements, it is not prudent to 
provide specific details. This information may prejudice the Council’s and its 
partners’ position and the ability to develop the most cost effective and 
beneficial option. The information below summarises the work currently 
underway.  A chronology of key actions that have been undertaken since the 
Executive last consider a report regarding the project is provided in Annex 1.  

Need Analysis 

8. A full needs analysis has been undertaken for each of the potential component 
uses identified in the Outline Business Case. These have been assessed and 
considered in terms of priority, cost benefit and deliverability.  The key areas 
identified were: 

§ The size, capacity, format and design of the stadium.  Detailed analysis of 
stadia across the country. Performance of similar teams.  Demographic 
profile of the town / city.  Scope for growth and supporter bases etc.  The 
findings have been discussed with the key stakeholders and consideration 
given to the entry requirements for higher league status.  Both teams favour 
a mix of seats and terracing. This will likely have a minimum capacity of 
6,000 which is capable of being extending up to 10,000 if required.  There 
is no support for an athletics track inside the stadium. Plans are now being 
finalised for the high level design of a core stadium. 

§ Design and extent of hospitality and support uses within the stadium. A 
study has been undertaken assessing the need, design and size of 
executive boxes, hospitality and other support areas.  The objective is to 
maximise the generation of match-day and non-match day use and income. 
Scope to utilise these areas for non-match day use is being examined, 
particularly for training, development and small scale conferencing.   

§ Community health and well-being uses.  The opportunity exists to provide a 
range of health services as part of the stadium, benefiting from the 
synergies with sporting uses, the profile of the professional sports clubs and 
the improved accessibility.  These ideas develop models that have been 
used across the country for uses such as physiotherapy, podiatry, 
rehabilitation, strength and conditioning, long-term health conditions,  

Page 30



 

  

inequalities and weight management etc.  Discussions are continuing with 
the PCT, Hospital Trust and York Health Group. 

§ Community sports facilities.  The outline business case identified a need for 
an athletics track, 3G (Astroturf) and grass sports pitches and closed circuit 
cycling. Drawing on the objectives set out in the Council’s sports and 
leisure strategic plan, detailed demographic and market analysis has been 
undertaken, backed up by discussions with relevant governing bodies and 
sports groups to finalise a mix of community sports facilities that would 
make an effective hub or sports village. 

§ Education, learning, training and skills development:  Initial discussions with 
York St John’s University and other educational providers have been 
developed to look at the potential of creating a ‘sports institute’ as part of 
the stadium.  There are powerful synergies between the professional sports 
clubs and health uses; particularly physiotherapy, strength and 
conditioning, creating the potential for research and educational 
placements.  Options for multi-use learning space and seminar rooms is 
strongly supported by city schools and colleges.    

§ Ancillary commercial uses:  Additional commercial activity is required to 
subsidise non-profitable elements of the project and ensure full community 
access. Demand for commercial office space, hotel provision and other 
associated commercial uses has been analysed on a site specific basis.  
Further market testing is taking place and a schedule of options is being 
prepared. The potential to incorporate a number of public sector, blue light 
and CYC uses is also being further considered.    As a package these have 
the potential of offering a valuable commercial covenant that will increase 
market interest in the wider scheme and enhance its deliverability. 

9. The findings from this needs analysis are being assessed on a site specific 
basis.  A draft proposal will be formalised which will inform the cost benefit and 
options appraisal exercise.    

Site Selection and Development Appraisal  

10. A study of stadium uses and designs has been undertaken, which examined 
how community and commercial uses can be effectively accommodated 
together.  A template was developed identifying the land required and then 
applied to each potential site as part of the selection exercise. A  long-list of 
sites has been identified from principal areas of search across the City. These 
sites have been assessed against key planning issues including:  

§ Primary and secondary policy constraints and considerations (visual 
impact, green belt, flood zones, nature conservation, residential amenity).   

§ Access to other community facilities.  
§ The ability to accommodate enabling development and whether it is 

deliverable (essentially complexity, timescale and cost).  
§ Accessibility and the potential for sustainable travel policies for a stadium 

and its supporting uses. 
 

Page 31



 

  

11. The starting point of this exercise is to assess whether the project can be 
provided at one of the existing facilities (either Huntington Stadium or Bootham 
Crescent).  Options such as; improving stands on a piecemeal basis, 
redeveloping the grounds completely and providing the new stadium on either 
site are being considered.  Opportunities that may arise from the development 
of adjacent sites is also be explored. Each of the existing stadium sites have  
considerable constraints and funding limitations, thus the site selection 
exercise has been extended across the City.  This performs the ‘sequential 
test’ that is required by national planning policy guidance.  It ensures all 
options are fully considered and can be carefully balanced against one 
another, to identify the most sustainable and deliverable solution. 

12. To achieve all the potential community facilities identified in the need analysis 
a large site is required.  York has few such sites that fall within the existing 
developed area.  Careful consideration is being given to the benefits of 
providing all the facilities on one site, against the availability and impact of 
developing such a site.  Although less desirable, options for delivering certain 
elements (e.g. athletics and some of the outdoor sports uses) at a different 
location are being considered as a fall-back position.  

13. The stadium and associated community facilities will have a considerable 
capital cost.  A detailed study analysing relevant planning decisions has been 
undertaken. In certain circumstances, funding has been provided by    
commercial development that, under normal circumstances, would not be 
allowed.   In making the decision, the Secretary of State has concluded this to 
be the only realistic means of funding the project and securing the clubs’ future 
on the basis that they played an important cultural role in the community. 

14. Thus, establishing the commercial viability and deliverability of each site is of 
critical importance. Once the initial short-list was established, high-level 
development appraisals were undertaken.  The options have been tested with 
a range of developers and operators and their feedback has informed a more 
detailed and focused exercise which is currently underway. 

   Environmental Sustainability 

15. Feasibility work has been commissioned to assess the potential for this to be 
an ‘Eco-Stadium’. A sustainability and energy assessment has been 
undertaken which examines different technologies, cost, potential financial and 
carbon savings, potential available renewable energy, commercial viability and 
other benefits.  The assessment specifies the types and number of sustainable 
elements which should be considered as part of the future detailed design and 
energy systems.   

16. The report concludes that a range of green technologies could be successfully 
incorporated into the development that would reduce CO2 output and maximise 
the amount of renewable energy that could be generated. A site specific 
sustainability and energy assessment is now underway.  This will consider 
issues including options for funding, feed-in-tariff impact and the role of Energy 
Service Companies (ESCOs) may play. 

Page 32



 

  

Strategic Fit and Economic Impact  

17. A study has been undertaken which considered how qualitative and 
quantitative outputs affected and fulfilled the strategic ambitions and priorities; 
identified needs of the City, region and key public sector organisations. 

18. The project will have a significant positive impact on the City’s economy, 
however this will be entirely dependent on the scope and nature of the final 
proposal. The more associated commercial development the greater the 
impact.  An Economic Impact Assessment has been undertaken and this will 
be updated and refined on a site specific basis once the proposals are 
finalised. 

19. Initial analysis shows that the stadium can achieve a number of potential wide-
ranging benefits. These have been grouped into 7 strategic themes and are 
shown in the table below which considers the range of uses that may be 
included in the project. The more community facilities and economic activity 
included in the project the greater the range of outputs, contribution to the city’s 
strategic framework and benefits to the wider community. Obviously there is a 
direct effect of increased cost to the delivery of these outputs.  

 

 

External Funding Assessment  

20. Discussions with relevant funding agencies have yielded a positive initial 
response. Yorkshire Forward and European funds may be accessed for the 
sustainability and skills elements.  Funds will also be available for some of the 

Strategic 
Theme Potential Stadium Outputs 

Thrive 

• Job creation  
• Hotel provision 
• Office space provision 
• Targeted recruitment and training 

• Learning, training & skills development 
• Conference/Exhibition facilities 
• Support & promotion of resident & visitor 

economy  

Sustainability  

• Low carbon building 
• Leading by example 
• Waste reduction 
• Increase recycling 

• New green technologies  
• Re-useable energies 
• Accessible by green forms of transport 
• Built with sustainable materials 

Safety • A base for blue light services 
• Community hub & centre 

• Closed road cycling 
• Promotion of community engagement 

Learning  • Learning, training & skills 
• Reduction in number of NEETs 

• Non-traditional educational setting 
• Student learning /syllabus contribution 

Inclusive 
• Potential location in area of deprivation 
• Community hub/centre  
• Accessibility to all 

• Volunteering opportunities 
• Community sport 
• Tackle health inequalities 

Culture 

• Community sport 
• Sports village 
• Improved sports & active leisure facilities 
• Professional sport 

• Promote a sporting culture 
• Events & hospitality facilities 
• Encourage & increase volunteering 
• Conference/exhibition facilities 

Health 

• Health service provision 
• Hub of well being 
• New pathways into sport & active leisure 

• Easy access to health services 
• Encourage sport participation 
• Address health inequalities 

Page 33



 

  

sports uses through Sport England and the relevant National Governing 
Bodies.  The educational, learning, skills and training uses offer scope to 
access other funding pots. 

21. Research in to the eligibility of funding criteria shows that there is a stronger 
case for funding where a wider range of outputs can be delivered and a 
commercially sustainable business case exists.  It is currently too early in the 
project to either make bids or secure funding. Many of the potential funds 
identified run to specific timeframes which do not align with current timetable.   

Procurement and Timescale  

22. A number of procurement routes are being considered as part of the options 
appraisal, however as this is a council led project it is likely that the any 
development will fall within the European Procurement regulations.  For a 
project of this complexity the Competitive Dialogue process will probably be 
used which will take 16 to 18 months.  Dependent on the complexity of the land 
assembly arrangements and number of sites involved, this timeframe may 
need to be extended. 

23. With all procurements of this nature, the more certainty that exists when the 
process is started, the greater the chance of achieving the desired outcome 
and most cost effective solution.  A number of key requirements will need to be 
in place before the procurement process begins.  Clarity regarding land 
assembly and planning issues are crucial.  To this end the Council may need 
to consider Compulsory Purchase Order powers to ensure the project can be 
successfully delivered.  Also, approved planning briefs will be required to 
support the process.   

24. A key milestone in the project is the end date for an application to the Football 
Foundation for the Stadium Improvement Grant.  Failure to make an 
application by May 2012 could seriously jeopardise the future of the club.   

Next Steps 

25. The feasibility work is in the process of being finalised and site specific 
development / planning appraisals are being undertaken.  More focused 
market testing is underway with developers, operators and other interested 
parties.  Discussions and negotiations have been initiated with relevant land 
owners.  Once the results of these exercises have been drawn together a 
detailed options appraisal will be undertaken to identify the risks and 
opportunities. 

26. A draft Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) has been distributed to all key 
partners.  This sets out the head of terms that will act as the basis of the 
development and operation of the stadium, the relationship between the 
relevant partners and how costs will be appropriated.  The partners have 
signed up to an ‘open book accounting’ approach.  This will enable each party 
to share financial information and ensure the project progresses in the spirit of 
true partnership.   

Page 34



 

  

27. It is not possible to be precise as to when this process will be complete, due to 
the complexity of some of the land assembly issues and the timing of the 
forthcoming general election.  However, the project is on track and a report will 
be brought to this Executive by July 2010 as agreed at the meeting of 23rd 
June 2009.  

Options and Analysis 

28. This is primarily an update report informing Members on the progress of the 
Community Stadium project.  

Corporate Priorities 

29. The provision of a new community stadium for the City is a priority action in the 
Corporate Strategy 2009-2012 which states: “We will develop proposals to 
complete the building of a Community Stadium for the City that will provide 
high quality sport recreation and other community focused opportunities.”  It is 
also identified in Active York’s ‘Sport and Active Leisure Strategy’ which was 
signed up to at the Leisure and Heritage EMAP in June 2005. The facilities 
section of this strategy was updated in May 2007. 

30. As set out above in the Strategic Fit section, the project has the potential to 
deliver significant outputs that will contribute to the wider objectives of the 
Corporate Strategy, the Sustainable Community Strategy,  Strategic 
Partnership and key organisations across the City and region.  

Implications 

Financial 

31. This project currently has both a revenue and capital budget allocation.   
£200K has been committed from the Local Authority Business Growth 
Incentive at the Staffing and Urgency Committee in May 2008.  A further 
£100K was allocated at the Council meeting of 7 July 2009. These funds will 
cover the revenue costs of the project up to July 2010. 

32. As part of the 2009/10 budget process a capital budget of £4,000k was 
approved in February 2009. The Football Foundation have indicated that a 
grant of £2,000K will be available if a satisfactory application is received by 
May 2012.  York City Football Club has also pledged to contribute an additional 
capital contribution.  Depending on the relevant circumstance other potential 
partners may bring a mixture of capital and revenue.     

33. A draft financial model has been developed which estimates the potential 
capital and revenue costs of the project.  It highlights the cost effectiveness of 
different options and mixes of use.   The assumptions required to develop the 
model are currently being used as a starting point to consider different 
operating mechanisms for the stadium.   

34. The successful delivery of the project relies on the identification of an 
appropriate site that will be able to generate sufficient additional capital and 
revenue to deliver a commercially sustainable facility.   

Page 35



 

  

Equalities 

35. Consideration is being given to the impact the project will have on equalities. 
As part of the detailed feasibility study the Social Working Inclusion Group was 
encouraged to comment on the project at an Equalities Impact Assessment 
Fair.  An Equalities Impact Assessment will be required once a site and 
proposal has emerged. 

Risk Management 

36. There are a number of risks associated with this project that have been 
highlighted through the work that has been undertaken to date.  The purpose 
of this report is to update the Executive on the progress of the project so far 
and is not intended to provide a means of mitigating any of the key risks.  
Detailed work will be undertaken as the business case is developed to identify 
risk and consider options for their mitigation. A detailed analysis of these risks 
will be provided as part of the next report to the Executive. 

Legal – There are no legal implications at this stage. 
 
Human Resources – There are no implications. 
 
Crime and Disorder – There are no implications 
 
Information Technology – There are no implications 
 
Property – There are no implications at this stage 
 

Recommendations 

1.  That the Executive note the progress made on the Community Stadium Project to 
date. 

2.  That the Executive agree with the approach set out, to continue with the detailed 
feasibility work and preparation of the business case and to further explore potential 
partnerships to achieve wider community benefits. 

3.  That a report summarising the business case be reported to the Executive by 
July 2010. 

 

REASON: To update Members on progress on the project. 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



 

  

Contact Details 

 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

Tim Atkins 
Community Stadium Project 
Manager 
City Strategy 
01904 551421 
 

 

Bill Woolley  
Director of City Strategy 
01904 551330 
 
Report Approved √ Date 4 February 2010 

 
 

Report Approved tick Date Insert Date 

 
Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all All tick 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
 
 

Annex 1 – Key strands of work undertaken since June 2009 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 1 

Key strands of work undertaken since June 2009 

Action Description Status 

Legal   

Draft Memorandum of 
Understanding 

Discussed, amended, issued in draft format to key partners (work in 
progress). 

Ongoing 

Options appraisal of  key legal 
issues  

Examination of procurement routes, governance, risk to the council and its 
powers.  Draft document prepared, discussed, amendments made, further 
discussions underway. 

Ongoing 

Draft procurement timetable 
and resource plan 

Drafted, discussed with stakeholders and CYC procurement team, further 
amendments to be made as other strands of work develop. 

Draft complete - 
Ongoing 

Financial & Economic   

Draft financial model 

 

Developed, discussed, amended, used as starting point in confidential ‘open 
book accounting exercise’ with key partners. Will also help with 
development appraisal and business case options. 

Draft completed – 
ongoing. 

Needs assessment Undertaken in two stages: 1. Generic need model for stadium, community 
sport and well being uses for City. 2. A more focused site specific 
assessment. 

1 Completed.  

2 Ongoing. 

Public sector commercial uses Assessing options for the provision of public sector uses.  This includes 
CYC uses, Blue Light services and other City services. 

Ongoing. 

Economic Impact Assessment Undertaken in two stages.  1. Generic EIA.  2. Site specific EIA will be 1. Completed. 2. To 

P
age 39



(EIA) undertaken on when development appraisals finalised.  be completed when 
finalised proposals 
developed. 

Design & Cost Management   

Land take exercise Develop a generic model for the component uses and establish how much 
land is required for the different options. 

Completed 

Master planning 1. Apply the land take model to short-listed sites.  Assess compatibility and 
scope for enabling development.  2. Refine work to relate to the 
development appraisal work.  3. Develop more detailed master plans for the 
final short-list.  

1&2. Completed.  

3. Ongoing. 

Stadium Design 1. Undertake a study of potential designs for cost effectiveness and 
suitability to this project.  2. Finalise options, consult with stakeholders and 
apply on a site specific basis.  

1. Completed.  

2. Ongoing 

Cost Modelling  1.  Develop a high-level generic cost model for the capital works, 
maintenance needs and sinking fund for the proposals developed in the 
design / master-planning work above.  2.  Develop a range of options for 
different quality specifications / designs.  3. Develop more detailed models 
on a  site specific basis for final proposals. 

1. completed. 2 & 3 
ongoing. 

Stakeholders   

Key Partner Engagement Project Partnership Group Meetings for the principal partners (York City FC, 
York Knights RLFC, City of York Athletics Club, Active York and CYC).  
Meetings on 24th September 2009 and 11th January 2010.  Project Board 
Meeting Scheduled 22nd February 2010. 

Ongoing 

P
age 40



Sports Bodies Discussed project with a range of governing bodies, sports clubs, funding 
agencies including: Sport England, British Cycling, Football Foundation, 
Active York, UK athletics, England Athletics, Amateur Swimming 
Association, York Hockey Club, York Cycling clubs / representatives, York 
Football Leagues representatives, , York Football Facilities Development 
Steering Group, York Athletic Clubs, North Yorkshire Athletics Network. 

Ongoing 

Strategic Fit 1. An exercise that assesses the contribution the potential uses / facility will 
have on relevant strategies and policy objectives of the council and other 
key stakeholder.  This is in draft format and is summarised in the main body 
of the report.  2. It will be further developed with the progress of the specific 
proposals and EIA. 

1. Completed 

2. Ongoing 

Funding 1. In addition to discussions with the sports governing bodies above, 
discussions with Yorkshire Forward have been undertaken regarding the 
positive economic impact of the project, links with skills and sustainable 
development and potential funding streams.  2. Undertake initial external 
funding assessment. 

1. Ongoing  

2. Draft completed 

Environmental Sustainability   

Business Case Undertaken in two stages. 1: An outline business case for the potential 
green cost effective and low carbon technologies that could be used at the 
stadium. Stage 2: Site specific options and further investigation into funding 
possibilities including ESCOs and the feed-in tariff. 

1: Complete 

2: Ongoing 

Community Health    

Discussions with stakeholders Ongoing discussions with the following potential stakeholders regarding 
project: York Hospital Trust, North Yorkshire PCT, York Health Group, 
Healthy City partnership. 

Ongoing 

P
age 41



Development of well-being hub  Examination of Polyclinic / health uses as part of stadium project.  NY PCT 
and York District Hospital Trust, Department of Health, Strategic Health 
Authority.  Also visited and discussed with exemplars from across the 
country – Hull PCT, Warrington PCT, North Lancashire PCT, Leeds Met 
University / Headingly stadium. 

Ongoing 

Education, Skills and 
Training  

  

Discussion with stakeholders York St John University, University of York, Askham Byran College, York 
College, York High, York secondary School Head teachers, Higher York, 
Learning City, 14-19 Curriculum Implementation Group, NYBEP, 
Constructions Schools Academy.  

Ongoing 

Business Champion Model Working with Learning City and schools to use project as a learning tool for 
diploma courses.  Pilot scheme with York High School.  As the project 
progresses the scope for using this as a ‘live learning tool’ will grow.  

Terms agreed, work in 
progress. 

Targeted Recruitment and 
Training 

Working with CYC Planning Service, City Development, Higher York and 
Economic Development to implement a model which will satisfy training and 
recruitment needs through a the procurement of services and through the 
approval of planning applications. 

Discussions on how to 
implement model 9th 
March  

Site Selection   

Sequential site selection 1. Internal CYC planning team established to work on planning issues for 
the stadium.  2. Board areas of search identified, narrowed to a long-list and 
then a short-list.  3. More detailed assessments now being undertaken.   

Stage 2 workshop undertaken in October 09.  Stage 3 workshop Feb 10. 

1&2 completed.  

3. ongoing 

 

P
age 42



Study of stadium planning 
decisions 

Examination of relevant planning decisions across the UK.  Ongoing  

Development Appraisals 1. High level appraisal and market testing for key sites. 2. Detailed short-list 
appraisals for land values, development mixes, market testing, land 
assembly options.  

1. completed.  2. 
ongoing.  

Transportation study Undertake two stage transport study.  1. Develop stadium transport model 
and apply to long-list of sites across city, prepare summary report.  2. Refine 
study and apply more detailed model to short-list of sites , contributing to the 
development appraisal process.  

 1. Completed.  2. 
ongoing 

Benchmarking  

Projects / initiatives discussed 
with or visited with operators / 
providers outside York. 

 

§ Preston north End Deepdale Stadium: Health / commercial 
partnership & innovative stadium design (piecemeal ground 
improvement). 

§ Preston NE PCT Health Centre:  innovative health provision for long-
term conditions and links to sports clubs. 

§ Leeds Met Uni:  Educational / commercial partnership with Headingly 
stadium. 

§ Tackling Mens’ Health Initiative;  Leeds Met Uni, Leeds Rhinos and 
department of Health – using sport to tackle mens’ health 
inequalities 

§ European Healthy Stadia Conference (Liverpool): contribute to the 
developments in the concept of healthy stadia 

§ Blackpool FC: commercial development of undercroft and new 

 

Ongoing discussions 
and visits. 

P
age 43



stadium development (piecemeal ground improvement) 

§ Huddersfield stadium: sports village / community benefits associated 
with modern stadium development. 

§ The Peak – Stirling sports village: sports village concept / cost 
effective development. 

§ Rangers training ground: range of high quality indoor & outdoor 
sports provisions. 

§ Kirkintilloch leisure centre: cost effective sports provision.  

§ Scotstoun Stadium: athletics facility / cost effective stadium 
development 

§ KC Stadium:  innovative modern stadium development & community 
provision. 

§ Hull PCT: weight management programme – ‘Fit Fans’ 

§ Leigh Sports Village: Sports Village concept as part of major 
regeneration programme, includes athletics, shared stadium, 
education, leisure uses, commercial development and sports 
pitches. 

§ Wigan Council: discussion re. Involvement with Leigh project. 

§ Brighton & Hove Albion: new stadium project, planning issues and 
educational provision 

§ Colchester Stadium: community stadium project 

P
age 44



§ Dartford Football Stadium: community stadium project for lower 
league football team and considered to be country’s most 
sustainable stadium. 

§ Warrington Wolves Stadium: stadium provided through planning gain 
proposal on back of supermarket development. 

§ Warrington PCT long-term conditions clinic: commercial / community 
partnership with sports club and PCT. 

§ Oxford United FC: New stadium development with mixed use 
commercial enabling development. 

 

P
age 45



P
age 46

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

   

 
Executive 16th February 2010 
 
Report of the Director of City Strategy 

 

Review of discretionary concessions provision and the 
introduction of a ‘Taxicard’ for disabled York residents  

Summary 

1. This report has been written in response to the recommendation made by 
Members at the Executive meeting of 20 January 2009 to explore the 
possibility of introducing an electronic, stored value, taxi-card to replace the 
national transport tokens currently being issued to entitled, disabled, 
residents. 

2. The Executive meeting of 22 September 2009 agreed to defer any decision 
on this report to allow for additional consultation to take place.  

3. The report outlines the costs and implications of introducing a taxi-card and 
recommends adoption of Option 1 to introduce the card for April 2011. 

Background 

4. The English National Concessionary Travel Scheme (ENCTS) was 
introduced in April 2008 offering all over 60s and registered disabled free-
fare, off-peak, bus travel anywhere in England. The provision of this benefit 
is a statutory requirement placed upon all local authorities. Prior to 2008 the 
Council operated a local concessionary travel scheme offering half price 
(and latterly free) local bus journeys to pass holders.  

5. The cost to the Council of funding bus pass concessions has increased in 
stages, from around £600,000 in 2003/4 (the last year of half-fare local 
travel) to an estimated £5.1 million in 2009/10. 

6. Government funding is intended to meet the costs of providing the statutory 
minimum concession.  Any enhancements, using discretionary powers, 
must be funded by councils themselves.  The Council’s current scheme 
includes the following enhancements. 

• Free weekday travel between 0900 and 0930, also between 2300 and 
0600, available to any National Concessionary pass holder 

• Free all day travel wholly within York for York residents qualifying on 
grounds of blindness 

Agenda Item 7Page 47



• Free travel for necessary companions of persons with disability 

7. The Council also offers a further discretionary alternative to the bus pass for 
disabled residents (of any age) in the form of national transport tokens 
which are accepted by a number of taxi operators.  

8. The popularity of tokens has declined in recent years as a result of the 
increasingly generous bus travel concessions for older and disabled people.  
Token take-up decreased significantly in 2008/09 due to the Council halving 
the amount of tokens offered (to £20), coincident with the introduction of a 
free national bus pass. 

9. For 2009/10 the amount of tokens offered was increased to £50 but was 
only made available for disabled people. The value of tokens issued over 
the past seven years is shown in the table below: 

  2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 
Total value of 
tokens issued £510k £1,099k £831k £624k £519k £158k £122k (year to date)
Tokens issued 
per claimant £24.00 £50.00 £40.00 £40.00 £40.00 £20.00 £50.00(*)

   

(*) Only issued to the eligible disabled 

10. The current system allows the eligible disabled, aged under 60, to purchase 
an additional £50 worth of tokens at a cost of £25 (a total of £100 worth of 
tokens). This additional sum is offered in the interests of aiding this age 
demographic in their travel to work.   

11. The main weakness of the current system is that once the tokens are 
distributed, the Council has no way of monitoring how (or indeed, if) they are 
used and cannot ensure that the tokens are not exchanged fraudulently. 

12. Alternatives in the form of a ‘taxi card’ exist in the market place and are 
used by other local authorities (e.g. Newcastle, Milton Keynes, Chiltern, etc).  
These schemes have relatively low capital and running costs and provide 
reliable data on usage.  In addition, at the end of a given period (eg monthly, 
quarterly or annually), cards can be re-set to ensure the Council is spending 
no more than is used on journeys made during this period, ensuring that 
there is better financial control.   

Options  

13. The provision of an alternative concession to the ENCTS (the bus pass) is a 
discretionary decision for the Council to make. Three options are therefore 
presented for the consideration of Members. 

Option 1 – Replace the provision of national transport tokens for the eligible 
disabled with a stored value taxi-card and permit officers to conduct a 
tendering exercise, working with both the taxi industry and disability group 

Page 48



representatives to deliver best value and a product which will be fit-for-
purpose. 

Option 2 – Withdraw the provision of an alternative concession to the bus 
pass. 

Option 3 – Retain the existing arrangement for the distribution of national 
transport tokens. 

Analysis 

 Option 1 

14. Officers have held informal meetings with the two principal suppliers of a 
‘taxi card’ product in the United Kingdom to understand the functionality that 
might be delivered and the timescales required 

15. The following table provides an initial indication of the work which would be 
required to launch a ‘taxi card’ scheme: 

Task Timescale 

Procure taxi card provider 6 – 9 months  

Licence taxi firm(s) for operation of the taxi card scheme 
(including installation of readers) 

6 – 9 months (concurrent 
to the procurement of the 
taxi car provider) 

Publicise and promote the new scheme 3 months (concurrent with 
the run up to the launch of 
the card) and ongoing 

 

16. The taxi card scheme requires that all of the eligible individuals who want to 
use this facility are provided with a stored value smartcard which has a 
certain financial value loaded onto it (eg £50). The sum of money would be 
valid for a defined period (eg quarter of a year, half a year or a full financial 
year) to pay for all or a proportion of a taxi journey. Both of the suppliers 
consulted advised that the cards would be issued for a three year period. 
The values on the card (eg £50 for 2010/11, £50 for 2011/12, etc) will 
automatically lock and unlock themselves at the start and conclusion of 
each designated time period. 

17. To use their taxi card, the cardholder would only be able to use companies 
equipped with card readers (which deduct value from the user’s card when 
trips are made).  Officers recommend that a tendering exercise be 
conducted to select a small number of operators with a variety of (and 
sufficient numbers of) vehicles to be fitted with the taxi card readers.  As 
these operators would have ‘exclusive rights’ to the equipment, this would 
potentially make the scheme more attractive to them although the sums of 
money involved are still very low. 

Page 49



18. The Council would pay the taxi card supplier to operate the re-imbursement 
to taxi companies and for maintenance of the system hardware. This fee 
would be a proportion of the revenue invested into the system (estimated to 
be 5 – 10% per annum) but different companies have different 
reimbursement methodology to be determined through the procurement 
process.  

19. The taxi companies would then recoup the money from the taxi card 
supplier on a regular basis (monthly or quarterly).  

20. The capital cost of introduction of a taxi card scheme is estimated to be in 
the region of £25,000 on the assumption that 100 taxis are fitted with 
smartcard readers.  This could be funded through an allocation from the 
Local Transport Plan. 

21. Consultation with taxi operators has resulted in a mixed response for the 
initiative. It is difficult to be certain as to the taxi operator response at this 
stage, but if there is a possibility that operators are not prepared to fit their 
taxis with the equipment, irrespective of cost, then the project will not be 
deliverable. Officers believe however, that it is unlikely that all taxi operators 
would refuse to participate in the scheme. Further information on 
consultation with the taxi operators is provided at paragraphs 28-29.  

22. The ongoing revenue cost is estimated to be £100,000 per annum, based 
on the current number of tokens claimants (2000) multiplied by the amount 
currently received by each claimant (£50). 

23. The Council Procurement team has advised that it would be unlikely that a 
new taxi card scheme could be introduced before April 2011 due to the 
timescales outlined in paragraph 15. It is therefore proposed that national 
transport tokens are issued for 2010/11, to be made available from the 
Council’s finance centre, pending introduction of the card as soon as 
possible (and no later than September 2011). 

Option 2 

24. Many local authorities provide no discretionary alternative to ENCTS (the 
bus pass).  A number of current national transport token claimants may 
choose to take a bus pass instead. The move to restrict token distribution to 
those with qualifying disabilities in 2009/10 means that the numbers making 
this transition are likely to be relatively low. 

25. The saving to be made through the withdrawal of a discretionary concession 
is likely to be £150,000 (estimated full year expenditure inclusive of token 
distribution events). 

26. For both options one and two, our remaining stock of tokens would be re-
sold to National Transport Tokens. 

 

 

Page 50



Option 3 

27. Tokens could continue to be provided at a continuing annual cost of 
£150,000. The two-year contract for the purchase of transport tokens has 
now expired. A procurement exercise would therefore have to be carried out 
to ensure best value. If there is a short term need to procure a small number 
of tokens to enable transition to a taxi card product, a financial waiver will be 
sought. 

Consultation 

28. Officers have consulted with the Taxi Licensing team to identify any issues 
which may need to be resolved before launching the scheme outlined in 
option 1. Whilst generally satisfied that the introduction of such a product 
would not do anything to de-stabilise the York taxi business, concerns were 
expressed that officers may find it difficult to identify one specific company 
who would be able to sufficiently meet the needs of the taxi card. A majority 
of York’s taxi companies do not have fleets of significant size to 
accommodate a number of simultaneous demands for disabled transport. 
Licensing Team representatives believed that the services of more than one 
operator may be required and this will be fully considered in the 
procurement process. 

29. Officers met with representatives from the hackney cab and private hire 
industries on 8th September to understand any concerns they might have 
about either discontinuation of the transport token scheme or introduction of 
a taxi card.  The meeting generated the following outcomes: 

 
• Private hire operators were broadly supportive of the taxicard and 

understood the argument for replacing tokens. 
 
• Hackney operators collect a relatively small volume of tokens at present, 

so a full-scale equipping of their vehicles with card readers would be 
unlikely to prove cost effective.  

 
• However, around 35 hackney carriages are fully-wheelchair accessible. 

Equipping some of these vehicles would add to the pool of accessible 
vehicles within the taxicard scheme. Drivers’ telephone numbers would 
have to be published individually as they do not have a common base in 
the same way as private hire operators. 

 
Questions posed by taxi operators at the meeting are addressed in Annex 
A. 

 

30. Further to the meeting with the York Private Hire Association, the following 
paragraph, extracted from an email to the Council from the Association 
Secretary was received: 

Page 51



“Despite the attending members at our last meeting being keen on the 
smart card to replace the current travel tokens, there was, overall, a 
slightly negative reaction from the full executive to-day, though some 
including myself supported. I cannot say this means we as an 
association disagree at this stage but rather that reaction could have 
been classed as "mixed”, leaning to negative. The main reasons for 
those against being a lot of hassle for little number of 
journeys/income. The representative of one of the larger private hire 
companies stated he would categorically not be interested in any such 
scheme for his company. Some also felt this would have a negative 
effect on the disabled as they appeared to be singled out for special 
attention which a lot of them don't like.” 

31. ‘York Access Group’ represents disability issues on the Social Inclusion 
Working Group along with the Valuing People Partnership, York People First 
and York Mental Health Forum. The Access Group focuses on issues about 
access for people with physical and sensory disabilities in particular. 

32. The ‘York Access Group’, a forum for promoting the issues that effect 
people with disabilities in getting around, have also been consulted on this 
proposal. The group was not opposed to the launch of the taxi card scheme 
but raised a number of concerns. A comprehensive list of the issues raised 
is contained at annex A. The key concern raised was to establish how taxi 
card users would know whether they had any money on their card before 
making their journey. This is an issue which will be addressed in the 
procurement process as it is vital that taxi card users can commence their 
journey with the confidence that they will have sufficient money to pay for it 
at the other end. 

33. Representatives from the team working on ‘More for York’ for the Council 
have also been approached to understand if the taxi card may be expanded 
to serve a wider purpose (eg library cards, etc). Officers have been advised 
that whilst there are no plans for this to happen at present, the card could be 
used for other purposes in the future if it proves successful. 

34. Two suppliers of taxi cards to the UK market have attended informal 
meetings with officers to provide a better understanding of the functionality 
of the product.  

35. Current taxi card customers have also been contacted for their opinions on 
the products.  This consultation included an in depth discussion with a 
representative from NEXUS (Tyne & Wear PTE). Almost all of the 
customers spoke positively about the concept and product. 

36. The Procurement team has been consulted for advice on options one and 
three (see paragraphs 23 and 27). 

37. Quality Control Group advised that the recommendation of this report to 
move to card transactions will assist the City Finance Centre in its move 
away from dealing with cash (or equivalent) transactions.  

 

Page 52



 

Corporate Objectives 

38. Council involvement in the provision of an alternative to the bus pass 
contributes towards the “Sustainable City” and “Inclusive City” strategic 
objectives in the Community Strategy. 

39. Council involvement also contributes towards achievement of the objectives 
embodied in the Council’s Second Local Transport Plan; to reduce 
congestion, improve safety, improve air quality, improve accessibility, and 
improve other aspects of quality of life. The extent of the involvement 
possible is however governed by legislative restrictions and the willingness 
of bus service operating companies to co-operate with the Council in 
partnership working. 

Implications 

40. Financial –  

The total budget for provision of concessionary travel is £5.1m. This budget 
funds the cost of concessionary fare reimbursements as well as provision of 
tokens to disabled groups. 

Option 1 
The introduction of a taxi card scheme would be lower than the current cost 
of providing travel tokens as it would eliminate the requirement for a token 
distribution event, which in 2009/10 cost £21,500. Unfortunately it is not 
possible to accurately determine the reduction in cost resulting from the 
introduction of the scheme. Taxi card providers estimate, however, that 
approximately 15% of the sum issued to card holders will not be used.  This 
would be offset by a potential 5-10% management fee resulting in 5 – 10% 
of the initial budgeted allowance being returned to Council funds (equating 
to £2.50 to £5.00 for every participant in the scheme). 
 
Both of the taxi card suppliers consulted have stated that they would want to 
agree a minimum three-year contract. This would include agreement being 
given by Council on the level of concession to be offered for a three-year 
period in advance of the cards being issued. 
 
The Capital cost in year 1 would be broadly similar to the cost of the current 
tokens distribution and could be accommodated within the Capital 
programme with Member approval. 
 
The anticipated savings achieved through ending the annual distribution of 
tokens could provide an additional sum of £5 per eligible disabled taxi card 
claimant, increasing the annual allowance to £55. 

 

Option 2 
The withdrawal of a discretionary concession would reduce Council 

Page 53



expenditure in this area by £150,000. It is assumed that this saving would 
not be realisable as a proportion of users would be likely to transfer to other 
concessionary benefits (i.e. the bus pass).  

Option 3 

This option would result in a continuing annual cost of £150,000. 

41. Human Resources (HR) – The cessation of the annual national transport 
tokens distribution will end the need to employ a number of casual staff to 
manage the Guildhall and door-to-door events. There would also be a 
reduced burden on the Council Finance Centre who would no longer be 
required to distribute tokens throughout the year. 

42. Equalities – Whilst only some of the taxi operators in York accept national 
transport tokens, the operator is free to decide whether they do or do not 
wish to participate in the scheme. The introduction of a taxi card scheme 
would limit the taxi choice open to cardholders to specific companies who 
are issued with the taxi card readers. 

43. Legal – None 

44. Property – If either option 1 or option 2 is selected, the remaining transport 
tokens will be sold back to National Transport Tokens. If option 1 is 
selected, the taxi card readers will be issued to taxi companies but will 
remain the property of the Council. 

45. Crime and Disorder – The introduction of a taxi card scheme greatly 
reduces the opportunity for fraud currently possible through misuse of 
national transport tokens.  

46. Information Technology – The third party provider will manage the taxi 
card scheme. 

Risk Management 

47. The main risk associated with this initiative would be an inability on the part 
of the Council to engage with sufficient taxi operators to deliver a wide 
enough network of taxi card reading cabs to make the scheme feasible. 
Every effort will be made to ensure that this is not the case. 

48. The above risk and any other potential risks associated with the introduction 
of the taxi card have been measured in terms of impact and likelihood using 
the Council’s risk management system. The risk score for the 
recommendation is less than 16 and thus, in line with the risk management 
system, at this point the risks need only to be monitored, as they do not 
provide a real threat to the achievement of the objectives of this report. 

 

 

Page 54



Recommendations 

The Executive is asked to 

a. Note the contents of this report. 

b. Support option 1 – To replace the provision of national transport 
tokens for the eligible disabled with a stored value taxi-card. 

Reason: To deliver an alternative concession to ENCTS for those who 
cannot, for reasons of disability, use the bus which will deliver the best value 
and which will be fit-for-purpose. 

Whilst the overall cost of the taxicard would be comparable to the current 
token scheme, the principal benefit is to ensure that eligible residents are 
benefiting from the council’s travel concessions expenditure as intended. 

 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

 
Andrew Bradley 
Principal Transport Planner 
(Operations) 
City Strategy 
01904 551404 

 
Damon Copperthwaite  
Assistant Director, City Strategy  
 
Report Approved � Date 28.01.2010 

 
 

Report Approved  Date  

 
 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  
Financial 
Patrick Looker 
Finance Manager, City Strategy 
01904 551633 
 
Wards Affected: all All � 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 
 
None 
 
Annexes 
Annex A – Answers to questions raised by the York Action Group 

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A 

Answers to the questions raised by the York Access Group 
 

 
Q. Would the scheme reduce the number of taxis available to eligible 
disabled persons? 
 
A. Although many local operators are currently on record as accepting tokens, 
the reduced amount of tokens in circulation over the last few years means that 
smaller operators often struggle to collect the minimum amount of tokens 
(£300) required for reimbursement.  
 
In order to launch the taxicard, the Council would aim to fit one vehicle for 
every 20 cards in circulation. It is believed that this would be more than 
adequate for the volume of journeys likely to be made. By having an agreed 
number of fully-fitted taxi operators, all participating operators will have a 
clearer understanding of the taxicard and its users’ needs. 
 
Q. How would taxicard users check the value of their card? 
 
A. The taxicard would have to be presented to a card reader for an exact 
display of the stored value. The Council will be provided with monthly reports 
showing outstanding card values of all cardholders, which could be provided 
by telephone if a user would like to know their balance at the last month-
ending.  
 
It should be technically feasible to provide low-cost read-only personal card 
readers to display the remaining stored value. This will be investigated further 
through the procurement process. 
 
Q. Would the card work on trains and buses? 
 
A. The only train service where tokens are officially accepted is the hourly 
service between York and Poppleton. Although we have not yet made any 
approaches to the rail industry, in theory, one card reader each at York & 
Poppleton stations would suffice providing Northern Rail were amenable to 
participating in the taxicard scheme (the taxicard could be used to purchase a 
full-fare single/return ticket at the station ticket office before travelling, so 
would not require revenue protection staff to be trained to recognise the 
taxicards). 
 
It has never been the intention of the York token scheme to subsidise any 
form of travel outside the City of York area. 
 
Although bus operators have long accepted tokens, the Council’s opinion is 
that anyone capable of travelling by bus would receive far greater value from 
an English National Concessionary Bus Pass. It will be possible to use the 
taxicard on Dial & Ride services, which are intended for those unable to use 
local service buses. 

Page 57



Annex A 

Q. Would the taxicard be susceptible to misuse? 
 
A. The taxicard provides a far more secure and accountable payment system 
than tokens. Indeed is one of the principal reasons for the Council to introduce 
the card.  
 
All taxicard transactions will be logged and a monthly report provided to the 
Council. There will be a maximum amount per journey which can be deducted 
from the card, and a short time delay of 5 minutes following a transaction 
during which the card cannot be debited again to prevent duplicate 
transactions. Any taxi operator suspected of irregular use would be subject to 
investigation. 
 
Q. What would happen if a fitted taxi is not available? 
 
A. The intention is to ensure that any taxi operator wishing to participate in the 
taxicard scheme fits their entire fleet with card readers, so any available 
vehicles sent out by a participating taxi company would be guaranteed to be 
capable of accepting the taxicard. 
 
Q. Will the taxicard fit in with the new Taxi Accreditation scheme? 
 
A. Once the accreditation scheme is running smoothly, the Head of Licensing  
may be amenable to incorporating the taxicard into this scheme. 
 
Q. Would there be a wider scope to launch the card as a commercial 
product? 
 
A. The current technology does not allow the card to operate on a pay-as-
you-go basis. The card could however, in theory, be sold commercially as a 
pre-loaded product, possibly incorporating a modest discount as an incentive 
to take-up.  
 
Each taxicard issued is intended to have a 3-year lifespan, but there is no 
reason why a shorter-term card could not be issued (albeit at a higher overall 
cost per user).  
 
It should be noted that the Transport Planning Unit does not presently have 
any mandate to launch the taxicard as a commercial product.  

Page 58



Annex A 

 
Answers to the questions raised by the York Taxi Association 
 
Q. Will there be a central location for taxi operators to download their 
stored value cards? 
 
A. Operators would be more inclined to participate if the Council set up one or 
more locations where drivers could download their stored value cards for 
immediate reimbursement. This could potentially be any vehicle-accessible 
council site, for example the larger Park & Ride site offices. The additional 
equipment cost would be £300 per site (not including staff costs). 
 
Q. Would it be possible to power the card reader from batteries to 
reduce in-car clutter? 
 
A. Card readers with a rechargeable battery (instead of taking power from the 
cigarette lighter) would be useful to reduce clutter for some drivers who 
already have a number of in-car electronic devices. Whilst the card readers 
currently on offer do not have built in batteries, rechargeable mobile power 
packs are available commercially for around £15 per unit.  

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 

   

 
Executive  16th February 2010 
 
Report of the Interim Head of Civic, Legal & Democratic Services 

 

Comments from the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Regarding the Referral from the Executive on overspends in Adult 
Social Services 

Summary 

1. This report details the comments from the Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee on the referral from the Executive regarding overspends in Adult 
Social Services. Councillor Alexander, Chair of the Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee, will be in attendance at this meeting to present the Committee’s 
comments. 

 Background 

2. At a meeting of the Executive held on 22nd September 2009 information was 
received on the First Performance and Financial Monitor for 2009/10. On 
consideration of the information the Executive highlighted the increased 
demand levels for adult community care packages and care packages as 
having an impact on the Council’s budget. As a result of this they requested 
that the appropriate Scrutiny Committee review the reasons for and possible 
options for offsetting the increase in demand for these services. A discussion 
took place on the adult social care budget pressures at the meeting of Health 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee on 23rd September when they received 
finance and monitoring report for Housing & Adult Social Services. 

3. The context for the referral from the Executive is set out at Annex A to this 
report and this was originally included with the Executive papers dated 22nd 
September 2009. 

4. Subsequently it was decided to present the Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee’s comments, in the first instance, to the Executive Member for 
consideration alongside the budget papers for 2010/2011 at the Decision 
Session for the Executive Member for Housing & Adult Social Services on 26th 
January 2010. 

Consultation  

5. The Director of Housing & Adult Social Services and the departmental Head of 
Finance provided a further monitor report for Members of the Health Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee at their meeting on 14th December 2010. This showed 

Agenda Item 8Page 61



 

that the projected overspend on adult social care had risen to about £1.1m 
from £589k at the last report. 

6. Officers then provided a further report to the Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee at their meeting on 13th January 2010. This is attached at Annexes 
B, 1 & 2 to this report. The Executive Member was invited to this meeting but 
did not attend. 

Comments from Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

7. At the on 13th January 2010 the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
considered further information provided by officers in the Housing & Adult 
Social Services Directorate and made the following comment to the Executive 
Member for Housing & Adult Social Services: 

‘That the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee forward the paper they have 
received to the Executive as the reasons for the overspends (Annexes B, 1 & 2 
refer). 

They also report to the Executive that the Committee was unable to make any 
comments on savings at this point in the financial year as options suggested by 
officers could have an impact on residents in the city. Such changes to 
services would require consultation and further information on their impact for 
clients, staff and partners and Councillors would need to understand any 
implications. Furthermore, the non-attendance of the Executive Member for 
Housing & Adult Social Services meant that the Committee were unable to ask 
his views on the impact of possible changes to services.’ 

Options  

8. This report is to inform the Executive of the comments made by the Health 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee in relation to its referral to scrutiny. There are 
no options associated with the recommendations within this report. 

Analysis 
   
9. When considering the referral from the Executive Members of the Health 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee discussed all the papers provided by Officers 
at length.  

10. Since that time further discussion has taken place at the Decision Session for 
the Executive Member for Housing & Adult Social Services meeting on 26th 
January 2010, where Councillor Alexander presented the comments of the 
Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee to the Executive Member who, in turn, 
noted them and expressed his own opinion on the Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee’s comments. 

Corporate Strategy 2009/2012 

11. This relates to both the Effective Organisation theme and the Healthy City 
theme the current Corporate Strategy 2009/2012. 

Page 62



 

 Implications 

12. Financial – There are no financial implications associated with the 
recommendations within this report. However, clearly there are future ongoing 
budgetary implications arising from the increasing demand for care packages. 

13. Human Resources – There are no known Human Resources implications 
associated with the recommendations within this report. 

14. Legal – There are no legal implications associated with the recommendations 
within this report. 

15. Other – There are no known equalities, property, crime & disorder or other 
implications associated with the recommendations within this report. 

Risk Management 
 

16. In compliance with the Council’s risk management strategy there are no risks 
associated with the recommendations within this report. However, clearly there 
are continuing budgetary risks if satisfactory ways of managing the demand for 
care packages are not put in place. 

 Recommendations 

17. The Executive are asked to  

i. Note the contents of Annexes B, 1 & 2 to this report  

ii. Consider how they might wish to address the Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee’s comments set out in paragraph 7 of this report, in the light of the 
Executive’s referral to scrutiny. 

Reason: To address the concerns raised by the Executive referral 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

Tracy Wallis 
Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny Services 
Tel: 01904 551714 

Alison Lowton 
Interim Head of Civic, Legal & Democratic 
Services 
Tel: 01904 551004 
 
Report Approved ü Date 01.02.2010 
    

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  None 
 
Wards Affected:  All ü 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

Page 63



 

 
Background Papers: 
 
Minutes from the Executive meeting held on 22nd September 2009        
 
Annexes 
 
Annex A – Context for the referral  
Annexes B, 1 & 2 – Adult Social Services – Current Financial Pressures (13th 
January 2010) 

Page 64



Annex A 
 
Housing & Adult Social Services Context 
 
The main areas causing the overspend on Adult Social Services are; 

• An increase in the expected number of Mental Health residential and 
nursing placements – this was an area where the budget was reduced 
for 09/10 based on previous years’ activity 

• A continued increase in the volume and complexity of community 
based support for Learning Disabilities 

• A continued increase in the number of Older People needing 
community based supports 

• An agreed budget saving to deliver additional customer income of 
£180k has not yet been implemented due to the need to complete a full 
Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) and lack of sufficient resources to 
complete all the work needed. 

 
The increase in demand from older and disabled people was anticipated and 
the York Long Term Commissioning Strategy reported to members in October 
2007 projected that by 2020 there would be an increase of 31% in the over 65 
population, and within this number, an increase in the over 85s of 60%.  
People over 85 are more likely to need support from health and social care 
services.  The strategy also went on to project the likely impact on service 
demands and costs. 
 
The table below shows the numbers of people accessing services in 2007, the 
projections that were made at the time about the increased capacity that was 
likely to be required by 2010 set alongside the current number of packages in 
place.  This  shows that increases are happening broadly  in line with the 
forecast although at a higher rate with a 25% increase in community care 
packages and a 22% increase in care home placements over the past 2 
years.   
  

 Baseline 
snapshots (as 
at 17/7/07) 

2010 forecast 
of capacity 
needed 

Actual 
packages (as at 
31/7/09) 

Community 
Based 

2635 3104 3322 

Residential & 
Nursing 

653 761 797 

 
It is for this reason that the major reviews of direct services were agreed by 
members and these are being brought within the broader More for York 
programme. However, within this context of increasing demand it will be very 
difficult  to produce a balanced outturn position in 09/10 in advance of the 
completion of the major reviews.   
 
As part of the budget setting process for 09/10 savings were offered in a 
number of areas that did not affect service delivery. They included: 

Page 65



 
• in increase in the existing vacancy factor by 1% saving £85k. 
• a 1% efficiency against premises, supplies & services budgets and a 

minor base budget exercise that had been undertaken to drive out 
further efficiencies saving £200k. 

• Further savings identified corporately in administration, use of external 
consultants, energy budgets, transport, and improved staff attendance 
totalling £167k.  

 

Page 66



Annex B 

 

 

 
 

 
   
 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

         13th January 2010 

Report of the Director of Housing & Adult Social Services 
 
Adult Social Services - Current Financial Pressures  
 

Summary 
 

1. This report sets out the current financial pressures within Adult Social 
Services along with details of the mitigating actions being taken and likely 
future issues. 

 
Context and Background  

 
2. The vision for adult social care has 4 main elements in terms of what we 

are trying to achieve for citizens in York: 
q Services that are customer focused – simple to understand and 

accessible 
q Personalised approach and Choice – customers who are eligible for 

services will know how much money is available to fund their care 
and have the opportunity to control that directly if they want to. 

q Maximisation of independence and optimising people’s health and 
well-being – support that enables rather than disables, intervenes 
early to prevent problems becoming acute and uses assistive 
technology. 

q Universal support for everyone – all citizens to get the information, 
advice they need to live independently even if they are self-funders 

(Although this is seen as the prime responsibility of social care it touches 
upon the full range of local authority responsibilities [housing, community 
safety, neighbourhood services, transport, learning, employment advice 
etc] as well as the critical partnerships with the NHS, care providers and 
the voluntary sector.) 

 
3. For many years this has meant shifting the balance away from reliance on 

residential and nursing care in favour of investment in community based 
support. This has the value of not only providing support in the way most 
people want but also in a way that is generally much cheaper in unit cost 
terms. This has been reinforced by a strong commitment to giving people 
more control over their care and, in a growing number of cases, control 
over the money to fund that care (the “Putting People First” programme). 

 
4. More choice has meant that many more severely disabled people and 

those with long-term mental health problems have been able to move into 
independent living with their own tenancies. For example, the council has, 
on behalf of the NHS in North Yorkshire and York, de-commissioned all 
the long-stay NHS units for people with learning disabilities in the area and 
replaced them with supported housing schemes. We are half way through 
a joint project with the Joseph Rowntree Trust to de-commission their 

Page 67



Annex B 
residential care units on the same basis. These are very positive initiatives 
but it must be recognised that the costs of care remain comparatively high 
and are likely to rise as people become older. 

 
5. At the same time as these policy changes have been put into effect the 

demand for care has risen in line with demographic changes. The growing 
demand for adult social care was first set out for members in 2007 as part 
of the Long Term Commissioning Review. This forecast that expenditure 
on older people would continue to increase in line with demography-led 
demand resulting in additional annual costs of £10m by 2020. (This 
presumed no change in the configuration of services, which was how the 
reviews of home care and residential care came to be authorised – 
recognising that radical changes were needed.) Significant cost increases 
were also forecast for younger disabled people coming into adult care. 

 
6. A key question that still needs to be addressed is the right level of 

expenditure on adult social care necessary to achieve the council’s 
ambitions to support vulnerable people. That is essential in terms of 
securing the right level of investment alongside More For York’s savings 
proposals and identifying areas where expenditure may be too high and 
need more scrutiny. The Care Quality Commission have commented in the 
last 3 successive years that they have concerns that the council’s per 
capita expenditure will not enable it to achieve the levels of performance it 
aspires to.  

 
7. We know from CIPFA statistics that we spend less per capita on personal 

social services in every category compared to England and Family Group 
councils. It is particularly marked in older people where the 07/8 figures 
are England - £979, Family Group - £810, York - £696. Similarly, if we look 
at the annual cost of average packages of care York is a low spending 
authority with 07/08 figures for England of £7.2k per package compared to 
£5.8k in York. The fact that York starts from such a low budget base 
makes the council vulnerable to rising cost pressures and increased 
demand. 

 
Analysis 
 
8. The major areas of overspend, as included in the most recent monitoring 

report, and an analysis of spend in key areas over recent years are set out 
in the attached annexes. Members will be aware that the 3rd and final 
monitoring report for this financial year is due very soon after this meeting 
and if the figures have been finalised it may be possible to provide a verbal 
update at the meeting.  The information in the annexes shows that despite 
increased demand the policy of shifting the balance from residential and 
nursing care to community care has been taking place. New admissions to 
care are projected to be lower than in 2008/9 and the overall proportion 
spent of the budget spent on care homes is forecast to fall below 40% - in 
line with recommended good practice. 

 
9. However, ‘snapshot’ figures do need to be treated with some caution as 

they can mask significant variations within the year. Within this trend of 
reduced reliance on care homes there have been spikes in the numbers at 
certain times during the year – e.g. 653 customers in residential 

Page 68



Annex B 
placements in July 2007 compared to 797 placements in July 2009. 
Although numbers of admissions are being managed the unit cost of this 
care has increased significantly. This is due to an increase in the 
complexity and needs of those customers.   

 
10. In terms of home care there has been an increase in the number of home 

care hours purchased and providers are now operating at the limit of their 
capacity. At the same time  the average cost of an individual package has 
also risen  - from £137 in 2006/07 to £151 in 2008/09.  The most marked 
area of increased cost is in relation to Learning Disabilities customers, 
where there has been both an increase in the number of customers and 
the cost of those customers.   

 
11. In addition there has been an increase in the numbers of referrals made to 

the department, which has resulted in an increase in the number of care 
packages being delivered.  During 2007/08 there were an average of 703 
referrals per month and in 2009/10 this has increased to 813 per month. In 
particular there has been a sharp increase in adult safeguarding referrals 
(from 95 in the first half of 2008/9 to 173 in the first half of 2009/10). This 
almost certainly reflects better practice and awareness and previous 
under-recording of cases but additional staffing resources have had to be 
put in place to fulfil the council’s statutory duty to assess needs.  

 
12. The council remains a major provider of  residential care and still provides 

almost 25% of the home care required. A recent report to the Executive on 
the More For York Adult Social Care Blueprints (15th December) 
highlighted the costs associated with direct care provision and the need to 
seek further efficiencies. The blueprints also emphasised the crucial 
importance of investing in ‘re-ablement’ (a term used commonly across the 
country to describe services or interventions that are aimed at enabling 
people to regain their health and their independent living skills e.g. after a 
fall or a stay in hospital). As the demand for care rises it is imperative that 
everything is done to maximise people’s independent living skills and this 
needs to be done in very close partnership with the NHS. 

 
13. Direct staffing costs have risen following the implementation of the 

council’s pay review and there has been an increased reliance on 
temporary staff. The analysis of staffing costs shows that the action 
currently being taken to reduce the use of agency staff has started to 
impact on the spend and the agency spend is forecast to outturn at a lower 
level than in 2008/09.  Further work is ongoing to examine the use of 
overtime and other allowances to see if spend can be reduced in this area. 

 
14. Target budget savings of £1.36m were agreed by members for 2009/10. 

Offset against this were approved growth items for service pressures of 
£752k giving a net effect of a reduction of £608k in funding. In addition to 
this as a result of changes agreed at Full Council savings of £168k were 
allocated to HASS.  Given the overall context of funding in York and the 
increased demand projected for 09/10 we entered the year at risk in terms 
of being able to contain expenditure within the approved budget.  

 
15. Concerns remain around transitions and cases that are due to come in to 

care from 2010/11.  There are 70 young people, many with very complex 

Page 69



Annex B 
needs, who we already know will be coming into adult services over the 
next 3 to 5 years and who will have a statutory right to have a service, with 
the annual cost of care likely to be in excess of £3m. 

 
Financial Implications 

 
16. The cost pressures currently being seen on the adult social care budgets 

are largely due to increased demand related to demographic changes and 
to the increasing care needs of those eligible for services. These factors 
will be prominent in future years and given that much of the financial 
mitigation in 2009/10 is one off, this pressure needs to be recognised in 
the 2010/11 budget.  

 
17. The current areas of mitigation are outlined in Annex One.  Much of adult 

social care operates within a statutory framework and this conditions 
options for cost savings. Further options for reducing the overspend could 
be considered by members and examples are listed below. However these 
would have a direct impact on service response times to customers, some 
service levels and the performance rating of services by the Care Quality 
Commission. The legal implications would also need to be carefully 
considered.  Further options that could be considered are: 

 
• Rationing of placements into residential and nursing care 
• Extended use of waiting lists for services such as home care 
• Extending the time taken to complete care assessments and packages 
• Review of care service levels to existing customers especially for non-

statutory services such as day care or respite care 
• Changes to eligibility criteria for services. (York currently operates a 

relatively generous system whereby people with Moderate needs and 
above are eligible for services) 

• Recruitment freeze for front line posts 
 
18. The Adult Social Care vision agreed by the Executive on the 20th October 

and the subsequent blueprint agreed on the 15th December 2009 could 
realise savings in excess of £2m.  However, the exact savings still need to 
be verified once the overall strategy is clear and it is unlikely significant 
savings will be realised until 2011/12.  Even then, some initial investment 
may be needed to ensure the full savings are realised and good 
performance is maintained and improved where possible. 

 
19. Further budget pressures are anticipated following the recently announced 

proposals to offer free personal care to those with critical needs, although 
it has not yet been possible to quantify the financial impact of this proposal 
until further details are given by Government.   

 
20. The Councils Medium Term Financial Strategy sets out the need for 

significant efficiency savings in coming years and further pressures on 
public funding are likely to require the council to have to seek additional 
savings in coming years over and above those already set out in the 
current Financial Strategy.   

 
 
 

Page 70



Annex B 
 

Other Implications 
 

21. There are no human resources, equalities, legal, crime & disorder, 
information technology, property or other implications associated with this 
report. 

 
Risk Management 

 
22. The current financial position of Adult Social Services exposes the council 

to a number of different risks, including 
q financial risk if the overspend continues and no corrective action is 

taken 
q risk to the safety and wellbeing vulnerable adults if services 

withdrawn or restricted 
q longer term risk to future financial viability of external services 

 
23. The budget setting process always entails a degree of risk as managers 

attempt to assess known and uncertain future events.  The risks outlined 
above will continue to be mitigated by prompt monitoring of the budget 
position with regular updates being provided to the Directorate 
Management Team, Council Management Team and monitor report to the 
Executive. 

 
Recommendations  

 
24. The Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider the content of this report and 

the comments it wishes to make to the Executive. 
 
Reason: To update the Committee on the current financial pressures in order 

for them to make a response to the Executive.  
 
Contact Details 
 

 

Authors: Chief Officers responsible for the report: 
Debbie Mitchell 
Head of HASS Finance 
(01904) 554161 

Bill Hodson 
Director of Housing & Adult Social 
Services 
(01904) 554001 

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  None 
 
Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all All  

√ 
 

Background Papers 
 
Second Performance and Financial Report for 2009/10, Executive 17th November 
2009 and Health Scrutiny 14th December 2009 

 
Annexes 
Annex One – summary of main areas of overspend and mitigation 
Annex Two – analysis of spend in key areas 

 

 

Page 71



Page 72

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex One 

 
 
Adult Social Services 2009/10  
 
 £’000 
Main areas of overspend  
Direct Payments & Community Support +773 
Residential & Nursing +150 
Elderly People’s Homes (EPHs) +232 
Home Care +472 
Mental Health Residential & Nursing +120 
Mental Health Community Support +74 
Mental Health staffing +60 
22 The Avenue +40 
Total overspend +1,921 
  
Mitigation  
Restrictions on non essential spend  

• Training -52 
• Recruitment costs -7 
• Holding vacant posts -127 
• Stationery, postage & other office running costs -60 

Redirection of grant funding to pressures -514 
Other miscellaneous efficiencies -62 
Total Mitigation -822 
  
Net overspend +1,099 
 

Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex Two

Adult Services 

2007/08

Types of Placements Actual Actual
% Budget Expenditure Per Adult

£'000 £'000 £'000
Residential & Nursing Care 585 * 37.28% 16,615   15,760            26.94
EPH's 258 * 16.44% 6,873     7,177              27.82
Community Support & Direct Payments 726 * 46.27% 4,363     5,610              7.73

Total 1,569 100% 27,851 28,547 18.19

* Average number excludes:
Equipment
Customers within the block contracts who do not contribute to the cost of care

2008/09

Types of Placements Actual Actual
% Budget Expenditure Per Adult

£'000 £'000 £'000
Residential & Nursing Care 576 * 36.16% 16,436   16,736            29.06
EPH's 263 * 16.51% 7,276     7,909              30.07
Community Support & Direct Payments 754 * 47.33% 5,672     6,635              8.80

Total 1,593 100% 29,384 31,280 19.64

* Average number excludes:
Equipment
Customers within the block contracts who do not contribute to the cost of care

2009/10 Estimate (forecast as at month 6)

Types of Placements Actual Outturn

Average
Number

Average

Average
Number

Types of Placements Actual Outturn
% Budget Expenditure Per Adult

£'000 £'000 £'000
Residential & Nursing Care 519 * 33.16% 16,642   17,053            32.86
EPH's 262 * 16.74% 7,447     7,819              29.84
Community Support & Direct Payments 784 * 50.10% 6,444     7,714              9.84

Total 1,565 100% 30,533   32,586            20.82

* Average number excludes:
Equipment
Customers within the block contracts who do not contribute to the cost of care

Note: All costs are gross

Average
Number

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

2007/08 2008/09 2009/2010

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
C
u
st
o
m
er
s

Financial Year

Average Number of Customers 2007/08 to 2009/10 

Residential & 
Nursing Care

EPH's

CSB & Direct 
Payments 0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

2007/08 2008/09 2009/2010

U
n
it
 C
o
st
 (
£)

Financial Year

Unit Cost 2007/08 to 2009/10 (Forecast)

Residential & 
Nursing Care

EPH's

CSB & Direct 
Payments

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



�

�

�
��������	�
���

�
� � �
�
�
���	����
�

��������	
�	��
����

�����	����	��������	����������������
�

������������
�����������������������	��������  �!" �
�

��������

�� ����� 	���	�� �	������� �������� ��� ���� ��������� ��	��	������ ���
��� �	��� ���� ���	��
��	��	������������	����
�����������	����������	�����	�������	����������� ������	�
���!��
��	����	���������	��	�������	������	�����������	���	�"�

�!� ���������	�� #� ����� �
�� ��$�$���� ���� ��
����� ��� ��	��	����� ��	���� ��$���� 	����� ���
��	��	��������������	�%�����������	��	����������	����	���������!�


!� 
��������
 ��������
 �	������ #� �	������� ��� 
������ ��� �	��	���� �������� �	�&����� ����
��������������
���	��������
����'����	��	�����	��	�����!�

�!� �����	�
#�����	����	�����������	��	�����
�����!�
�
#�

��$�

�� (�������� )�	��	������ *�������	�� +()*�,� #� -�.� ��� ()*�� +$���� ����� ���������,� �	��
���	�����%�$����-/.�����	��0� ������� ����	�
������� ��	���!� �-�.��������1�����������	��
+$������������������,��	�����	�����������	������	��0������������	���������	���!���	�������
���	� ��	��	������ �	�� ����� ������ 	����$��� ���� �������	0��� ��	� ���	�������� ����
������������������0���$��	�����	��	����!��

�� 2�	��	����3�	������#�4/.�����������������������	����� �	��0� ������� ����	���������%��	�
����������������������������	�����	��	���	�������������!�
��
���������-5����������	��

���0�����������������������
������!�

�� ���� ��
����� ��� �
		������ ������������ ���������� �	���
	��� ��� 6
%���0� ��� 
������!�
78���������������������
���������
���	��0������������	����	���������������������8�����
��������������������	�����!�

�
������
�����������	����


� 9��	����-�.�+�����
�����
�4,�������������������	��	��������������	����������������������
������������������������	���������
�����������������������������
������	���	�
�����	��������
�
	����!�:�����	��������
����������������	����������������������������������	!�9��������
���������%� -�.� �	�� ���	������ �����	��� ��� ����� ���	� ���� -/.� �	�� ��� �	��0� ��� ���� ����	�

���������	���!���

�

��
��	��������	���
	����
��	��

%��	����	� �
�������� ���������� #	�&���

'�	������
������	����

�������
�4�+-�.,� -������
�+-/.,� -������5�+-�.,� 
4�����5�+
�.,� �4�����5�+�/.,�

(��)������	$�
������	����


5����5��+5�.,� ������

�+-�.,� ������

�+-�.,� 5����

�+�/.,� -����

�+
�.,�

����
 ���
 �����
������
���
���
����
 ��������
	��
��
��������
 ���
 �����������
 �����
��
���� �!
�"��"��#�

���������$
����
��
���
%���
�������
���
���
���! &�
��
�%��
��
�%�
�����
����
�%��
���
�����
	����	����


Agenda Item 9Page 77



�� 9����
5��
�����5��1�����������	�������
������������������������� ���������������������	%�
$����-�.�������������$�������	��������������	��������������������	�
���������	���!���

�
5� 2����	����������;
�	����������������������������	���	��������������������	������	��������

�	�������	�������	���
�������������)$2��������	0������
�!�����������$������	��	����������
�������� ��� ��������	�� $��	�� ��	��	������ ��� ������� ��� ��� ��� �8�������� +�!�!� �����
���	����������	�����������	������������	�,!�*����	���
��	%���������	��������
���	���	��	����
���	��������+�!�!�1����	���	��	������	��������	����,���������������
���!�

�
<�
�����

-� ���
 &'(�
 )�����������
 �*++
 ����	����#�� ���� �
���	� ��� =�	0� ��
�������� ������� ���
�����	�	�� �������������� ������
��� ��� 	��
��%� �������� ���� ��������� ���	����� ��� �����
	������������� ��	���� 7������!� � )�	��	������ �
		������ ������� ��� ���� +$���� ����$� ����
1�����	��������
�,������������������	��������������
���	��
����
	���	��������$�/������	��
����������������������������	%�$�����$�
���	��	���������
.�	��
������������
��4��/!�

�
�� ���
&''�
+���������
%����
�*++
����	����#�������
���	��������	������������������	������

=�	0���� ����������� ������	�
���%� �����!������	������� 1��� ��	���� ��	� �������	����
/��
���������������������	�����������5������	��������������$��������>���	������9�����!�����
	�������������	������
�����������$��
	�����������
�������	0��������������������������	���
��� ���������8�� ����� �����	�������1�����	�����$�	������ ���
��4���� �������0���� ������	0��!�
3���������%����������������������������������������	�����$�����$�!�1�������	�&��������
��$���	%��������������������5����	����$����������!�



��
���3������2�	��

4� ����
 &,�
 -
 &,,
 .
 ����������
 ��
 ��	���
 	���
 �����������
 ���
 ��	/������ � ?���� ������
��������	�� ����	� �	���� ����� ����� ��� ���$� ���	�������� ��� ���	���� ��	��	������ ���
���
������������ ��� ���� 
��/���� ��
��� 3������ 2�	�� ����������!� � )	��	���� ��� ��	� ����� ���	� ���
��8��"��
�� ()*� ��
"� ����������� ��� �����������!� )�	��	������ ���� ���	����� �	��� �4!�.� ���

4�.%���	������8������������
���������	�������44.!��*��������������������%�=�	0�$�
���
�����
���	����������������������	��;
�	����%����������)$2��������	0��������!�


�� ()*� ���"� ����������� ��� ��	�� ���0����!� ���� ���	��������� ����� ��� ������� ��	��
������������ �	�� ������� �� 0���0� ��� ������� ��	� ���� ����������� ��� ��	�� ���0����� ���
��	������ �	�� ��	
������� ��� 0���� 
�%� ��	���
��	��� ��� 9��
��������� ���	���!��
)�	��	��������� ��	� ��������	� ������/�!
.%����	��������.����������!�.���������� ���

��/���!� ����� ������ ���	�� ��� ���� ��.� ��	���� ���� ��	� 
������� ���� ��� ��� �
	���	�
���	������������������������	%������$���������=�	0��	����	����������������;
�	��������

����	���
���	�����!�����
���	�������������	�����������������	�����������
���������		����
	���	����� +�!�!� ��$� ��	����� ������ ��� 	����������� 	������� ������ �	�� 	���	���,!� ����
������	�� ��� 	������������� ����� ��	�� $���� ������� ������ ��������� ��� ����� ������
�8���	��� ���� ������ �������� ���
��� ����� ��� ���	�������� ���� ��	��	���������� ���
�����	������	�������:�	���
���!�

� �

�

�

�

�

�

Page 78



/� ���
 &0&�
1"��������
 ������
 �	%������
 �����������
 ������
 �*++
 ����	����#�� )�	��	������
���������������������
������������������������������>���	������9�������������;
�	��	���
���
	���	����
����	���	���� ��������	�� ���3�������	!����������	��
����� �����
!
.��	��%�
��0���� ��	��	������ �	��� 4�!4.%� ��� �/!-.� +��	� ���� ��	��� �� ������� ��� 
������,%� $�����
������� =�	0� ��� ���� ������� ;
�	����!� <�33� �	�� �
		������ �������������� ���� ������������ ���
	��
��������������		������������
	�!�

�
@�����A�	���������

�� ���
&!& &!,�
2����
	����	����
���
����������
�*++
����	����#���������
������	����
���
$����� ���������� ��	� ��
������� ��� ��	������ ��� �	��� ��� -.� ��� 
������%� �	��� �
�0�� ���
���0�!�����������$������	����$����+����,�$������=�	0���	��A�����<
���	!�����.����$�����
	�������B���������� ���
������� ��� ��	������ ��� 	��
������������ ��	� ���� ��	��� ����� ������	���
������� +55!
.������	��� ���5-!�.� ���
��/���,%� ����������������������� ����.����$�����
����������%�$����������	������������	���������.!��

�

�  *! ��
�����	�

 �!" �
�������	�

 �!" �
�����	�

%���
�����	+��

(���
	����	+�

()*����"�C����
�����
�������$�������	������� �
�0�� ���0�� ��40�� =��� =���
()*���
"�<�
�������$�����	�������B���������� 5-!�.� 55!
.� 54!�.� (�� (��
()*����"�:
��������$���������������� --!�.� -�.� -
!�.� (�� (��

�

���  ������� ����	���� ��� ����.���� �����������$����%� ������
�����$�������
����� ����������-5���������
�������������
��/���%��
�����/���������������������������������	�����
�������!��:
������
����� ��� �
�� ��� ���� 	��������� ���� �� ��������� ������� ��� �
����� ������!� ���� �	���� ����$�
���$�������	�������	��������B���������	��������	��������������	�������������	�����������������
��������������������$������	���0�	������	�������������$�����	�������������	���+@C2�,�����
	��
��������������	�	�������������	��
���������������$���������������+��������������$,!�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

� ,��������
������������
�������$��������������� ���!�.�
�������������������	�
���0�	������	��������� ��/!5.�
��������	�
�������$�����	�������������	��� ��/!�.�

�
��� =�	0�	����������������������������	��	�������
�����������	������$���������������%������

���
��� �8������
	�� ��� $���� ����$� ���� 	�������� ���	���� ��	� ����� ��� ���
������� ��	� �����
��	����!����� ����������0���
�� �
	���� 	��
���� ���$� ����� 	������ ���	��������������������
��������� ���������� ������	����������	�����������$�������	�����%�$��������������������	��
���
������������������	�����	������������	����������/.������.�	������������+���������������8��
����,!��

�

�

=�	0D��$�����	����������������������	����

--.�,-/.",-0.-,
0�.�,

�-.",
"1.*,

"/.-,

*-.2, *�.�,
1/.�,

2 .", /2.2, //.", /2. ,

�.

��.


�.

��.

5�.

-�.

��.

4�.

/�.

��.

���.


���B�5 
��5B�- 
��-B�� 
���B�4 
��4B�/ 
��/B�� 
���B��
��	�����

.������
�������$�����	������� .������
�������$���������������

Page 79



C���������$���$�	����	��
�	����	�������������$���"�


��-B��
+���
	����,�


���B4�
+���
	����,�


��4B/�
+���
	����,�


��/B��
+���
	���,�


�������
+���
	���,�

C��
�������������� 4/.� 4�.� 4/.� 4/.� /�.�
 ��	�����	��������� 4�.� 4-.� /�.� 44.� /�.�

�����
 �%�
3��/���"�
4"������
5��
��5�����
 ��
6	�����
���!
��
��/
 7%�5
���������8
���%��
 �%��
7%�5
����
��

���8
�%�
�����	�
���




�
�
� �����
���	���������������������	��
�������
������%�$����&
����!�5.�������������������������

����������������$������	��(���+�/!5.����������$�	���
��	��������������8�����,!���������
$�����	�$��������	���������������� ������	�����E��
�	�����
	��%��������	�������������������
���������	�������=�	0'����	���������������$!�@�������	�����������$�	�������	���	��������������
����	����$�������������������!�


�
��� ����$������������������	�����������	�
������%�����������	����������������������%���0��

���������
��������8�����������0�	������	�������������
.������
�����������:�	���
���%�����
������������������@C2���	����������!��F���	�
������%�������	���������������������	����������
��������������	��������!���������	�����G2���������A�*����������)����'����0����������E��
�	��
��� 	����$� �
		���� ��	��	������ ���� �8������ �������� ����� ��
��� ����� ��� �
�
	�� G��������
������'����	�������������	��	�����!�

�
7���	�������A�2�����������

�5����
 &!'� ��
 ������
 �����������
 ���
 	����������!� ��
	� ()*�� ����
	�� ���� �	���	����� ���
�	�����	�
���=�	0� ����������
������������ ���������� �����	%����	��
�%��	����������������������!��
������	�������������	�
�������	�����������������
	���%���		�����
����	��������������	�����
���� ��	��� 
� �
	����� ��� 
������� ���$� ����
	������ 	��
���� ��	���� ���� 5� �	���� +���� ������
����$,!��

��&!'
.
������

����������� 1��������
�������
	�������H�
� 1����	�  ��	��
�� >	������� ������������

��4��/� 4!�.� /!�.� 
!�.� �!�.�

��/����� /!�.� ��!�.� 5!4.� �!�.�

�������+�����
	�������E
��,� 5!-.� ��!�.� 
!�.� �!�.�

�������+
����
	�������9�����	,� �!�.� 5!�.� �!�.� �!�.�

����������	�������	������ �!-.� �.� 
!�.� �.�




�-� ���
���	������
���������������	�����������������������������$�	0����$����������������	��
��������	��
������������������	������!�<�$���	%��������������	��������������������������
���	�
��������������������������
������������������������������	���������	���!�������������������
�����������
�����������	��
����������	���5�.���$������$�	���	������������+��		�������,��������
������	������!����
	��	����
������������������������������	���������	%�������������������
���
�������
��������$�	0����������������������������!�



������� ������$����	��
	����$�������
���	��0��� ������	
�	�B:�	���
�������� ����	����
�����	��

����������	����� ����$�	����
	���� 	��
��%� ��	������
�� ���$�����	� �������������	�����������
���	��
��������!����������������������������
�������������		
����������������������	������%�
�
��(������
	�����3�	�������	���������	���������������������()*���-���	�����$����������!�



�4����� ��	���� ������������ ���	��������� 	���	���� ��� ���� ��	��� 
� �
	����� ����� ���� �� ���������

��������������.����	�������������������$��������	��������	��B�������
	�����+
�����/�.��	���
/�.����
��/���,!�������������		�	�����������)�����3
	����	��
��%�$������������=�	0�����������
���� ���� ;
�	����� ��� 
����	�� �
���	�����!� � 3������������ $���� ������������ ������	��� ��� ������
�������
	�����������������
���������	�������	�����-������	�	
������+�����	��������$,!��
�
�

Page 80



2���
�����3������
�/� ����
&'
-
&(�
�����"�
1������
���
�����"�
+	4"�������

����
�*++
����	����#�������
���	�

��� G��	��
�����������	���'� ���������� ���=�	0� ��� ��	������ ��� 	��
��������.� ���
������%�$����
&
��� �� ���������� 	���	���� ���  ������	� 
���!� ���	�� ���� ����� ����� �� 	��
������ ��� ����
G����
��� $���� ��&
	�'� �	���� 	���� ���$���� 3�������	� ���� (������	� 
���%� �������� ��� ��
��	������
.����������������
��/����	���!�

�
��� 3�	��
�� ��;
�������� �	���� 	��	������� �� �
���	� ��� �����	���� �	���� ���������%� ����
�����

�
	���	�� ���� ������ �	��� �� �������!� �	���� ����� �	��� ��	��� ���  ������	� 
���� ���$�� ��
������������ 	��
������ ��� ���������� ��	���� =�	0%� �������� ��� �� ��	������ ��.� ���	����� ���

��/���� ������!� ����� ��� ����� ��� 1��� ��������	� ���� ��� ���� �	���� ������
��%� =�	0� $�
���
�8���������
�����������
�������1�����	����!�


�� ���
 &!�
 9���
 ��
 ������
 �� ���������
 ��
 ��"��
 ���������
 ����
 &�
 ��
 &:!� =�	0'�� 	���� ���
��������������
���	������
���������� ���������
�����������������	�%�$���	��������!������
�
		������ ������� ��� �!��� ��	� ;
�	��	� 
� +�����	��� ��� �!��� 	���	���� ��� 
��/���,!� � 9���	�
������	���
���������������������	�����$�	��
����������������	��
�����������	�;
��������	��
���������� ��� �	�
��� �-�5�.� ��� ���� ����	�� ����� ��� ������ $���� ��� =�	0'�� =�
���9���������
�����+=9�,!�<����	�������=�	0����
�
�������	������������	���$�������������������������������
	�������� �
���	�����%� ��	���
��	��� ��	� ���� ��&�	���� ��� ��
��� ������� ����� �	�� ���� =9��
�
��	�����!� �����
��/�����	�� �	���� ���0��������
��
��������	�������������	� 	��0��	������
+�!�!����	�������	��	��0����	�����������,!��<�$���	%�����������
������������	���������������
������$�������	��������������	�������������	�����������=�	0!�




�� 
����
���
�%�
����
��
	�����
2���
������������������������������� ������	��
������������

=�	0������0���������������.�	��
������������	����	���	�����	����+��	���������4�-
������	���
��� ����� ��� 
��/B�,!� � *�� ����� ���	'��2��� 	��
��%� �����
����2���������� �������������� ��	��
��������� ��	������� ��� �	����� ��	� =�	0� ��� ��	��� ��� ����
����� ������%� $���� -� )����� 3
	����
��������	�����2���
�����3������������ ��� ���� ����;
�	����!� ����� ��	������0���
�� 	��
���� ��	�

3�	��
����;
���������	��������������=�	0

�""10-/�000 -0""

�

����


���

����

5���

-���


���B�4 
��4B�/ 
��/B�� 
���B��
��	�����

��B���1�����	���

)�	�����������������������������

*2,
*",*",

1/,10,
1 ,2�,

2/,
2",2",

--.
��.

�-.
4�.

4-.
/�.

/-.
��.


��-B�� 
���B�4 
��4B�/ 
��/B�� 
���B��
���0���
�

.���������������������$�����������	��B��������
	�����
C�������������������$����������������������	����������	��	���

Page 81




��������
�����������������	����������	������������
	���	%�$�������������������	������������
	��������� $��� ����� =�	0� ��� �� ����� ������ ��� ����� +
�� ��� 4-.� �	��� �5.� ��� 
��/���,� ����
	���������$����	�������	�������
������������+��$�����
4.��	���5-.����
��/���%���$�	�
��������	,!��<�$���	%�	�������������	������	��������	����������������������	��������		���!�

�

2
��
	��


� ���
 ��
 ;
 ��
 ��"��
 �����	�������
 ��
 �����
 �&(<#
 ,�
 ����
 ,
 �����
 �
 5��/
 ��
 ����
 �*++


����	����#�
 ���� 
������� �
	���� 	��
���� ���$� ��� ���	�������� $���� 

!�.� 	��
��	���
��	����������������������������	�%������	������������!
.�������������
��/���!�@������������
������
��� ��� ���$� �����
����� �	����� �	��� ����� ����� ���� ���� ���
	�� 	������� ��$%� ��� ���
����
	������ ����� �������	�� $�	0
 ��� ����
	���� ��������� ��������� ��	� ��
���� ��� =�	0� ����
���$�����	��
���	���������������	'������!�<�$���	%������
�����	������������������	���������
=�	0�������������	���������	����������	�
����	���
���	������+
�����
��/����;
�	�����,%�����

���������	�������
4!�.�$��������������!��

�

�� ���
':�
;
��
	%������
���
��"��
������
�����	�������
��
��
�����
�
%�"��
��
%��%
4"�����
�=


��
�	%�����*++
����	����#�
�������
�������������	����
	������		�����
�����(������	�
����
���$��������	����������	������������	���/5.����
��4��/����/4.����
��/���!�

�

()*-4"�2����	���A�=�
���)��������0����
���
	�����;
������)7������$��0�
�

2����	��'��<������A�$����������

5� ���
&&��
>����
&�
	��	������
 ����
  
��������	�
 ����
&!!�
��������
 �*++
 ����	����#!�����

������������ �
������������	����� ��� ���� ��	��� ��	���;
�	��	����� 
��/� �����;
�	��	��� 	�������
��!
���	���������
������!��������	������$����$�������	��	������������������/���������
����	��������������������!� *�����$��=�	0����������������������$�	����������	��������������
	�������� ���	����� ��� ����$� ���� ��������� ���	���!� �����
��� ���� ��	���� ��	��������
�����	�������������������%�=�	0�����������$����;
�	��	���	����������	����������
��5!�

11,

/",/",

*-, *1,

�.


�.

5�.

��.

/�.

���.


��-B�� 
���B�4 
��4B�/ 
��/B�� 1������
���B��

�  �!" ������	�

Page 82



�
�

�F�/�2����������	��������=�	0�+��	���������
������,�
�

�

-� ���
''
-
'(�
6������
��
��	������
����
���
����
(
	%������
�*++
����	����#�
�����
���	�

���=�	0'��	������������	������	���$����	�����������$������/.����	���������	��������
���	%�$�����!�4.�	���	�������
������������	������/!��.����
��/����+����$�����
�������
��	�������/!-.,!������	������������
���	�������������	��������	���+()*�-�,���������������

������%�$�������!�.�	����+��$���!4.,������	�����������.�	����$��������0�������
���$����
��4��/�����
��/���!������������$���	%�������$�������	���������
�������1���
��	��������-!5.%��
���������
	��������������������������	���!�

�

�� ���
&&(�
3%�
����������
��
?��/8�
	%������
5%�
���
������
��
�������
�*++
����	����#!������

��������	�����
	������������	��������$����=�	0'��	��
�������������	���	������	�����
7����������	���!�=�	0�������$��������	����������	�����
�����
�������$����������������
/!�.����������������
��/�����������
�������������������$����$��������	����������
	�%�$����
=�	0�$�������������������4!
.����
��/!�<�$���	%�
�����������0��$��$���������������
	������������������������
��������
����	��
���%����$�������������
����������	�����$�����	�
����
������	�����������������!


�

2����	�������������������������	�����������
�����$�	0�����������	����2�������8�2	��������������$�����
	���	�����������������������������	�����������������

�

� �  -� �  /� �  2� �  1� �  *�
7������� �". ,� � .2,� � . ,� "�.*,� "�.�,�
=�	0���	����������<
���	� �".1,� �". ,� � .�,� "�.�,� "�.-,�
?�	������ 
/!�.� 
�!/.� 
-!
.� 
5!
.� 
�!�.�
 �������	� 
-!�.� 
5!
.� 
�!5.� 

!4.� 

!�.�
(�	���7����1���������	�� 
5!
.� 
5!�.� 
5!5.� 
5!�.� 
5!/.�
(�	���1���������	�� ��!�.� �/!4.� �/!�.� �/!�.� �/!�.�
=�	0� �5!5.� �5!�.� ��!
.� �
!�.� �
!�.�
>��� �I�!�.� �I�!-.� ��I��!/.� �I�!�.� �I4!
.�

�

%���
��	���

�����+�����
�����
	�%����
���
����
	%���
��	���
	���
����	�����
	��
�������
���"����#



4� ���
(0�
;
��
	%���
�����	����
�����
�������
�
�����
��
������>�����	��	������������������
��� �
��������� ���� ���
	���� ��	������ ������ �	��������� ������ �	�� ��� �����!� <�$���	�
��	��	���������4!�.�+4������������,�������������	�������
!-.%�$���������������	��
�������
�������������	�
�!��

�

��

�-

5�

5-

-�

--
 
��

:
�	
��

E

��

3
��
�

 
��

:
�	
��

E

��

3
��
�

 
��

:
�	
��

E

��

3
��
�

 
��

:
�	
��

E

��

3
��
�

 
��

:
�	
��

E

��

3
��
�

 
��

:
�	
��

E

��

3
��
�

 
��

:
�	
��

E

��

3
��
�

 
��

:
�	
��

E

��

3
��
�

 
��

:
�	
��

E

��

3
��
�

 
��

:
�	
��

E

��

3
��
�

� � � � 
��� 
� �� 
��
 
 ��� 
�� 5 
��- 
��� 
��4 
��/

J 
 � 	�� 	 �A �=� � 	

F
��
�	
��
/�
��
��
��
���
��
	�
��
��
�	
��
��
�

=� 	0 �C � � � �� � �� �� 	� � � =� 	0 � �A �< 
� � � 	�C � � � �� � ���� 	� � � 7 � � �� � � �C � � � �� � ���� 	� � �

Page 83




/� ���
 ('�
;
 ��
 	%������
 ��	�����
 �%�
 �"�@�	�
 ��
 �

%���
�����	����
����
 ���
 �
 ��	���
 ��

�"���4"���
������2
		������	��	���������$����������������	�������4!-.����
�!
.�+
�����/��
�����,����������%�����������������������������������	��
��������$�����������	�
��!�<�$���	%�
��� ����	���� ��	����� �
���� ��� �����������0������� ���� ��������� ������ ��� ����� ����	�� 	�������
������	�������������
	���������	����	���	�����������	��	������!��

�

2�����)	���������)����*�������	��+()*��5�A��-,�

0.�,
1.0,-.0,

�.�,

/.",

".-,
 . ,

��.�,

�1.0,

0 .1,

"�.�,
�.2, 1.1, 2.1,

�.
-.
��.
�-.

�.

-.
��.
�-.


��-B�� 
���B�4 
��4B�/ 
��/B�� J���
���B�� J
���
���B�� J����
���B��

.�����������	�����������������������
����	���	���	�

.���������	�����������������
�&���������2�����)	���������)������	�����������	��
���;
��������
�


�� ���
(��
;
��
��������
�����
��
	%������
��	���
	���
�����	��
��������
����������#!����;
�	��	���
��	��	���������� ���	����� ��� -�!
.%� �����	��� ��� 5�!-.���� ;
�	��	� 
!� � ����� �����	������
	��
���������	����	��	���
	��������������������������������������	���������$����������������
���� �����	�����$�	0�����		���������� ���
������!������ ��������	� ��������������������������
����������
���������1�2��
���	�����	���		���	������������$�������������������	��������/.!

�
1��0�������	�2����	���+1�2,�

��� �����
���	�������0�������	������	������=�	0�������
������	�����
��	���������������	���	��������
���$���� ���	������� 	��
���!� � ����� ����
���� ������� ����������%� $��	�� ����� /� ��� ���� ����
��������������	���������������
-K���������������� +4!�.,%��������������� ���	�������� �	���
����
�!�.�	���	����
����	�����!���������������$����$������	����������0�������	������	���
��������������
����'��������������
����!��������	�����������	�����������
���������������	���
$����	������������	�������������������	��
�����������	�����������%�$�������������	�����
����
��	���.���� ��������	�!������	���������������	������� ��	� �����������	���$�������6-�%4
�����
���	���!



�

3���� '�.����(�4� ,����������
5����	�6��	����
���������	���
��		���7�

%�������
4��	�����
4�����

�  2) 1� �-4� �
.� 6
%��/%4�-� 6��%����
�  1! *� ��/� 4.� 6�%�5-%45
� 6��%��-�
�  *! �� ���� �/.� 6�%/��%�/
� 6��%
�-�

8"��  �!" � 
���
8���  �!" � 
���
80��  �!" � 

��

8-��  �!" �6��	�
�	�7� 

5�

��.� 65%55�%��-� 6��%/
4�

�
(�		�$�����������������������

��� ���� ���	���� ����
	�� ��� ��		�$���� ���� ����������� ���� ��� ��8��!� ���� ��
���������
��	��	������ ��� ���0��� ����	� �����	��� +1�2,� ��� 0��� ������ 
� +L3
,� ��� ����� �����
��� ����
����	����������!������
�������������������L35��	����	����8����
����������������
����������
�����	��%� �����
��� -� ��� ���� ����	�� ����� �������� ��
��������� �����%� 4� �
�������� ���
��������������������>327��	��;
�������!�

�

Page 84



�
�*����	���������������������������	������	�������	����������������+�3:,������	������������
$����	������+()*���
�#�1�����������	,%�L3
����$��������	�����������������
������������	�
7�������	��
���!��

�

�����������������	�L���3�����
�1�����5�+7�����������:����,�
�

�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��� L35� ��������� ��$� ���$�� �� 	��
������ ��� ���� ���� ��� 
.� �	��� �	����
�� ���	%� $����� ���

$����������	���
��	��������������=�	0����������������������	�G���	���'�	��
�������L35%�$�����
��0���������	��
��������	��	�����������!�@����������	��
��������	����$��������������������
���
������%� ����.����-K�M�2� ����
�����7�����������:�����	��
���� ��	� �����3:��	�
������
���	�������	���
�!4.����
��/������.����
���������	������������	��������-�.�����
.���	�
���� �����3:� �	�
�!� *�� ��������%� ���� ��
��������� �
������� ��������� ��� �����	��� �	��� ��
����	������������	�
���	�����������
	�����������
�����	�����
��������0���������������N�����
������ ����	��!� 4�.� ��� ���� ��� �����	��� ��������� -K��2�� ����
����� 7������� ���� :����%�
$������������=�	0�������������������������!��

�

�	�����	��
�5� ���/
 -
 9���
 ������������ ���� �
���	� ��� )�	0� ���� C���� ��������	� &�
	����� ���$����

9�����	� ���� ������	� 
�������� ������� �����.������	��� ��� �����������	���� ���
��/!��
C�������������������	�� ���=�	0��	������������
	����� ���
��� �����
�� ��	�
����� 	��������
�����������!������� ����
���=�	0D�� ��	��� D2�	��	��� ��D� ���3�������	�$���� �$����� ��������D��
��&�	��
�����	���	��$�	������	���� �	����������������� ����	���	�����!�������
����� ��������
�	��
����� 	������� �
�� ���� D=�
	� ��8�� �
�D� ����������%� �	�������� 3:3� ��8�%� 	���� ����� �
��
����	�����������������������
��	�!�

�

)�	0�A�C����)�������	��

*�/9�20

2�/92"�

1- 92 210�90�*

2�"9 *"
2*�9�1/

11�9-1"

���%���

�-�%���

4��%���

4-�%���

/��%���

/-�%���

J���/B�� J
��/B�� J���/B�� J5��/B�� J����B�� J
���B�� J����B��

�����
��
��
���
��������
��
	������
��
������"�
���/
���
����
���"���
�"�
��
�
	%����
��
�%�
5��
�%�
�"�����

���
	�"�����
3%���
���
����
��������
�����������


�

�-� ���
 0:�
 ������
 /�����
 ��
 �����"���
 ��@"���
 ��
 ����
 ������	
 �		������
 �*++
 ����	����#�� � ����
�
���	����������������	���	������ ������	�
�����
		�����������������4!������������������������
��$�	� ����� ���� ����� ����� ��	���� ��� 
��/!� � ��� 	�������� �
������
�� ������������ ����������
���	��
���� ���	� ���� ����� ���	%� ����
����� ���� D:���� ��
� 1��0D� ��������%� $����� $���
��
���������
��/!�*��������	����������
�����	��	������$�������$��������$�����
�������1���
��	�������/4����������!�

� �����������>�����	�1�����5�+7�������A�:����,

��.
��.


4!�.

�!�.

�.

-.

��.

�-.


�.


-.

��.

�-.

5�.


���B�4 
��4B�/ 
��/B�� 
���B��

Page 85



7�������
��� 1A&'�-��
 ?��/8�
 "�����������
 ����
 �&�
����%
 �������
 �������#�
=�	0� ��� �
		������ 
!-.�

����$� ���� 	�������������!�.�����$� ����������������	���!� ������� ��������������������%�
������������$��������	��������������	������������	����������
		����+
���	�����,���������
���
	��� ���$� ���� ���� ��� ��� ����� �����	!� ���� �	���� ����$� ����� ���$�� ����� =�	0� ���
��	��	����������	����������=�	0���	������<
���	�C����������>	����?	�����!�<�$���	�����
=�	0���	�����	���������������$��������������3�������	!�

�
.��������������������&������0�	������$�����

�4� ���
&�&�
�����
��
���	������
��������
	��������������	�����������	��	������������������
�
		������ ������� ��� ��� ����%� $����� ��� �� ������������ ������������ �����$���� ����
������������������������$�2C:�����������������(������	�
���!������
����������	����
���������	��������$�����������	����������
��������� ������	%�������	����������-������������
	������������������������	����!��������������������������	���������	�����������������	������
����(������	����	���%���$���	� ����� �����	���������	��
������ ��� ���� ������������������ ����
��$�������!��7�	����������������	���������$�������������������
������	�������E��
�	�%��
��
����	����������
	���������	�
������	��	���������0����������	��������������!�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�/� B�������
 
"������
 �"������ ����� �
	���� $��� ����
����� ��� 3�������	� 
���%� $���� �5���

������� �
	������ ���� 5��� +��.,� 	��������!� �� �
���	� ��� �	���� ��	� ���	�������� $�	��
����������%� ��	� �8�����O� ���� ������ ��	�%� 
���	��������� ������������ �����	�%� ���� ��������
���
��!������������������	�����������������$��������������������
���	����2
�����	����
��
>	�
�����0�����������	������	
�	�!�?���$��	������0������������	��
�����	��������
	���"�

�

�




�

5

-

E�
��
��

:
�	
��
�

:
��
��
�

E

���
�

3
��
��
�

(
��
��
�

E�
��
�4

:
�	
��
4

:
��
��
4

E

���
4

3
��
��
4

(
��
��
4

E�
��
�/

:
�	
��
/

:
��
��
/

E

���
/

3
��
��
/

(
��
��
/

E�
��
��

:
�	
��
�

:
��
��
�

E

���
�

3
��
��
�

(
��
��
�

,

=�	0�+., =�	0���	����������<
���	�+., >	����?	������+.,

����������$��	������������'�:�4���
�����4���������4����
�	�������
�  �

��

/

�/


�

�


�/

�5






5

��
�

�
/�/��
�


�

-

��

�-


�


-

��

�-

��	 :�� E
� E
� �
� 3�� 9�� (��  ��

�
�$
�

���	�������������	��������(�$�2����� ���	�������������	��������������

Page 86



�� 9��	�����������������$��������?��������3�	������������	�������	����-.����
�����4����
45.����
���!�

�� 9��	�����������������$��������$�������$������
�����	�����������������������������	�����
�������	�������	����/.����
�����4����/�.����������������
	���!��

�� 2
�����	���	����$���	����0���������	����������������������
	�������������������������
�	������������%�$����4�.����������������
���������	������5�.����
�����4!�

�� 9��	�����
�����	��������������$���������8��	������������������������������������	������
����.� ���
���� +4/.,��������	� ��	���;
�	��	�� +44.,���� 	�����������$�	������������
$��������������������	������	��������������	����������������!�

�
��� ���
 &&:�
 �==3�
  
 ;
 ��
 &( &�
 ����
 ���
 ���
 ��
 ��"	�����$
 ����������
 ��
 ��������
 �*++


����	����#�� 2
		���� ���
	��� ��	�  ������	� ���$� �� 	��
������ ��� 5!�.� +���� ��
��� ������,!�
���������8�����������	�������	��������������������	%��
��������
���0�������������
�������1���
��	��������!-.�$���������������!����.������
���������������������	����$����������
����������
�����
��������
����������0����������������������	������������	��������������!����	�'��������
����� ������� ��	� �	�������� 
� �	������� ���� ����������� ��
	���� �	�� ������ 	
�� �����	���	�����
$����=�	0�2������!� *�� ���$�	���������� ����������
��� ���� ��	��������������������������=�	0�
	��������������������.���������
���	������


�

.��������/����	������$����	�����������
������%�������������	��	�������+(77�,�

0.* ,

/.� ,

0.*1,
-.� ,

/.� ,

-.0 ,

/." ,

�!�.

�!-.

5!�.

5!-.

-!�.

-!-.

�!�.


��-B�� 
���B�4 
��4B�/ 
��/B�� J���
���B�� J
���
���B�� J����
���B��
�

2�	��	����<������

�
5�� 9��	�������������0�������������	����$�	
�����������������	������������������	�+�!5/��������	�

��7%������	�������!-��������	������������	������������	,!�����	��������������
���	��������������0��������������	����������	����	�����$���������8�����������1223�����
<�33%���$���	����4!����������	���7%�<�33���������	��������
�.���$�	�����������	�����!�
�����
		�����	�������������������������
������������	��0���������������������	���7%�$�����
$�
����������������
���������	�������/!������%��
��$�
������������	����������������
��/���!�
*����������%������$�
���������=�	0���������	��;
�	�������������G�����
���	�����'��������)@2�
�������	0������
�!���

�
5�� <����������3������ 	���	���� �����������	�����$������8��� 	��
���� ��	� ���� ��	���������������


������!����	�������������������
��������������G����	'�����G�
����'����������������	������
���� ����� ��	���� ����� ���	� +��$�� 
�.� ���� 5/.� 	�����������,!� <�$���	%� ���� �
���	� ���
��&�	������������������	�������������������������	������������	%�$����
��������������
		����
���1223����������(������
	�����3�	���������(������	B ������	!��

4������	������	��������
���������� (�	��	��  �!" � �
�����������������	�$���+�
���	������������0�������	���7� �!5/������M� (��+�!-����	� �����������	,�

<A3"�:�&�	���&
	����������������� �� *��	�����+-����	� �����������	�,�

<A3"�:���	���&
	����������������� 
�� C��
������+�4���	� �����������	,�

<A3"�*�&
	��������������������� �
� C��
������+
�����	� �����������	�,�

�  �!" �'���������	�

Page 87



�

��������!�%������:�
5
� ����>���	����
����
�������	�
�����������
		������6��4%/�-0%�$����
�����������������������

����	���	����	��
�����������������2�
�������8����6���%-��0!��2
		�����	�&�����������������
����� ���������� �	���
	��� ������� ���� ��
����%� ��� �
������� ��� ��	��	���� 5�%� ���
��� ���
6�%-/�0!��)	��	������������������	�����������	�������������������:�����	�
%������
����������
��	��	����5-%�	��
�����������6�%
540��������	���	������	���������	���
	�����6
%���0!���

�
5�� ������	���$���������
		�����������������
���	������������	����	���������	����	�������������

��������������$!������0����	���������������	��������	����
��	���	���	�"�
�,� <�33� #� ��� ���	������ �	���
	�� ��� 6/450%� $����� ��� ���	��
������ ��� �������� ����

������
���	�����	����������������	���
������������	����	������������!�
��,� 2����3�	������#�������	�������	���
	�����6�5�0�$�����������	��
�������������	������������

��$�	������������������<�
�����A�)�������� �����	��>	��������	��
������������	���
��	���	0�����
���������	����������	���$�����	�����������!�

���,� (������
	�����3�	������#�������	�������	���
	�����6�40�$���������
�������	��
����
��	�����������������	��������	�����$����!�

��,� )	���	���3�	������#���� ���	�������	���
	�����6-40��
�� ��� ���	�������	���
	�� �	���
���������������$��
	�����������
����'�������	�������	������!�

�,� 9���	�2���	���?
������#�������	�������	���
	�����65
�0��
����������8����������������
���$����	������������������$��������	����������	���$�����	�����������!�

�
55� �������
	��� ��� ���� ���������
�������� ����65��0��	������	
�����
�������������	���������

6�-�0�����	���������������$���������������������	��
������ ��������������������������������
������	�������	���
	�������$��	�!����������������������	
����������
���������������
�����
$���� 	������� �� �
�� ��� 64-�0� ��� �� 	��
��� ��� ���� 2�����(���� ���� �������� P��� 	��
���
�����%���6-��0� 	������� �	��� ���� *��
	������
��� 	���	������� �������	����������6���0�
���������������
����������������������	��	�����+������	��	������,!�

�

4�����	�
�  �)" �'�	�
5����	

�����	���	� ����	�����
;�������

4�����	�
;�������

����
��	

6D��� 6D��� 6D��� 6D���
5%��/����������� 2�����78��
����D� K/-� K�
�� K�/�
/%�/������������ 2����3�	����� K
��� K-/�� K�5��
5�%�/���������� <�33 K�%��-� K�%�4�� K/45�
5�%
4/��������� 1223 K�%4
4� K�%4��� ����
��%
����������� (������
	�����3�	����� K
�
� K�-�� K�4�

�-�������������� )	���	���3�	����� K�-
� K5��� K-4�

�%-

����������� C���
	��� �5��� �55�� �5��
5���������������� 2	�����2	
����?
�����������

���������
����� ����� �������

"0/91 -������� �%���%(�%�5<�=��# >�9-�-� >09*"�� >"90"*�
�

%�4-�������C��������&
������� � � �������
��%/55�9���	�2���	���?
����� �4

� ���
� K5
��
/%-������������� �	���
	��:��������� K5
�� K5
�� �������
�-��������������� >���	���2���������� ��-�� ��-�� �������

""19* /������� =�%##�5<�=�� >"9*-�� >09/* � >"910*�
�������1���"�3�������3�����:�����	�
 ������� ��%
54� ��%
54�

""19* /������� =�%##�5<�=�� >"9*-�� >�9000� >-�"�

Page 88



5-� ���� :�����	� 
� 	���	�� �
������� �� ��	�����%� ������ ��� ����� ��	����	���� �������� ��������
�;
������ ��� �!-.� ��� ����	� ���� �
�����%� $����� $��� ��������� ��� 	��
��� ���� ��
����'��
���	�������������
	�����������������������������������������������������	!��*���
���	�%�
��	����	���������� �����������6�%
540�����������%� ����
����� �	��N������	��	
������� �������
�	�������������%�������������	�������6�%/��0!��)	��	��������������������	���������
����������
��������������$!�

�
5�� ��������������$��
���	�������������	��������	������������	��	�����5������5-�������$�

�������	����	���	����������������������������6
%���0����	��������	�:�����	��!�

�
54� *�� ��� ����	� ����� $������ ������������ �	��	���� ���� ����� ����� �������� ���� ��	����� ���� ���

:�����	�
%��8�����������	���
	��������	������	�����	�����������������	���	����������������
$�	����������
����'������������������������65��0%�������������	���6�%/5
0����6
%���0!�

�
5/� :������������	���
	���������	����
����������
		�����������������������$����������	���������

��	���������
�������C����
��?
����%��
����	����	��������2�
��������
-����	
�	��
���!��
<�$���	%� ��� ���
��� ��� ������ ����� ���� ���	������ ��� ����� ���������� ���	� $���� 	��
��� ����
���	���� ������ ��� ���� ��
����'�� 	����
�� 	���	���� ���� ���
��� ���� �
		���� ������ ��� ������
������
�� ��� $���� ��0�� ���� ��
����� ����$� ���� 	����������������
�� ��	������!� ����� �����
�	������������������������
�
	�����	�����	��
��������	���	�������0�
������������������$�
���
����$�������
�������������$��������
���	�������8��������������������	�
��������!�

�
=������������

5�� ���� �����$���� ��������� �	������ �
	���	� ����	������� ��� ���� �
		���� �	���
	��� �����
��	����	�������������%�����
��������������������
����������������	��	����5�!�



2�����78��
������

-�� ���� 2����� 78��
����'�� ����	�����%� �8��
����� )	���	��� 3�	�����%� ��� ��	��������� ���
���	���������6�
�0%�������	��������6�/0��	���:�����	�
!����������	���������	���	�����
��
��������	����������������������������$�	0�	�������������������	�!�78����������	�������	�������
��� ���� )	���� F���� ���� ���� ������	����� ��� ��
���	�� ������ �	�� ������� ��� �������� �	���
:����	�����$������ 	��
������ �	��� ���� 	�������������������	
��
	�� ��������������	���	� ���
�������	!�

�
2����3�	������

-�� *������
		��������	�������������2����3�	������$���������������	���������6-/�0%�������	�����
���6�5�0��	���:�����	�
!��������������������������%�������	����	�������������������6
-�0����

#������
�����	����
�
����	����

���������
������	�
�����	

;�������

�����	���	� 6���D� 6���D� 6���D�
2����3�	����� ��
�� �
-�� ��
5�
<�33 ����� �
��� K�/-�
1223 �-/�� �
�-� K
/-�
(������
	�����3�	����� �5��� ����� K����
)	���	���3�	����� �4�� ����� �
5�
C���
	��� �-�� �-�� �������

��	�� ��%/��� ��%
54� K�-
�

?   @�
C���	��������������)	���
	�� �%-/�
1���"�)	��	������������:�����	�
�3���������	����� ��%
54
C�������9��	������)������� 
%���

Page 89



����������������������	�������$���������������������	���	�!��3�	���������������	����	�����	��
������ �8��	�������� ������� ���	������� 	������� ��� ���� ��������� �������� ����
����� ���������
$�������������������$��
�.� ��������	� +6-��0,%���	0���� �������+6
550,%��
�����������	���
+6���0,� ���� �� 	��
���� =�	$����� ��������� +6���0,!� � �
	���	��	�%� ���� ��
����� ����
	��������6��/0�������������������������	�����<�
�����A�)�������� �����	��>	���!�

�
-
� 2����������	����	��� ��� ����� 	��	��������� �� ������������ �	���
	�� ��� 65�40%� ���0��� ������

���	������������� ��	� ��	��� ���� ��0���%� ��$���	� ����� ��� ������� ��� �� ��	�������� ������	�
	��
������ ��� 	������� ������ ��� 6
�50� 	��
������ �	��� ����2����������	�� ��	��)�	���	�����
	��
�����������
����'��	����
�������	����
	����
�����	���	���	���(������	�
���!�

�
-�� ���� ��	����	���� ���� ��	����� ����������� �� �
���	� ��� �	���� ��� 	��
��� ���� ���	������ ���

6-��0�����
����������������������������
	���+6�
50,�����������������������	��
������
+6�4�0,!��


<�
�����������
���3������3�	������

-5� <�
����� ���� ��
��� 3������ 3�	������ �	�� ��	��������� ��� ���	������ ��� 6�%�4�0%� $�����
	��	�������������	��������6/450��	���:�����	�
%���$���	���������	���������������������
�����������6
��0������������	���	��$�����	��
�����������	����������������������	���������
6�%4��0!���

�
--� ���� 
���	������ ��
��� ��� ���� ���	������ 	���	���� �	����
���� ������ �8����%� ������� ����

�	������� 	���� ��� ������� ��	���� ���� �	���� ��� ��
��� ������� ��	�%� $����� ��� 	��
������ ���
���	������ �	����)���������0��
��+6//�0,%�������	����������<����2�	��+6-��0,%�:������
<�����������������+6
-50,%�	����������������
	����������������+6
��0,�����	������������
��� 7���	��� )�	����� <����� +6�-/0,!� �
	���	��	�%� $������ ���� ���	���� ���
	�%� <�
�����
>���	����
��������$��	�&�������������	���������6��0�$���������	���	�����
��������	������

�������������	����	������������	������	�������!�

�
-�� ������	����	����������	����������������������	������������6���0�������	�����������	������

�	��	� ��� :�����	� 
� ���� ���� ������ ����������� �� �
	���	� 6
��0%� $����� ����
���� ��������
���������������
	�������	���	�����������	����!�


1��	����%�2
��
	��A�2����	��'��3�	������

-4� 1��	����%�2
��
	������2����	��'��3�	����������
		�������	�&����������
���	���������	������
��� 6�%4��0%�$����� 	��	��������� 	��
��������� 6��0�������:�����	�
!�������	����	��������
��������������
	���	�6
�-0�����������������������	�������$����������:�����	�
�	��
���������
���	���������6�%5��0����	���!����

�
-/� =�	0'��1��0�������	�2����	���+1�2,����
�������������
�������	�$������
		����������������



5!�������������	����������-.�������:�	���
��/���������������������	��
��	�������	����
���� �
��	�
�� ���	������� ��	���� ���� ����
��	�� �����	��'�� ������� ��	�� �
������ ����������
6�%5�-0!� � ����� ��������� ���� ��������������� ��� ��	�� ��� ���� ������
���� �8�������� ��� ����
������ �����	���� �	��	����%� $����� ��� 	��
����� ���� �	���	����� ��� 1�2� ������� ��� ��	��
�8���������
��������������������!���

�
-�� *������������������%����������$�����	�����	������	��
�������������
		�������	�����"�

�,� <���� ���3������ �	�����	�� �	���
	����	���	�����
�� ��� ���	������37(� ��8�� ����������
�������	������1�2����
�������+6���0,!�

��,� )����	���
	���	�����������������	��������������������	����������������$��������������
�����$��������������������������������$����������	�������������+6�

0,!�

���,� �����	�����������������������1��	�	��3�	�����+6

/0,!�

Page 90



��,� 2�����	���
	������3��	��A��������1���
	�����0������	��
��������������7������@������
������������	������������=��	�����)����+6��-0,!�

�
��� �������	���������������������������������	��������
���	���������6�
�0��
������������������

��	
��
	����
���	�����������$�*����	�����2����	��'��2���	������������������
����	��	
�����
��!��

�
��� ������� ���� ����� ����� ��0��� ��	�
���
�� ���� ���	%� $����� ���� �������� 6���0� ��� ������	�

�������%� ����
����� 6
�-0� ������ ���� �	����
�� 	���	�!� ������ �������� ����
��� ��������
���������������
	�����������	��	��	��������������	�����
�����������8������
	�!

�
)	���	���3�	������

�
� )	���	���3�	����������	�&�������������	���������65��0%�$��������������	��������6-40��	���
:�����	�
!�)	��	��������������������������	����������������������	���	��	��
������������
	��
���6���0����������	�������	���������6���0!����������������	���
	������������������	�����
�	�� ���0��� ��� ���� �����	����� ��	������� ����
����� ���� 	��������� $�������� ������� ���
<�	�$����@����+6�-�0,����������	��������������
������������������	���	������)��	��0�)����
+6�
0,!����	���	����������	�����������������������$�����������������
	��
����������������
���	������ �	���	��� ��	0��� �
��� )�	0����� ���� :���	� ������� +6�
/0,%� ��� $���� ���
���	������	����	���������������������������������
����'����������	�������
��������+65
0,!�
�
(������
	�����3�	������

��� ���� ������� �	�&������� ��	� (������
	����� 3�	������ ��� ��� ���	������ ��� 6�-�0%� $�����
	��	�������������	��	���������6�40��	���:�����	�
%���$���	�������	����	�������������������
6���0� ��� �������� �������� ���� ��	���� �	��� ����� 	���	�� 	��
����� ���� ���	���� ���	������ ���
6
�0!� �2�����	���
	��� ����������� �����	���	�	���	��������� 	�����%��������1����������8�������
+6
��0,%�2����	�����@����� �������+6���0,��������	���������
	���������������$���	���
<@C2�+64-0,!� ��
	���	��	���
	������������� ����������� ����
������� 	��
������ ��� �������
�	��������������	�����������+6��-0,!�

�
�5� )	��	����:�����	�
%�������	����	����������	�������������������	�&������6
��0�������	��������

���0�������8���������	�����	�������������6�/0���������������������������	���!�3�������
�����������������:�����	�
�����	���	���������������������	����������	����	���!�
�
C���
	����

�-� C���
	���� ����	�&����������
���	���������655�0�$�����	��	���������� ���	��������65�0�
�	��������	����
��	���	�!�������	����	������������������������������	�������6-�0�����������
���:�����	�
� 	��
������ ���������	����
���	���������6-�-0!�����������������������������
��������� ��� ���� ��������������� ��� ��� ���	� ����������� �������%� ������� ��������� ����
��������������� ������ ��� ��&�	� *�� �	�&����� 
����� 
������� +6�/-0,� ���� ���� ���	������
��	��	������ ��� ���� ?�������� �
������� +6
��0,!� ����:�����	� 
� �������� ��	���� ���� �����
����������������	�����������������������������	���!�



2���	���?
������

��� �	���
	��:������������������� ����	��������������	���������65
�0%�$����� �����	��
������
��� 6���0� �	���:�����	� 
!� � ������	0��� ����������� ����� �	�� ���� 
���	������ ��
��� ��� ����
���	������	�����%����������$�	�����	����	�����������8���������������������!��*���	��	����
��������� ���� ���	������ ��� 6���0� �	��� ����� 	���	���� ��� :�����	� 
%� ���	�� ���� ����� ��
������� ��� ���� $��� ����� ��	�� ��� ���� �������� �	��	����� ��� ��� ��� �
����%� �	��� �� ��	����
	����
�� ����	��
����� ��� 1223� ��� )	
�������� ?�		�$���%� ���	���� 	��
����� ���� ���	����
���	����������	���
	��:���������!��*������	������$��������������C��
�������%����	�����

Page 91



���	�;
��������	�����	���������6�
50��	���1223�����	���
	��:���������%����������������
���������
����������1223�C����
��2���	��
�������
�����������������!�

�
�4� 9���	� ����	��� �
������ ����� ����� ��� ���	������ �	���
	�� ��� 65
�0� 	������� ��� ����

�8������������������$����	������������������$��������	����������	���$�����	�����������!�



'���=������������
�
 ���������3�������>	����

�/� *�� ����  ��������� 3������ >	���� + 3>,� �	��� ���	�� ��� �� �	�&������ ���	������ ��� 655�0�
�����������
��������6/4%/�-0!�� 
������������
	��������� 3>%�����
���	�������
������
��		���� ��	$�	������������ ��� ���� �����$�������	'�� �
������$�������	������������	�������
�
����� �	��� ���� ����	��� �
��� �	� 	��
����� ���� �����$���� ���	'�� �
������ ����������!��
�����$�������������������
��������	����
�����	�%��������	������$�
���	��
����������������
 3>��
�������������������
������!�
�
<�
�����C����
������
���+<C�,�

��� ���� �
������� �������� ��� ����<C�� ��� ���������� ��� ��� 6/%���0����� ���� ������� ��	������
�����������������	���������6��/0%� �����������	�&������$�	0���������������64%4��0!������
����� ����� �	���
	�� 	������� ���� <�
����� C����	�� )�	���	����� $����� ��� ��	��������� ���
���	������ ��� 6-�/0!� � ����:�	�� ��	�=�	0� �	��	����� ��� �	��	�������$���� ����<�
�����
��
��	�����������
������	�� ���������	���������������
	����
������� ����	����������	���	�����
���������0���$�	����������	������
����!�



���������

4�� ���� ������ ����$� ���$�� �� �
���	�� ��� ���� ��
����'�� 	����
�� 	���	���!� *�� ��� �
		������
�	�&��������������������������������	���	����$�������65%���0�������:�	���
��������
�����
���� �	�&������ ���	������ �
���	����� ��� ��	��	���� 5�!� � ���� 
������� �
����� �	������
	������������������
����	���������	�	����
��	���	����������	�8��������6-%-��0�����
�������
	����
����������$����	�&�����������������6�%�5�0�����$�����!�

�
4�� ����� 	������	���� ���� 	�;
�	������ ��	� ������
���������� ��� 	��
��� �����
		���� ��	��������

���	�����%�������
��� �����
		���� ���������������������
�� ���$�
��� ��0�� ������
�����$����
����$� ���� 	����������� �����
�� ��	������� ��	� 	����
�� 	���	���!� ����� $���� �����
������������������8�����	'��2�
�������8�����������������������������8������
	��������������
	���
���� ���� 	���	��� ����� ������ �����$�
�������$� ������
����� ��������$���������8����������
��������������	���
	��!���

�
F���������	��0���������������0��������	��	������

4
� 3����������������	��	������������	�$�	0����������
���	��0�����	����������
�����$��������
	��������	��0��$��	����������������������������	�������	��0�����	���������������	���������	��	����

?   �

��%��
�
(���" 2������������)�	�����
���B���?
���� +�%��4,

2�		����	$�	��F���	�������	���
��/B�� +54
,
3
���������	��C������� +���,

-%45��

���A 2����������	�����	�����������C���	�� 4-��
4-��

(���" 2
		������	������9��	���������>���	����
�� +
%���,

5%����

=�������������������
?��������������	���
���

��������=�������������������

�
���	���=������������������������	�0"�������� " 

Page 92



	��0��	����������	��	�����	��	���������	���	������������;
�	��	'��������	!���3����������������
�����	�������	��0�������	�������������	��	��������������	���	������
��"�
�� C�����������������������������������������
�������
�� *��	����������������	��������
�� 7��������������7�������� �$��
	�!�

�
��0�������������
����������������������������	���	��������	��	����	��0��$�������	����������
���� ���� ����	���� ���� �������� ���������� �����$���� 	���	���� ��� ������� ��� �����2:������
�
����A�>���	������2������������������8����	��	����	��0�������	!�

%�	�����

4�� ���� �	����	����C���
	����������	���������
��	����$�	��������
	��������
����'������������
����������� �������
������	���	��!�����	������ �����
		������	������ ��� ������0� ��	������
 �	����	������0�����	��	�������		���������������������	��$���	���%�$���������$���������������
�8������
	�!����
	���	�����������������������������	��
����������	���������
		�����
�����
��������� ��� �
��� ��� ��������%� ����
����� �� �	��N�� ��� ���� ���������� �	����%� �;
�������
�
	���������������	��	�����������	������	���8������
	�!����������������$�������������	���
$��0��� ��� 2:�� ���� ��	�
��� ����
������ $���� 78��
����� :����	�� ��� ���
	�� �����
�8������
	������	�
�������0���������$���������
������������������������������������	!���

��
����$����

45� ������������������	�������	��	�����%��	��	�������0�����������������������������������������
������
������������
�����������������������	���	�!�

�
4�����	�	����

4-� �� �
���	� ��� ��	��	������ ���� ���������� �������������������� ���� ��	
��� ����� ��0���
��������� :�������2:�����	����$���	��	����������������	�%�$������������������������	��
�����	���	�!�

�
4������	��������	����

4�� ���� ����	����������� ���
��� ����
���� ��������	���	���	���������������������	�����	��	����
��� ���������� ���� �	��	������ ���� �
�� ��� ���� ��
����D�� ��	��	���� ��	������ +
�����
,!� *�� �����
�	�������������������2:����������78��
�����$�	0�����������	�����	������	$�	���	��	�������
���	���������������	������	��	�����%�������	���	��������������
��������	��	���������	�!��

�
44� ���� ������ ����$� ���$�� �
���	�� �	��	���� ��� ���� -5����������� �������� ���� �
�� ��� ����


���B�
� 2�	��	���� 3�	�����!� 5
� +4/.,� ��� ���� ���������� �������� �	�� ��� �	��0� ��� �����
��	�������������%��	��������������������!��

�

�� '�
&��� 4�
���	��� %��	���B� '�	����	���B� '�	��
���	���	��
��
���	����� �!" �

4�	$����4��	����� /� "�6� ,7� 0�62 ,7� "�6� ,7� "�
C���	�$�4�	$� /� "�6� ,7� ��6- ,7� ��6- ,7� �
(��������4�	$� /� "�6� ,7� 0�62 ,7� "�6� ,7� ��

#��	����&���4�	$�� " � "�6" ,7� 1�61 ,7� ��6� ,7� �
#�����4�	$� *� ��6�/,7� -�6/ ,7� ��6�/,7� "�

����������4�	$� " � ��6� ,7� 1�61 ,7� "�6" ,7� �
���������4�	$� 2�  �6 ,7� -�622,7� ��600,7� �

�����	����%�������	���� /� 0�62 ,7� "�6� ,7� "�6� ,7� �
��	���� /-� ""�6� ,7� 0"�6/*,7� "��6��,7� ��6-,7�

Page 93



�
4/� ����8� �� �	������������	��$���� �������� ��� ���� �
����������� �������� ����� �	�� 	���	�����

�����������	�;
�	��	��!�������������
����������������8�������������������������	����������
���:�	���
���!�

�
�
�����	�����

4�� ������������������	�"�
�� ����������������������������������������	��������$�����������������������	���	�!�
�� <
����C���
	������ ���	���	���������������
����	���
	������������������������	���	�%�
�
����������������������	���������	�������������������������������$����	�!�

�� 7;
�������������	���	������;
���������������������������	���	�!�
�� 1����������	���	��������������������������������	���	�!�
�� 2	���� ����  ���	��	� �� ���	�� �	�� ��� ��������� �	���� ���� ����	��	� ������������� ��� �����
	���	�%��
�����������	����������78��
�����$�����	
�������	��	����������	��������������	��
�
�
	��	���
	�������������!�

�� *���	������� ����������� �� ���	�� �	�� ��� ����	������� ����������� ������������� ��� �����
	���	�!�

�� )	���	��������	���	������	���	������������������������	���	�!�
�� 9���	������	���	���������	����������������������	���	�!�
�
���B�������
��	�

/�� �����
��������������	��������$�����������������	������	��0����������	��������������������
0��$������
���	������
�
	��������!�����$���������
���������0�����������������	��0�����	�����
������	���� ��� ������� ���� �8������
	�� ���� ���	��	����� ����������� ����	��!� � ��� �
��%�
	��
��	� 
������� ���
	��� ���� 	������� ��		������� �������� $���� ���������	��� ����  �	����	����
:���������� �����%� 2�	��	����:���������� ����� ���� ����������	� 	���	��� �
	���� ����
���	!�

�
����

����	�����

/�� :����	���	����0�����"�

�!� (����������	��	���������
����������������������	���	�!�

9������
 ��
 �%��
 	����	����
 �	����
 ��
 �%���
 ���������	�
 ���"��
 	��
 ��
 ��/��
 ��

�������
���
����	��������


�

�!� (�������������������
����������������������	���	�%������	���
��	"�
�� �����������������	���
	����	�������
������������������	����������������������	��

������������	������������������	����������
����!�
�� ���� 	�;
�	������ ��	� �	�$��� ��� ��	�� ��� ���� 
������� C����
�� ?
����� ��� �
����

�
������������������������������	��
����	���!�
�� ����$�	0���	�����
���	��0���$��������	����	���������������������������	���
	��!�
�� �����$�	0�������
���������������������������������������������������������$������

�
������������������������������������	!�
�

9������
 
 ��
 �%��
 �%�
 	�"�	��8�
 �C������"��
 	��
 ��
 	��������
 5��%��
 �"����$
 5%���

��������$
��
�%�
���
��
�%�
�����	���
������

�
�!� *�� ����	������ $���� ���������� C��
�������%� ���	����� ��� 	�;
������ ��	� �� ��	������ ���

6�
50��	���1223�����	���
	��:���������!��



Page 94



9������

3�
������
�����������
�����	���
��
�%�
	�"�	���
	������
����������



�
�

��	����A� 4�����%���������������&�������	��������	A�
*��������%� �	����	����C���
	����

��	/




��	���(�:��D�'�����5�	�$�
)�	��	������A�?
����������
	�����
����!�
�

�����:�4���B��
�D�E���	�(������
2�	��	�����������


�����	�
���������

�

��	�� ������
D���


#��������	��
�����	�����%������6�7����(���




���� ��	/
F����������	��A�������
�

����
���
����8���#�
����������
���	��	������	������������������������	���	��������������

�������	���������
�	��������������	��	�	�����	�������	��������	�
�

Page 95



<���	�����	���"���������	���	��	��$�
����	���������	����������������������
�"�
�

�

�������
�

:���������������� @����������������	���
���:�	���
���Q�

2�������
2
��
	��

���������	
����
�����
	��������������������������
�������	�����	����������
��
�������	����������������������
��$�����������������������	���
���%��
��������$�=�
���
2�
�������������������������������������	��	������	�������	���
���	����������!�
�

(����)�	��������3�	����
���������	���	������	�
�����E
��������
������
������	����$�������
�	��	�����!��

�������������������������� �������������	���	��
�
����
���������	��
���	
����������	����������	������	��
���
�����	������
�������������!�����"���������������	���	��
��������	����$�$����������	������2:�����9�����	�
��������
���$�����	���������������������������	����$����
������
$����������������������������
��������$���������	�
������	����	���������	����������!����	����������$�������
�������������:�	���
�������������$��������	���������������
3����	�:�����	'��>	�
��+3:>,������	��!��
�

=���<�������2����

#�
	������������	����$�������������	��
������	�
�

����	���"�%����

��������������������	����
���� ��&���
��������������������'()*���	�+,
��������������
����
��������������������$��������������GE
��������������'�
������$����������������������$�������������@����
��
@�����+@9@,�)�	���	����!�����R>������$�R��������������
������������
���������E��
�	��
����$������������	���	������
��������$�������!�@9@���	���	���	���
		������������
�������������������������������������!���



=���

1��	�����
2����

-����	
����������������������	�����
� 	�
�	����
��

��	������	
��������.//0������������
�
�	�����	���	�� ����"%1"2��������
���	
�������������	����
 �
�����	������3
����������	�������������!�����"��
��������
�	���������
	������������	��
��������
���	����(77�3�
�������$������������������������	��
���������������
��������!�2
		�������
	�����	� ������	����$���	��
������
�	���-!
.����5!�.�+������
���������,!����������8����������
�	�������	��������������������	%��
������
�������1�����	����
����!-.!��3�����	��	���������	�����	�����������
�����!�
�

=���
�

����������	�����4���&������ ���� ������
	������
����
����
���	
���������	����	��	�����������
���$
�������"�������$�������������������������������
����S��	0��	��	��������������$����������������$���	��
�������:�	���	=�	0��	��	����!�������
��	���������������
��	��������$�	0�����	��
������������
��������	������	��
�������	���!���������������������������������$�
���	$���
$����������	����������8���������������E��
�	��
���!�
�

=���3
����������
2����

5	���

���	� �����	���������
����������������������
�
�	���������	��	
�����������������������������$������,�����
�����������������������	������������������
�����%��	�������
��������	�����	���������7����S�=�	0�)�����
��	�&���!��+����
��������������,�
�
�
�
�

=���

Page 96



�

�������
�

:���������������� @����������������	���
���:�	���
���Q�

*���
�����
2����

6������"�������������
�����
������
�������7��
�	�
0���	����89����������
�:�!��������-���
��$���������
!�����"�.��
���������
�����	�C���
��3�����������������
��0��
��������������$�$����&
�����	�����
����������������!�
�����������$�	���������������������������	���	������	����������
	�������������8��
���	���	������
���	���6
/�0����6�-�0�
�������$������������	�������������������0����������
9�����	B(������	����:�����	��:!��


=���#������
�������������
��	����������
��������
����������������������
�
�����������$�
�
���	�������0��
�%�
��$���	���������������
������������������
�	����������������
����	���������������
���
���!


��������*��

����	������������
��
��	����������	�
 ��
�� ���������������������������

����	����������
�������
�����;�������A������$���������������������
����������������������������������������������+�
��������
����3���	�=�	0�)�	���	������
����,!����	����	�����������$�
�������������%���������������	�����������������������������
���������������!�������	��
��%���������������
������
���	������������������	
�	��
���!��


=���3����2����

���������	����������(��������������<
���������������	
�
��
�������������������	����!�������"�������

�������
	
������������
��	�������	�����������������	
����
L���
�������	����$������������������������������������������������
������
	���������=�
���3�	�����)	��������+=)3,��	����	�����
����	��
����������	�������=�	0�@���!������$�������
	�����������
��	�������	����������
	������1����	����$���������������!�����
-�������������
������������������
������%��
����������
������������"�
�� ����=�	0�@����2>��������������������������	���
	�����
��	������	��������O�����

�� �������������������������$����������
�	����������������
��������������������	���
	�����������	��������!


(��#������
���$�	0����
��$��	��	����������
����%������
��	����	������
����	���������$�������
������	�����������������
:�	����
���������
����������	��	
������!�
�����	���������	�������
-����������$�������
�������������
������!�

=�������/���>
��	������	��������
����������	����������
����
�������	� �������������
�/	����������
	
����!���
��"�!��������������������	���������	�	�����
����������$������
����	�����!�*�����
�����	�$�����	�������	�������
�%���	�����
���	%�$����������%���$���	�����
��������	������	��	�������
����	�������$�������������������	������	��	�����!��

=�����	������2����

?��&� ����
�������������.������$�
����0����:���	
����&�
.�����?����������	����� ��
�
��������	��������
	������
���!�������"������	��������������������	���������������
�	��
��������������8�����������
���	�������	�����
���0������	�����
����������	���
���!�������$�	0����������
D��
���D�������
	�������	�������$�����	$�	����������������
$����������	����	�=�	0��	��
	��������
��	���!���
��������	�

�������������	������������	���%��
�&����������	��������
�
�������
����!�


=���

7���������
9	�����������
�

6���������������
�5��������	�����	�'5�+����!��������
�	
�
��������	����������2�������������	���

��	������
�����
78��
��������	���������	��	������*��	��������)����
���E
���
���%��
�������4�.��������*)����������	������	��0����
���������������������	!�����������	������
����������	�&����
����������������������������������%�����������������������
�	���
		�������
�������������������:�	����	�=�	0�$�	0!�

=���

�

Page 97



Page 98

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 

   

 
Executive 
 

16 February 2010 

 
Report of the Director of Resources 
 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME – MONITOR THREE 
 
Report Summary 

 
1. The purpose of this report is to: 
 

• Inform Members of the likely outturn position of 2009/10 Capital 
Programme based on the spend profile and information to mid January 
2010; 

 
• Inform the Executive of any under or overspends and seek approval for 

any resulting changes to the programme; 
 

• Inform the Executive of any slippage and seek approval for the 
associated funding to be slipped to or from the financial years to reflect 
this; 

 
• To inform Members of the funding position of the capital programme, 

taking account of the current capital receipts forecasts for the five year 
capital programme. 

 
2. The 2009/10 – 2013/14 capital programme was approved by Council on 

26th February 2009. Since then a number of amendments have taken 
place as reported to the Executive in the 2008/09 Capital Programme  
Monitor 3 report, the 2008/09 Capital Programme Outturn report and the 
2009/10 Monitor 1 and 2 reports. The changes made as result of the 
above papers have resulted in a current approved capital programme for 
2009/10 of £67.379m, financed by £35.737m of external funding, and 
internal funding of £31.642m. Table 1 illustrates the movements from the 
start budget to the current approved position at monitor 2. 

Agenda Item 10Page 99



 

 
 Gross 

Budget 
£m 

 External 
Funding 
£m 

 Internal 
Funding  
£m 

Original Budget Approved by Council at 
26 Feb 2009* 

64.255  39.483  24.772 

Amendments from 2008/09 Monitor 3 
report 

0.702  0.309  0.393 

Amendments from 2008/09 outturn 
report 

4.017  (5.256)  9.273 

Amendments from 2009/10 Monitor 1 
report 

(1.940)  0.166  (2.106) 

Amendments from 2009/10 Monitor 2 
report 

0.345  1.035  (0.690) 

Current Approved Capital 
Programme* 

67.379  35.737  31.642 

 

(*note these figures have changed since the monitor 2 report due to splitting Supported 
Capital Expenditure approvals between revenue supported borrowing and direct grant. The 
reclassification has been shown retrospectively) 
 

Table 1 Current Approved Capital Programme 
 
Consultation 

 
3. The capital programme was developed under the Capital Resource 

Allocation Model (CRAM) framework and agreed by Council on 26 
February 2009.  Whilst the capital programme as a whole is not consulted 
on, the individual scheme proposals and associated capital receipt sales 
do follow a consultation process with local Councillors and residents in the 
locality of the individual schemes. 

 
Summary of Key Issues 

 
4. An decrease of £4.423m is detailed in this monitor that results in a revised 

capital programme budget of £62.927m; £4.420m higher than the 2008/09 
capital outturn of £58.536m.  

 
5. Against the current approved budget post 2009/10 Monitor 2 of £67.379m, 

there is a predicted outturn of £62.927m, a net decrease of £4.423m made 
up of: 
• Adjustments to schemes increasing expenditure by £0.105m. 
• The re-profiling of budgets from 2009/10 to future years of £4.528m. 
Table 2 outlines the variances reported against each portfolio area. 
 

Page 100



 

Department Current 
Approved 
Budget  
£m 

Projected 
Outturn 

 
£m 

Variance 
 
 
£m 

Paragraphs 

Children’s Services 33.378 30.428 (2.950) 9 –14 

Leisure and Culture 5.536 4.833 (0.703) 15 – 21 

City Strategy  5.340 5.215 (0.125) 22 – 24 

City Strategy (Economic 
Development) 

0.113 0.113 0.000 25 

Housing 8.734 8.714 (0.020) 26 

Neighbourhood 
Services 

5.329 5.041 (0.288) 27 – 31 

Resources 1.761 1.761  0.000 32 

Chief Executive 4.182 4.008 (0.174) 33 – 37 

Social Services 0.711 0.781 0.070 38 – 39 
 

City Strategy (Admin 
Accom) 

2.107 1.874 (0.233) 40 – 41 

Miscellaneous 0.188 0.188 0.000 42 

Total 67.379 62.956 (4.423)  

 

Table 2 Capital Programme Forecast Outturn 2009/10 
 
6. To the end of September there was £32.968m of capital spend 

representing 52.4% of the projected outturn as per monitor 3 budget. 
 
Summary of Key Outcomes 
 
7. The 2009/10 capital programme will contribute toward the Corporate 

Strategy and will deliver: 
 

a. Works totalling £1.7m on New Deals for Schools (NDS) modernisation 
programmes.  This funding allows schools to invest in buildings, 
grounds and ICT equipment, enabling schools to improve their pupils’ 
educational standards by maintaining and modernising their facilities. 
Major achievements with this funding include Fulford Secondary 
building new science labs, such as the example shown in image 1.1.  
Other schools have used the funding to set up new I.T. suites. 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

b. Projected  spend of £2.3m on the New Deals for Schools (NDS) 
devolved capital programmes. This programme provides schools with 
direct funding for the priority capital needs of their buildings (capital 
repair, remodelling or new build) and investment in ICT equipment.  
Many schools use their allocations to contribute to larger projects at 
their school within the Children’s Services capital programme. 

 
Current schemes include the significant remodelling and refurbishment 
of school-based provision for 0-5 year olds at Wigginton,  Dringhouses 
and Fishergate Primary schools. This will bring these facilities up to a 
modern standard to help provide the best start in life for local preschool 
children, whilst further projects of the same nature are underway at 
other school locations across the city. 

 
The Learning Centre at Archbishop Holgate’s CE secondary school 
was completed in summer 2009.  This has enabled the school to offer 
a wide range of qualifications for post-16 children across the city and 
expanded the choice of facilities these students can enjoy across the 
city.  A picture of the Learning Centre is included in Image 2.1.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

c. The £28m Joseph Rowntree Secondary school will open in March 
2010, the design for which has won a major national award for ‘Most 
Versatile Learning Environment’. The projected 2009/10 spend is over 
£17.8m,  the school is scheduled to be complete in February 2010 and 
is currently on budget. 
 

 
Image 1.1.  A newly fitted science lab 

 
Image 2.1.Learning Centre at Archbishop 
Holgate’s. 

Page 102



 

The new building, which includes space dedicated to 14-19 diploma 
provision, specialised outdoor learning provision, and full video 
conferencing facilities, replaces an outdated set of aging buildings that 
that were amongst the most dilapidated school buildings in York. The 
new state-of-the art facilities will enable pupils to benefit from wider 
curriculum availability and enhanced teaching and learning, whilst the 
community will also be able to benefit from access to some of the 
facilities available. A computer simulation of the completed school is 
shown in image 3.1. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

d. The new Energise facility is now fully operational. The gym and pool 
were opened in November and December respectively. New facilities 
include a 6 lane 25 metre pool (show in image 4.1), a learner pool, a 
hydrotherapy pool, a new changing area and a gym (shown in image 
4.2).  

 
Energise will allow greater operating efficiency by consolidating the 
activities previously provided by Edmond Wilson and Oaklands Sports 
Centre in a single location.  Residents will now have access to an 
improved range of sporting facilities through a single membership 
scheme.  The Energise sports centre will also be more inclusive than 
the old Edmond Wilson, shown in image 4.1, facility as it will have 
better disabled access and a crèche. An exterior view of the centre is 
included as image 4.4. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Image 3.1 Computer simulation of the  
completed Joseph Rowntree School. 

Image 4.1 Swimming Pool in the Energise 
Centre 

 
Image 4.2 Gym in the Energise Centre 

Page 103



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

e. The development of a Community Learning Centre and a Changing 
Places facility within the new explore centre at York Library has now 
begun. York Library closed on 31 October for the scheme to begin and 
it will be reopen at the start of April. 

 
These works will make York Library, shown in image 5.1, a more 
welcoming and accessible location. It will create a suite of rooms within 
the library that are dedicated to learning. The explore centre will 
support community based learning which will specifically benefit black 
and minority ethnic groups with English as a second language. A wide 
range of activities will be put be put in place to support literacy and the 
studies of children and young people. An improved health information 
section will be available, along with staff trained to assist the public on 
the Patient Choice website. This facility will help make York a more 
inclusive city by improving access of learning and cultural resources to 
residents. Am image of the recently opened Acomb Explore centre is 
shown in Image 5.2. This demonstrates the  modern assessable layout 
planned for the Library. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

f. Completion of Fulford Road multi-modal scheme providing bus 
priorities and cycle lanes along Fulford Road between Heslington Lane 
and Hospital Fields Road (£950k). 

 

 
Image 4.3  The replaced Edmond Wilson 
Pool 

 
Image 5.1 Exterior of York Library 
 

 
Image 5.2 Acomb Explore Centre 

 
Image 4.4  Exterior of the Energise Centre 

Page 104



 

When this scheme is completed there will be a continuous city-bound 
cycle lane from Heslington Lane to Cemetery road whilst out-bound 
cyclists will also have a continuous route with a combination of on-road 
and off-road facilities and less confident cyclists will have a shared-use 
off-road facility between Heslington Lane and the Police HQ.  
Pedestrians will benefit from upgraded pedestrian crossing facilities.  
Peak period bus journey times should improve as the result of new city-
bound bus lanes on the approaches to the Broadway and Hospital 
Fields Road junctions.  These improvements will encourage the use of 
more sustainable modes of transport. 

 
Image 6.1 shows the current arrangements between Heslington Lane 
and Hospital Fields Road prior to any improvement works.  Image 6.2 
shows the recently improved section between Cemetery Road and 
Hospital Fields Road.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

g. Progression of Access York Phase 1 project to develop 3 new Park & 
Ride sites through Department for Transport approval processes, 
planning and detailed design stages (£875k). Image 7.1 shows the 
proposed location of the new and existing sites across York. 

 
Work continues on the development of the Access York Phase 1 (Park 
& Ride) Scheme with planning applications obtained for Askham Bar 
and submitted for Poppleton Bar and Clifton Moor within 2009/10.  The 
addition of these Park & Ride facilities will reduce congestion and 
therefore, will improve air quality and have a positive economic impact.  
A computer simulation of the completed Poppleton Bar Park & Ride 
site is included as Image 7.2. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Image 6.1 Current road layout of Fulford Road  
between Heslington Lane and Hospital Fields 
Road 

 
Image 6.2  Improved section of Fulford Road 
between Cemetery Road and Hospital Fields 
Road 

Page 105



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Image 7.1  Map of main access roads across York including the current and proposed Park & Ride routes 

 
Image 7.2  Computer simulation of the proposed Poppleton Bar Park & 
Ride site 

Page 106



 

 
h. Provision of approximately 1.2km of on and off-road cycle lanes on 

Crichton Avenue as part of the Orbital Cycle route being implemented 
through the Cycling City project (£575k).  A map of the planned works 
on Crichton Avenue is shown in image 8.1. 

 
Work on the construction of new cycle facilities on Crichton Avenue 
began in November and should be completed by March 2010. This will 
provide continuous cycle facilities (both on-road and off-road) from 
Wigginton Road to Kingsway North, and is part of the Orbital Cycle 
Route.  The creation of the continuous Orbital Cycle Route will help 
York to be a greener and healthier City.  The dedicated cycle routes 
will also improve road safety for cyclists. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

i. Schemes in housing will see over 1850 individual works completed on 
Council houses including new heating systems to over 200 homes.  
Image 9.1 and 9.2 shows the a kitchen installation in a Council home. 

 
Housing schemes help to raise the living standard of Council tenants 
who are often the most at risk residents in the city. Modernising 
properties by replacing heating systems will improve energy efficiency 

 
Image 8.1  Map of the planned cycle works on Crichton Avenue 

Page 107



 

and contribute to York becoming a more sustainable city. These 
schemes pro actively help to maintain the health of Council tenants and 
therefore avoid costs in reactive care. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Analysis 
 
8. A summary of the key exceptions and implications on the capital 

programme are highlighted below. 
 
Education and Children’s Services  

 
9. The current approved capital programme for Education and Children’s 

services for 2009/10 is £33.378m following the adjustments made as a 
result of the 2009/10 Monitor 2 report. As a result of changes made at the 
second monitor, the 2009/10 capital programme will decrease by £2.950m 
to £30.428m. Table 3 gives a summary of the changes on a scheme by 
scheme basis. 

 
Gross 
Children’s 
Services Capital 
Programme 

2009/10 
 
£m 

2010/11 
 
£m 

2011/13 
 
£m 

2012/13 
 
£m 

2013/14 
 
£m 

Total 
 
£m 

Current 
Approved 
Capital 
Programme 33.378 22.849 0.000 0.000 0.000 56.227 
Reprofiling:       

Schools Access 
Initiative 

(0.100) 0.100    0.000 

Primary School 
Strategic 
Programme 

(2.000) 2.000    0.000 

Children's 
Centres Phase 3 

(0.200) 0.200    0.000 

Joseph Rowntree 
One School 
Pathfinder 

(0.700) 0.700    0.000 

 
Image 9.1  A Council home before a 
renovated kitchen is installed. 

 
Image 9.2  A Council home following 
installation of a new kitchen 

Page 108



 

Adjustments:       

Applefields 
School - Co 
Location 

0.050 0.877    0.927 

 
Revised Capital 
Programme 30.428 26.726 0.000 0.000 0.000 57.154 

 
Table 3 Education and Children’s Services Capital Programme 2009- 

2014 
 

10. The Schools Access Initiative scheme requires some reprofiling into 
2010/11. The majority of projects are expected to be completed in 2009/10 
but a small number of schemes have been rescheduled to be carried out 
over the summer holidays, therefore the funding for these needs to be 
reprofiled into 2010/11. 

 
11. The Primary School Strategic Programme schemes requires re-profiling 

into 2010/11. Plans and financial projections are being finalised for the first 
two schemes to be carried out under this programme, at Our Lady’s / 
English Martyr’s, and Clifton / Rawcliffe. The only expenditure in the 
current financial year will be in relation to fees and preliminary works, 
therefore a significant amount of the budget needs to be reprofiling into 
2010/11. Once detailed budgets have been agreed, a full update on the 
two schemes will be reported to the Executive. 

 
12. The Children’s Centre Phase 3 schemes requires some re-profiling into 

2010/11. The scheme at Knavesmire for the ninth Children’s Centre has 
now commenced and should be completed by Easter 2010.  In addition, 
some additional investment at Scarcroft Primary and St Clements Hall is 
being carried out to enable their use as outreach facilities.  This 
expenditure is being funded from the Phase 3 Children’s Centres Capital 
Grant. Although the main building work at Knavesmire should be 
completed in 2009/10, final payments and equipment etc will be incurred in 
2010/11, therefore it is proposed that £200k of the budget be reprofiled to 
2010/11. 

 
13. The Joseph Rowntree One School Pathfinder schemes requires some re-

profiling into 2010/11. The new school building is substantially complete, 
with the installation and testing of ICT hardware and infrastructure 
currently in progress.  The new building is expected to be handed over to 
the authority on 22nd March 2010.  The demolition of the old school 
building and final landscaping will be complete in October 2010. The 
project is currently on programme and on budget, however, an analysis of 
the payment profile for the remainder of the work suggests that an amount 
of the budget totalling £700k needs reporfiling into 2010/11. 

 
14. A new scheme is requested to be added under the title Applefields School 

– Co location. A successful bid has been made to the DCSF Co-Location 
Fund, a £200m cross-government dedicated fund to support capital 

Page 109



 

projects that will allow the co-location of two or more services for children, 
young people and families. The project at Applefields aims to bring 
together services to support young people with disabilities into adult life. It 
will bring together a mix of universal and targeted services, including 
children and adult social care transition workers, physiotherapy, speech 
and language therapy, occupational therapy, CAMHS (psychologist and 
specialist nurse), on the school site to improve accessibility and service 
take up, whilst strengthening partnership working and reducing costs.  The 
project will also provide direct work facilities for a range of post 16 
education providers and become a bridging facility to local employers, 
building on the existing work to open up opportunities for further education 
and employment for young people. The project is fully funded from 
external sources. 

 
Leisure and Culture  
 
15. The approved capital programme for Leisure and Culture services is 

£5.536m following the adjustments made as part of the 2009/10 Monitor 2 
report. As a result changes made in this monitor, the capital programme 
will decrease by £732k to £4.804m. Table 4 gives a summary of the 
Leisure and Culture programme by value over the currently approved 5 
year programme. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



 

 
Gross Leisure 
and Culture 
Capital 
Programme 

2009/10 
 
£m 

2010/11 
 
£m 

2011/13 
 
£m 

2012/13 
 
£m 

2013/14 
 
£m 

Total 
 
£m 

Current 
Approved 
Capital 

Programme 5.536 3.190 0.000 0.000 0.000 8.726 
Reprofiling:       
Museum Service 
Heritage Lottery 0.013 (0.013)    0.000 
Milfield Lane 
Comm Sports 
Centre (0.530) 0.530    0.000 
York Explore 
Centre (0.150) 0.150    0.000 
Library Self-Issue 
Equipment (0.065) 0.065    0.000 
Adjustments:       
Melbourne Street 
Community 
Building 0.029     0.029 

 
Revised Capital 
Programme 4.833 3.922 0.000 0.000 0.000 8.755 

 

Table 4 Leisure and Culture Capital Programme 2009 – 14 
 
16. The Museum Service Heritage Lottery scheme requires reprofiling as £13k 

has been paid to the Trust since Monitor 2 and therefore needs to be 
brought forward from 2010/11, as the Trust have been able to undertake 
development work on the gardens scheme during 2009/10 with a view to 
the full scheme starting next year.  This leaves a budget of £200k in 
2010/11 to provide match funding for the second phase of the scheme 
which includes work in the Museum Gardens. 

 
17. The Milfield Lane Community Sports Centre scheme requires reprofiling as 

the new changing rooms at Manor School are now going to form part of 
the planning application  for the new Diploma build, therefore the £200k 
contribution will not be required until 2010/11. The remainder of the budget 
is to be used for the purchase of land and subsequent ground works to 
drain and level for the creation of football pitches.  It is unlikely that this will 
happen in 2009/10 so the majority of the remaining budget needs to be 
reprofiled into 2010/11, with a small amount (c£20k) retained in 2009/10 
for preliminary expenses and fees. 

 
18. The York Explore Centre scheme requires reprofiling. Work on this project 

is ongoing and progressing well. The building is expected to be handed 
back to the council at the end of March. The furniture will then need to be 

Page 111



 

installed and this is now expected to be carried out in early April, therefore 
this element of the budget needs to be reprofiled into 2010/11. 

 
19. The Library Self-Issue Equipment scheme requires reprofiling. The 

machines for Acomb Library have been installed and are operational, but 
the ones for York Explore will be installed at the end of the main build 
contract. This is now likely to be in early April so the element of the 
scheme relating to these needs to be reprofiled into 2010/11. 

 
20. In relation to the new Energise facility it should be noted that the final cost 

of construction is expected, subject to agreement of the final account, to 
be marginally in excess of the original budget. Members will be updated 
with further information as part of the 2009/10 capital outturn report. 

 
21. The Addition of £29k for Melbourne Street Community Building is to be 

funded from prudential borrowing and paid for from existing revenue 
budgets in Leisure services. 

 
City Strategy 
 
22. The current approved capital programme for City Strategy is £5.340m 

following the adjustments made as part of the 2009/10 Monitor 2 report. As 
a result of changes contained in the Monitor 3 report the capital 
programme will decrease by £125k to £5.215m. Table 5 gives a summary 
of the changes on a scheme by scheme basis.  

 
Gross City 
Strategy Capital 
Programme 

2009/10 
 
£m 

2010/11 
 
£m 

2011/13 
 
£m 

2012/13 
 
£m 

2013/14 
 
£m 

Total 
 
£m 

Current 
Approved Capital 
Programme 5.340 7.097 3.617 3.605 3.605 23.264 
Adjustments:       

Local Transport 
Plan (LTP) 

(0.125)     (0.125) 

Cycling City  (0.098)    (0.098) 
 

Revised Capital 
Programme 5.215 6.999 3.617 3.605 3.605 23.041 
 

Table 5 City Strategy Capital Programme 2009-14 
 

23. The reduction of the LTP scheme is due to the section 106 allocation 
being a nominal allocation. It has therefore been necessary to reduce 
profiled scheme expenditure as a result of this funding not being available 
to the level expected. 

 
24. The Cycling City scheme reduction in the capital programme in 10/11 is 

due to the split between capital and revenue funding changing. The overall 

Page 112



 

level of expenditure will therefore not change instead a larger proportion 
will be spent via revenue budgets. 

 
Economic Development  
 
25. The approved capital programme for Economic Development is £0.113m. 

No changes to the projected outturn position are anticipated as part of this 
monitor. Table 6 confirms the current budget.  

 
Gross Eco Dvpt 
Capital 
Programme 

2009/10 
 
£m 

2010/11 
 
£m 

2011/13 
 
£m 

2012/13 
 
£m 

2013/14 
 
£m 

Total 
 
£m 

Current 
Approved 
Capital 
Programme 0.113 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.113 

 

Table 6 Economic Development Capital Programme 2009 -14 
 
Housing  
 
26. The approved capital programme for Housing services is £8.734m 

following the adjustments made as part of the 2009/10 Monitor 2 report. 
Only minor changes will be made as a result of this monitor. Table 7 gives 
a summary of the currently approved budget. 

 
Gross Housing 
Capital 
Programme 

2009/10 
 
£m 

2010/11 
 
£m 

2011/13 
 
£m 

2012/13 
 
£m 

2013/14 
 
£m 

Total 
 
£m 

Current 
Approved Capital 
Programme 8.734 9.121 10.205 9.807 10.888 48.755 
Reprofiling:       
Energy 
Conservation in 
Homes (0.020) 0.020    0.000 

 
Revised Capital 
Programme 8.714 9.141 10.205 9.807 10.888 48.755 
 

 

Table 7 Housing Capital Programme 2009 - 2014 
 
Neighbourhood Services  
 
27. The approved capital programme for Neighbourhood services is £5.329m 

following the adjustments made as a result of the 2009/10 Monitor 2 
report. As a result of this monitor, the capital programme will decrease by 
£288k to £5.041m. Table 8 gives a summary of the changes on a scheme 
by scheme basis. 

 

Page 113



 

Gross 
Neighbourhood 
Services Capital 
Programme 

2009/10 
 
£m 

2010/11 
 
£m 

2011/13 
 
£m 

2012/13 
 
£m 

2013/14 
 
£m 

Total 
 
£m 

Current 
Approved Capital 
Programme 5.329 5.326 5.555 3.055 3.055 22.320 
Reprofiling:       
Waste 
Infrastructure  

(0.246) 0.246    0.000 

Eco Depot 
Security Gate / 
Reception 

(0.112) 0.112    0.000 

Adjustments:       
Contaminated 
Land 
Investigation 

0.046 0.005    0.051 

Silver Street 
Toilets 

0.024 0.001    0.025 

 
Revised Capital 
Programme 5.041 5.690 5.555 3.055 3.055 22.396 

 

Table 8 Neighbourhood Services 2009 – 2014 
 
28. The Waste Infrastructure scheme requires reprofiling as a result of  

Changes to the timetable for the rollout of kerbside recycling and alternate 
weekly collection. The overall programme is due to complete by the end of 
December 2010. 

 
29. The Eco Depot Security Gate requires reprofiling as the scheme has not 

been progressing as planned and is currently at the design stage. It is 
requested that £112k be slipped into next year. The £10k budget will be 
required in 09/10 for design fees for the start of the project. 

 
30. The Contaminated Land budget has increased due to an additional 

DEFRA grant being awarded totalling  £51k and profiled across 09/10 and 
10/11.  This is in respect of investigations at sites at Chapmans Pond 
Landfill and Westfield School Landfill. 

 
31. The Silver Street toilets scheme is requesting additional funding over that 

currently approved. This scheme has now completed and the facility was 
officially opened after Christmas.  Additional costs have been incurred of 
£24k in year taking the 2009/10 spend to £324k.  These are due to 
unforeseen structural problems and delays to the contract which has 
meant additional preliminary costs from the main contractor. 

 
 
 
 

Page 114



 

Resources  
 
32. The approved capital programme for Resources is £1.761m. As a result of 

this monitor, no variations are forecast. Table 9 states the position of the 
programme. 

 
Gross 
Neighbourhood 
Services Capital 
Programme 

2009/10 
 
£m 

2010/11 
 
£m 

2011/13 
 
£m 

2012/13 
 
£m 

2013/14 
 
£m 

Total 
 
£m 

Current 
Approved Capital 
Programme 1.761 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.761 

 

Table 9 Resources Capital Programme 2009 –2014 
 
Chief Executives  
 
33. The approved capital programme for Chief Executives is £4.182m 

following the adjustments made as a result of the 2009/10 Monitor 2 
report. As a result of this monitor, the capital programme will decrease by 
£174k to £4.008m. Table 10 gives a summary of the changes on a 
scheme by scheme basis. 

 
Gross Chief 
Executives 
Capital 
Programme 

2009/10 
 
£m 

2010/11 
 
£m 

2011/13 
 
£m 

2012/13 
 
£m 

2013/14 
 
£m 

Total 
 
£m 

Current 
Approved Capital 
Programme 4.182 0.354 1.250 0.000 0.000 5.786 
Reprofiling :       
Health & Safety / 
DDA 

(0.060) 0.060    0.000 

St Clements Hall 
Refurbishment 

(0.066) 0.066    0.000 

Urgent River 
Banks Repairs 

(0.070) 0.070 
   

0.000 

Acomb Office 
 

0.011 (0.011) 
   

0.000 

Page 115



 

Adjustments:       
Property Key 
Components 
(H&S) 

(0.040)  

   

(0.040) 

Peasholme 
Improvements 

0.040  
   

0.040 

Hospital Fields 
Road 

0.011  
   

0.011 

 
Revised Capital 
Programme 4.008 0.539 1.250 0.000 0.000 5.797 
 

Table 10 Chief Executives Capital Programme 2009 – 2014 
 
34. A number of schemes require reprofiling into 10/11 totalling £196k, this 

figure is comprised of £60k in relation to Disability Discrimination Act 
programme of work, this budget will be used to contribute to an Access 
Scheme that is being developed by City Strategy. This scheme is unlikely 
to start this financial year and is therefore required to be reprofiled into 
10/11.  £66k in relation to St Clements Hall will be required  be reprofiled 
into 10/11 due to minor delays. And £70k is required to be reprofiled into 
10/11 due to due to the weather and river levels causing delays on the 
scheduled work.  

 
35. It is proposed that £40k from the Property Key Components budget is 

allocated to the Peasholme Improvements scheme in addition to the £128k 
to be allocated from contingency budget . The reason for the £168k 
overspend is due necessary work to remedy the poor quality work of the 
previous contractor. The major element of redesign and building elements 
has increased costs by £54k. This was not a matter of instructing 
additional expenditure, but a requirement to complete the project quickly 
and in a compliant manner. In addition, there has been the cost of fees to 
do this work from externally appointed consultants, £33k, and further costs 
of £19k for the need to extend oversail, scaffolding and party wall licences 
during the extended contract period. Further, internal recharges against 
the scheme of £15k had previously not been picked up.  Finally, £47k for a 
direct payment made to a supplier for bathroom pods was an oversight 
and a cost the council had already incurred but not reported in December 
08 as being part of this contract. 

 
36. During this period the Administrative Accommodation project has been 

undergoing a review and Executive approved on 21 September 2009 that 
the land assembly element (for the Hungate site) was to be moved to the 
separate Peasholme improvement scheme on the basis that the land 
assembly at Hungate no longer supported the new Administrative 
Accommodation project.  As a consequence, it appears that reporting 
responsibility has fallen between two areas and the full extent of the 
overspend has only recently been identified.  This is the first opportunity to 
explain the overspend and seek approval for funding. 

 

Page 116



 

37. Hospital Fields road requires additional funding of £11k which is to be met 
from existing budgets from within Property Services and is referenced here 
for completeness. 

 
Social Services 
 
38. The approved capital programme for Social Services is £711k following 

the adjustments made as a result of the 2009/10 Monitor 2 report. As a 
result of this monitor, the capital programme is forecast to increase by 
£70k to £781k . Table 11 states the position of the programme.  

 
Gross Social 
Services Capital 
Programme 

2009/10 
 
£m 

2010/11 
 
£m 

2011/13 
 
£m 

2012/13 
 
£m 

2013/14 
 
£m 

Total 
 
£m 

Current 
Approved Capital 
Programme 0.711 0.351 0.235 0.245 0.255 1.797 
Adjustments:       
Day Service 
Modernisation 0.028     0.028 
Health and 
Safety Works at 
Social Services 
Establishments 0.042     0.042 

 
Revised Capital 
Programme 0.781 0.351 0.235 0.245 0.255 1.867 

 

Table 11 Social Services Capital Programme 2009 – 2014 
 
39. Both additions to the capital programme totalling £70k are fully funded 

from external resources. 
 
Administrative Accommodation 
 
40. The approved capital programme for Administrative Accommodation is 

£2.107m following the adjustments made as a result of the 2009/10 
Monitor 2 report. As a result of this monitor, the capital programme is 
forecast to decrease by £233k to £1.874k. Table 12 gives a summary of 
the changes. 

 
Gross Admin 
Accom Capital 
Programme 

2009/10 
 
£m 

2010/11 
 
£m 

2011/13 
 
£m 

2012/13 
 
£m 

2013/14 
 
£m 

Total 
 
£m 

Current 
Approved Capital 
Programme 2.107 12.494 12.304 13.388 0.000 40.293 
Adjustments:       

Page 117



 

Admin 
Accommodation (0.233) 0.243  (0.011)  (0.001) 

 
Revised Capital 
Programme 1.874 12.737 12.304 13.377 0.000 40.292 
 

Table 12 Admin Accom Programme 2009- 2014 
  
41. The reprofiling of the Administrative Accommodation budget is required in 

accordance with the expected expenditure over the next three years, in 
light of the developer being appointed in December 2009.  £0.233k has 
been slipped in to 2010/11 from 2009/10 due to the procurement process 
being extended and therefore contract payments not being paid as a 
quickly as expected.  The project is still due to complete on time in 
2012/13. 

 
Contingency 
 
42.  One request for funding to be made available from the contingency has 

been received. The request is to use £128k to part fund the expenditure 
incurred in relation to Peasholme Improvements works as set out above 
under the Chief Executives section. 

 
Summary 
 
43. As a result of the changes highlighted above the revised 5 year capital 

programme is summarised in Table 13. 
 
Gross Capital 
Programme 

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Total 
£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Current Programme 67.379 60.782 37.166 30.100 17.803 213.230 
Adjustments :           
Children’s Services 0.050 0.877    0.927 
Leisure Services 0.029     0.029 
Neighbourhood 
Services 

0.070 0.006    0.076 

City Strategy (0.125) (0.098)    (0.223) 
Social Services 0.070     0.070 
Chief Executives 0.011     0.011 
Re-profiling:       
Children’s Services (3.000) 3.000    0.000 
Leisure and Culture (0.732) 0.732    0.000 
Housing (0.020) 0.020    0.000 
Neighbourhood 
Services 

(0.358) 0.358    0.000 

Page 118



 

Chief Execs (0.185) 0.185    0.000 
Admin Accom (0.233) 0.243  (0.011)  (0.001) 
Revised Programme 62.956 66.105 37.166 30.089 17.803 214.119 

 

Table 13 Revised 5 Year Capital Programme 
 
Funding the 2009/10 – 2013/14 Capital Programme 

 
44. The current capital programme is funded from a number of externally 

funded sources, along with capital receipts raised from the sale of 
surplus assets. 

 
45. The 2009/10 capital programme of £62.956m is currently being funded 

from £35.095m of external funding and £27.861m of internal funding. 
The internal funding is comprised of revenue contributions, supported 
capital expenditure, venture fund, right to buy receipts, capital receipts 
and prudential borrowing. 

 
46. Table 14 shows the projected call on Council resources going forward.  

  
Table 14 – 2009/10 –2013/14 Capital Programme Financing 

 
47. The current economic environment continues to place pressure on the 

funding of the programme over the 5 year cycle resulting in additional 
funding pressures based on current projections. The capital 
programme continues to place reliance on the achievement of a small 
number of high asset disposals which have been affected by the 
economic downturn. This funding pressure could be managed using a 
number of funding sources such as prudential borrowing with the 
revenue costs being covered from the revenue contributions agreed as 
part of the 2009/10 - 2013/14 capital programme. 

 
Corporate Priorities  
 
48. The capital programme is decided through a formal process, using a 

Capital Resource Allocation Model (CRAM). CRAM is a tool used for 
allocating the Council’s scarce capital resources to schemes that 
contribute toward the achievement of the corporate strategy. 

  2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Total 
£m £m £m  £m £m 

Gross Capital 
Programme 

62.927 66.105 37.166 30.089 17.803 214.119 

Funded by:       
  External Funding 
 

35.095 37.971 8.888 8.428 9.603 99.985 

  Council  Controlled     
Resources  

27.861 28.134 28.278 21.662 8.200 114.134 

  Total Funding  62.956 66.105 37.166 30.089 17.803 214.119 

Page 119



 

 
Implications  

Financial Implications 

49. The financial implications with regards to the Capital Programme are 
considered in the main body of the report. 

 
Human Resources Implications 

50. There are no HR implications as a result of this report 
 

Equalities Implications 

51. There are no equalities implications with regards to the capital 
programme in the main body of the report.   

 
Legal Implications 

52. There are no legal implications as a result of this report 
 

Crime and Disorder 

53. There are no crime and disorder implications as a result of this report 
 

Information Technology 

54. There are no information technology implications as a result of this 
report 

 
Property 

55. The property implications of this paper are included in the main body of 
the report. 

 
Risk Management 

56. The capital programme is regularly monitored as part of the corporate 
monitoring process. In addition to this the Corporate Asset 
Management Group (CAMG) meets regularly to plan monitor and 
review major capital receipts to ensure that all capital risks to the 
Council are minimised. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 120



 

Recommendations 

57. The Executive is requested to: 
 
• Recommend to Full Council the net adjustments of (£4.423m) in 

2009/10, £5.324m in 2010/11 and (£0.011m ) in 2012/13 which are 
set out on a scheme by scheme basis in the above paragraphs and 
contained in Annex A. 

• Recommend to Full Council the funding of Silver Street toilets from 
Councils resources totalling £25k. 

• Note the 2009/10 revised budget of £62.956m as set out in 
paragraph 5 and Table 2. 

• Note the slippage of £4.528m from 2009/10 to 2010/11.  

• Approve the use of the contingency fund for £128k in respect of the 
Peasholme Improvements works. 

• Note the restated capital programme for 2009/10 – 2013/14 as set 
out in paragraph 43, Table 13 and as set out in detail in Annex A. 

Reason: to enable the effective management and monitoring of the 
Council’s capital programme 

Contact Details 

Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
Ross Brown 
Principal Corporate Accountant 
Corporate Finance 
Tel No. 551207 
 
Louise Branford-White 
Technical Finance Manager 
Corporate Finance 
Tel No. 551187 

Ian Floyd 
Director of Resources 
 
Report 
Approved √ 

Date 28/01/10 

Keith Best 
Head of Finance 

Report 
Approved 

√ Date 27/01/10 
 

Specialist Implications Officer(s)  N/A 
 All Y 

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 
Budget Control 2009 
Departmental Capital Monitoring Updates 
 
Annexes 
Annex A – Restated Capital Programme 2009/10 to 2013/14 
 

Page 121



Page 122

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A

2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2010/11 2009/10 2009/10 2011/12 2009/10 2009/10 2012/13 2009/10 2009/10 2013/14 Gross Gross Capital
Revised Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital Programme

Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Programme To be Funded
Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget To be Funded 09/10 - 13/14
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Children's Services
NDS Devolved Capital 2,275 2,150 0 0 0 17,419 4,425
- External Funding 0 0 2,275 0 0 2,150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17,419 4,425
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Harnessing Technology 835 528 0 0 0 1,586 1,363
- External Funding 0 0 835 0 0 528 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,586 1,363
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Targeted Capital Fund 14-19 Diploma 1,589 5,500 0 0 0 11,107 7,089
- External Funding 0 0 1,589 0 0 5,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,864 7,089
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,243 0
Huntington School Improvements TCF 100 0 0 0 0 5,675 100
- External Funding 0 0 54 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,690 54
-Internal Funding 0 0 46 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,985 46
NDS Modernisation 1,692 2,818 0 0 0 17,589 4,510
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 125 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,061 125
-Internal Funding 0 0 1,692 0 0 2,693 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,528 4,385
Schools Access Initiative -100 460 100 388 0 0 0 2,133 848
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 -100 460 0 100 388 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,133 848
Sure Start 1,482 1,059 0 0 0 3,136 2,541
- External Funding 0 0 1,482 0 0 1,059 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,136 2,541
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Extended Schools 265 137 0 0 0 663 402
- External Funding 0 0 265 0 0 137 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 663 402
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

09/10 to 13/14                            
Capital Programme                   

Monitor 3

-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Integrated Children's Centres 361 0 0 0 0 4,871 361
- External Funding 0 0 203 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,961 203
-Internal Funding 0 0 158 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 910 158
Primary School Strategic Programme -2,000 910 2,000 7,378 0 0 0 8,378 8,288
- External Funding 0 -2,000 1,000 0 2,000 7,378 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,468 8,378
-Internal Funding 0 0 -90 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -90 -90
Derwent MUGA 57 0 0 0 0 763 57
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 584 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 57 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 179 57
Fulford School Science Labs and Classrooms 481 0 0 0 0 1,266 481
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 785 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 481 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 481 481
Youth Capital Fund 70 70 0 0 0 219 140
- External Funding 0 0 70 0 0 70 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 219 140
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Children's Centres Phase 3 -200 479 200 879 0 0 0 1,358 1,358
- External Funding 0 -200 479 0 200 879 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,358 1,358
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
DCSF Wave 2 PlaybuilderFunding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Westside Review - Oaklands / York High 189 0 0 0 0 13,870 189
- External Funding 0 0 189 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,870 189
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Westside Review - Manor 35 0 0 0 0 3,500 35
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,926 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 574 35
Joseph Rowntree One School Pathfinder -700 17,881 700 2,274 0 0 0 29,686 20,155
- External Funding 0 0 10,750 0 0 1,574 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21,855 12,324
-Internal Funding 0 -700 7,131 0 700 700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,831 7,831
Specialist Schools Status 25 0 0 0 0 25 25Specialist Schools Status 25 0 0 0 0 25 25
- External Funding 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 25
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Home access for targeted groups 120 0 0 0 0 120 120
- External Funding 0 0 120 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 120 120
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Aiming high for disabled children short breaks 72 168 0 0 0 240 240
- External Funding 0 0 72 0 0 168 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 240 240
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

City-Wide Diploma Exemplar Facility at Manor School 1,000 2,500 0 0 0 3,500 3,500
- External Funding 0 0 1,000 0 0 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,500 3,500
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Applefields School - Co Location 50 50 877 877 0 0 0 927 927
- External Funding 50 0 50 877 0 877 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 927 927
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 50 -3,000 30,428 877 3,000 26,726 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 128,031 57,154

TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 50 -2,200 20,458 877 2,200 22,945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 102,257 43,403

TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 0 -800 9,970 0 800 3,781 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25,774 13,751

Leisure and Culture
Acomb Library 7 0 0 0 0 659 7
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 578 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 81 7
Danebury Drive Allotments 3 0 0 0 0 30 3
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 3
Museum Service Heritage Lottery Bid 13 763 -13 200 0 0 0 1,848 963
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 0
-Internal Funding 0 13 763 0 -13 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,798 963-Internal Funding 0 13 763 0 -13 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,798 963
Oakland's Sports Centre Pitch 1 0 0 0 0 327 1
- External Funding 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 261 1
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 66 0
War Memorial Gardens 0 0 0 0 0 291 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 277 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14 0
York Pools Strategy - 29 2,855 2,375 0 0 0 10,652 5,230
- Government Grant 50 0 0 0 0 50 50
- External Funding 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 50
- Prudential Borrowing 1,310 0 0 0 0 2,000 1,310
- Departmental Prudential Borrowing 29 29 29 29
Revenue Contribution Departmental 24 0 0 0 0 24 24
- Earmarked Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 1,335 0
Corporate Capital Receipt 1,442 2,375 0 0 0 7,214 3,817
-Internal Funding 29 0 2,805 0 0 2,375 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,602 5,180
Free Swimming for Over 60's 18 0 0 0 0 18 18
- External Funding 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 18
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Page 1 Annex A

P
age 123



Annex A

2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2010/11 2009/10 2009/10 2011/12 2009/10 2009/10 2012/13 2009/10 2009/10 2013/14 Gross Gross Capital
Revised Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital Programme

Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Programme To be Funded
Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget To be Funded 09/10 - 13/14
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

09/10 to 13/14                            
Capital Programme                   

Monitor 3
Milfield Lane Comm Sports Centre -530 20 530 530 0 0 0 550 550
- External Funding 0 -160 20 0 160 160 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 180 180
-Internal Funding 0 -370 0 0 370 370 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 370 370
York Explore Centre -150 350 150 150 0 0 0 500 500
- External Funding 0 0 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 200 200
-Internal Funding 0 -150 150 0 150 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 300
Parks and Open Spaces Development 51 0 0 0 0 735 51
- External Funding 0 0 41 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 725 41
-Internal Funding 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 10
DCSF Wave 2 PlaybuilderFunding 526 594 0 0 0 1,120 1,120
- External Funding 0 0 526 0 0 594 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,120 1,120
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Children's Play Lottery Bid 206 8 0 0 0 214 214
- External Funding 0 0 200 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 208 208
Revenue Contribution Corporate 6 0 0 0 0 6 6
-Internal Funding 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 6
Library Self-Issue Equipment -65 33 65 65 0 0 0 98 98
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 -65 33 0 65 65 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 98 98
TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 29 -732 4,833 0 732 3,922 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17,042 8,755
TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 0 -160 1,056 0 160 762 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,677 1,818
TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 0 -572 3,748 0 572 3,160 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,336 6,908

Neighbourhood Services (Environmental Services) 
Air Quality Monitoring 50 0 0 0 0 258 50Air Quality Monitoring 50 0 0 0 0 258 50
- External Funding 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 251 50
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0
Contaminated Land Investigation 46 58 5 5 0 0 0 123 63
- External Funding 46 0 58 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 123 63
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Waste Infrastructure Capital Grant (WICG) -246 475 246 379 0 0 0 854 854
- External Funding 0 -246 475 0 246 379 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 854 854
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Silver Street Toilets 24 324 1 9 0 0 0 375 333
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 24 0 324 1 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 375 333
Ward Committees - Improvement Schemes 56 0 0 0 0 506 56
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 56 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 506 56
EcoDepot Security Gate / Reception -112 10 112 212 0 0 0 222 222
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 -112 10 0 112 212 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 222 222
West of York Recycling Site 0 0 2,500 0 0 2,500 2,500
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 2,500

Highway Resurfacing & Reconstruction (Struct maint) 3,783 4,685 2,855 2,855 2,855 17,033 17,033
- External Funding 1,923 0 1,923 0 0 1,830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,753 3,753
-Internal Funding -1,923 0 1,860 0 0 2,855 0 0 2,855 0 0 2,855 0 0 2,855 13,280 13,280
Special Bridge Maintenance (Struct maint) 185 200 200 200 200 985 985
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 185 0 0 200 0 0 200 0 0 200 0 0 200 985 985
Street Light Modernisation 100 200 0 0 0 300 300
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 100 0 0 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 300

TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 70 -358 5,041 6 358 5,690 0 0 5,555 0 0 3,055 0 0 3,055 23,156 22,396

TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 1,969 -246 2,506 5 246 2,214 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,981 4,720

TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING -1,899 -112 2,535 1 112 3,476 0 0 5,555 0 0 3,055 0 0 3,055 18,175 17,676

City Strategy (Planning & Transport)
Local Transport Plan (LTP) -125 3,758 5,812 3,485 3,485 3,485 39,140 20,025
- External Funding -125 0 1,950 0 0 3,822 0 0 1,495 0 0 1,495 0 0 1,495 12,754 10,257
-Internal Funding 0 0 1,808 0 0 1,990 0 0 1,990 0 0 1,990 0 0 1,990 26,386 9,768
York City Walls - Repairs & Renewals (City Walls) 110 90 90 78 78 608 446
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 110 0 0 90 0 0 90 0 0 78 0 0 78 608 446
York City Walls - Health & Safety (City Walls) 33 0 0 0 0 99 33
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 99 33
Road Safety 43 42 42 42 42 300 211
- External Funding 0 0 43 0 0 42 0 0 42 0 0 42 0 0 42 300 211
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cycling City 1,120 -98 1,055 0 0 0 2,487 2,175
 - Government Grant 1,120 -98 1,055 0 0 0 2,487 2,175
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Public Footpath, Rawcliffe No 1 - Riverbank slip 81 0 0 0 0 81 81
Revenue Contribution Corporate 81 0 0 0 0 81 81
-Internal Funding 0 0 81 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 81 81
Peckitt Street 70 0 0 0 0 70 70
- Government Grant 35 0 0 0 0 35 35
-Internal Funding 0 0 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35 35
TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE -125 0 5,215 -98 0 6,999 0 0 3,617 0 0 3,605 0 0 3,605 42,785 23,041
TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING -125 0 3,148 -98 0 4,919 0 0 1,537 0 0 1,537 0 0 1,537 15,576 12,678
TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 2,067 0 0 2,080 0 0 2,080 0 0 2,068 0 0 2,068 27,209 10,363

City Strategy (Admin Accom)
Admin Accomm -233 1,874 244 12,737 0 12,304 -11 13,377 0 43,804 40,292
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 -233 1,874 0 244 12,737 0 0 12,304 0 -11 13,377 0 0 0 43,804 40,292

TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 0 -233 1,874 0 244 12,737 0 0 12,304 0 -11 13,377 0 0 0 43,804 40,292

TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 0 -233 1,874 0 244 12,737 0 0 12,304 0 -11 13,377 0 0 0 43,804 40,292

Page 2 Annex A

P
age 124



Annex A

2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2010/11 2009/10 2009/10 2011/12 2009/10 2009/10 2012/13 2009/10 2009/10 2013/14 Gross Gross Capital
Revised Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital Programme

Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Programme To be Funded
Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget To be Funded 09/10 - 13/14
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

09/10 to 13/14                            
Capital Programme                   

Monitor 3

City Strategy (Community stadium)
Community Stadium 0 0 4,000 0 0 4,000 4,000
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,000 4,000

0 0 0 0 0
City Strategy (Economic Development) 0 0 0 0 0
Small Business Workshops 58 0 0 0 0 77 58
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 58 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 77 58
Visitor/Tourist Information Centre 55 0 0 0 0 100 55
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 55 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 55

TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 0 0 113 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 177 113

TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 113 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 177 113

Housing
Modernisation of Local Authority Homes 319 214 1,378 1,412 1,358 8,152 4,681
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 87 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 319 0 0 214 0 0 1,378 0 0 1,412 0 0 1,358 8,065 4,681
Repairs to Local Authority Properties 1,089 1,052 701 729 689 10,335 4,260
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 310 0- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 310 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 1,089 0 0 1,052 0 0 701 0 0 729 0 0 689 10,025 4,260
Assistance to Older & Disabled People 300 300 300 300 300 2,940 1,500
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 300 0 0 300 0 0 300 0 0 300 0 0 300 2,940 1,500
MRA Schemes 5,176 5,755 5,976 5,466 6,591 48,689 28,964
- External Funding 0 0 5,176 0 0 5,755 0 0 5,976 0 0 5,466 0 0 6,591 48,689 28,964
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Housing Grants & Associated Investment (Gfund) 900 950 1,000 1,050 1,100 9,467 5,000
- External Funding 0 0 880 0 0 950 0 0 1,000 0 0 1,050 0 0 1,100 8,890 4,980
-Internal Funding 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 577 20
Disabled Facilities Grant (Gfund) 850 850 850 850 850 5,517 4,250
- External Funding 0 0 428 0 0 375 0 0 375 0 0 375 0 0 375 2,696 1,928
-Internal Funding 0 0 422 0 0 475 0 0 475 0 0 475 0 0 475 2,821 2,322
Energy Conservation in Homes (Gfund) -20 80 20 20 0 0 0 100 100
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 -20 80 0 20 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 100

TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 0 -20 8,714 0 20 9,141 0 0 10,205 0 0 9,807 0 0 10,888 85,200 48,755

TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 6,484 0 0 7,080 0 0 7,351 0 0 6,891 0 0 8,066 60,672 35,872

TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 0 -20 2,230 0 20 2,061 0 0 2,854 0 0 2,916 0 0 2,822 24,528 12,883

Social Services
Joint Equipment Store 105 105 105 105 105 850 525
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 105 0 0 105 0 0 105 0 0 105 0 0 105 850 525
Information Management Improvements 49 0 0 0 0 303 49
- External Funding 0 0 49 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 303 49
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disabled Support Grant 110 120 130 140 150 1,054 650
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 110 0 0 120 0 0 130 0 0 140 0 0 150 1,054 650
Telecare Equipment 205 75 0 0 0 320 280
- External Funding 0 0 105 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 105 105
-Internal Funding 0 0 100 0 0 75 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 215 175
Adults Social Care IT grant 92 51 0 0 0 143 143
- External Funding 0 0 92 0 0 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 143 143
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Day Service Modernisation 28 103 0 0 0 0 103 103
- External Funding 28 0 103 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 103 103
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Health and Safety Works at Social Services 
Establishments 42 117 0 0 0 0 117 117
- External Funding 42 0 117 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 117 117
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 70 0 781 0 0 351 0 0 235 0 0 245 0 0 255 2,890 1,867

TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 70 0 466 0 0 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 771 517

TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 315 0 0 300 0 0 235 0 0 245 0 0 255 2,119 1,350

Chief Execs
Dealing with Repairs Backlog 42 0 0 0 0 0 555 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 42 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 555 0
Property Key Components (H&S) -82 666 100 0 0 0 1,353 766
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revenue Contribution Corporate -40 345 0 0 0 345 345
-Internal Funding -82 0 666 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,353 766
Health & Safety / DDA -60 38 60 60 0 0 0 419 98
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 -60 38 0 60 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 419 98-Internal Funding 0 -60 38 0 60 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 419 98
35 Hospital Fields Road 11 11 0 0 0 0 357 11
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 11 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 357 11
Fire Safety Regulations - Adaptations 229 65 0 0 0 300 294
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 229 0 0 65 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 300 294

Page 3 Annex A

P
age 125



Annex A

2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2010/11 2009/10 2009/10 2011/12 2009/10 2009/10 2012/13 2009/10 2009/10 2013/14 Gross Gross Capital
Revised Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital Programme

Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Mon 3 Programme To be Funded
Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget Adj Slippage Budget To be Funded 09/10 - 13/14
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

09/10 to 13/14                            
Capital Programme                   

Monitor 3
Removal of Asbestos 19 0 0 0 0 100 19
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 19
St Clements Hall Refurbishment -66 977 66 66 0 0 0 1,121 1,043
- External Funding 0 0 977 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 977 977
-Internal Funding 0 -66 0 0 66 66 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 144 66
Urgent River Bank Repairs -70 330 70 70 0 0 0 400 400
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 -70 330 0 70 70 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 400
Acomb Office 11 356 -11 144 1,250 0 0 1,750 1,750
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 11 356 0 -11 144 0 0 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,750 1,750
Mansion House External Repairs 65 0 0 0 0 65 65
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 65 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 65 65
Hungate / Peasholme Relocation 801 23 0 0 0 2,871 824
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revenue Contribution Corporate 32 0 0 0 0 32 32
-Internal Funding 0 0 801 0 0 23 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,871 824
Peasholme Improvements 40 376 11 0 0 0 751 387
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 40 0 376 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 751 387
Slipways 140 0 0 0 0 140 140
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revenue Contribution Corporate 140 0 0 0 0 140 140Revenue Contribution Corporate 140 0 0 0 0 140 140
-Internal Funding 0 0 140 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 140 140

TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 11 -185 4,008 0 185 539 0 0 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,182 5,797

TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 977 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 977 977

TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 11 -185 3,031 0 185 539 0 0 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,205 4,820

Resources
IT Equipment 1,761 0 0 0 0 4,173 1,761
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 1,761 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,173 1,761
Easy @ York 0 0 0 0 0 3,121 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,363 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 758 0

TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 0 0 1,761 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,294 1,761

TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,363 0

TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 1,761 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,931 1,761

Miscellaneous
Equal Pay Capitalisation 0 0 0 0 0 1,749 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,749 0
Hazel Court Depot 60 0 0 0 0 100 60
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 60
Contingency 128 0 0 0 0 128 128
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 128 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 128 128

TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 0 0 188 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,977 188

TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 188 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,977 188

Gross Expenditure by Department
Children's Services 50 -3,000 30,428 877 3,000 26,726 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 128,031 57,154
Leisure and Culture 29 -732 4,833 0 732 3,922 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17,042 8,755
Neighbourhood Services (Environmental Services) 70 -358 5,041 6 358 5,690 0 0 5,555 0 0 3,055 0 0 3,055 23,156 22,396
City Strategy (Planning & Transport) -125 0 5,215 -98 0 6,999 0 0 3,617 0 0 3,605 0 0 3,605 42,785 23,041
City Strategy (Admin Accom) 0 -233 1,874 0 244 12,737 0 0 12,304 0 -11 13,377 0 0 0 43,804 40,292
City Strategy (Community stadium) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,000 4,000
City Strategy (Economic Development) 0 0 113 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 177 113
Housing 0 -20 8,714 0 20 9,141 0 0 10,205 0 0 9,807 0 0 10,888 85,200 48,755
Social Services 70 0 781 0 0 351 0 0 235 0 0 245 0 0 255 2,890 1,867
Chief Execs 11 -185 4,008 0 185 539 0 0 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,182 5,797
Resources 0 0 1,761 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,294 1,761
Miscellaneous 0 0 188 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,977 188
Total by Department 105 -4,528 62,956 785 4,539 66,105 0 0 37,166 0 -11 30,089 0 0 17,803 366,538 214,119

Page 4 Annex A

P
age 126



 

  
 

   
 
 
Executive  

 
16 February 2010 

Report of the Director of Resources 
 

Treasury Management Monitor 3 and Prudential Indicators 09/10  

Summary of Report 
 
1. This report updates the Executive on the Treasury Management 

performance for the period 1 April 09 to 31 December 2009 compared 
against the budget presented to Council on 21 February 2009.  

 
2. The report highlights the economic environment for the first nine months of 

the 2009/10 financial year and in relation to this reviews treasury 
management performance covering: 

 

• Short-term investments, 
• Long-term borrowing, 
• Venture Fund, 
• Treasury Management Budget. 

 
Background 

 
3. The Council’s treasury management function is responsible for the effective 

management of the Council’s cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 
risks.   

 
4. The Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy, budget and 

Prudential Indicators on 21 February 2009.   This report monitors the 
Treasury Management activity for the first nine months of 2009/10 and 
shows the change in the Treasury Management budget to 31 December 
2009 and the forecast outturn position for the year. 

 
Consultation 
 
5. This report is for information and reporting on the performance of the 

treasury management function. The budget was set in light of the prevailing 
expenditure plans and economic conditions, based on advice from the 
Council’s Treasury Management advisors.   

 
 
 

Agenda Item 11Page 127



Corporate Priorities 
 
6. The Council has a priority to ensure value for money and efficiency of its 

services.  Treasury Management aims to achieve the optimum return on 
investments commensurate with the proper levels of security, and 
endeavours to minimise the interest payable by the Council on its debt 
structure. 

 
Economic Background and Analysis 
 
7. The Council’s short term investment and long term borrowing decisions 

have been affected by the following economic conditions: 
 

a.  The third quarter of the financial year of 2009 saw:  
i. Activity indicators suggest that the economy is finally exiting the 

recession  
ii. Household spending grow at its fastest rate since early 2008 
iii. The deterioration of the labour market slow considerably; 
iv. Little improvement in the UK’s trade position; 
v. Monetary policy loosened again... 
vi. …but with only limited effect on asset markets and the growth of the 

money supply; 
vii. Inflation rise as higher energy costs pushed up the annual 

comparison; 
viii. Financial markets make further gains, but at a much slower pace; 
ix. International economies grow at a faster rate than the UK 

 
b. Monetary policy was loosened further in the fourth quarter. At its meeting 

in November, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) increased the 
amount of asset purchases under the Bank’s Quantitative Easing (QE) 
programme by £25bn to £200bn.  However, QE continued to have a 
relatively limited effect, and there were only tentative signs of a positive 
impact outside of financial markets.  

 
c. Household spending in Q3 looks set to have grown at its fastest rate since 

early 2008. The annual growth in retail sales was the highest in nearly 
eighteen months in October.  Retail sales should have received at least 
some support towards the end of the year as consumers brought forward 
spending before the reinstatement of the standard rate of VAT on the 1st 
January.   

 
d. Q3 also saw the rate of deterioration in the labour market slow 

considerably. Unemployment claimant count rose by 5,900 in October but 
fell by 6,300 in November 2009. 

 
e. The improvement in the labour market no doubt supported the housing 

market, which continued to recover in the third quarter, albeit at a slightly 
slower rate than in Q2. The Nationwide house price index finished the 
quarter 1.5% higher than at the end of the previous quarter. The Halifax 
measure, which had been a little less buoyant in Q2, also posted decent 
rises. However, the rise in house prices continued to be largely driven by 

Page 128



the shortage of homeowners putting their homes up for sale, suggesting 
that the rises may prove to be temporary. 

 
f. Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) rose in the third quarter, from 1.1% in 

September to 1.5% in October and 1.9% in November, while RPI inflation 
returned to positive territory.  Much of the rise in inflation was the result of 
energy price inflation turning from negative to positive. 

 
g. The third quarter saw the global recovery continue to take hold. Once 

again, the recovery appeared to be strongest in the US.  In the euro-zone, 
the output balance of the composite PMI index rose over the quarter to be 
consistent with quarterly growth in euro-zone GDP of around 0.5%. The 
recovery looked set to be strongest in France and Germany. But, like in 
the US, there were concerns that households in all countries remained 
reticent to spend. 

 
h. Figure 1 shows the actual and projection of the base rate, which remains 

at historically low levels through much of 2010.  The Council’s treasury 
management advisers – Sector – forecast that the base will start to rise 
towards quarter 4 of 2010 and will gradually continue to increase on a 
regular basis to 2013.  UBS also estimate a rise in the base rate from 
September 2010 but their forecast is slightly less aggressive than Sector, 
they believe growth will be slower throughout 2011 but there will be 
moderate economic recovery.  Capital Economics remain pessimistic 
about economic recovery to the end of 2011 and they forecast the base 
rate to remain at 0.5%. 

 
Base Rate Actual & Projections April 2006 - March 2013

0.00
0.25
0.50
0.75
1.00
1.25
1.50
1.75
2.00
2.25
2.50
2.75
3.00
3.25
3.50
3.75
4.00
4.25
4.50
4.75
5.00
5.25
5.50
5.75
6.00

A
pr
il 
20
07

Ju
ly
 2
00
7

O
ct
 2
00
7

Ja
n 
20
08

A
pr
il 
20
08

Ju
ly
 2
00
8

O
ct
 2
00
8

Ja
n 
20
09

A
pr
il 
20
09

Ju
ly
 2
00
9

O
ct
 2
00
9

Ja
n 
20
10

A
pr
il 
20
10

Ju
ly
 2
01
0

O
ct
 2
01
0

Ja
n 
20
11

A
pr
 2
01
1

Ju
ly
 2
01
1

O
ct
 2
01
1

Ja
n 
20
12

A
pr
 2
01
2

Ju
ly
 2
01
2

O
ct
 2
01
2

Ja
n 
20
13

D a t e

%

Official Bank Rate Sector Forecast UBS Forecast Capital Economics Forecast

 Figure 1: Base Rate 2006 to 2013 - latest forecast 23 November 2009 
 

i. Table 1 provides the Council’s Treasury Advisers, Sector, forecast of the 
base rate and Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) rates as at 23 November 
2009:  

 

Page 129



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Table 1 – Sector’s forecast interest rates as at 23 November 2009 
 

j. With regard to long term borrowing, the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
rates across all ranges are forecast to steadily increase, as seen in table 
1, to reach 5.45% by the end of 2013. This is due to high gilt issuance, 
reversal of QE and investor concerns over inflation. 

  
k. It should be noted that Sector have confirmed that there is a high level of 

uncertainties in all the above forecasts.  This is due to the difficulties of 
forecasting the timing and amounts of QE reversal, fiscal contraction after 
the general election expected by May 2010, speed of recovery of banks’ 
profitability and balance sheet positions, changes in the consumer saving 
ratio and rebalancing of the UK economy towards exports 

 
l. Investment rates fell at the beginning of the financial year with the 1 year 

rate starting at 2.15%.  In September 2009 the 1 year rate was 1.10% and 
by December 2009 this rose slightly to 1.22%.   

 
m. A number of large UK banks keen to accept Local Authority investments 

continue to offer competitive rates on call accounts paying 0.25% to 0.3% 
above the Bank of England base rate as a minimum. During the year to 31 
December 2009, call accounts have been paying rates equivalent or 
higher than could be achieved through 1 to 2 months fixed term money 
market investments.  In September call accounts were paying higher rates 
than 9-month market rates and in December 2009 call accounts were 
paying higher than 6 month market rates.  The Council takes advantage of 
such accounts and currently actively operates 3 call accounts: 

i. Bank of Scotland instant access call account has been fixed at 
0.25% above base during the period (0.75%). 

ii. Alliance and Leicester call account has been constant at 0.30% 
above base rate (0.80%). 

iii. Yorkshire Bank call account fixed at 0.30% above base rate 
(0.80%). 

During 2009/10, 3 call accounts have been in operation, which is 3 less 
than were available in 2008/09 due to the lower rates on offer and 
therefore no value is added to the investment portfolio.  

 

Mar-10 Jun-10 Sep-10 Dec-10 Mar-11 Jun-11 Sep-11 Dec-11 Mar-12 Jun-12 Sep-12 Dec-12 Mar-13

Bank rate 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 1.00% 1.50% 2.25% 2.75% 3.25% 3.50% 3.75% 4.25% 4.25% 4.50%

5yr PWLB 
rate

3.05% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.60% 3.85% 4.15% 4.55% 4.60% 4.80% 4.80% 4.85% 4.85%

10yr PWLB 
rate

4.00% 4.05% 4.15% 4.30% 4.45% 4.60% 4.80% 4.90% 5.00% 5.10% 5.10% 5.15% 5.15%

25yr PWLB 
rate

4.55% 4.65% 4.70% 4.80% 4.90% 5.00% 5.05% 5.10% 5.20% 5.30% 5.30% 5.35% 5.35%

50yr PWLB 
rate

4.60% 4.70% 4.75% 4.90% 5.00% 5.10% 5.15% 5.20% 5.30% 5.40% 5.40% 5.45% 5.45%

Page 130



Investment Policy 
 
8. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2009/10 was approved 

by Council on 21 February 2009.  The Council’s Annual Investment 
Strategy, which is incorporated in the Strategy, outlines the Council’s 
investment priorities as follows: 

• Security of Capital 
• Liquidity 
 

9. The Council will also aim to achieve the optimum return on investments 
commensurate with the proper levels of security and liquidity.  In the current 
economic climate it is considered appropriate to keep investments short 
term, and only invest with highly credit rated financial institutions using the 
Sector suggested creditworthiness matrices, including Credit Default Swap 
(CDS) overlay information provided by Sector, the Council’s Treasury 
Management advisors. 

 
10.  Investments held at 31 December 2009 in accordance with Sector’s 

Creditworthiness matrices, and changes to Fitch and Moody’s credit ratings 
remained within the Council’s approved credit criteria limits contained in the 
Annual Investment Strategy. 

 
Short Term Investments 
 
11. Investment rates available in the market remain at an historical low point.  

The average level of funds available for investment purposes in the first nine 
months of 2009/10 was £43.357m.  The level of funds available is largely 
dependent on the timing of the Council’s cash flow as a result of precept 
payments, receipt of grants and progress on the Capital Programme. These 
funds are therefore available on a temporary basis dependant on cash flow 
movement.  The average balance is lower than in previous years due to the 
timing of grants received in “advance of need” being shorter. The authority 
holds some core cash balances for investment purposes, i.e. funds 
available for a year or more, however in 09/10 no funds have been invested 
for periods greater than one year due to the limited institutions available for 
investment in accordance with the credit criteria policy. 

 
12. Treasury Management investment activity during the first nine months 

earned interest £875k, equivalent to a 2.37% rate of return. This is 1.92% 
better than the average 7 day London Inter-Bank Deposit rate (LIBID) of 
0.45% and 1.87% higher than the average base rate for the period of 
0.50%.  The high rate of return on investment activity compared to the 
average LIBID rate and base rate for the period is due to (a) locking into 
higher rates in 2008/09 for periods up to a year which had a positive affect 
on the average interest rate in 09/10 and (b) the treasury team continuing to 
monitor the market and taking advantage of longer term rates out to a year 
when they become available.  The level of activity compared to the treasury 
management benchmark indicators above is positive, however the market 
interest rates in the 2009/10 year have been lower than anticipated. 

 

Page 131



13. Taking into account the direct cost of dealing, the in-house team is forecast 
to achieve a net trading surplus in 2009/10 of £959k. This will be equivalent 
to a return of 2.21%, which is 1.71% above the estimated average rate to be 
paid by the bank on credit balances held in the Council’s main bank 
account. The bottom line added by the Council’s money market trading 
activities taking off the direct cost of dealing is estimated at £742 for 
2009/10. 

 
14. The Council has made 16 investments via the money market brokers during 

the first 9 months of 2009/10. Of these 10 have been invested for periods of 
greater than one month.  This is shown in Figure 2 below.  In accordance 
with the Treasury Management Strategy investments have been kept short 
due to the low levels of interest rates available and the limited number of 
institutions in the market.    

 
15.  A large proportion of investments have been placed in call accounts where 

funds are secure and the rate of interest earned at 0.80% is more 
favourable than rates available on the market in the short periods.  Call 
accounts also have the benefit that these funds can be liquidated at any 
time so advantage can be taken of longer-term favourable rates when they 
arise.  Investments are made in accordance with the security of the Council 
funds, the cash flow position (Liquidity) and consideration to most 
favourable investment rates available.  

 
16. Figure 2 shows the interest rates achieved on investments of 3 months or 

more in comparison to the range of rates (between 1 month and 1 year) 
being offered on the money markets at the time investments were made.  It 
shows the investment rates obtained are in line with the interest rates which 
are available when security of funds are of prime importance. 

Investment Interest Rates achieved from October 2008 to December 2009

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

5.5

6

6.5

7

01
/10
/20
08

15
/10
/20
08

29
/10
/20
08

12
/11
/20
08

26
/11
/20
08

10
/12
/20
08

24
/12
/20
08

07
/01
/20
09

21
/01
/20
09

04
/02
/20
09

18
/02
/20
09

04
/03
/20
09

18
/03
/20
09

01
/04
/20
09

15
/04
/20
09

29
/04
/20
09

13
/05
/20
09

27
/05
/20
09

10
/06
/20
09

24
/06
/20
09

08
/07
/20
09

22
/07
/20
09

05
/08
/20
09

19
/08
/20
09

02
/09
/20
09

16
/09
/20
09

30
/09
/20
09

14
/10
/20
09

28
/10
/20
09

11
/11
/20
09

25
/11
/20
09

09
/12
/20
09

23
/12
/20
09

%

3 MONTH

6 MONTH

9 MONTH

1 YEAR

BoE Base Rate

CYC Investments > 1 mth

5

6

3 3

1yr 1yr

9

1yr

3

1yr
2.5

3

3

1yr

3

1yr

2

3

6

3

3

3

 
 
   Figure 2 CYC Investments vs Money Market Rates 

 

Page 132



Long Term Borrowing 
 
17. The Council undertakes long term borrowing in accordance with the 

investment requirements of the capital programme, and all borrowing is 
therefore secured against its asset base. The majority of Council borrowing 
is funded by the Government through the Revenue Support Grant (RSG), 
which provides the Council with revenue funding to allow it to meet the 
interest and repayment costs of borrowing.  The introduction of the 
Prudential Code in April 2004 has given the Council the flexibility to borrow 
without Government support. Under the Code Councils are free to borrow 
up to a level that is deemed prudent, affordable and sustainable and within 
their prudential indicator limits.  

 
18. The level of borrowing taken by the Council is determined by the Capital 

Finance Requirement, (the Councils underlying need to borrow for capital 
expenditure purposes).  The Capital Financing Requirement for 2009/10 is 
£118.9m, which gives a borrowing requirement of £21.1m.  This is higher 
than originally expected at the beginning of the year due to Capital receipts 
not being realised, therefore being replaced by borrowing and approval by 
the Executive in Capital Monitor 2 for additional £3m borrowing to fund the 
capital programme. 

 
19.  In addition, the Council can borrow in advance of need in line with its future 

borrowing requirements in accordance with the Capital Financing 
Requirement.  The Administrative Accommodation project will substantially 
increase the Council’s need to borrow over the next 3 years and therefore 
the markets will be closely monitored to ensure that advantage is taken of 
favourable rates in 09/10 and the increased borrowing requirement is not as 
dependant on only interest rates over a 3 year period. 

 
20. The Councils long-term borrowing started the year at a level of £102.1m.  

One loan of £4m was duly repaid in May in line with its maturity date.    New 
Borrowing totalling £15m has been taken to mid January 10, as follows: 

• £3m PWLB loan at 3.83% 10 years on 10 August 09 
• £3m PWLB loan at 3.59% 10 years on 8 October 2009 
• £3m PWLB loan at 3.91% 15 years on 13 October 2009 
• £2m PWLB loan at 3.36% 6 years on 15 January 2010 
• £2m PWLB loan at 3.64% 7 years on 15 January 2010 
• £2m PWLB loan at 3.87% 8 years on 15 January 2010 

 
21.  The loans taken in 2009/10 have been of fixed term duration and target 

periods that offer the best rates available. 45-50 year PWLB rates started 
the year at 4.57%.  Rates have risen steadily up to a high of 4.85% at the 
beginning of June 09 with rates dropping back to the lowest level in 09/10 of 
4.18% by mid October 09, only to rise back to 4.56% at 31 December 2010.  
All these rates are above the target-borrowing rate set for the year of 3.95%.  
The medium term PWLB 9-10 year rate started the year at 3.36% saw its 
highest point at 4.30% and by the end of December 2009 the rate was 
4.29%. 

 

Page 133



22. For Quarter 2 and 3, the period of 10 to 15 years was identified as providing 
the best opportunity (a) for value for money as it is difficult to predict how 
the market will continue to move long term in the current environment and 
(b) the potential to reschedule the loan if required in future years.  For 
quarter 4, the period of 5 to 10 years has provided the best rates available 
as forecasts continue to show that PWLB rates in all periods will rise in the 
next 2 years; this is illustrated in Table 1. 

 
23. The Council’s borrowing strategy is to borrow from the PWLB when rates 

are low and hold off from taking new borrowing when rates are high 
following advice taken from the Councils contracted treasury management 
advisors (Sector Treasury Services) subject to cash flow constraints.  Figure 
3 shows the PWLB rates since April 2006 and details when new borrowing 
has taken place. 

 

PWLB rates 01/04/08 to 15/01/10

2.50

2.75
3.00

3.25

3.50
3.75

4.00

4.25

4.50
4.75

5.00

5.25
5.50

5.75

A
pr
-0
8

M
ay
-0
8

Ju
n-
08

Ju
l-0
8

A
ug
-0
8

S
ep
-0
8

O
ct
-0
8

N
ov
-0
8

D
ec
-0
8

Ja
n-
09

F
eb
-0
9

M
ar
-0
9

A
pr
-0
9

M
ay
-0
9

Ju
n-
09

Ju
l-0
9

A
ug
-0
9

S
ep
-0
9

O
ct
-0
9

N
ov
-0
9

D
ec
-0
9

Ja
n-
10

6½-7

9½-10

14½-15

49½-50

cyc borrowing

£4m @ 4.39%

£4.5m @3.91%

£8m @ 4.39%

£3m 
@3.83%

£3m 
@3.91%

£3m 
@3.59%

£2m @3.36%

£2m @3.64%

£2m @3.87%

 
Figure 3 – PWLB rates vs CYC Borrowing Levels 

 
24. Figure 4 illustrates the 2009/10 maturity profile of the Council’s debt portfolio 

updated to reflect the borrowing this year.  The borrowing portfolio totals 
£113.1m and the maturity profile shows that there is no large concentration 
of loan maturity, thereby spreading the interest rate risk dependency in any 
one year. 

Page 134



Debt Maturity Profile by year -  15 January 2010 Projection 

0

2000000

4000000

6000000

8000000

10000000

12000000

14000000

16000000

2010/11

2012/13

2014/15

2016/17

2018/19

2020/21

2022/23

2024/25

2026/27

2028/29

2030/31

2032/33

2034/35

2036/37

2038/09

2040/41

2043/44

2045/46

2047/48

2049/50

2051/52

2053/54

2055/56

2057/58

2059/60

2061/62 

2063/64

2065/66

2067/68

2069/70

2071/72

2073/74

2075/76

2077/78

Financial Year

 
     Figure 4 – Debt Maturity Profile 09/10 

 
Venture Fund 
 
25. The Venture Fund is used to provide short to medium term investment for 

internal projects which provide new revenue streams or generate budget 
savings and contribute to operational benefits of policy objectives. The 
projected movements on the Venture Fund for the year are shown in table 2 
below. 

 
 £’000 
Balance at 1st April 2009 2,275 
New Loan Advances  (785) 
Loan Repayments 678 
Net Interest Received  18 
Balance at 31st March 2010 2,186 

 
Table 2 – Projected Venture Fund Movement 2009/10 

 
26. The position of the Venture Fund has changed since Monitor 2.  As 

mentioned in the Capital programme Monitor 2, £35k loan was approved for 
the Peckitt Street flood defences by the Director of Resources under 
delegated approval.  Total loan advances for 2009/10 stands at £785k and 
also includes £650k for the easy programme which reflects funding required 
for internal resources associated with the transformation programme – More 
for York - work and £100k for the street lighting capital scheme approved by 
Council on 21 February 2009.  The easy programme loan is a prudent 
estimate of the amount, which will potentially be required by year-end.  7 
schemes contribute to loan repayments of which five will be completed at 
the end of 2009/10. 

 
 
 

Page 135



 
Treasury Management Budget 
 
27. Treasury Management activity had a Corporate Budget approved at Council 

on 21 February 2009 of £7,727k.  In August 2009, the current approved 
budget was £8,557k.  In the Monitor 3 Revenue Budget report, approval 
from Members is requested to increase the treasury management budget by 
£124k to £8,681k.  The projected outturn is £9,110k resulting in an 
estimated overspend of £429k. Table 3 details the individual components 
that make up this overspend. 

 
 (Under)/Over 

Spend 
£000 

Increase in financing expenditure (interest paid)     13 
Provision to repay debt      0 
Decrease in interest receivable 416 
Total Overspend 429 

 
Table 3 – Treasury Management Budget 2009/10 

 
28. The expected Treasury Management budget overspend has reduced by 

£100k from Monitor 2 to £429k.  Action has been taken to mitigate the 
overspend as there has been a change in the way that part of the capital 
programme is to be funded; a direct revenue contribution from LCCS has 
been changed to prudential borrowing.  Although the actual cost to treasury 
management increases by the finance costs of the prudential borrowing, the 
treasury management budget has increased by £124k thereby reducing the 
overall Treasury Management budget overspend by £100k to £429k. 

 
29. In accordance with Financial Regulations, approval has been requested in 

the Revenue Monitor 3 report for a virement of £124k from LCCS to 
Treasury Management, this being the total amount of the LCCS Revenue 
Contribution plus financing costs. 

 
30. The breakdown of the overspend is weighted towards an under recovery of 

income from interest received.  
 

a. The increase in interest paid is only slightly above that which was 
budgeted due to the volatility of the market and the timing of loans taken. 

b. The decrease in interest receivable is due to the continued fall in market 
interest rates available for investment with the 1-year rate starting the 
year at 2.15% and continuing to fall to 1.15%.  There are lower cash 
balances than originally anticipated; therefore the majority of cash is 
being invested in line with cash flow requirements.  

 
31. As reported in Monitor 2, it is expected that growth will continue to be slow 

in 2010/11, resulting in continued lower market interest rates being available 
for investments.  This is evidenced by the increased quantitative easing 
announced by the Bank of England in November by £25bn to £200bn.  
Lower interest rates on investments will therefore be earned for the 

Page 136



foreseeable future.  This is compounded by the prudent Council’s approved 
credit criteria limits set for the security of funds, which reduces the 
favourable interest rates available for investment.  

   
32. In the longer term, the economy is forecast to recover, with interest rates 

becoming more favourable for investment purposes.  The market 
environment will improve and cash balances should grow with the increase 
of capital receipts. The borrowing market is continually monitored and in the 
future there maybe the opportunity to restructure the debt portfolio to make 
savings overall.  It should be noted that this is not an ongoing problem but 
one caused by the current economic market environment.  

 
Prudential Indicators Update 

 
33. It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the 

“Affordable Borrowing Limits”.  Council’s approved Prudential Indicators 
(affordability limits) are outlined in the approved Treasury Management 
Strategy.  Prudential Indicators are attached at Annex A.   Prudential 
Indicators were not breached during the first 9 months of 2009/10.  

 
Human Resources Implications 

 
34. There are no HR implications as a result of this report. 
 
Equalities 
 
35. There are no equalities implications as a result of this report. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
36. Treasury Management activities have to conform to the Local Government 

Act 2003, which specifies that the Council is required to adopt the CIPFA 
Prudential Code and work to its Treasury Management Policy and Treasury 
Management Practices. As a result the Council can only invest and borrow 
from approved institutions as set out in sections 1 and 12 of the Act. 

 
Crime and Disorder Implications 

 
37. There are no crime and disorder implications as a result of this report. 

 
Information Technology Implications 

 
38. There are no IT implications as a result of this report. 
 
Property Implications 
 
39. There are no property implications as a result of this report. 
 
 
 

Page 137



Risk Management  
 
40. The treasury management function is a high-risk area because of the level 

of large money transactions that take place.  As a result of this there are 
procedures as set out in the Treasury Management Practices statement that 
aim to reduce the risk associated with high volume high value transactions. 

 
Recommendations 

 
41. Members are requested to: 

• Note the performance of the treasury management activity; 
• Note the projected overspend of the treasury management budget of 

£429k. 
 
Reason – to ensure the continued performance of the Council’s Treasury 
Management function. 
 

Contact Details 
 

Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
Louise Branford-White 
Technical Finance Manager 
Corporate Finance 
Tel No. 551187 
 
Ross Brown 
Principal Corporate Accountant 
Corporate Finance 
Tel No. 551207 

Ian Floyd 
Director of Resources 
 
Keith Best 
Assistant Director of Resources (Finance) 
 
Report 
Approved 

O 

 
Date 28/01/10 

 

 

    

 

Wards Affected:   All O 
None 

Specialist Implication Officers: 
 
None 
 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 
Background Papers 

Cash-flow Model 09/10, Investment Register 09/10, PWLB Debt Register, 
Capital Financing Requirement 09/10, Venture Fund 09/10, Statistics 09/10. 
 

Annexes 
 
Annex A – Prudential Indicators 

Page 138



           Annex A 

     ANNEX A 
 

       

  

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS   2009/10 
Budget 

2009/10 
Monitor 1

209/10 
Monitor 2 

209/10 
Monitor 3 

      estimate estimate estimate estimate 
1) Capital Expenditure   £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000  
  To allow the authority to plan for capital financing as a result of the 

capital programme.  To enable the monitoring of capital budgets to 
ensure they remain within budget 

    Non - HRA 57,019 60,052  60,395  56,043 
      HRA 6,971 6,982  6,984  6,884 
      TOTAL 63,990 67,034  67,379  62,927 
           
2) Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream        

  This indicator estimates the cost of borrowing in relation to the net 
cost of Council services to be met from government grant and 
council taxpayers. In the case of the HRA the net revenue stream is 
the income from Rents and Subsidy 

    Non - HRA 6.98% 7.16%  7.00%  6.90% 
      HRA 3.00% 3.37%  3.10%  3.10% 

  

       

           
3) Incremental impact of capital investment decisions - Council 

Tax 
 £   p £   p £   p  £   p  

  

Shows the actual impact of capital investment decisions on council 
tax. The impact on council tax is a fundamental indicator of 
affordability for the Council to consider when setting forward plans. 
The figure relates to how much of the increase in council tax is used 
in financing the capital programme and any related revenue 
implications that flow from it. 

Increase in Council Tax 
(band D) per annum

19.51 12.50  18.95  19.84 

  

       

           
4) Incremental impact of capital investment decisions - Hsg Rents  £   p £   p £   p  £   p  

  
Shows the actual impact of capital investment decisions on HRA 
rent.  For CYC, the HRA planned capital spend is based on the 
government's approved borrowing limit so there is no impact on 
HRA rents. 

Increase in average 
housing rent per week 

0.00 0.00 0.00  0.00  

  
       

           
5) Capital Financing Requirement as at 31 March         
  Indicates the Council's underlying need to borrow money for capital 

purposes. The majority of the capital programme is funded through 
government support, government grant or the use of capital 
receipts.  The use of borrowing increases the CFR. 

Non - HRA 89,068 94,229  110,487  106,762 
  HRA 13,035 12,235     12,235      12,235  

  
TOTAL 102,103 106,464  122,722   118,997 

             
6a) Authorised Limit for external debt -           
  The authorised limit is a level set above the operational boundary in 

acceptance that the operational boundary may well be breached 
because of cash flows.  It represents an absolute maximum level of 
debt that could be sustained for only a short period of time.  The 
council sets an operational boundary for its total external debt, gross 
of investments, separately identifying borrowing from other long 
term liabilities for 3 financial years. 

borrowing 186 186 186 186 
  other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0 
  TOTAL 186 186 186 186 

          
6b) Operational Boundary for external debt -         
  The operational boundary is a measure of the most likely, prudent, 

level of debt.  It takes account of risk management and analysis to 
arrive at the maximum level of debt projected as part of this prudent 
assessment.  It is a means by which the authority manages its 
external debt to ensure that it remains within the self imposed 
authority limit.  It is a direct link between the Council’s plans for 
capital expenditure; our estimates of the capital financing 
requirement; and estimated operational cash flow for the year. 

borrowing 145 145 145 145 
  other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

  TOTAL 145 145 145 145 

          
7) Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury 

Management in Public Services 
       

  Ensuring Treasury Management Practices remain in line with the 
SORP. 

TM Policy Statement       
  12 TM Practices       
   Policy Placed Before 

Council
      

   Annual Review 
Undertaken

      

8a) Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure        

  The Council sets limits to its exposures to the effects of changes in 
interest rates for 3 years.  The Council should not be overly exposed 
to fluctuations in interest rates which can have an adverse impact 
on the revenue budget if it is overly exposed to variable rate 
investments or debts  

Net interest re fixed rate 
borrowing / investments

150% 150% 150%  150%  

  Actual Net interest re 
fixed rate borrowing / 

investments

146% 113% 118%  106%  

Page 139



         
             
8b) Upper limit for variable rate exposure          
  The Council sets limits to its exposures to the effects of changes in 

interest rates for 3 years.  The Council should not be overly exposed 
to fluctuations in interest rates which can have an adverse impact 
on the revenue budget if it is overly exposed to variable rate 
investments or debts  

Net interest re variable 
rate borrowing / 

investments

-50% -50%  -50%  -50% 

  Actual Net interest re 
variable rate borrowing / 

investments

-17% -13%  -18%  -6% 

         
           
9) Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 364 days  £10,000 £10,000 £10,000  £10,000  

  

To minimise the impact of debt maturity on the cash flow of the 
Council.  Over exposure to debt maturity in any one year could 
mean that the Council has insufficient liquidity to meet its repayment 
liabilities, and as a result could be exposed to risk of interest rate 
fluctuations in the future where loans are maturing.  The Council 
therefore sets limits whereby long term loans mature in different 
periods thus spreading the risk. 

       

  

 

      
          
10) Maturity structure of new fixed rate borrowing during 2009/10  Upper   

Limit 
Lower 
Limit                   Mon 2 Mon 3 

  The Council sets an upper limit for each forward financial year 
period for the level of investments that mature in over 364 days. 
These limits reduce the liquidity and interest rate risk associated 
with investing for more than one year. The limits are set as a 
percentage of the average balances of the investment portfolio. 

under 12 months 10% 0% 0% 0% 
  12 months and within 24 

months 10% 0% 4% 4% 
  24 months and within 5 

years 25% 0% 3% 3% 
  5 years and within 10 

years 40% 0% 14% 18% 
  10 years and above 90% 30% 79% 76% 

             

Glossary Of Abbreviations 
 

HRA Housing Revenue Account                                                               CYC City of York Council 
 

SORP Statement of Recommended Practice for Local Authorities           CFR Capital Financing Requirement 
 

 
1. In accordance with the Prudential Code, the Prudential Indicators set by full Council on 26th 

February 2009 for the financial year 09/10 must be monitored and reported through the 
financial year.  The Prudential Indicators are detailed above and some of the key points are 
explained below: 

 
2. Size of the Capital Programme (Indicator 1) - The capital programme expenditure at monitor 3 

was estimated to be £62.927m and in the original budget was £63.990m.  The increase is 
detailed further in the Capital Programme Monitor 3. There has been slippage on some 
projects and other projects have been adjusted due to change in expenditure and funding 
requirements. 

 
3. Net revenue Stream (indicator 2) - This indicator represents how much borrowing for the 

capital programme will cost as a percentage of the net revenue stream. The General Fund 
indicator at Monitor 3 is 6.90% compared to the budgeted level at 6.98%.  The variation 
between the indicators is due to the change in market conditions since the setting of the 
budget resulting in a reduction in the level of interest to be earned in the year and a slight 
increase in interest paid on borrowing.  The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) version of the 
indictor at monitor 3 is 3.10% compared to the budgeted level of 3%, the difference is as 
explained for the General Fund. 

 
4. Incremental Impact on the Level of Council Tax (Indicator 3) – This indicator shows the impact 

of capital investment decision on the bottom line level of Council Tax.  The Council can fund 
its discretionary capital programme from two main sources, from unsupported prudential 
borrowing or using capital receipts from the sale of surplus assets.  The Council’s policy is to 
use capital receipts to fund the capital programme, however in the current economic 
environment with reduced capital receipts there is the requirement to use unsupported 
prudential borrowing to support the capital programme, which has an impact on Council Tax.  

Page 140



The unsupported prudential borrowing is not taken unless it is affordable, sustainable and 
prudent and can be supported by an existing budget.  At monitor 3 the impact on council tax is 
estimated at £19.84 per Band D charge.  The fluctuation in this forecast over the year is due 
to the changing position of capital receipts within the Council, whether capital receipts will be 
realised in the year, the delay in the sale of capital receipts in the current market environment 
and the resultant increase in unsupported prudential borrowing. 

  
5. Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) (Indicator 5) - The CFR at Monitor 3 is estimated at 

£118.997m, which is the Council’s underlying need to borrow for all capital investment over 
time.  The CFR will fluctuate as new schemes are introduced into the capital programme and 
the funding position changes (as a result of external contributions, reductions in grants, 
changes to capital receipts, changes in borrowing etc) to support the Capital investment of the 
Council.  At this time the CFR estimate at monitor 3 is higher than that reported at budget and 
monitor 1 at £106.464m.  This is due to the reduction in capital receipts available during 09/10 
to fund the capital programme as explained above in point 4 and the estimation that short term 
borrowing will be taken to fund the programme instead.  In the current market environment it is 
envisaged that short term borrowing will be taken in light of capital receipts being realised in 
the next 2 to 3 years and the interest rate being lower for short term borrowing than for long-
term.    

 
6. Authorised Limit / Operational Boundary (Indicator 6) – The Council debt position at 1 April 

2009 was £102.064m and currently stands at £113.064m.  The Council’s Operational 
Boundary (maximum prudent level of debt) was approved at Council as part of the budget set 
at  £145m, along with the Authorised Limit (maximum allowed debt) at £186.m.  The 
headroom available within these limits allows the Council the ability to borrow in advance of 
need in accordance with its 3 year forecast Capital programme.  If these limits were breached 
the LG Act 2003 requires full Council approval.  Debt levels have remained within the limits 
set. 

 
7. Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management (Indicator 7) – In 

accordance with the Prudential Code the Council has adopted the Treasury Management 
Code of Practice and as detailed in the table has adhered to the requirements. 

 
8. Upper Limit for Fixed and Variable Interest rate Exposure (Indicator 8) – Interest rate 

exposure on debt is positive due to it being in relation to interest paid and on investments is 
negative as it is interest being received.  When the variable and fixed interest rates are 
totalled, it will always be 100%.  If the majority of the interest received by the Council is fixed 
and the interest paid on debt is fixed then the closer the actual fixed interest rate exposure will 
be to 100% and the variable rate exposure to zero.  The limits set in the budget were not 
breached and at Monitor 3 fixed rate exposure was at 106% and variable rate exposure –16%.  

 
9. Upper Limit for total principal sums invested for over 364 days (Indicator 9) – This has been 

set at £10m and is approximately 25% of the total portfolio.  To date in 09/10, no funds have 
been invested for longer than 364 days due to the uncertainty in the current economic 
environment and no value to be obtained from longer rates.  

 
10. Maturity Structure of Fixed rate Borrowing in 2009/10 (Indicator 10) – The borrowing portfolio 

is spread across different time periods to ensure that the Council is not exposed to the 
requirement to take new borrowing in any one year and be exposed to interest rates in any 
one year.  Currently in 09/10 the borrowing portfolio maturity profile is within the limits set. 

Page 141



Page 142

This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

  
 

 
 
 

 
Executive  

 
16 February 2010 

 
Report of the Director of Resources 

 

 
Capital Programme Budget – 2010/11 to 2014/15 
 
Summary 
 
1. This report presents the current position of the 2009/10 –2013/14 capital 

programme, highlights the existing funding position and associated pressures and 
then considers the bids received as part of this year’s Capital Resource Allocation 
Model (CRAM) process covering the period 2010/11 – 2014/15. 

 
2. Members are asked to: 
 

• Note the current funding position of the capital programme  
• Note the new bids for capital schemes, their requirement for funding covering the 

period 2010/11 – 2014/15 and how best the available resources can be used to 
achieve the Councils objectives. 

• Recommend to Council the recommendations as set out in the report. 
 
 
Background 
 
3. This report is part of the suite of reports outlining the Councils spending and 

funding plans for future years and as such should be read in conjunction with the 
Revenue Budget report and the Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential 
Indicators report, both of which are on this agenda. These reports are inter-related 
and take account of the recommendations made in this report. 

 
4. The current 2009/10 – 2013/14 capital programme was approved by Council on 

26th February 2009. Since then a number of amendments have taken place as 
reported to the Executive in the 2008/09 Capital Programme Monitor 3 report, the 
2008/09 Capital Programme Outturn report and both the 2009/10 Capital 
Programme Monitor 1 and 2 reports. The changes made as result of the above 
reports have resulted in a current approved capital programme for 2009/10 – 
2013/14 of £213.230, financed by £87.029m of external funding, and Council 
controlled resources of £126.201m. Table 1 illustrates the current approved capital  
programme profile from 2009/10 – 2013/14 as at monitor 2. 

 

Agenda Item 12Page 143



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Table 1 – Capital Programme Funding and Receipts Position 

  
5. The make up of the current approved 2009/10 – 2013/14 capital programme can 

be grouped into 3 key elements. 
• Fully Funded (by Government Departments) - £126.884m 
• Political Imperatives - £60.696m 
• Rolling Programmes - £25.650m 

 
6. The fully funded schemes make up  the majority of the capital programme and 

include the: 
• Local Transport Plan (£19.923m),  
• Department for Children, Schools and Families schemes (DCSF) 

(£57.312m) 
• Housing Revenue Account Business Plan (£39.405m) 
• Housing General Fund (£5.0m) 
• Various smaller schemes (£5.244m) 

 
7. The political imperative schemes are made up of 5 major projects and account for 

£60.696m, the majority of which are funded from corporate resources.  These 
schemes, some of which have already started are summarised below highlighting 
the budgeted spend between 2009/10 and 2013/14: 

• York Pools – £5.2m  
• Admin Accom - £40.293m  
• Community Stadium - £4.0m 
• West of York Recycling Site - £2.5m 
• Acomb Office - £1.750m 

 
8. There are currently a number of rolling programme schemes totalling £25.650m 

over the current 5 year programme.  These include: 
• Highways Resurfacing and Reconstruction £17.033m 
• Disabled Facilities Grant £4.250m 
• Special Bridge Maintenance £0.985m 
• City Walls £0.446m 

 

  2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Total 
£m £m £m  £m £m 

Gross Capital 
Programme 

67.379 60.782 37.166 30.100 17.803 213.230 

Funded by:       

  External Funding 
 

32.737 27.373 8.888 8.428 9.603 87.029 

  Council  Controlled     
Resources  

34.642 33.409 28.278 21.672 8.200 126.201 

  Total Funding  67.379 60.782 37.166 30.100 17.803 213.230 

Page 144



 

Consultation 
 
9. The CRAM process invited bids from the departments asking them to put forward 

their main capital priorities as identified by their asset management plans which 
are aligned to the Councils Corporate Strategy. Whilst the capital programme as a 
whole is not consulted on, the individual scheme proposals and associated capital 
receipt sales do follow a consultation process with local Councillors and residents 
in the locality of the individual schemes. 

 
Analysis 
 

Funding Position of approved 2009/10 – 2013/14 programme 
 
10. The current economic environment continues to place pressure on the funding of 

the programme over the 5 year cycle based on current projections. The capital 
programme continues to place significant reliance on the achievement of a small 
number of high value asset disposals which have been affected by the economic 
downturn.   

 
11. As part of the CRAM process officers from Property Services have carried out an 

assessment of the Councils assets that are surplus to requirements. Following a 
number of years of rationalisation of Council assets, that allowed property and 
buildings to be freed up for reinvestment, officers have at this time been unable to 
identify any additional assets that are surplus to requirements. The current capital 
receipts target for the currently approved programme is in itself the most 
challenging ever faced by the Council, in terms of both volume and value of sales, 
with the Council remaining reliant on a small number of high value capital receipts.   

 
12. Officers have carried out a detailed review of all approved asset sales to ensure 

the projected sale value and timings are reasonable. This exercise has resulted in 
a number of revisions to the asset values giving a bottom line position of a 
£3.772m deficit over 5 years. This figure represents the required level of capital 
receipts to fund all the capital schemes that have associated receipts funding as 
agreed as part of the 2008/09 budget process and is shown in table 2. 

 
 

Required Capital Receipts £28.476m 

Projected Capital Receipts £24.704m 

 Projected Receipts Shortfall 
 (£3.772m) 

 
Table 2 – Capital Receipts Shortfall 

 
13. It should be noted that the 2009/10 budget process did not add any new schemes 

that required capital receipts funding so the existing capital receipts pressure is as 
a result of the 2008/09 budget setting process, which when set was balanced. 

Page 145



 

 
14. The main driver of the shortfall of sale values versus original projections is the 

current state of the economy and the general depressed property market making it 
an unfavourable time to be disposing of high value assets. One option to address 
this is to delay all property sales where it is expected that reasonable sale values 
cannot be achieved until such times that the economy picks up sufficiently to allow 
for asset disposals to achieve satisfactory values. 

 
15. If this principle is endorsed then expenditure funded from the disposal of assets 

can proceed as the impact of delayed and reduced value sales will not have an 
adverse impact over a medium term time period. The financial impact can be 
accommodated in the treasury management budget which has taken this 
requirement into account for 2010/11. 

 
16. In addition to the current shortfall in projected receipts values, the timings of the 

sales have been re-profiled to later years to reflect existing trend of property sales. 
As a result of this the 2010/11 Treasury Management revenue growth (as reflected 
in this group of budget reports through the revenue report) takes account of this 
and allows the Council the ability to temporarily borrow to cover the timing 
differences arising from the 2009/10 and 2010/11 projected receipts. 

 
17. The final financing position to note relates to the capital schemes that were 

approved as part of the 2009/10 – 2013/14 budget process. As part this process 
schemes requiring funding totalling £18.1m were approved. These schemes were 
to be funded based on a combination of revenue contributions and prudential 
borrowing with the programme being monitored annually to assess the affordability 
and the impact of timing differences. The 2009/10 element which was c£3m of the 
£18.1m was met using prudential borrowing using the revenue funding allocated to 
support capital expenditure as part of the 2009/10 budget process. In 2010/11 
there is a requirement for £1.6m of funding that has been addressed by a growth 
bid in the 2010/11 Treasury Management revenue budget (as part of the revenue 
budget report on this agenda) which provides budget to allow prudential borrowing 
of the £1.6m to be undertaken. 

 
18. The above measures address the requirements in 2009/10 and 2010/11 but still 

leave a requirement to fund the remaining c£14.979m. This could be achieved by 
continuing to increase the Treasury Management revenue budget in the respective 
budget cycles. The extent of the increase in growth on the revenue budget would 
be as illustrated in table 3. 

 
Financial 
Year 

Capital 
Expenditure 

Value 

Revenue 
Growth 
Required 
Assuming 
Prudential 
Borrowing 

Revenue 
Funding 

Awarded / Bid 
For 

Comments 

Page 146



 

2009/10 £3.050m £250k ü 
 

2010/11 £1.373m £147k ü 
Part of current 
10/11 budget 

process 

2011/12 £9.1m £800k û 
 

2012/13 £2.248m £200k û  

2013/14 £2.258m £201k û  

Total £18.029m   
 

  
Table 3 – Revenue growth implications of funding existing capital programme 

using prudential borrowing 
 

19. These assumptions will be incorporated into the Councils Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, but will clearly need to be considered/reviewed as part of each years 
budget setting process. In particular it may be that additional capital receipts are 
identified over coming years which would reduce the need for prudential borrowing, 
and also some capital schemes within the programme are still subject to detailed 
business cases being considered by the Executive, and as such some of the 
assumptions for future years will potentially change. 

 
The 2010/11 CRAM Process 
 

20. The CRAM process invited bids from the departments asking them to put forward 
their main capital priorities. A total of 59 bids were received (including individual 
housing scheme bids) and are summarised in Annex A. Of these bids, 40 are fully 
funded from external sources, 6 are rolling programme bids, with the remaining 13 
bids seeking additional discretionary resources over and above those already 
approved in the Capital Programme. In total, requests that would increase the 
capital programme by £89.065m have been made, requiring an additional 
£11.257m of Council funding. 

 
Summary of Bids 

 
21. The Access York Phase 1 scheme which commenced in 2008/09 has a total 

estimated scheme cost of £26.339m with a Council funding requirement of 
£3.249m. The scheme cost for 2010 - 2013 is £24.784m with a Council funding 
requirement of £2.057m. The scheme will allow the disposal of Askham Bar park 
and ride site which on the assumption of it being a back to back sale will contribute 

Page 147



 

to the funding of the project. Any cost of the new scheme over the amount that 
could be financed from the receipt will be met from LTP funding, s106 developer 
contributions, the value of the proposed new park and ride site and prudential 
borrowing (subject to approval). Removing the capital receipts requirement of this 
project on the assumption the receipt is attributable to fund this scheme (as without 
it the asset will not be available for disposal) the projected call on capital receipts 
will be £9.200m. 

 
22. The 2010/11 – 2014/15 CRAM process will use the ranking system of high, 

medium and low classifications to assign a level of priority to individual scheme 
bids. Two key assumptions form the basis of this ranking methodology, firstly the 
need for rolling programmes remains a high priority in the same way they were on 
their original inception into the programme and secondly that any schemes that are 
legislative requirements will be ranked as high. Using this methodology the Capital 
Asset Management Group (CAMG) have categorised the bids which have 
requested new or additional funds beyond the level which is currently approved. 
Table 4 shows the schemes which are currently requesting Council funding. Note 
all bids are being included at this stage for completeness. 

 
Rolling Programme Scheme 
requiring CYC funding 

10/11 
£000 

11/12 
£000 

12/13 
£000 

13/14 
£000 

14/15 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Rank 

Disability Support  150 150 High
Community Equipment Loans 
Service 105 105 High

Disabled Facilities Grant 475 475 High

City Walls Rolling Repair  12 12 90 114 High

Bridge Maintenance 200 200 High
Highways Resurfacing and 
Reconstruction 1,250 1,250 High

Sub Total 0 0 12 12 2,270 2,294
New Schemes requiring CYC 
funding 

10/11 
£000 

11/12 
£000 

12/13 
£000 

13/14 
£000 

14/15 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Rank 

Crematorium - Mercury Abatement 
- Install 3 No. Cremators 1,766 1,766 High

Access York Phase 1 922 1,041 94 2,057 High

Explore History @ York 245 255 500 High

Telecare Equipment 450    450 High
Oakland’s Sports Centre/ York 
High School Sports 60 60 High

Page 148



 

Contingency 300 300 High
Property Compliance (Asbestos 
and Fire regs) 80 80 80 240 High

Riverbank Repairs Urgent 717 717 High
Health & Safety Repairs & Access 
Improvements 500 500 Med
Replacement of unsound lighting 
columns 200 200 200 200 200 1,000 Med
Strensall and Towthorpe Sports 
Association 100    100 Med

Yearsley Pool Energy Review 220    220 Med

Riverbank Repairs 516 537 1,053 Med

Sub Total 5,315 2,082 1,166 200 200 8,963

Total 5,315 2,082 1,178 212 2,470 11,257

Removal of Access York Phase 1 (922)(1,041) (94) (2,057)

Total 4,393 1,041 1,084 212 2,470 9,200
 

Table 4 – Summary of Bids Requesting Capital Receipt Funding       
 
 

Detailed Bid Analysis of High Priority schemes 
 

23. Details of the bids in table above are set out in the following paragraphs. For each 
bid a summary is provided along with the consequences of not proceeding with the 
scheme.  

 
Rolling Programme Bids 

 
Disability Support Budget (£150k) - High 
 

24. To provide discretionary assistance for disabled customers who need financial 
help. The grants help disabled people and parents with disabled children to adapt 
their homes to continue living there and maintain their independence. The 
assistance helps with the shortfall between the cost of the eligible works and the 
mandatory disabled facilities grant to purchase a more suitable property where it is 
more cost effective. This budget has not seen any inflationary increase and given 
the relationship with the Mandatory DFG budget  there is a need to increase 
funding for this area to meet the demand. 

 

Page 149



 

25. The council has a statutory duty to administer disabled facilities grants without this 
additional support most of these schemes will not be carried out. If the budget is 
not funded there is a risk that the Council may not provide a statutory service, as 
well as a loss in reputation and the ability to deliver timely and quality services 
leading to increase in complaints. This could result in the most vulnerable residents 
being put at risk. It is part of the Council's obligations to deliver specific legal duties 
under the Disability Equality Duty Act 2006 by providing the right services to 
eliminate discrimination and enable disabled people to live independently. 

 
Community Loans Equipment Service (£105) - High 

 
26. Enables people with complex and disabling conditions to be safely cared for in 

their own homes avoiding unnecessary admissions to hospital or nursing care. 
Provides support to carers to enable then to continue to care for their 
partner/relative. The budget would contribute to the costs of specialist occupational 
therapy assessments (£15k) and funds the purchase and maintenance of major 
items of equipment to aid daily living (£90k). 

 
27. The risks of not proceeding are that the financial burden on vulnerable residents 

increases, the potential for residents to adapt their homes for disability needs 
diminishes and the potential increase cost to PCT/CYC of supporting residents in 
their own homes or through increased length of stay in hospital. 

 
Disabled Facilities Grant (£475k) - High 
 

28. This scheme allows payment of mandatory disabled facilities grants in line with 
statutory and Council policies (Housing Grants, Regeneration and Construction Act 
1996 as amended and Grants policy - June 2008). The DFG rolling programme 
enables disabled people to remain at home and maximise their independence. 

 
29. The non-funding of this scheme could prevent the Council fulfilling its legal duties. 

By not funding the scheme additional pressure will be placed on existing stretched 
resources and the ability to deliver timely and quality services will be a risk leading 
to an increase in complaints. Failure to provide this statutory service could leave 
the Council open to legal challenges and could result in reputational damage. 
There will be a detrimental impact on other services resulting in additional financial 
burden in areas such as nursing and residential care. The DFG service has been 
assessed on the Council risk register as having a gross score of 25 and a net 
score of 21, which means the failure of the service has a catastrophic impact, as 
vulnerable and disabled customers are put at risk by living in dangerous 
conditions. 

 
City Walls Rolling Repairs (£114k) - High 

 
30. This bid continues the rolling programme, established in 1991, of essential repair 

and restoration to the City Walls.  The bid will pay for works which will ensure the 
continued structural integrity and stability of the Walls and hence public access and 
enjoyment of this unique asset. In 2010-11 the programme will continue the 

Page 150



 

assessment and restoration of the section of wall adjacent to Monk Bar Garage, 
will continue the restoration of areas where the York stone flags and copings on 
the walkway have failed, and will carry out repairs to the roof and balustrade at 
Walmgate Bar. A continual funding requirement for the foreseeable future is 
anticipated. 

 
31. The most significant risk of not funding the continued maintenance of the City 

Walls is that sections of the wall, and potentially areas adjacent to the wall, would 
have to be closed to the public. The city walls are a scheduled ancient monument 
and significant tourist attraction which the Council has an obligation to keep in a 
good state of repair. 

 
Bridge Maintenance (£200k) - High 

 
32. Inspections are carried out on highway structures which result in a programme of 

bridge maintenance work. The regular cycle of general inspections provides a 
continuing programme of maintenance and there is a backlog of work identified 
from previous reports. Revenue funding has been made available over the past 
two years to carry out detailed principal inspections on the City's major bridges and 
this is beginning to identify further maintenance items and potential reprioritisation 
of schemes. Funding is required to carry out the work to maintain the structures in 
a serviceable and safe condition. 

 
33. The risks of not proceeding with this scheme are that ultimately without 

maintenance work being undertaken deterioration may reach such a stage that 
weight restrictions have to be introduced, more major works undertaken or in a  
worse case scenario full replacement. The introduction of a weight limit or 
demolition of a structure would have a detrimental affect on traffic movement, and 
subsequently have a detrimental effect on the economic environment of the city. 

 
Highways Resurfacing and Reconstruction (£1,250k) - High 

 
34. A programme for the resurfacing and reconstruction of the City's roads and 

footways has been established to halt deterioration of the assets and maintain 
them in the best condition possible with the anticipated level of funding available.  
The total annual rolling budget requirement for this funding restricted level of works 
is circa £4.0m per year at 2009/10 prices. Although the proposed allocations in this 
bid are insufficient to fund the long term maintenance of the highway infrastructure 
they are considered to be the minimum required based on what is affordable. The 
bid identifies an increasing revenue commitment of £250K per year to offset the 
reduction in availability of capital receipts.  This bid seeks to maintain the historic 
level of funding over the five year budget period. 

 
35. The Council has a statutory duty under the Highways Act 1980 to maintain the 

public highway fit for purpose. The risks of not proceeding with this scheme are 
that without a full programme of work the condition of the roads and footways will 
deteriorate. A deteriorating highway network would lead to a need to undertake 
more reactive maintenance, an increase in insurance claims, a lowering of 

Page 151



 

performance indicator scores, and have an affect on the economic environment of 
the city. 

 
New Schemes 
 
36. It is normal practice that schemes requiring capital funding are identified where 

possible well in advance of need giving a lead in time of more than one financial 
year. Many of the major bids requiring funding in 10/11 support this practice with 
schemes such as Access York Phase 1 and the Crematorium Mercury Abatement 
being discussed in previous CRAM processes. 

 
37. However as part of this report there are schemes that require funding in 10/11 that 

are of a more reactive nature thus not allowing for such a long lead in time. 
Programme managers are actively encouraged to submit bids with a long a lead in 
time as possible but this approach is only achievable where the nature of the 
scheme allows this approach. 

 
38. Details of the bids ranked as ‘high’ in the table above are set out in the following 

paragraphs with the schemes judged to be of the highest priority within this 
classification being discussed first. For each bid a summary is provided along with 
the consequences of not proceeding with the scheme. 

 
Crematorium Mercury Abatement  (£1,766k) - High 
 

39. York Crematorium at present have three cremators, two are currently operational 
dealing with over 2000 cremations per year. Emissions legislation will be 
significantly tightened, with the result that by December 2012. DEFRA require that 
at least 50% of all cremations are subject to abatement of increased proportions of 
emissions specifically Mercury (Hg). The equipment removes gaseous mercury 
from flue gases as well as a range of other pollutants. 

 
40. The risk of not proceeding with this scheme is that the authority could face being 

served with a direction to comply if abatement is not undertaken by the due date , 
this may also put at risk gross income generated by the crematorium which in 
2009/10 is budgeted to be £1.3m. There are further risks of delaying work, as there 
are believed to be only 4 engineering firms capable of undertaking the work, and to 
date very few authorities have undertaken the work to comply. This may cause 
market capacity problems in the run up to the compliance date and cause costs to 
inflate. 

 
Access York Phase 1 (£2,057k) - High 

 
41. The Access York Phase 1 scheme provides 3 new Park & Ride sites (Askham Bar, 

Poppleton Bar on the A59, Clifton Moor on Wigginton Road) and improves the 
A59/A1237 roundabout. The scheme was the subject of a successful bid to the 
Regional Transport Board in April 2008 with a complete Major Scheme Business 
Case submitted to the Department for Transport in February 2009 and refreshed in 
June 2009. The DfT are currently assessing the bid with determination expected 

Page 152



 

early in 2010. 100% of the development  costs before the approval of the business 
case by  the DfT and 50% of the preparatory costs after gaining acceptance by the 
DfT have to be funded locally. 10% of the entire scheme including construction is 
also expected to be funded locally. Planning consent has been granted for the 
Askham Bar site and planning applications for the Poppleton and Clifton Moor sites 
have now been  submitted. Procurement of the detailed designer is progressing so 
that detailed design can commence immediately following the receipt of funding 
approval. 

 
42. The principal risk of not proceeding with this scheme is that the step change in 

transport provision provided by the new Park & Ride sites and infrastructure 
improvements will not occur. Air quality and traffic congestion will continue to 
worsen on the northern Outer Ring Road and radial routes into the city centre. The 
existing A59/A1237 roundabout, which causes a significant proportion of the 
delays on the northwest section of the A1237, will not be upgraded reducing the 
economic attractiveness of the city. Without the improvements included in the 
Access York Phase 1 project there is a significant risk that the congestion target 
within the Local Area Agreement will not be achieved. There would also be 
considerable abortive development costs to fund if the scheme did not progress. 

 
Explore History @ York (£500k) - High 
 

43. This scheme implements the Executive's Vision for the City Archives Service by 
refurbishing the first floor former reference library and basement storage spaces in 
York Explore to allow the complete merger and relocation of the Archives Service 
with the Local Studies Library to create a single high-profile city centre access 
point to York's world-class archive and local history collections.  The proposal 
builds on the Phase 1 York Explore capital investment of 2009/10 which 
refurbished the ground floor spaces in York Central library to convert them into an 
Explore Centre.  Integration of the service into York Explore will allow the service 
to increase its user numbers from the current 3,500 to around 22,000 annually with 
no increase in staffing costs. The scheme demonstrates the city's commitment to 
stop the physical deterioration and loss of our world-class civic archive which is 
currently housed in premises which do not meet basic preservation standards.  
Action to preserve the archive is required to retain our National Archives Approved 
status, which enables the city to access external funding for the service. 

 
44. The Council’s Corporate Strategy commits the Council to “refurbish and relaunch 

the Central Library into an Explore Centre attracting 1 million visitors a year” by 
2012.  This scheme is an essential element of this target.  The current scheme 
refurbishes just the ground floor.  This scheme is needed so that the City Archives 
can be brought in achieving efficiency savings and providing an integrated service 
for customers. 

 
45. Without this scheme the Council cannot resolve the long-standing inadequacies of 

the current archives which jeopardise our National Archives Approved status.  
Ultimately the Council would have to move the collections to safe storage likely 
outside of the city.   

Page 153



 

 
Telecare Equipment (£450k) - High 
 

46. To provide necessary digital upgrades to sheltered housing schemes and telecare 
equipment in order that vital wardens services can be maintained following the BT 
digital upgrade scheduled for 2010. It is also necessary to continue to provide 
funding for the growing telecare service which provides vital pieces of equipment to 
vulnerable customers across the city. Demand for this service has increased 
dramatically in the last three months and that trend is set to continue as more and 
more people become aware of what is available and the difference it can make to a 
person's independence. 

 
47. The risk of not proceeding is that with the BT telephone infrastructure switching 

from analogue to digital in 2010 all existing dialling equipment such as Warden Call 
assistance is required to be digital compliant or it will not work. If this scheme does 
not go ahead the vital adult social care support of Warden Call will not be provided. 
As a result residents will not be able to ask for assistance with major health and 
potentially adverse consequences to most vulnerable customers. 

 
Oakland’s Sports Centre/ York High School Sports (£60k) - High 
 

48. The Sports Hall floor is heavily used and has started to break up in places, which 
require emergency repairs. Generally these type of grant wood floors deteriorate 
quickly when they reach the end of their life and the current condition of the floor is 
causing health and safety concerns now. York has a shortfall of sports hall space 
and therefore if the hall was closed due to the floor condition it would have a 
significant impact on the operation of York High School and on public and club use. 

 
49. Over the past two years emergency repairs have been carried out to enable the 

hall to remain open. Each one of these has resulted in a weakening of the floor and 
makes the next repair more expensive. To guarantee the hall can remain open and 
service the public safely it will need to replaced. 

 
Contingency (£300k) - High 

 
50. Consideration should be given to creating a corporate capital contingency budget. 

This would be in effect approved by Council but would then be managed by the 
Executive. It would allow for small ad hoc schemes to be dealt with by the 
Executive, and allow for any minor items of an urgent nature to be approved in 
year. 

 
Property Compliance - Asbestos and Fire Regulations (£240k) - High 
 

51. Revenue funding has been provided to undertake compliance surveys for both 
asbestos and fire regulation management. Capital funding is required to undertake 
the emergency and remedial works, emanating from the surveys, to ensure 
compliance with current regulations. An asbestos capital emergency pot was 
established 4 years ago, of £100k, and is now fully expended. This bid is a request 

Page 154



 

for a similar fund that would average out at £40k per year each for both asbestos 
and fire, over a three year period. (£80k for each totalling £240k over 3 years). 

 
52. The risk of not proceeding is that the Council fails to be compliant with regard to 

the asbestos and fire regulations potentially resulting in closure of certain high 
properties. 

 
River Bank Repairs Urgent (£717k) - High 

 
53. In 2002 the Council's Engineers undertook a survey of the riverbanks of the Ouse 

and Foss Basin, detailing  a programme of works over a 10 year period. From that 
survey three main areas were identified as requiring stabilising work in 5 years 
time one of which forms part of this high priority bid; east bank between 
Scarborough Bridge and Clifton Bridge, east bank between Lendal mooring and 
Marygate Landing and Foss Basin island. The specific area causing the most 
concern is Foss Basin island which requires significant structural work to be carried 
out.   

 
54. The Council would not be carrying out its legal duty as navigation authority which 

could result in legal action.  
 

Replacement of unsound lighting columns (£1,000k) - Medium 
 

55. As part of the new street lighting contract a structural testing regime for street 
lighting columns has been put in place.  About 1200 steel columns have been 
tested in 2008/9 and this is showing a failure rate of 10%.  Similarly the majority of 
concrete columns are rapidly coming to the end of their lives with about 100 
reaching a critical condition each year. The Council will have little option other than 
to carry out these replacements on safety grounds and base budgets cannot 
support this replacement programme. A fund of approximately £90k is allocated 
from the LTP settlement but this is insufficient to stem the deterioration and tackle 
the backlog of columns needing replacing. 

 
56. If the Council fails to act reasonably when provided with information about 

potentially dangerous lighting columns then it may be subject to legal action in the 
event of an accident. The alternative to replacement is to remove or cut the 
columns down. This would result in gaps in the lighting network making the night 
time scene less safe for the public with a potentially detrimental effect on crime 
figures. 

 
Strensall and Towthorpe Sports Association (£100k) - Medium 
 

57. To work alongside the local community to upgrade the Strensall and Towthorpe 
Sports Association building in Durlston Drive which incorporates changing rooms, 
small community rooms, tennis courts and a multi use games area (MUGA) which 
is currently unusable. 

 

Page 155



 

58. The Strensall and Towthorpe Sports Association is the governing body of the 
Durlston Drive Sports field with a responsibility for the MUGA, changing rooms and 
hard court tennis courts. The MUGA is currently unusable, the changing rooms are 
deemed not fit for purpose and the site requires investment to make it into a well 
used community facility. There is a possibility of the Association folding, leaving no 
one to take on the maintenance, security, health and safety. If the complex were 
left without investment the area may induce anti-social behaviour problems 
typically associated with vacant buildings. Without the investment the community of 
Strensall would have no local access to sporting facilities for young people and for 
anyone with transport difficulties accessing facilities in the City is prohibitive.  

 
59. It should be noted that the Executive Member  (Resources EMAP of 20th June 

2005) accepted the advice of the panel that the Executive recommended that a 
proportion of the capital receipt be made available to Strensall Parish Council as a 
capital grant towards the provision of youth services in Strensall.  

 
Yearsley Pool Energy Review (£220k) - Medium 
 

60. Yearsley pool currently operates using a combination of power sources made up of  
steam supplied by Nestle and electricity. The cost of steam has more than doubled 
in the last three years alongside an increase in usage. The cost of energy has 
risen to in excess of £100,000 per year creating a significant revenue budget 
pressure. In order to address this an energy survey has been commissioned and 
the report has just been received. The report looks at the long-term sustainability 
and considers greener ways to heat and power Yearsley. Each of the 
recommended options varies in cost and the level of savings it produces but would 
reduce the revenue pressure, lower CO2 levels produced and ensure the long term 
future of the building in case of any change in agreement or circumstance of the 
steam supplier. As the report has recently been received further discussions are 
needed to establish the additional costs on top of those identified in the report 
varying from adaptations to the existing building to new gas mains. The capital 
costs in the report vary from £128k to £360k with the average cost being around 
£250k and savings ranging from between £9k and £45k.  

 
61. The risk of not proceeding is that the cost of steam has doubled in the past two 

years and there is a realistic possibility the suppliers could continue to increase the 
price. If prices increased and no action was taken the revenue budget pressure 
would also grow. 
 
River Bank Repairs (£1,053k) - Medium 

 
62. In 2002 the Council's Engineers undertook a survey of the riverbanks of the Ouse 

and Foss Basin, detailing  a programme of works over a 10 year period.  From that 
survey three main areas were identified as requiring stabilising work in 5 years 
time two of which form part of this medium ranked bid; east bank between 
Scarborough Bridge and Clifton Bridge, east bank between Lendal mooring and 
Marygate Landing and Foss Basin island. These works are required now.  
Scarborough to Clifton Bridges section has suffered collapse in places with large 

Page 156



 

holes appearing which have been fenced off. This stretch is additional to the urgent 
works currently being undertaken by the Engineers in this area.  The Council have 
been fortunate that no known injuries have been sustained by the public, especially 
as the cycle track runs close by. Lendal mooring to Marygate is a continuation of 
the piling work undertaken earlier at Lendal mooring which financial constraints 
prevented completing. This stretch is severely undermined by erosion and work is 
required urgently to avoid collapse and damage to visitor moorings.   

 
63. The Council would not be carrying out its legal duty as the navigation authority 

which could result in legal action. Also if the riverbanks where allowed to collapse 
there would be no cycle/foot path, no visitor moorings and it would have to be 
fenced off to prevent access. 

 
Health & Safety Repairs & Access Improvements (£500k) - Medium 

 
64. Current 3 year capital programme of £0.6M (£0.1M for 2010/11) for urgent repair 

works is inadequate for level of urgent and essential works required as shown by 
the 2008/9 performance indicator which is in excess of £19M (£3M excluding 
schools). These repairs are needed to carry out Health and safety work only to 
Council buildings to safeguard delivery of services. The bid is for work on land and 
buildings which have been identified for retention only through the Service and 
Area Asset Management Planning. This bid is for one year only to supplement the 
amount already allocated as there is need for additional capital for the proposed 
works.  It is the intention to submit an annual capital bid from now on to cover new 
urgent repairs identified during each year. 

 
65. If funds are not available then the existing revenue and capital budgets are 

insufficient to meet the needs identified above with the result that a Health & Safety 
failure is likely to occur which would result in the closure of a building and the 
inability to provide the service to customers without a potentially expensive 
alternative being found. 

 
Proposals to Fund the new 2010/11 – 2014/15 schemes 
 
66. The requests for funding the extension of the existing rolling programme schemes 

into 2014/15 plus the two minor amendments in 12/13 and 13/14 totalling £2,294k 
is recommended. This would require revenue budget growth of £195k in the 
2014/15 budget process. Clearly as with all the schemes in the programme funding 
will need to be reviewed over this period to ensure the programme remains 
deliverable subject to funding. 

 
67. The requests for funding the Access York Phase 1 project (£2.057m Council 

requirement) that will generate a capital receipt from the disposal of the existing 
Askham Bar Park and Ride site is recommended. It is recommended that the sale 
proceeds generated should be attributable and therefore reinvested in this 
scheme. 

 

Page 157



 

68. The requests for funding the cremators at the Crematorium (£1.766m requirement) 
was included as part of this report to show the full potential capital pressures faced 
the by the Council. A separate report to this is being presented to the Executive in 
December which will consider funding options and business models and as a result 
of this it shall not be included in the funding proposals set out below. 

 
69. In addition to the schemes ranked as high by officers as part of the CRAM process, 

the Executive has requested an additional amount of £1m for Highways 
Maintenance and Flooding Alleviation. This additional investment is as result of the 
feedback received from the budget consultation process. The consultation process 
identified in the category of  ‘Top priorities for spending’ maintaining highway and 
footpath maintenance at current levels, allowing for inflation as a high priority and 
received support at a level of  97%. It should be noted that this is in addition to 
already high levels of discretionary funding currently approved at a level of 
£4.685m for Highways Re-surfacing and Reconstruction profiled for 10/11.  

 
70. The requests for funding for the remaining bids that have been categorised as high 

(£2.267m requirement) are recommended along with the additional £1m as set out 
above (totalling £3.267m). The total of the Council funded recommended schemes 
are set out in tale 5: 

 
Rolling Programme Scheme 
requiring CYC funding 

10/11 
£000 

11/12 
£000 

12/13 
£000 

13/14 
£000 

14/15 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Rank 

Disability Support  150 150 High
Community Equipment Loans 
Service 105 105 High

Disabled Facilities Grant 475 475 High

City Walls Rolling Repair  12 12 90 114 High

Bridge Maintenance 200 200 High
Highways Resurfacing and 
Reconstruction 1,250 1,250 High

Sub Total 0 0 12 12 2,270 2,294
New Schemes requiring CYC 
funding 

10/11 
£000 

11/12 
£000 

12/13 
£000 

13/14 
£000 

14/15 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Rank 

Telecare Equipment 450    450 High
Oakland’s Sports Centre/ York 
High School Sports 60 60 High

Contingency 300 300 High

Riverbank Repairs Urgent 717 717 High

Page 158



 

Highways Maintenance and 
Flooding Alleviation 1,000 1,000

Public 
Consu
ltation

Property Compliance (Asbestos 
and Fire regs) 80 80 80 240 High

Access York Phase 1 922 1,041 94 2,057 High

Explore History @ York 245 255 500 High

Sub Total 3,529 1,366 429 0 0 5,324

Total 3,529 1,366 441 12 2,270 7,618
 

Table 5 – Recommended new schemes 
 

71. The total value of the Council funded recommended bids as shown above and the 
revenue implications of funding them through borrowing where applicable are 
shown in table 6: 

  
Scheme Type / 
Description 

Financial 
Year 

Capital 
Expenditure 

Value 

Revenue Growth 
Required 
Assuming 
Prudential 
Borrowing 

New Schemes 
(Telecare/ Oaklands/ 
Contingency/  Prop 
Compliance/ River 
Banks/ Highways 
Maint & Flooding) 

2010/11 £2.607m £224k 

New Schemes  
(Prop Compliance / 
Explore History) 

2011/12 £325k £28k 

New Schemes  
(Prop Compliance / 
Explore History) 

2012/13 £335k 

£30k 
Rolling Programme 

(City walls) 2012/13 £12k 

Rolling Programme 
(City walls) 2013/14 £12k £1k 

Rolling Programme 
(Disab Supp/ CELS/ 
DFG/ City walls/ 

Bridges/ Highways 

2014/15 £2.270m £195k 

Page 159



 

R&R) 

 Total £5.561m  

New Scheme (Access 
York Phase 1) 

2010/11 – 
2012/13 £2.057m 

N/A – capital 
receipt allocated to 

fund growth 

 Total £7.618m  

 
Table 6 – Financial implications of funding 10/11 – 14/15 recommended schemes 

 
72. As highlighted in the report it is reasonable to expect that some additional capital 

receipt funding be identified in the 5 year period of the capital plan. Such receipts   
would reduce the need for prudential borrowing. However the prudent approach is 
to assume all of these schemes will require revenue funding to support prudential 
borrowing in order to finance the funding requirement. 

 
73. Based upon current projections, revenue contributions to capital will need to 

increase on an annual basis over the next 5 years to ensure the Capital 
Programme is sustainable. Table 7 sets out the required revenue growth that is 
needed to ensure the capital programme is affordable and prudent. The table 
combines the growth from the 09/10 – 13/14 budget process along with the new 
growth requirement from this years 10/11 – 14/15 budget process to show the full 
revenue impact of proceeding with the programme. 

 
 
Financial 
Year 

09/10 – 
13/14 
Budget 
Process 

10/11 – 
14/15 
Budget 
Process 

TOTAL 
10/11 –
14/15 

Revenue 
Growth 
Required 
Assuming 
Prudential 
Borrowing 

Revenue 
Funding 
Awarded 
/ Bid For 

Comments 

2009/10 £3.050m N/A 
 

£3.050m £250k ü 
 

2010/11 £1.373m £2.607m 

 
 

£3.980m £342k ü 

Part of 
current 

10/11 budget 
process 

2011/12 £9.100m £0.325m 
 

£9.425m £809k 
 
û 

 

Page 160



 

2012/13 £2.248m £0.347m 
 

£2.595m 
 

£223k 
 
û 

 

2013/14 £2.258m £0.012m 
 

£2.270m £195k 
 
û 

 

2014/15 N/A £2.270m 
 

£2.270m £195k 
 
û 

 

 
£18.029m £5.561m 

 
£23.590m  

  

 
Table 7 – Revenue implications of funding recommended schemes 

 
74. Clearly the overall position will need to be reviewed on an annual basis and the 

capital receipts will need to continue to be tightly monitored to update the latest 
position regarding capital receipts. The proposal to use the revenue contributions 
to fund the new schemes is made on the assumption that over the medium term 
the current level of required receipts is achieved. Clearly if the projected level of 
receipts is not achieved action will be required to overcome the resulting funding 
shortfall. This action could take the form of either increasing revenue contributions 
to meet any capital receipts shortfall or reducing the capital programme schemes 
funded by capital receipts. The ability to contribute revenue funds over and above 
the level currently being proposed as part of this report would have a significant 
impact on revenue budgets and would potentially place pressure on other Council 
service areas. 

 
75. It is proposed that in addition to revenue contributions being used to fund the 

capital programme consideration is given to utilising any in year revenue under 
spends to support the capital programme in future years thus enabling the overall 
capital funding deficit to be reduced. This position will be monitored, on an ongoing 
basis, with a view to ensuring the overall 5 year position is broadly in balance. 

 
76. Any short term shortfall in funding will be met from prudential borrowing. The 

revenue implications of any in year shortfall due to timing differences will be borne 
by the treasury management budget. 

 
77. The additional schemes being proposed to be added to the capital programme that 

are funded from external sources are £72.860m. The funding types are a mixture 
of supported borrowing, grants and external contributions. Table 8 sets out the 
additional funding that has been added to the capital programme for 10/11 – 14/15. 

 

Additional external 
scheme funding 

2010/11 
External 
Growth 
£000 

2011/12 
External 
Growth 
£000 

2012/13 
External 
Growth 
£000 

2013/14 
External 
Growth 
£000 

2014/15 
External 
Growth 
£000 

Total 
External 
Growth 
£000 

Page 161



 

Housing Grants & 
Associated 
Investment (Gfund)         1,100 1,100 

MRA Schemes -524 -1,169 -1,213 -661 5,791 2,224 

Disabled Facilities 
Grant (Gfund)         375 375 
Local Authority 
Homes (part match 
funding) 625         625 

NDS Devolved 
Capital   1,503 1,503 1,503 1,503 6,012 

Harnessing 
Technology   317 317 317 317 1,268 

Targeted Capital 
Fund 14-19 Diploma   3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 14,400 

Primary School 
Strategic Programme   3,227 3,227 3,227 3,227 12,908 

NDS Modernisation   1,136 1,136 1,136 1,136 4,544 

Sure Start   635 635 635 635 2,540 

Extended Schools   82 82 82 82 328 

Youth Capital Fund   42 42 42 42 168 

Schools Access 
Initiative   173 173 173 173 692 
Explore History @ 
York (part match 
funding)   245 255     500 

Access York (part 
match funding) 6,525 15,080 1,122     22,727 

Page 162



 

Highway Resurfacing 
& Reconstruction 
(part match funding)   80 165 253 1,951 2,449 

 TOTAL 6,626 24,951 11,044 10,307 19,932 72,860 
 

Table 8 – Additional Externally Funded Schemes  
 
IT Development Plan 
 
78. Each year the IT development plan makes a decision as to finance the expenditure 

using leasing or prudential borrowing. The existing IT revenue budget contains 
funds that allow a certain level of either borrowing or leasing to take place. This 
budget is sufficient as it currently stands to allow the level of borrowing set out here 
to be funded without any requirement for revenue growth. Due to the nature of the 
equipment being purchased and the access to low borrowing rates all equipment is 
now financed using prudential borrowing which as stated is supported by existing 
IT revenue budgets and now included as part of this report as it constitutes capital 
expenditure (note operating leases do not constitute capital expenditure and 
therefore not formed part of this budget process). 

 
79. The main elements of expenditure that make up the £1.141m in 10/11 are the 

replacement of the Delphi payroll system, upgrade to Office 97, update to Citrix, 
and the corporate EDMS extension. The schemes that form the 10/11 budget are 
schemes that have been previously agreed and which, under the previous model 
of funding would have been funded over two years (only part year funding been set 
aside in the first year due to mid year implementation and spend patterns). The 
remaining funding requirement is set out here and appear as part of this report as 
part of the presentation of capital expenditure.  As a result of this a scheme for the 
IT development plan with associated expenditure and funding has been added as 
part of this budget process for the period 2010/11 – 2014/15. It should be noted 
that the £1m per year expenditure is an indicative spend profile based on projected 
levels of activity. This projected investment in ICT will be considered in greater 
detail in future reports to the Executive. Consideration will be given as part of these 
future reports to join up the investment in ICT and the More for York programme to 
ensure that transformational ICT development delivers efficiencies that help to self 
fund new expenditure. It should however be noted that there will always be a need 
for medium term provision for Corporate ICT to ensure the systems are maintained 
fit for purpose. As with the 10/11 £1.141m of expenditure, the 11/12 onwards 
expenditure of £1m per annum is affordable under existing revenue budget levels 
and will therefore not require revenue growth to support the costs of borrowing. 
This is because the majority of ICT expenditure funded by prudential borrowing (or 
leasing) is done so on a 5 year repayment cycle. This means that after 5 years the 
capital is repaid but the revenue budget remains and would available for 
reinvestment to support new expenditure should Members decide to do so. The 
profiled expenditure is shown in table 9 including specific schemes for 10/11:  

 

Page 163



 

 
  2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Total 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Pre Approved Schemes 1,141      
Future estimate subject to 
Exec approval 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 4,000 

IT Development Plan 1,141 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 5,141 

 Total 1,141 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 5,141 
 

Table 9 – IT Development Plan  
More for York 
 
80. In addition to the above it is recommended that Members approve a level of 

prudential borrowing in relation to the More for York programme totalling £210k for 
the 10/11 financial year. The requirement for investment is set out in detail in 
Annex 4 of the Revenue Budget report on this agenda, comprised in the main of 
the requirement to purchase segregated recycling containers to allow for 
efficiencies to be made to recycling rounds. The funding of this scheme will come 
from the More for York programme as set out in the Revenue Budget report. 

 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
81. The HRA element of the proposed housing capital programme is requesting a 

revenue contribution totalling £3.236m from HRA balances over a period of 5 years 
as set out in table 10. Members do as with all the above bids have the option of 
funding from available resources or reducing the proposed schemes but is officers 
recommendation that the programme is financed from HRA contributions. 

 
82. This revenue contribution will be used to fund the following schemes as set out in 

table 10: 
 
  2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Total 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Repairs to Local Authority 
Properties/ Modernisation 
of Local Authority 
Properties/ 
New build of Local 
Authority Homes 736 389 434 696 981 3,236 

 Total 736 389 434 696 981 3,236 
 

Table 10 – HRA revenue requirement 

Page 164



 

 
Summary of Analysis 
 
83. The outcome of the proposals outlined above if accepted are illustrated in Table 11 

which sets out the proposed capital budget for each directorate over the next 5 
years and in detail in Annex B. 

 
  2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Total 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Chief Executives 1,151 1,330 80 0 0 2,561 

Children's Services 22,849 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 65,709 

City Strategy  15,544 19,738 4,833 3,617 90 43,822 
City Strategy (Admin 
Accommodation) 12,494 12,304 13,388 0 0 38,186 
City Strategy 
(Community Stadium)   4,000       4,000 

Housing 9,958 9,425 9,028 10,923 8,722 48,056 

Leisure & Heritage 3,250 490 510 0 0 4,250 

Neighbourhood Services 5,326 5,635 3,220 3,308 3,401 20,890 

Resources 1,651 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 5,651 

Social Services 801 235 245 255 255 1,791 

Total by Department 73,024 64,872 43,019 29,818 24,183 234,916 
 

Table 11– Proposed Capital Programme 2010/11 – 2014/15 
 

Corporate Priorities 
 
84. The CRAM process ensures that all bids received for capital funding address the 

aspirations of the Corporate Strategy with each proposal addressing at least one 
corporate priority. The capital schemes put forward for consideration are derived 
from the service and area asset management plans which look at the capital needs 
and requirements of the service. All schemes that have progressed through for 
further consideration in this report have demonstrated through the CRAM process 
that they directly contribute toward the achievement of the Corporate Strategy.  

 

Page 165



 

85. As a result of this budget round the capital investment over the next 5 years up to 
2014/15 will increase by £89.065m taking the new 5 year capital programme to 
£234.916m.         

 
86. The following paragraphs set out the value of investment by the Councils current 

corporate priorities. It should be noted that many schemes contribute to more than 
one corporate priority but for the purpose of this section the priority they contribute 
to most has been chosen. The proposals contained in the capital programme make 
a major contribution to the Councils priorities and contribute to the Sustainable 
Community Strategy. These schemes represent major investment, which alongside 
the proposals within the revenue budget will tackle a range of priorities, and deliver 
major outcomes for the City. The impact in terms of the wider economy, 
infrastructure, and future prosperity of the City is significant. 

  
87. £3.699m of schemes will contribute towards making York a Thriving City. These 

schemes include Highways R&R. 
 
88. £25.784m of schemes are focused on making York a Sustainable City, including, 

Access York, and Highways improvements. 
 
89. £42.860m of schemes will increase people's skills and knowledge to improve 

future employment prospects, including the Primary School Strategic Programme 
and the Targeted Capital Fund 14 – 19 Diploma. 

 
90. £1.891m of schemes will  contribute to making York a City of Culture, including the 

Explore History@York programme and the Oaklands Sports Centre Scheme. 
 
91. £8.740m of schemes will improve the quality and availability of decent, affordable 

homes in the city, and make York a more Inclusive City, in particular among groups 
whose levels of health are the poorest. These schemes include MRA schemes, 
Modernisation of Local Authority Homes, Disabled Facilities Grant Schemes, and 
Telecare Equipment. 

 
92. £5.681m of schemes will allow the Organisation to be more Effective, including IT 

Development.  
 
93. In addition to contributing toward the achievement of the Corporate Priorities much 

of the discretionary capital investment is reflective of the feedback received from 
the budget consultation process. The consultation process identified in the 
category of  ‘Top priorities for spending’ maintaining highway and footpath 
maintenance at current levels, allowing for inflation as a high priority and received  
support at a level of  97% and as a result Highways Maintenance and Flooding 
Alleviation scheme received £1m of discretionary funding in addition to the existing 
approved £4.685m for Highways Re-surfacing and Reconstruction profiled for 
10/11. 

 
94. In addition, the capital programme has considerable impact on the local economy. 

This is of particular significance given the current economic downturn. Whilst the 

Page 166



 

risks in respect of the economic downturn in terms of capital receipts have been 
outlined in this report, by continuing to invest in a major capital programme the 
Council will be making a significant contribution to the local economy. This 
programme ensures significant expenditure in schemes such as highways and 
bridge maintenance, schemes which have implications in terms of supplies and 
employment. Further investment over the current approved level of £146.061m will 
see the Councils commitment to capital schemes increase by £89.065m to a level 
of £234.916. As stated in the report the capital programme proposed is not without 
risk but the negative impact on York in this time of economic downturn of 
significantly contracting the capital programme would be significant. 

 
Implications 
 

Financial Implications 
95. The financial implications are considered in the main body of the report. 
 

Human Resources Implications 
96. There are no HR implications as a result of this report. 
 

Equalities Implications 
97. A number of schemes have specific implications for Equalities. These include the 

Disability Support budget, and Disabled facilities grants, assistance to elderly, 
housing grants, and housing repairs. The detailed equalities implications of the 
individual schemes  will be further assessed  by individual directorates once the 
capital programme has been approved and the schemes are further developed.  
Any implications will be identified in the individual schemes project plans.  
 
Legal Implications 

98. The Council is legally required to set a balanced 3 year capital programme. 
 

Crime and Disorder 
99. There are no crime and disorder implications as a result of this report. 
 

Information Technology 
100. There are no information technology implications as a result of this report. 
 

Property 
101. The property implications of this paper are included in the main body of the report 

which covers the funding of the capital programme from the disposal of Council 
assets. 

 
Risk Management 

102. The risks associated with both the existing and proposed capital programme has 
been discussed extensively throughout this report. 

 
103. This report highlights the challenge presented by the proposed capital programme, 

which includes a significant level of Council driven schemes. Despite the proposed 

Page 167



 

schemes being funded from revenue contributions the existing approved capital 
programme still places significant reliance on a small number of high value capital 
receipts. In addition the recent increase in the size of the programme has meant 
the Council has to ensure that the key skills are in place to allow the programme to 
be successfully delivered. 

 
104. To mitigate the risks the capital programme is regularly monitored as part of the 

corporate monitoring process. In addition to this the Capital Asset Management 
Group (CAMG – capital programme managers along with the Capital Finance 
team) meets regularly to plan, monitor and review major capital schemes to ensure 
that all capital risks to the Council are monitored and where possible minimised. 
The development of the revised CRAM process and capital strategy has put in 
place gate keeping controls to ensure that only projects that can be delivered are 
put forward for approval by the Council. 

 
105. The use of revenue contributions are required for a balanced programme to be set 

and the risk associated with this means of funding is the additional pressure placed 
on the existing revenue budgets. This issue has been covered in detail in the main 
body of the report. 

 
Recommendations 

106. The Executive is requested to recommend that Council: 
 

• Agree to the revised capital programme of £234.916, including specifically the 
inclusion in the capital programme of new schemes totalling £89.065m (as set 
out in Annex B ‘growth’ column) comprised of: 
1. the bids recommended in paragraph 70 (table 5) totalling £7.618m 

including the allocating of receipts to Access York Phase 1; 
2. the additional external funded schemes in paragraph 77 (table 8)  

totalling £72.860m; 
3. the use of prudential borrowing for the IT development plan in paragraph 

79 (table 9) totalling £5.141m containing specific schemes of £1.141 with 
the remaining £4m subject to further approval and for the capital element 
of the More for York programme as in paragraph 80 totalling £210k ; 

4. the use of HRA balances to fund HRA capital schemes as set out in 
paragraph 81 (table 10) totalling £3.236m. 

 
• Note the overall funding position identified in the report, which highlights a 

current shortfall in resources over the next five years, which the Council will 
need to address through increased revenue contributions in the medium term; 

 
• Endorse the principle of postponing asset sales until such when the market 

picks up sufficiently to allow optimum values to be realised; 
 

• Approve the full restated programme as summarised in Annex B totalling 
£234.916m up to 2014/15. 

 

Page 168



 

107. Reason: To set a balanced capital programme as required by the Local 
Government Act 2003. 

 
 

 
Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

Ross Brown 
Principal Accountant 
Corporate Finance 
Ex 1207 
 
Louise Branford –White 
Finance Manager  
Corporate Finance 
Ex 1187 
 

Ian Floyd Director of Resources 
 

Report Approved X Date January 2010 

Keith Best AD Resources Corporate Finance 

Report Approved X Date January 2010 
 

Specialist Implications Officer(s): 

 

Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all All X 

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 

 
Background papers: 
CRAM bids departmental 
Budget Control 09/10 – 13/14 & 10/11 – 14/15 
 
Annexes: 
Annex A – Summary of CRAM Bids (by type) 
Annex B – Revised Capital Programme 2010/11 – 2014/15 

Page 169



Page 170

This page is intentionally left blank



CRAM 10/11 SUMMARY SHEET ANNEX A

Bid 
Year

Scheme 
Year Directorate Name of Scheme

Scheme 
Category Total Cost £000 10/11

Growth in 
10/11 11/12

Growth in 
11/12 12/13

Growth in 
12/13 13/14

Growth in 
13/14 14/15 Total Growth £000

Non CYC Funding 
£000

Growth in Non CYC 
Funding £000

Call on CYC funding 
£000

Growth In Call On 
CYC funding £000

10/11 Rolling NS Highways R&R (Within normal budget limits) 2                        15,949        3,685              -          2,935             80        3,020           165        3,108           253        3,201                          3,699                          9,699                          2,449                          6,250                          1,250 

                               -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  -   

10/11 Rolling NS Bridge Maintenance 2                          1,000           200           200           200           200           200                             200                                -                                  -                            1,000                             200 

                               -                                  -                                  -   

10/11 Rolling HASS Community Equipment Loans Service 2                             525           105              -             105              -             105              -             105             -             105                             105                                -                                  -                               525                             105 

                               -                                  -                                  -   

10/11 Rolling HASS Disability Support Budget 2                             690           120           130           140           150           150                             150                                -                                  -                               690                             150 

                               -                                  -                                  -   

10/11 Rolling HASS Disabled Facilities Grant 2                          4,250           850           850           850           850           850                             850                          1,875                             375                          2,375                             475 

                               -                                  -                                  -   

10/11 Rolling City Strat City Walls Repair Rolling Programme 2                             450             90             90             90             12             90             12             90                             114                                -                                  -                               450                             114 

                               -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  -   

                       22,864        5,050              -          4,310             80        4,405           177        4,503           265        4,596                          5,118                        11,574                          2,824                        11,290                          2,294 
                               -   

A programme for the resurfacing and reconstruction of the City's roads and footways has been established to halt deterioration of the assets and 
maintain them in the best condition possible with the anticipated level of capital available.  The total annual rolling budget requirement for this 
optimum minimum regime is circa £4.00m per year at 2009/10 prices.  In 2009/10 a total budget of £3.374m was allocated, made up from 
£0.241m CYC Revenue, £1.215m CYC Capital and £1.918m from the DfT Local Transport Plan settlement.  Although the proposed allocations in 
this bid are insufficient to fund the long term maintenance of the highway infrastructure they are considered to be the minimum required based on 
what is affordable.  The bid identifies an increasing revenue commitment of £250K per year to offset the reduction in availability of capital receipts.  
This bid seeks to maintain the historic level of funding over the five year budget period.

Inspections are carried out on highway structures which result in a programme of bridge maintenance work. The regular cycle of general 
inspections provides a continuing programme of maintenance and there is a backlog of work identified from previous reports. Revenue funding 
has been made available over the past two years to carry out detailed principal inspections on the City's major bridges and this is beginning to 
identify further maintenance items and potential reprioritisation of schemes. Funding is required to carry out the work to maintain the structures in 
a serviceable and safe condition.

Enables people with complex and disabling conditions to be safely cared for in their own homes avoiding unnecessary admissions to Hospital or 
Nursing care.Provides support to Carers to enable then to continue to care for their partner/relative. Contributes to the costs of specialist 
Occupational Therapy assessments (£15k) and funds the purchase and maintenance of major items of equipment to aid daily living (£90k).

To provide discretionary assistance for disabled customers who need financial help. The grants help disabled people and parents with disabled 
children to adapt their homes to continue living there and maintain their independence. The assistance helps with the shortfall between the cost of 
the eligible works and the mandatory disabled facilities grant to purchase a more suitable property where it is more cost effective and relocation 
expenses. This budget has not seen any inflationary increase and given the relationship with the Mandatory DFG budget  there is a need to 
increase funding for this area  to meet the demand.

This bid continues the rolling programme, established in 1991, of essential repair and restoration to the City Walls.  The bid will pay for works 
which will ensure the continued structural integrity and stability of the Walls and hence public access and enjoyment of this unique asset.   In 2010-
11 the programme will continue the assessment and restoration of the section of wall adjacent to Monk Bar Garage, will continue the restoration of 
areas where the York stone flags and copings on the walkway have failed, and will carry out repairs to the roof and balustrade at Walmgate Bar. A 
continual funding requirement for the foreseeable future is anticipated. 

To allow payment of mandatory disabled facilities grants in line with statutory and council policies   (  Housing Grants, Regeneration and  
Construction Act 1996 as amended  and Grants policy last reviewed in June 2008). The DFG rolling  programme enables disabled people to 
remain at home and maximise their independence.

Sub Total Category 2                                                                                       (pre-approved schemes in 
the capital programme but have not yet been started and could therefore be reprioritised)

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS York Pride Communal Access Flooring   (HRA Funded) 3                             248             64             47             46             45             46                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS Improved Internal Communal Security Lighting   (HRA Funded) 3                             457           118             86             85             83             85                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS York Pride Communal Entrance Security   (HRA Funded) 3                             245             62             45             45             46             47                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 - 
11/12 HASS York Pride Re-Rendering   (HRA Funded) 3                             281           274               7                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS York Pride External Environmental Improvements   (HRA Funded) 3                             339             90             63             52             66             68                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS York Pride Security Upgrades   (HRA Funded) 3                               92             21             19             17             17             17                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS Heating Only   (HRA Funded) 3                          7,420        1,400        1,442        1,484        1,526        1,568                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS Insulation/ Ventilation   (HRA Funded) 3                               91             17             18             18             19             19                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 HASS Water Tanks   (HRA Funded) 3                               40             40                                -                                  -                                  -   
                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS Structural Works   (HRA Funded) 3                             381             72             74             76             78             81                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS Electrical Upgrades   (HRA Funded) 3                             398             75             77             80             82             84                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

Struct Works scheme to Approximately 55 Council Dwellings

Improvements to security of approximately 246 dwellings

York Pride Communal Acces Flooring Improvemnts to approximately 1140 dwellings

Improvements to communal entrance security  of approximately 1160 dwellings

York Pride Re-Rendering Improvements to approximately 64 dwellings

Installation of Heating Systems to Approximately 2000 Council Dwellings

Insulation/ Ventilation Improvements to approximately 390

Improvements to the internal security lighting of approximately 1140 dwellings

Water Tank improvements to approximately 110 dwellings

Tenants choice Electrical upgrades only scheme on approximately 500 properties

York Pride External Environmental Improvementsto approximately 2573 dwellings

1

P
age 171



CRAM 10/11 SUMMARY SHEET ANNEX A

Bid 
Year

Scheme 
Year Directorate Name of Scheme

Scheme 
Category Total Cost £000 10/11

Growth in 
10/11 11/12

Growth in 
11/12 12/13

Growth in 
12/13 13/14

Growth in 
13/14 14/15 Total Growth £000

Non CYC Funding 
£000

Growth in Non CYC 
Funding £000

Call on CYC funding 
£000

Growth In Call On 
CYC funding £000

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS Misc Kitchens   (HRA Funded) 3                             164             31             32             33             34             35                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS TC Capital Salaries   (HRA Funded) 3                          1,728           326           336           346           355           365                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS Genuine TC Backfill   (HRA Funded) 3                          1,908           360           371           382           392           403                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 HASS TC Rowntree Avenue 10/11   (HRA Funded) 3                             738           738                                -                                  -                                  -   
                               -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 HASS TC Acomb   (HRA Funded) 3                             605           605                                -                                  -                                  -   
                               -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 HASS TC City 10/11   (HRA Funded) 3                             279           279                                -                                  -                                  -   
                               -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 HASS TC Lowfield 10/11   (HRA Funded) 3                          1,417        1,417                                -                                  -                                  -   
                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS Roofing- Covering and Chimneys   (HRA Funded) 3                          2,364           340           425           474           742           383                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS Hydraulic Passenger Lifts   (HRA Funded) 3                             261           145             67             16             16             17                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 HASS Fire Protection Upgrades   (HRA Funded) 3                               70             70                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 HASS Banister Project   (HRA Funded) 3                               65             65                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11
11/12 - 
14/15 HASS Water Mains (Tang Hall)   (HRA Funded) 3                          4,235              -          1,333        1,413        1,453             36                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 11/12 HASS TC Heworth 11/12   (HRA Funded) 3                          1,256        1,256                                -                                  -                                  -   
                               -                                  -   

10/11
11/12 - 
12/13 HASS Fire Prevention works   (HRA Funded) 3                             316           155           161                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

The installation of approximately 65 hydraulic passenger and /or stair lifts

Fire protection upgrade project to communal areas

Roofing Improvements to both covering and chimneys to approximately 799 dwellings

Tenants Choice Lowfield 10/11 Improvement Scheme on 119 properties

Misc Kitchen Installation to Approximately 25 Council Dwellings

Funding of Tenants Choice Capital Salaries over a 5 Year Period

Genuine TC Backfill Properties that are expected to undergo TC

Tenants Choice Rowntree Avenue 10/11 Improvement Scheme on 59 Properties

Tenants Choice Acomb 10/11 Improvement Scheme on 48 Properties

Tenants Choice City 10/11 Improvement Scheme on 26 Properties

Installation of new water mains to the Tang Hall area and the surrounding areas

Tenants Choice Heworth 11/12 Improvement Scheme on 89 Properties

Upgrade of fire protection works to communal blocks as required

Communal area staircase banisters to be upgraded to meet health and safety standards

                               -                                  -   

10/11 11/12 HASS Misc 11/12   (HRA Funded) 3                             441           441                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 11/12 HASS Sheltered Schemes   (HRA Funded) 3                             130           130                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 11/12 HASS TC Clementhorpe 11/12   (HRA Funded) 3                             853           853                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 12/13 HASS TC Clementhorpe 12/13   (HRA Funded) 3                             228           228                                -                                  -                                  -   
                               -                                  -   

10/11 12/13 HASS TC City 12/13   (HRA Funded) 3                             970           970                                -                                  -                                  -   
                               -                                  -   

10/11 12/13 HASS TC Foxwood 12/13   (HRA Funded) 3                             681           681                                -                                  -                                  -   
                               -                                  -   

10/11
12/13 -
14/15 HASS Sound Proofing Works   (HRA Funded) 3                             530           172           177           181                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 12/13 HASS TC Dunnington and Lowfields 12/13   (HRA Funded) 3                             510           510                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 13/14 HASS TC Clifton 13/14   (HRA Funded) 3                          1,543        1,543                                -                                  -                                  -   
                               -                                  -   

10/11 13/14 HASS TC Lowfield 13/14   (HRA Funded) 3                             557           557                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 13/14 HASS Misc 13/14   (HRA Funded) 3                             455           455                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -                                  -   

10/11 14/15 HASS Misc 14/15   (HRA Funded) 3                          1,836        1,836                                -                                  -                                  -   

Tenants Choice Misc 13/14 Improvement Scheme on 32 Properties

Tenants Choice Misc 11/12 Improvement Scheme on 35 Properties

Tenants Choice Clifton 13/14 Improvement Scheme on 114 Properties

Sound proofing to be undertaken on approximately 162 flats

Upgrade of fire protection works to communal blocks as required

Tenants Choice Dunnington and Lowfields 12/13 improvement scheme on 36 properties

Improvements to CYC sheltered schemes

Tenants Choice Clementhorpe Improvement Scheme on 19 Properties

Tenants Choice City 13/14 Improvement Scheme on 71 Properties

Tenants Choice Foxwood 12/13 Improvement Scheme on 62 Properties

Tenants Choice Clementhorpe 11/12 Improvement Scheme on 79 Properties

Tenants Choice Lowfield Improvement Scheme on 37 Properties

2

P
age 172



CRAM 10/11 SUMMARY SHEET ANNEX A

Bid 
Year

Scheme 
Year Directorate Name of Scheme

Scheme 
Category Total Cost £000 10/11

Growth in 
10/11 11/12

Growth in 
11/12 12/13

Growth in 
12/13 13/14

Growth in 
13/14 14/15 Total Growth £000

Non CYC Funding 
£000

Growth in Non CYC 
Funding £000

Call on CYC funding 
£000

Growth In Call On 
CYC funding £000

                               -                                  -   

10/11 14/15 HASS TC Clifton 14/15   (HRA Funded) 3                          1,500        1,500                                -                                  -                                  -   

                               -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 HASS Housing Grants and Asscoiated Investment (RHB Grants) 3                          5,200           950              -          1,000              -          1,050              -          1,100             -          1,100                          1,100                          5,200                          1,100                                -   

                               -   

10/11
10/11 -
14/15 Resources ITT Capital programme Development plan 3                          5,141        1,141        1,141        1,000        1,000        1,000        1,000        1,000        1,000        1,000                          5,141                          5,141                          5,141                                -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 Resources More for York 3                             210           210           210              -                -               -                               210                             210                             210                                -                                  -   

                       45,972        8,699        1,141        9,275        1,000        9,338        1,000        9,788        1,000        8,872                          6,241                        10,341                          6,241                                -                                  -   
                               -   

10/11 10/11 NS Crematorium - Mercury Abatement - Install 3 No. Cremators 4                          1,766        1,766        1,766                          1,766                                -                                  -                            1,766                          1,766 

                               -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 - 
14/15 NS  Replacement of unsound lighting columns 4                          1,000           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200                          1,000                                -                                  -                            1,000                          1,000 

                               -                                  -                                  -   

                         2,766        1,966        1,966           200           200           200           200           200           200           200                          2,766                                -                                  -                            2,766                          2,766 
                               -   

10/11
11/12 - 
12/13 LCCS Explore History @ York 5                          1,000              -             490           490           510           510                          1,000                             500                             500                             500                             500 

Tenants Choice Misc 14/15 Improvement Scheme on 124 Properties

This scheme implements the Executive's Vision for the City Archives Service by refurbishing the first floor former reference library and basement 
storage spaces in York Explore to allow the complete merger and relocation of the Archives Service with the Local Studies Library to create a 
single high-profile city centre access point to York's world-class archive and local history collections.  The proposal builds on the Phase 1 York 
Explore capital investment of 2009/10 which refurbished the ground floor spaces in York Central library to convert them into an Explore Centre.  

Tenants Choice Clifton 14/15 Improvement Scheme on 32 properties

York Crematorium at present have three cremators, two are currently operational dealing with over 2000 cremations per year. Emmissions 
legislation will be significantly tightened, with the result that by December 2012. DEFRA require that at least 50% of all cremations are subject to 
abatement of increased proportions of emissions specifically Mercury (Hg) 

To allow payments of grants and other forms of assistance in line with council policies ( last reviewed in June 2008). These grants and other 
forms of assistance are aimed at vulnerable owner occupiers and private tenants to help in the repair of items affecting their health and safety and 
making their homes decent  ( PSA7). Currently the scheme is fully funded from Regional Housing Board grants. A three year (2008-2011) bid for 
£2.7m was submitted and approved 

Level of capital investment required to deliver the 10/11 efficiency savings as set out in the revenue budget report.

Capital expenditure is anticipated covering numerous information technology projects as defined and approved by Members  to comply with the 
appropriate corporate objectives.  These include the delayed expenditure on the replacement HR / payroll system, the introduction of Government 
Connect, and the office upgrade.

Sub Total Category 4                                                                                      (legislative requirements) 

As part of the new street lighting contract a structural testing regime for street lighting columns has been put in place.  About 1200 steel columns 
have been tested in 2008/9 and this is showing a failure rate of 10%.  Similarly the majority of concrete columns are rapidly coming to the end of 
their lives with about 100 reaching a critical condition each year.   The Council will have little option other than to carry out these replacements on 
safety grounds and base budgets cannot support this replacement programme. A fund of approximately £90k is allocated from the LTP settlement 
but this is insufficient to stem the deterioration and tackle the backlog of columns needing replacing.

Sub Total category 3                                                                                                      (fully funded 
schemes) 

                               -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 - 
12/13 City Strat Access York Phase 1 5                        24,784        7,447        7,447       16,121       16,121        1,216        1,216                        24,784                        22,727                        22,727                          2,057                          2,057 

                               -   

10/11 10/11 Housing Local Authority Homes 5                          1,250        1,250        1,250                          1,250                          1,250                          1,250                                -                                  -   

                               -   

                       27,034        8,697        8,697       16,611       16,611        1,726        1,726             -               -                -                          27,034                        24,477                        24,477                          2,557                          2,557 
                               -   

10/11 10/11 HASS Telecare Equipment 6                             525           525           450                             450                                -                                  -                               525                             450 

                               -                                  -                                  -                                  -   

Explore capital investment of 2009/10 which refurbished the ground floor spaces in York Central library to convert them into an Explore Centre.  
Integration of the service into York Explore will allow the service to increase its user numbers from the current 3500 to around 22,000 annually with 
no increase in staffing costs.  The scheme demonstrates the city's commitment to stop the physical deterioration and loss of our world-class civic 
archive which is currently housed in premises which do not meet even basic preservation standards.  Action to preserve the archive is required to 
retain our National Archives Approved status, which enables the city to access external funding for the service.

To provide necessary digital upgrades to sheltered housing schemes and telecare equipment in order that vital wardens services can be 
maintained following the BT digital upgrade scheduled for 2010.  It is also necessary to continue to provide funding for the growing telecare 
service which provides vital pieces of equipment to vulnerable customers across the city. Demand for this service has increased dramatically in 
the last three months and that trend is set to continue as more and more people become aware of what is available and the difference it can make 
to a person's independence.

Sub Total Category 5                                                                                                            (match funding) 

The Access York Phase 1 scheme provides 3 new Park & Ride sites (Askham Bar, A59, Wigginton Road) and improves the A59/A1237 
roundabout. The scheme was the subject of a successful bid to the Regional Transport Board in April 2008 with a complete Major Scheme 
Business Case currently being developed for submission to the Department for Transport in December 2008. 100% of the preparatory costs 
before the submission of the DfT bid and 50% of the preparatory costs after gaining acceptance by the DfT have to be funded locally. A 10% local 
contribution is required for funding the construction of the scheme. It is anticipated that the sale of the existing Askham Bar site, which will be 
vacated when the new site becomes operational, will provide some of the this funding. It is anticipated that the remainder of the funding will be 
provided by the Local Transport Plan and Developer contributions.

Part Government funded scheme for the construction of 21 new local authority properties as part of the Government's initiative to increase the 
number of affordable homes available.

3

P
age 173



CRAM 10/11 SUMMARY SHEET ANNEX A

Bid 
Year

Scheme 
Year Directorate Name of Scheme

Scheme 
Category Total Cost £000 10/11

Growth in 
10/11 11/12

Growth in 
11/12 12/13

Growth in 
12/13 13/14

Growth in 
13/14 14/15 Total Growth £000

Non CYC Funding 
£000

Growth in Non CYC 
Funding £000

Call on CYC funding 
£000

Growth In Call On 
CYC funding £000

10/11 10/11 LCCS Strensall and Towthorpe Sports Association 6                             100           100           100                             100                                -                                  -                               100                             100 

                               -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 LCCS Oaklands Sports Centre/ York High School Sports 6                               60             60             60                               60                                -                                  -                                 60                               60 

                               -                                  -                                  -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 LCCS Yearsley Pool Energy Review 6                             220           220           220                             220                                -                                  -                               220                             220 

                               -                                  -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 - 
12/13

Property/    
LCCS Riverbank Repairs 6                          1,770           516           516           537           537           717           717                          1,770                                -                                  -                            1,770                          1,770 

                               -                                  -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 Property Health & Safety Repairs & Access Impvts 6                             500           500           500                             500                                -                                  -                               500                             500 

                               -                                  -                                  -   

10/11 10/11 Resources Contingency Fund 6                             300           300           300                             300                                -                                  -                               300                             300 

                               -                                  -                                  -   

10/11
10/11 - 
12/13 Property Property Compliance (Asbestos and Fire regs) 6                             240             80             80             80             80             80             80                             240                                -                                  -                               240                             240 

To work alongside the local community to upgrade the Strensall and Towthorpe Sports Association building in Durlston (DD) which incorporates 
changing rooms, small community rooms, tennis courts and a MUGA. (Currently unusable).

The Sports Hall floor is heavily used and has started to break up in places, which require emergency repairs.  In my experience these type of 
grantwood floors  deteriorate quickly when they reach the end of there life and the current condition of the floor is causing health and safety 
concerns now. York has a massive shortfall of sports hall space (talk to Vicki Japes) and therefore if our hall was closed due to the floor condition 
it would have major impact on the operation of York High School, a massive impact on public and club use by local customers.

The energy consumption at Yearsley Pool has increased to in excess of £100,000 per year by using steam and electricity to run the swimming 
pool. This scheme will be to look at the long-term sustainability and consider greener ways to heat and power Yearsley.
I have already paid and commissioned an energy survey through a private company but have not got the results back until around Mid Oct 09. 

In 2002 the Council's Engineers undertook a survey of the riverbanks of the Ouse and Foss Basin, detailing  a programme of works over a 10 year 
period.  From that survey three main areas were identified as requiring stabilising work in 5 years time; east bank between Scarborough Bridge 
and Clifton Bridge, east bank between Lendal mooring and Marygate Landing and Foss Basin island.  These works are required now.  
Scarborough to Clifton Bridges section has suffered collapse in places with large holes appearing which have been fenced off.  This stretch is 
additional to the urgent works currently being undertaken by the Engineers in this area.  The Council have been lucky that no known injuries have 
been sustained by the public, especially as the cycle track runs close by.  Lendal mooring to Marygate is a continuation of the piling work 
undertaken earlier at Lendal mooring which lack of funds prevented completing.  This stretch is severely undermined by erosion and work is 
required urgently to avoid collapse and damage to visitor moorings.  Foss Basin island is in danger of collapse which could take the lock and 
sluice with it and drain the Foss.         

Current 3 year capital programme of £0.6M (£ 0.1M for 2010/11) for urgent repair works is inadequate for level of urgent and essential works 
required as shown by the 2008/9 performance indicator which is  in excess of £19M (£3M excluding schools).  These repairs are needed to carry 
out Health and safety work only to Council buildings to safeguard delivery of services.  The bid is for work on land and buildings which have been 
identified for retention only through the Service and Area Asset Management Planning.  This bid is for one year only to supplement the amount 
already allocated as there is need for additional capital for the proposed works.  It is the intention to submit an annual capital bid from now on to 
cover new urgent repairs identified during each year. 

Consideration should be given to the creation of a contingency fund to reduce the risk exposure of delivering the capital propgramme.  In the 
current market environment where property prices are falling, expected capital receipts may not be realised.  A contingency fund could be used to 
address the potential shortfall in budgeted capital receipts.  

10/11 10/11 City strat Highways Improvements 6                          1,000        1,000        1,000              -                -                -                -               -               -                -                            1,000                                -                                  -                            1,000                          1,000 

                         4,715        3,301        3,226           617           617           797           797             -               -                -                            4,640                                -                                  -                            4,715                          4,640 
Sub Total Category 6                                                                                                           (100% CYC 

funding) 

Revenue funding has been provided to undertake compliance surveys for both asbestos and fire regulation management. Capital funding is 
required to undertake the emergency and remedial works, emanating from the surveys, to ensure compliance with current regulations. An 
asbestos capital emergency pot was established 4 years ago, of £100,000, and is now fully expended. This bid is a request for a similar fund that 
would average out at £40,000 per year each for both asbestos and fire, over a three year period. (i.e. £120,000for each over 3 years)

Requested by Executive Members as a result of Budget Consultation

4

P
age 174



2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Gross 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Gross

Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital Revised Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital

Programme Programme

Budget Budget Budget Budget To be Funded Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget To be Funded

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Children's Services
NDS Devolved Capital 2,150 0 0 0 2,150 2,150 0 1,503 1,503 1,503 1,503 1,503 1,503 1,503 1,503 8,162 6,012
- External Funding 2,150 0 0 0 2,150 2,150 0 1,503 1,503 1,503 1,503 1,503 1,503 1,503 1,503 8,162 6,012
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Harnessing Technology 528 0 0 0 528 528 0 317 317 317 317 317 317 317 317 1,796 1,268
- External Funding 528 0 0 0 528 528 0 317 317 317 317 317 317 317 317 1,796 1,268
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Targeted Capital Fund 14-19 Diploma 5,500 0 0 0 5,500 5,500 0 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 19,900 14,400

Approved Exec Mon 2 2009/10

Capital Budget - 2010/11 to 
2014/15

R
ec
ei
p
ts
 G
ro
w
th

Schemes approved at Mon 2  2009/10 & Recommended CRAM bids

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

Targeted Capital Fund 14-19 Diploma 5,500 0 0 0 5,500 5,500 0 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 19,900 14,400
- External Funding 5,500 0 0 0 5,500 5,500 0 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 19,900 14,400
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Primary School Strategic Programme 5,378 0 0 0 5,378 5,378 0 3,227 3,227 3,227 3,227 3,227 3,227 3,227 3,227 18,286 12,908
- External Funding 5,378 0 0 0 5,378 5,378 0 3,227 3,227 3,227 3,227 3,227 3,227 3,227 3,227 18,286 12,908
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
NDS Modernisation 2,818 0 0 0 2,818 2,818 0 1,136 1,136 1,136 1,136 1,136 1,136 1,136 1,136 7,362 4,544
- External Funding 125 0 0 0 125 125 0 227 227 227 227 227 227 227 227 1,033 908
-Internal Funding 2,693 0 0 0 2,693 2,693 0 909 909 909 909 909 909 909 909 6,329 3,636
Schools Access Initiative 288 0 0 0 288 288 0 173 173 173 173 173 173 173 173 980 692
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 288 0 0 0 288 288 0 173 173 173 173 173 173 173 173 980 692
Sure Start 1,059 0 0 0 1,059 1,059 0 635 635 635 635 635 635 635 635 3,599 2,540
- External Funding 1,059 0 0 0 1,059 1,059 0 635 635 635 635 635 635 635 635 3,599 2,540
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Extended Schools 137 0 0 0 137 137 0 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 465 328
- External Funding 137 0 0 0 137 137 0 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 465 328
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Youth Capital Fund 70 0 0 0 70 70 0 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 238 168Youth Capital Fund 70 0 0 0 70 70 0 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 238 168
- External Funding 70 0 0 0 70 70 0 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 238 168
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Children's Centres Phase 3 679 0 0 0 679 679 0 0 0 0 0 679 0
- External Funding 679 0 0 0 679 679 0 0 0 0 0 679 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Joseph Rowntree One School Pathfinder 1,574 0 0 0 1,574 1,574 0 0 0 0 0 1,574 0
- External Funding 1,574 0 0 0 1,574 1,574 0 0 0 0 0 1,574 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Aiming high for disabled children short breaks 168 0 0 0 168 168 0 0 0 0 0 168 0
- External Funding 168 0 0 0 168 168 0 0 0 0 0 168 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
City-Wide Diploma Exemplar Facility at Manor 
School 2,500 0 0 0 2,500 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0
- External Funding 2,500 0 0 0 2,500 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 22,849 0 0 0 22,849 22,849 0 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 65,709 42,860
TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 19,868 0 0 0 19,868 19,868 0 9,633 9,633 9,633 9,633 9,633 9,633 9,633 9,633 58,400 38,532
TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 2,981 0 0 0 2,981 2,981 0 1,082 1,082 1,082 1,082 1,082 1,082 1,082 1,082 7,309 4,328TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 2,981 0 0 0 2,981 2,981 0 1,082 1,082 1,082 1,082 1,082 1,082 1,082 1,082 7,309 4,328

Leisure and Culture 0
Museum Service Heritage Lottery Bid 213 0 0 0 213 213 0 0 0 0 0 213 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 213 0 0 0 213 213 0 0 0 0 0 213 0
York Pools Strategy - 2,375 0 0 0 2,375 2,375 0 0 0 0 2,375 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 2,375 0 0 0 2,375 2,375 0 0 0 0 0 2,375 0
DCSF Wave 2 PlaybuilderFunding 594 0 0 0 594 594 0 0 0 0 0 594 0
- External Funding 594 0 0 0 594 594 0 0 0 0 0 594 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Children's Play Lottery Bid 8 0 0 0 8 8 0 0 0 0 0 8 0
- External Funding 8 0 0 0 8 8 0 0 0 0 0 8 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Annex B Page 1

P
age 175



2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Gross 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Gross

Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital Revised Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital

Programme Programme

Budget Budget Budget Budget To be Funded Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget To be Funded

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Approved Exec Mon 2 2009/10

Capital Budget - 2010/11 to 
2014/15

R
ec
ei
p
ts
 G
ro
w
th

Schemes approved at Mon 2  2009/10 & Recommended CRAM bids

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

Explore History @ York 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 490 490 510 510 0 0 1,000 1,000
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 245 245 255 255 0 0 500 500
Oaklands Sports Hall Floor Replacement 0 0 0 0 0 60 60 0 0 0 0 60 60
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 60 60 0 0 0 0 60 60
TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 3,190 0 0 0 3,190 3,250 60 490 490 510 510 0 0 0 0 4,250 1,060
TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 602 0 0 0 602 602 0 245 245 255 255 0 0 0 0 1,102 500
TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 2,588 0 0 0 2,588 2,648 60 245 245 255 255 0 0 0 0 3,148 560TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 2,588 0 0 0 2,588 2,648 60 245 245 255 255 0 0 0 0 3,148 560

Neighbourhood Services (Environmental Services) 
Waste Infrastructure Capital Grant (WICG) 133 0 0 0 133 133 0 0 0 0 0 133 0
- External Funding 133 0 0 0 133 133 0 0 0 0 0 133 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Silver Street Toilets 8 0 0 0 8 8 0 0 0 0 0 8 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 8 0 0 0 8 8 0 0 0 0 0 8 0
West of York Recycling Site 0 2,500 0 0 2,500 0 0 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 2,500 0 0 2,500 0 0 2,500 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0
Highway Resurfacing & Reconstruction (Struct 
Maint) 4,685 2,855 2,855 2,855 13,250 4,685 0 2,935 80 3,020 165 3,108 253 3,201 3,201 16,949 3,699
SCE - Government Grant 1,830 0 0 0 1,830 1,830 0 0 0 0 0 1,830 0
- External Funding 1,830 0 0 0 1,830 1,830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,830 0
-Internal Funding 2,855 2,855 2,855 2,855 11,420 2,855 0 2,935 80 3,020 165 3,108 253 3,201 3,201 15,119 3,699
Special Bridge Maintenance (Struct maint) 200 200 200 200 800 200 0 200 0 200 0 200 0 200 200 1,000 200
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 200 200 200 200 800 200 0 200 0 200 0 200 0 200 200 1,000 200
Street Light Modernisation 200 0 0 0 200 200 0 0 0 0 200 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 200 0 0 0 200 200 0 0 0 0 0 200 0
EcoDepot Security Gate / Reception 100 0 0 0 100 100 0 0 0 0 0 100 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 100 0 0 0 100 100 0 0 0 0 0 100 0
TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 5,326 5,555 3,055 3,055 16,991 5,326 0 5,635 80 3,220 165 3,308 253 3,401 3,401 20,890 3,899
TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 1,963 0 0 0 1,963 1,963 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,963 0
TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 3,363 5,555 3,055 3,055 15,028 3,363 0 5,635 80 3,220 165 3,308 253 3,401 3,401 18,927 3,899

City Strategy (Planning & Transport)
Local Transport Plan (LTP) 5,812 3,485 3,485 3,485 16,267 5,812 0 3,485 0 3,485 0 3,485 0 0 16,267 0
- External Funding 3,822 1,495 1,495 1,495 8,307 3,822 0 1,495 0 1,495 0 1,495 0 0 8,307 0
-Internal Funding 1,990 1,990 1,990 1,990 7,960 1,990 0 1,990 0 1,990 0 1,990 0 0 7,960 0

York City Walls - Repairs & Renewals (City Walls) 90 90 78 78 336 90 0 90 0 90 12 90 12 90 90 450 114
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 90 90 78 78 336 90 0 90 0 90 12 90 12 90 90 450 114
Road Safety 42 42 42 42 168 42 0 42 0 42 0 42 0 0 168 0
- External Funding 42 42 42 42 168 42 0 42 0 42 0 42 0 0 168 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cycling City 1,153 0 0 0 1,153 1,153 0 0 0 0 0 1,153 0
- External Funding 1,153 0 0 0 1,153 1,153 0 0 0 0 0 1,153 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Access York 0 0 0 0 0 7,447 7,447 16,121 16,121 1,216 1,216 0 0 24,784 24,784
- External Funding 0 6,525 6,525 15,080 15,080 1,122 1,122 0 0 22,727 22,727
-Internal Funding 0 922 922 1,041 1,041 94 94 0 0 2,057 2,057
Highways Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 0 0 0 0 1,000 1,000
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 0 0 0 0 1,000 1,000
TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 7,097 3,617 3,605 3,605 17,924 15,544 8,447 19,738 16,121 4,833 1,228 3,617 12 90 90 43,822 25,898
TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 5,017 1,537 1,537 1,537 9,628 11,542 6,525 16,617 15,080 2,659 1,122 1,537 0 0 0 32,355 22,727
TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 2,080 2,080 2,068 2,068 8,296 4,002 1,922 3,121 1,041 2,174 106 2,080 12 90 90 11,467 3,171

Annex B Page 2

P
age 176



2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Gross 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Gross

Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital Revised Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital

Programme Programme

Budget Budget Budget Budget To be Funded Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget To be Funded

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Approved Exec Mon 2 2009/10

Capital Budget - 2010/11 to 
2014/15

R
ec
ei
p
ts
 G
ro
w
th

Schemes approved at Mon 2  2009/10 & Recommended CRAM bids

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

0

City Strategy (Admin Accom) 0
Admin Accomm 12,494 12,304 13,388 0 38,186 12,494 0 12,304 0 13,388 0 0 0 38,186 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 12,494 12,304 13,388 0 38,186 12,494 0 12,304 0 13,388 0 0 0 38,186 0

City Strategy (Community stadium)
Community Stadium 4,000 4,000 0 4,000 0 0 0 0 4,000 0Community Stadium 4,000 4,000 0 4,000 0 0 0 0 4,000 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 4,000 4,000 0 4,000 0 0 0 0 4,000 0

Housing
Modernisation of Local Authority Homes 214 1,378 1,412 1,358 4,362 62 -152 1,378 0 1,458 46 1,499 141 83 83 4,480 118
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 214 1,378 1,412 1,358 4,362 62 -152 1,378 0 1,458 46 1,499 141 83 83 4,480 118
Repairs to Local Authority Properties 1,052 701 729 689 3,171 1,315 263 1,090 389 1,117 388 1,244 555 898 898 5,664 2,493
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 1,052 701 729 689 3,171 1,315 263 1,090 389 1,117 388 1,244 555 898 898 5,664 2,493
Assistance to Older & Disabled People 300 300 300 300 1,200 300 0 300 0 300 0 300 0 0 1,200 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 300 300 300 300 1,200 300 0 300 0 300 0 300 0 0 1,200 0
MRA Schemes 5,755 5,976 5,466 6,591 23,788 5,231 -524 4,807 -1,169 4,253 -1,213 5,930 -661 5,791 5,791 26,012 2,224
- External Funding 5,755 5,976 5,466 6,591 23,788 5,231 -524 4,807 -1,169 4,253 -1,213 5,930 -661 5,791 5,791 26,012 2,224
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Housing Grants & Associated Investment (Gfund) 950 1,000 1,050 1,100 4,100 950 0 1,000 0 1,050 0 1,100 0 1,100 1,100 5,200 1,100
- External Funding 950 1,000 1,050 1,100 4,100 950 0 1,000 0 1,050 0 1,100 0 1,100 1,100 5,200 1,100- External Funding 950 1,000 1,050 1,100 4,100 950 0 1,000 0 1,050 0 1,100 0 1,100 1,100 5,200 1,100
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disabled Facilities Grant (Gfund) 850 850 850 850 3,400 850 0 850 0 850 0 850 0 850 850 4,250 850
- External Funding 375 375 375 375 1,500 375 0 375 0 375 0 375 0 375 375 1,875 375
-Internal Funding 475 475 475 475 1,900 475 0 475 0 475 0 475 0 475 475 2,375 475
Local Authority Homes 0 0 0 0 0 1,250 1,250 0 0 0 0 1,250 1,250
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 625 625 0 0 0 0 625 625
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 625 625 0 0 0 0 625 625
TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 9,121 10,205 9,807 10,888 40,021 9,958 837 9,425 -780 9,028 -779 10,923 35 8,722 8,722 48,056 8,035
TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 7,080 7,351 6,891 8,066 29,388 7,181 101 6,182 -1,169 5,678 -1,213 7,405 -661 7,266 7,266 33,712 4,324
TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 2,041 2,854 2,916 2,822 10,633 2,777 736 3,243 389 3,350 434 3,518 696 1,456 1,456 14,344 3,711

0
Social Services 0
Joint Equipment Store 105 105 105 105 420 105 0 105 0 105 0 105 0 105 105 525 105
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 105 105 105 105 420 105 0 105 0 105 0 105 0 105 105 525 105
Disabled Support Grant 120 130 140 150 540 120 0 130 0 140 0 150 0 150 150 690 150
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 120 130 140 150 540 120 0 130 0 140 0 150 0 150 150 690 150-Internal Funding 120 130 140 150 540 120 0 130 0 140 0 150 0 150 150 690 150
Telecare Equipment 75 0 0 0 75 525 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 525 450
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 75 0 0 0 75 525 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 525 450
Adults Social Care IT grant 51 0 0 0 51 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 51 0
- External Funding 51 0 0 0 51 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 51 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 351 235 245 255 1,086 801 450 235 0 245 0 255 0 255 255 1,791 705
TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 51 0 0 0 51 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 51 0
TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 300 235 245 255 1,035 750 450 235 0 245 0 255 0 255 255 1,740 705

Annex B Page 3

P
age 177



2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Gross 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Gross

Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital Revised Revised Revised Revised Revised Capital

Programme Programme

Budget Budget Budget Budget To be Funded Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget To be Funded

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Approved Exec Mon 2 2009/10

Capital Budget - 2010/11 to 
2014/15

R
ec
ei
p
ts
 G
ro
w
th

Schemes approved at Mon 2  2009/10 & Recommended CRAM bids

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

G
ro
w
th

0
Chief Execs 0
Property Key Components (H&S) 100 0 0 0 100 100 0 0 0 0 0 100 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 100 0 0 0 100 100 0 0 0 0 0 100 0
Fire Safety Regulations - Adaptations 65 0 0 0 65 65 0 0 0 0 0 65 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 65 0 0 0 65 65 0 0 0 0 0 65 0
Acomb Office 155 1,250 0 0 1,405 155 0 1,250 0 0 0 0 1,405 0Acomb Office 155 1,250 0 0 1,405 155 0 1,250 0 0 0 0 1,405 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 155 1,250 0 0 1,405 155 0 1,250 0 0 0 0 1,405 0
Hungate/ Peasholme Relocation 23 0 0 0 23 23 0 0 0 0 0 23 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 23 0 0 0 23 23 0 0 0 0 0 23 0
Peasholme Improvements 11 0 0 0 11 11 0 0 0 0 0 11 0
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 11 0 0 0 11 11 0 0 0 0 0 11 0
Riverbank Repairs 0 0 0 0 0 717 717 0 0 0 0 717 717
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 717 717 0 0 0 0 717 717
Property Compliance (Asbestos and Fire regs) 0 0 0 0 0 80 80 80 80 80 80 0 0 240 240
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 80 80 80 80 80 80 0 0 240 240
TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 354 1,250 0 0 1,604 1,151 797 1,330 80 80 80 0 0 0 0 2,561 957
TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 354 1,250 0 0 1,604 1,151 797 1,330 80 80 80 0 0 0 0 2,561 957

Resources
Contingency Fund 0 0 0 0 0 300 300 0 0 0 0 300 300
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 300 300 0 0 0 0 300 300
ITT Capital programme Development plan 0 0 0 0 0 1,141 1,141 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 5,141 5,141
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 1,141 1,141 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 5,141 5,141
More 4 York 0 0 0 0 0 210 210 0 0 0 0 210 210
- External Funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-Internal Funding 0 0 0 0 0 210 210 0 0 0 0 210 210
TOTAL GROSS EXPENDITURE 0 0 0 0 0 1,651 1,651 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 5,651 5,651
TOTAL EXTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL INTERNAL FUNDING 0 0 0 0 0 1,651 1,651 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 5,651 5,651

Gross Expenditure by Department 
Chief Executives 354 1,250 0 0 1,604 1,151 797 1,330 80 80 80 0 0 0 0 2,561 957
Children's Services 22,849 0 0 0 22,849 22,849 0 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 65,709 42,860Children's Services 22,849 0 0 0 22,849 22,849 0 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 10,715 65,709 42,860
City Strategy (P&T) 7,097 3,617 3,605 3,605 17,924 15,544 8,447 19,738 16,121 4,833 1,228 3,617 12 90 90 43,822 25,898
City Strategy (Econ Devt) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
City Strategy (Admin Accom) 12,494 12,304 13,388 0 38,186 12,494 0 12,304 0 13,388 0 0 0 0 0 38,186 0
City Strategy (Community Stadium) 0 4,000 0 0 4,000 0 0 4,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,000 0
Housing 9,121 10,205 9,807 10,888 40,021 9,958 837 9,425 -780 9,028 -779 10,923 35 8,722 8,722 48,056 8,035
Leisure & Heritage 3,190 0 0 0 3,190 3,250 60 490 490 510 510 0 0 0 0 4,250 1,060
Neighbourhood Services 5,326 5,555 3,055 3,055 16,991 5,326 0 5,635 80 3,220 165 3,308 253 3,401 3,401 20,890 3,899
Resources 0 0 0 0 0 1,651 1,651 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 5,651 5,651
Social Services 351 235 245 255 1,086 801 450 235 0 245 0 255 0 255 255 1,791 705
Miscellaneous 0 0

Total by Department 60,782 37,166 30,100 17,803 145,851 73,024 12,242 64,872 27,706 43,019 12,919 29,818 12,015 24,183 24,183 234,916 89,065

Annex B Page 4

P
age 178



                     
 
Executive 16 February 2010 
Report of the Director of Resources 
 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential 
Indicators for 2010/11 to 2014/15 
 
Purpose 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to ask the Executive to recommend that 

Council approve the:  
 

o  integrated Treasury Management Strategy Statement including the 
annual investment strategy and the minimum revenue provision 
policy statement; 

o proposed Prudential Indicators for 2010/11 to 2014/15 
o adopt the revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 

2009 (“the Code”) 
o revised Treasury Management Policy Statement 
o reporting arrangements as described by “the Code” and that Audit & 

Governance Committee scrutinise the Treasury Management 
Strategy and Monitoring reports 

o Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation and role of the 
section 151 officer 

 
Summary 
 
2. The report provides a background to why it is necessary to produce a 

Treasury Management strategy, a minimum revenue provision policy 
statement and set prudential indicators for the following three years. 

 
3. The Council is currently undertaking a series of significant capital schemes 

that will realise revenue savings over the following 30 years. This high 
level of upfront capital investment will contribute to the rise in the Council’s 
underlying need to borrow from the current level of approximately £113.1m 
in 2009/10 to over £160.1m in 2014/15. The borrowing strategy aims to 
minimise the risks to the Council of borrowing large amounts in a single 
year by giving the Council the flexibility to borrow in advance of need or 
reduce the amount of borrowing taken, in order to take advantage of 
favourable borrowing and investment interest rates as they arise. 

 
4. The annual investment strategy reviews the projected interest rates over 

the next 3 years until the 2011/12 financial year, and seeks to maximise 
the returns to the Council whilst minimising the risks involved in placing 
deposits on the money market. 

 

Agenda Item 13Page 179



5. The CIPFA1 Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of 
Practice (the Code) and the Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes have been 
revised during 2009 in light of the Icelandic situation in 2008. 

 
Background 
 
6. The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to set out its 

Treasury Management Strategy for Borrowing and to prepare an Annual 
Investment Strategy (as required by Investment Guidance issued 
subsequent to the Act) that sets out the Council’s policies for managing its 
investments and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those 
investments.   

 
7. As part of the strategy, the Local Government Act 2003 also requires the 

Council to ‘have regard to’ the CIPFA Prudential Code and to set 
Prudential Indicators for a minimum of the next three years to ensure the 
Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable.  
The strategy therefore is affected by the Council’s capital spending plans, 
as set out in the Capital Programme Budget report and the revenue 
implications of these that are reflected in the Revenue Budget report, both 
presented to Full Council on 25 February 2010.  

 
8. In addition, the local Government Act 2003 also requires the Council 

formally to adopt the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice. The 
revised code has emphasised a number of key areas that need to be 
taken into account in future and these are detailed in the body of the 
report. 

 
9. The suggested strategy for 2010/11 in respect of the following aspects of 

the treasury management function is based upon the Director of 
Resources views on interest rates, supplemented with market forecasts 
provided by Sector Treasury Services, the Council’s treasury management 
adviser. The strategy covers: 

 
o The requirements of the revised CIPFA Treasury Management 

Code of Practice 2009 (paragraph 8-18) 
o Balanced Budget Requirement (paragraph 19) 
o Treasury limits in force which will limit the treasury risk and activities 

of the Council (paragraph 20 -22); 
o Prudential Indicators (paragraph 23 –25); 
o Current treasury position (paragraph 26-29); 
o Prospects for interest rates (paragraph 30 -32); 
o Economic Background (paragraph 33) 
o Borrowing strategy (paragraph 34-41); 
o Policy on Borrowing in advance of need (paragraph 42-44) 
o Policy on gross and net debt (paragraph 45-51) 
o Debt rescheduling (paragraph 52-56); 
o Investment strategy (paragraph 57-64); 

                                                 
1 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 

Page 180



o Creditworthiness Policy (paragraph 65-71) 
o Minimum Revenue Provision strategy (paragraph 72 -77) 
o Policy on external advisers (paragraph 78-80) 
o Scheme of Delegation / Role of the Section 151 Officer (paragraph 

81) 
 

Consultation and Options 
 

10. The treasury management function of any business is a highly technical 
area, where decisions are often taken at very short notice in reaction to the 
financial markets.  Therefore, to enable effective treasury management, all 
operational decisions are delegated by the Council to the Assistant 
Director of Resources (Finance), who operates within the framework set 
out in this strategy and through the Treasury Management Policies and 
Practices. In order to inform sound treasury management operations the 
Council works with its Treasury Management advisers, Sector Treasury 
Services.  Sector Treasury Services offer the Council a comprehensive 
information and advisory service to enable the Council to maximise its 
investment returns and minimise the costs of its debts.   

 
11. Treasury Management strategy and activity is influenced by the capital 

investment and revenue spending decisions made by the Council. Both 
the revenue and capital budgets have been through a corporate process of 
consultation and consideration by the elected politicians. The revenue 
budget and capital budget proposals are included within this agenda. 

 
12. At a strategic level, there are a number of treasury management options 

available which depend on the Council’s stance on interest rate 
movements. This report sets out the Council’s stance and recommends 
the setting of key trigger points for borrowing and investing over the 
forthcoming financial year. 

 
Analysis 
 
Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2009 
  
13. The CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice 

“the Code” has been revised during 2009, in light of the Icelandic situation 
in 2008.  It is a requirement that the “the Code” is formally adopted as 
attached at Annex A and also the revised Treasury Management Policy 
Statement attached at Annex B. 

 
14. The revised code has emphasised a number of key areas which have 

been taken into account in the Treasury Management Strategy and are 
highlighted as follows: 
a) All councils must formally adopt the revised Code and four clauses 

(paragraph 13 and Annex A and B) 
b) The strategy report will affirm that the effective management and 

control of risk are prime objectives of the Council’s treasury 
management activities (paragraph 12) 

Page 181



c) The Council’s appetite for risk must be clearly identified within the 
strategy report and will affirm that priority is given to security of capital 
and liquidity when investing funds and explain how that will be carried 
out (paragraph 50) 

d) Responsibility for risk management and control lies within the 
organisation and cannot be delegated to any outside organisation 
(paragraph 71) 

e) Credit ratings should only be used as a starting point when considering 
risk.  Use should also be made of market data and information, the 
quality financial press, information on government support for banks 
and the credit ratings of that government support (paragraph 57) 

f) Councils need a sound diversification policy with high credit quality 
counterparties and should consider setting country, sector and group 
limits (paragraph 57-63) 

g) Borrowing in advance of need is only to be permissible when there is a 
clear business case for doing so and only for the current capital 
programme or to finance future debt maturities (paragraph 34-36) 

h) The main annual treasury management reports MUST be approved by 
full Council (paragraph 11) 

i) There needs to be, at a minimum, a mid year review of treasury 
management strategy and performance.  This is intended to highlight 
any areas of concern that have arisen since the original strategy was 
approved (paragraph 11) 

j) Each council must delegate the role of scrutiny of treasury 
management strategy and policies to a specific named body 
(paragraph 11) 

k) Treasury management performance and policy setting should be 
subjected to scrutiny (paragraph 11) 

l) Members should be provided with access to relevant training. 
m) Those charged with governance are also personally responsible for 

ensuring they have the necessary skills and training (paragraph 73) 
n) Responsibility for these activities must be clearly defined within the 

organisation (paragraph 73) 
o) Officers involved in treasury management must be explicitly required to 

follow treasury management policies and procedures when making 
investment and borrowing decisions on behalf of the Council (this will 
form part of the updated Treasury Management Practices). 

 
15. This strategy statement has been prepared in accordance with the revised 

Code.  Accordingly, the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy will be 
approved annually by full council and there will also be a mid year report. 
In addition there will be monitoring reports and regular review by Members 
in both executive and scrutiny functions.  The aim of these reporting 
arrangements is to ensure that those with ultimate responsibility for the 
treasury management function appreciate fully the implications of treasury 
management policies and activities, and that those implementing policies 
and executing transactions have properly fulfilled their responsibilities with 
regard to delegation and reporting. 

 

Page 182



16. This Council will adopt the following reporting arrangements in accordance 
with the requirements of the revised Code: 

 

Area of Responsibility Council/ 
Committee/ Officer Frequency 

Treasury Management Policy 
Statement (revised) Full council 

Initial adoption before the 
start of the financial year – 
February 2010 

Treasury Management Strategy 
/ Annual Investment Strategy / 
MRP policy 

Full council 
Annually before the start of 
the financial year – 
February 2010 

Treasury Management Strategy 
/ Annual Investment Strategy / 
MRP policy – mid year report 
and updates or revisions at 
other times 

Full council Mid year / Quarterly 

Annual Treasury Outturn Report Full council 
Annually by 30 September 
after the end of the 
financial year 

Treasury Management 
Monitoring Reports Executive Quarterly 

Treasury Management 
Practices Officers Annually 

Scrutiny of treasury 
management strategy 

Audit & Governance 
Committee Annually  

Scrutiny of treasury 
management performance 

Audit & Governance 
Committee Quarterly 

     Table 1 – Reporting Arrangements 
 
17.  CIPFA Prudential Code has also been revised to include the requirement 

that where there is a significant difference between the net and gross 
borrowing position, the risks and benefits associated with this are clearly 
stated in the treasury management borrowing strategy.  An additional 
change has also occurred when reporting prudential indicators –where the 
authorised limit and operational boundary and actual external debt 
indicators are now to be reported as Treasury Indicators rather than 
prudential Indicators. This is a minor amendment as all indicators are 
presented together as one suite. 

 
18. It should also be noted that the Department of Communities and Local 

Government (DCLG) is currently undertaking a consultation exercise on 
draft revised investment guidance which will result in the issue of amended 
investment guidance for English local authorities to come into effect from 1 
April 2010.  A separate report will be made to members to inform them 
when this guidance has been finalised.  It is not currently expected that 
there will be any major changes required over and above the changes 
already required by the revised Code. 

 
 

Page 183



Balanced Budget Requirement 
 
19. It is a statutory requirement under Section 33 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1992, for the Council to produce a balanced budget.  In 
particular, Section 32 requires a local authority to calculate its budget 
requirement for each financial year to include the revenue costs that flow 
from capital financing decisions. This, therefore, means that increases in 
capital expenditure must be limited to a level whereby increases in 
charges to revenue from: 
a. increases in interest charges caused by increased borrowing to finance 

additional capital expenditure, and  
b. any increases in running costs from new capital projects 
are limited to a level which is affordable within the projected income of the 
Council for the foreseeable future.   

  
Treasury Limits 20010/11 –2014/15 
 
20. It is a statutory duty under Section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 

and supporting regulations, for the Council to determine and keep under 
review how much it can afford to borrow. The amount so determined is 
termed the “Authorised Borrowing Limit”, and is the absolute maximum 
level of debt the Council is permitted to take. Within this limit there is an 
“Operational Borrowing Limit”, which is the maximum level of debt allowed 
for on going operational purposes. In reality the operational limit would 
only be breached as a result of in year cash flow movements. 

 
21. The Council must have regard to the Prudential Code when setting the 

Authorised and Operational Limits which essentially requires the Council 
to ensure that total capital investment remains within sustainable limits 
and, in particular, that the impact upon its future council tax and council 
rent levels is ‘acceptable’.  Both the operational limit and authorised limit 
have been reviewed in light of the capital investment plans, as set out in 
the capital programme, and rebased for 20010/11. They now stand at 
£188.3m and £228.3m respectively.   

 
22. The “Authorised Borrowing Limit” incorporates external borrowing and 

other forms of liability, such as credit arrangements.  Both limits are set on 
a rolling basis for the forthcoming financial year and two successive 
financial years as set out in the Prudential Code.  Details of the Authorised 
Limit can be found in Annex C of this report – Prudential Indicators 
2010/11 to 2014/15 

 
Prudential Indicators 
 
23. The Council is required by regulation to have regard to the Prudential 

Code when carrying out its duties under the Local Government Act 2003. 
The key objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, within a clear 
framework, that local authorities’ capital investment plans are affordable, 
prudent and sustainable; that treasury management decisions are taken in 

Page 184



accordance with good professional practice; and that local strategic 
planning, asset management planning and proper option appraisal are 
supported. Annex C illustrates the Prudential Indicators for the next 3 
financial years, as required by the prudential Code, 2010/11 to 2014/15 
with a description of what each indicator represents. 

 
24. The Council is also required to indicate if it has adopted the CIPFA Code 

of Practice on Treasury Management.  Full Council last adopted this on 21 
February 2008 and the revised Code will be adopted by Full Council as 
part of this report on 25 February 2010. 

 
25. The Prudential Indicators and adoption of the revised CIPFA Code of 

Practice on Treasury Management help drive the treasury management 
strategy and annual investment strategy. The effective management and 
control of risk are prime objectives of the Council’s treasury management 
activities and the paragraphs below take account of all additional factors 
that need to be taken into consideration when formulating the treasury 
strategy. 

 
Current Treasury Management Portfolio Position 
 
26. The Council’s current treasury portfolio position at 31 January 2010 is 

detailed below in Table 2:  
 
Institution Type Principal Average Rate 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) –  
Money borrowed from the Debt Mgt 
Office (Treasury Agency) 

£98.065 m 4.217% 

Market Loans   
Club Loan – A loan taken in conjunction 
with 2 other Authorities 
LOBO Loan – Lender Option Borrower 
Option 

 
£10.0m 

 
£5.0m 

 
7.155% 

 
3.880% 

Total Gross Borrowing £113.065 4.462% 
Total Investments £  40.550 2.25% 
Net Debt £  72.515  

Table 2 – Current treasury portfolio position 
 

27. The Council currently has £113.1m of fixed interest rate debt with an 
average life of loan of 20 years and average cost of debt of 4.46%.  The 
Council currently has no variable rate borrowing. The Council is only 
permitted to borrow to invest in capital projects, unless permitted to do 
otherwise by the Government. Therefore the majority of the Councils 
existing debt is secured against its asset base.   

 
28. Figure 1 shows the Councils current debt maturity structure as at 31 

January 2010: 
 

Page 185



Debt Maturity Profile by year -  31 January 10 Projection

-
2,000,000
4,000,000
6,000,000
8,000,000
10,000,000
12,000,000
14,000,000
16,000,000

2009/10
2010/11
2011/12
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
2026/27
2027/28
2028/29
2029/30
2030/31
2031/32
2032/33
2033/34
2034/35
2035/36
2036/37
2037/38
2038/09
2039/40
2040/41
2042/43
2043/44
2044/45
2045/46
2046/47
2047/48
2048/49
2049/50
2050/51
2051/52
2052/53
2053/54
2054/55
2055/56
2056/57
2057/58

Financial Year
 

Figure 1 – Debt Maturity Profile as at January 2010 
 

29. The Council’s total investments at 31 January 2010 was £40.55m of which 
£7.05m were held in instant access call accounts with the remaining 
£33.50m being invested in fixed term deposits on the UK money market. 

 
Prospects for Interest Rates 
 
30. Current interest rates and the future direction of both long term and short 

term interest rates have a major influence on the overall treasury 
management strategy and affects both investment and borrowing 
decisions. To facilitate treasury management officers in making informed 
investment and borrowing decisions the Council contracts Sector Treasury 
Services as its treasury advisers. Part of their service is to assist the 
Council in formulating a view on interest rates. Annex D draws together a 
number of current forecasts for short term (Bank Rate) and longer fixed 
term rates. Sector Treasury Services central view on the Bank rate 
forecast for the following years is detailed below in Table 3: 

 
Year 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 
Rate 0.50% 1.50% 3.50% 4.50% 

Table 3 – Sector’s Bank Rate forecast  
 
31. Sector Treasury services view of fixed long term borrowing rates (PWLB) 

and the base rate are also shown below in Figure 2. 
 

Sector Interest Rate Forecast (23 Nov 2009)

0.00
0.50
1.00
1.50
2.00
2.50
3.00
3.50
4.00
4.50
5.00
5.50
6.00

09/10
Q4

10/11
Q1

10/11
Q2

10/11
Q3

10/11
Q4

11/12
Q1

11/12
Q2

11/12
Q3

11/12
Q4

12/13  
Q1

12/13  
Q2

12/13  
Q3

12/13  
Q4

BoE Base Rate

5 yr pw lb

25 yr pw lb

50 yr pw lb

 

Page 186



Figure 2 – Sector interest rate forecast 
 

32. The graph clearly shows that the base rate and a range of PWLB 
borrowing rates are forecast to rise to between 4.5% and 5% in the 
foreseeable future.  There is a downside risk to these forecasts if recovery 
from the recession proves to be weaker and slower than currently 
expected. 

 
Economic Background 
 
33. A detailed view of the current economic background is contained within 

Annex E and assists in the formulation of the treasury management 
strategy as it details the current economic and market environment. 

 
Borrowing Strategy 
 
34. Historically the Council has needed to borrow approximately £10m a year 

to finance its capital programme. This level of borrowing is the level at 
which the Government provide support through grant funding to cover the 
cost of interest payments and debt repayment. The Council intends to 
borrow above the level supported by Government grant funding in future 
years taking advantage of the Prudential Code (introduced April 2004) 
which allows Local Authorities to determine their own programmes for 
capital investment so long as the plans are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable. 

 
35. The Financial Regulations currently delegate the approval of prudential 

borrowing less than £100k to the Director of Resources.  The interest rate 
used is the Consolidate Rate of Interest on the loans portfolio.  Executive 
currently approves the repayment period for all borrowing.  In future, the 
Director of Resources should have full discretion to choose the length of 
the repayment period for all borrowing to ensure that borrowing matches 
the asset life.  This will ensure value for money as it will allow prudential 
borrowing repayment periods to alter as asset life changes This is a day to 
day operational matter that should be delegated to the Director of 
Resources.  

 
36. The main reason for the increase in unsupported borrowing to date is due 

to the delayed timing of capital receipts being received and large-scale 
investment in major assets that will result in long-term revenue savings to 
the Council. The key project is the Administrative Accommodation 
Rationalisation Project (£28m borrowing requirement) 

 
37. As a result of the Capital programme 2010/11 to 2014/15 the borrowing 

requirement is projected to increase significantly from its current level of 
£113.1m in 2009/10 to £160.1m in 2014/15.  The treasury management 
and borrowing strategy needs to reflect this position when considering the 
current economic and market environment. The Sector forecast for PWLB 
borrowing rates for future years is detailed below in table 4: 

 

Page 187



  Mar - 10 Jun - 10 Sep - 10 Dec - 10 Mar - 11 Mar - 12 Mar - 13 
Bank rate 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 1.00% 1.50% 3.50% 4.50% 

5 yr PWLB rate 3.05% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.60% 4.60% 4.85% 
10 yr PWLB rate 4.00% 4.05% 4.15% 4.30% 4.45% 5.00% 5.15% 
25 yr PWLB rate 4.55% 4.65% 4.70% 4.80% 4.90% 5.20% 5.35% 
50 yr PWLB rate 4.60% 4.70% 4.75% 4.90% 5.00% 5.30% 5.45% 

Table 4 – Forecast of PWLB Borrowing Rates  
 

38.  In view of the above forecast the Council’s borrowing strategy will be 
based upon the following information. 

 
a) Rates are expected to gradually increase during the year so it should 

therefore be advantageous to time new long term borrowing for the 
start of the year when 25 year PWLB rates fall back to or below the 
central forecast rate of about 4.65%.  

b) Variable rate borrowing is expected to be cheaper than long-term 
borrowing and will therefore be attractive throughout the financial year 
compared to taking long term fixed rate borrowing. 

c) PWLB rates on loans of less than ten years duration are expected to 
be substantially lower than longer-term PWLB rates offering a range of 
options for new borrowing.   

d) There is expected to be little difference between 25 year and 50 year 
rates so therefore loans in the 25-30 year periods could be seen as 
being more attractive than 50 year borrowing as the spread between 
the PWLB new borrowing and early repayment rates is considerably 
less.  This would maximise the potential for debt rescheduling and 
allow the Council to rebalance its debt maturity profile. 

e) Fixed rate market loans at 25 – 50 basis points below the PWLB target 
rate offer the opportunity to maintain an appropriate balance between 
PWLB and market debt in the debt portfolio. 

 
39. In light of these projections the proposed Council strategy is as follows: 
 

a) With medium to long term borrowing (25 - 50 year PWLB) forecast to 
be between 4.5% and 5% during the year and shorter borrowing 
forecast to be lower than 4.5% a suitable trigger point for considering 
PWLB fixed rate borrowing would be 4.5%.  Borrowing will be 
considered throughout the financial year in order to spread risk, 
although concentration will be focussed in the first few months of 10/11 
as rates are forecast to rise during the year.  Consideration will also be 
given to the maturity profile of the debt portfolio so the Council is not 
exposed to the concentration of debt being in any one year. 

b) Variable rate borrowing is also expected to be cheaper than long-term 
borrowing and will therefore be considered during the year. It should be 
noted, however, that variable rate borrowing would only bring short-
term benefit and increase the risk to the Council of refinancing debt at 
a future date when it is forecast for rates to be at a higher level. 

Page 188



c) Borrowing for the timing in shortfall of Capital receipts will be kept at 
the very short end - 1 or 2 years - in order to spread the interest rate 
cost over a number of years until budget pressures have eased and the 
capital receipt realised. 

d) Consideration will also be given to not taking full level of borrowing 
required, in light of investment rates being lower than borrowing rates.  
The investment portfolio can be reduced and surplus funds used to 
support the capital borrowing requirement rather than new debt. 

 
40. Caution in this approach will be adopted with the Director of Resources 

monitoring interest rates and ensuring a pragmatic approach is taken to 
changing circumstances reporting any decisions as part of the monitoring 
cycle. 

 
41. The main sensitivities of the forecast are likely to be the two scenarios 

below. The Treasury Management team in conjunction with the treasury 
advisers, will continually monitor both the prevailing interest rates and the 
market forecasts, adopting the following responses to a change of 
sentiment: 
 
• if it were felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and 
short term rates, due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into 
recession or of risks of deflation, then long term borrowings will be 
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short 
term funding will be considered. 
 

• if it were felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in 
long and short term rates, perhaps arising from a greater than 
expected increase in world economic activity or sudden increase in 
inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised with the 
likely action that fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates 
were still relatively cheap 

 
Policy on Borrowing in advance of need  
 
42.  Any decision to borrow in advance of need will be considered carefully to 

ensure value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can 
ensure the security of such funds.  If Investment rates are higher than 
borrowing rates, the Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its 
needs purely in order to profit from the investment of the extra sums 
borrowed. 

 
43. The borrowing requirement is projected to increase significantly from its 

current level of £113.1m in 2009/10 to £160.1m in 2014/15 in line with the 
Capital programme Budget report 2010/11 to 14/15.  Borrowing rates are 
forecast to rise in the future years in the current economic environment, 
whereas the level of investment rates are forecast to be lower. 

 
44. Consideration will be given to borrowing in advance of need to seek to 

minimise the risk of being required to borrow a large amount of money in a 

Page 189



single year. The strategy therefore allows borrowing to be taken in 
advance of need if interest rates are at favourable levels or not to borrow 
until future years if borrowing rates remain above investment rates. 

 
Policy on Gross and Net debt 
 
45. The revised Prudential Code paragraph 43 now requires each authority to 

explain its policy on gross and net debt if there is a significant difference 
between them.  This Council currently has a difference between gross 
debt (£113.1m) and net debt (£72.5m)(after deducting cash balances), of 
£40.6m.   

 
Comparison of 
gross and net debt 
position at year end 

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

 Actual Probable Estimate Estimate Estimate 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Gross external debt   113.1 136.1 158.2 161.9 
Cash balances    40.6   36.0   29.0   26.0 
Net debt    72.5 100.1 129.2 135.0 
    Table 5 – Comparison of Gross and Net Debt 
 
46. The general aim of this treasury management strategy is to reduce the 

difference between the two debt levels over the next three years in order 
to reduce the credit risk incurred by holding investments.  However, 
measures taken in the last year have already reduced substantially the 
level of credit risk (see paragraph 65) so another factor which will be 
carefully considered is the difference between borrowing rates and 
investment rates to ensure the Council obtains value for money once an 
appropriate level of risk management has been attained to ensure the 
security of its investments. 

 
47.  The next financial year is expected to be one of historically abnormally 

low Bank Rate.  Therefore consideration will be given to reducing the level 
of the investment portfolio to support the capital investment requirement, 
rather than taking on new external borrowing. 

 
48.  Over the next three years, investment rates are expected to be below long 

term borrowing rates and so value for money considerations would 
indicate that value could best be obtained by avoiding new external 
borrowing and by using internal cash balances to finance new capital 
expenditure or to replace maturing external debt (this is referred to as 
internal borrowing).  This would maximise short-term savings.  Table 4, still 
shows debt levels increasing, this is largely due to delay in capital receipts 
realised and the borrowing is therefore short term.  It is expected that this 
borrowing can be taken at rates below investment rates available. If not, 
further internal borrowing will be considered. 

 
49.  That said, the benefits of short term savings by avoiding new long term 

external borrowing in 2010/11 will also be weighed against the potential for 

Page 190



incurring additional long term extra costs by delaying unavoidable new 
external borrowing until later years when PWLB long term rates are 
forecast to be significantly higher. 

 
50.  The Council has examined the potential for undertaking early repayment 

of some external debt to the PWLB in order to reduce the difference 
between its gross and net debt positions.  However, the introduction by the 
PWLB of significantly lower repayment rates than new borrowing rates in 
November 2007 has meant that to date large premiums would be incurred 
by such action and would also do so in the near term; such levels of 
premiums may not be justifiable on value for money grounds.  This 
situation will be monitored in case the differential is narrowed by the PWLB 
or when repayment rates rise substantially. 

 
51. Against this background caution will be adopted with the 2010/11 treasury 

operations.  The Director of Finance will monitor the interest rate market 
and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances, reporting any 
decisions to the appropriate decision making body at the next available 
opportunity. 

 
Debt Rescheduling 
 
52. The introduction of the new PWLB rates structure on 1 November 2007 

that introduced a spread between the rates applied to new borrowing and 
repayment of debt, (of about 40 – 50 basis points for the longest period 
loans narrowing down to 25 – 30 basis points for the shortest loans), has 
meant that PWLB to PWLB debt restructuring is now much less attractive 
for the Council than before that date. However, significant interest savings 
will still be achievable through using LOBOs (Lenders Option Borrowers 
Option) loans and other market loans (note commercial markets are not 
currently fully operational thus decreasing the likelihood of debt 
restructures). 

  
53. As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer-

term rates, there maybe opportunities to generate savings by switching 
from long term debt to short-term debt.  However, these savings will need 
to be considered in the light of their short-term nature, the costs of 
premiums involved and the likely cost of refinancing those short-term 
loans, once they mature.  

 
54. The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include: 
 

a) the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings; 
b) helping to fulfil the strategy outlined in paragraph xx above, and 
c) enhancing the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile 

and/or the balance of volatility). 
 

55. There has been much discussion as to whether the size of spread 
between long term PWLB repayment and new borrowing rates should be 
revised (downwards) in order to help local authorities currently dissuaded 

Page 191



from using investment cash balances to repay long term borrowing and 
thereby reduce counterparty and interest rate risk exposure.  The Debt 
management office / PWLB have issued a consultation document with 
suggested options to revise the methodology used to calculate the early 
repayment rate.  The consultation period ended in January 2010 and this 
authority will monitor developments in this area and may amend its 
strategy if significant changes are introduced 

 
56. Any rescheduling will be reported in accordance with the usual monitoring 

cycle. 
 
Investment Strategy 
 
57. The Council will have regard to the department of Communities and Local 

Government’s (DCLG) Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the 
Guidance”) issued in March 2004, any revisions to that guidance, the Audit 
Commission’s report on Icelandic investments (which was reported in the 
Annual Outturn report 2008/09) and the 2009 CIPFA’s Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 
Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA TM Code”).  

 
58. The Council’s investment priorities are the security of capital and the 

liquidity of its investments. The Council also aims to achieve the optimum 
return on its investments commensurate with proper levels of security and 
liquidity.  The risk appetite of this Council is low in order to give priority to 
security of it investments, see later in the section of the Creditworthiness 
Policy. 

  
59. The borrowing of monies specifically to invest or lend on and make a 

return is unlawful and the Council will not engage in such activity. 
 
60. Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in 

Annex F under the Specified and Non-Specified Investments categories.  
Counterparties limits will be as set through the Council’s Treasury 
Management Practices Schedule. Consideration will be given throughout 
the year and approval requested where necessary to the alteration of the 
specified and non-specified investment categories to allow the continued 
effective management of the Councils treasury management operations. 
The Council continues to take a prudent approach to investing funds as 
set out in the Creditworthiness Policy below. 

 
61. The Council’s in-house funds are mainly cash flow derived. Investments 

will accordingly be made with reference to the core balance, cash flow 
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for 
investments up to 12 months). The Council uses matrices that stipulate 
both time and financial limits in order to spread counterparty (credit) risk 
when investing money with approved counterparties. 

 
62. The market interest rate outlook for 2010/11 is based on the position of the 

Bank Rate.  The Bank Rate has been unchanged at 0.50% since March 

Page 192



2009 but is forecast to commence rising in quarter 3 of 2010 and then to 
rise steadily from thereon.  Bank rate forecast for the financial year-end 
are as follows: 2009/10 0.50%, 2010/11 1.50%, 2011/12 3.50% and 
2012/13 4.50%.  There is downside risk to these forecasts if recovery from 
the recession proves to be weaker and slower than currently expected. 
The Council should therefore avoid locking into longer-term deals while 
investment rates are down at historically low levels, unless exceptionally 
attractive rates are available which make longer-term deals worthwhile. 

 
63. For 2010/11 the Council has budgeted for an investment return of 1% on 

investments placed during the financial year.  For its cash flow generated 
balances, the Council will seek to utilise short dated fixed term deposits 
along with instant access business reserve accounts (call accounts) in 
order to benefit from the compounding of interest. 

 
64. At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment 

activity as part of its Annual Treasury Report. 
 
Creditworthiness Policy 
 
65.  This Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Sector 

Treasury Services.  This service has been progressively enhanced over 
the last year and now uses a sophisticated modelling approach with credit 
ratings from all three rating agencies - Fitch, Moodys and Standard and 
Poors, forming the core element.  However, it does not rely solely on the 
current credit ratings of counterparties but also uses the following as 
overlays: 

• credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies 
• CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit 

ratings 
• Soverign ratings to select counterparties from only the most 

creditworthy countries 
 
66.  This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches, credit 

outlooks and CDS (Credit Default Swap) spreads in a weighted scoring 
system for which the end product is a series of colour code bands, which 
indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour 
codes are also used by the Council to determine the duration for 
investments and are therefore referred to as durational bands.  The 
Council is satisfied that this service now gives a much-improved level of 
security for its investments.  It is also a service which the Council would 
not be able to replicate using in house resources. 

 
67. The selection of counterparties with a high level of creditworthiness will be 

achieved by selection of institutions down to a minimum durational band 
within Sector’s weekly credit list of worldwide potential counterparties.  The 
Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational 
bands: 

• Purple   2 years 

Page 193



• Blue  1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised 
UK Banks) 

• Orange  1 year 
• Red   6 months 
• Green   3 months  
• No colour not to be used 

 
68. This Council will not use the approach suggested by CIPFA of using the 

lowest rating from all three rating agencies to determine creditworthy 
counterparties as Moodys are currently very much more aggressive in 
giving low ratings than the other two agencies. This would therefore be 
unworkable and leave the Council with few banks on its approved lending 
list.  The Sector creditworthiness service does though, use ratings from all 
three agencies, but by using a scoring system, does not give undue 
preponderance to just one agency’s ratings. 

 
69. All credit ratings will be monitored on an ongoing basis as information is 

provided weekly basis and also adhoc. The Council is alerted to changes 
to ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Sector 
creditworthiness service: 

• If a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no 
longer meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a 
new investment will be withdrawn immediately. 

• In addition to the use of Credit Ratings the Council will be advised 
of information in movements in Credit Default Swap against the 
iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a weekly basis. 
Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an 
institution or removal from the Councils lending list. 

70. Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In 
addition this Council will also use market data and information, information 
on government support for banks and the credit ratings of that government 
support. 

 
71. The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties 

from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch 
Ratings (or equivalent from other agencies if Fitch does not provide).  This 
list will be added to or deducted from by officers should ratings change in 
accordance with this policy. 

 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement  
 
72. Statutory Instrument 2008 no. 414 s4 explains that a local authority shall 

determine for the current financial year an amount of minimum revenue 
provision that it considers to be prudent. This is a substitution for the 
previous requirement to comply with regulation 28 in S.I. 2003 no. 3146, 
(as amended). 

 
73. Along with the above duty, the Government issued new guidance in 

February 2008 which requires that a Statement on the Council’s policy for 

Page 194



its annual MRP should be submitted to the full Council for approval before 
the start of the financial year to which the provision will relate.  

 
74. The Council are legally obliged to “have regard” to the guidance, which is 

intended to enable a more flexible approach to assessing the amount of 
annual provision than was required under the previous statutory 
requirements. The guidance offers four main options under which MRP 
could be made, with an overriding recommendation that the Council 
should make prudent provision to redeem its debt liability over a period 
which is reasonably commensurate with that over which the capital 
expenditure is estimated to provide benefits. The four options are: 

 
a) The regulatory method – 4% of the borrowing outstanding; 
b) The Capital Financing Method – 4% of the Council’s Capital Financing 

Requirement; 
c) The Depreciation Method – repayment of the debt over its depreciation 

life; 
d) The Asset Life Method – repayment over the life of the asset to which 

the borrowing has been taken to fund. 
 
75. Options a and b have broadly the same impact on the Council and the 

DCLG states are only used for the government supported borrowing.  
Option c would take the maximum repayment period to 40 years on 
operational land and buildings.  Option d would take the maximum 
repayment period up to 60 years for some assets.  

 
76. There are merits in adopting all the options, however, in terms of prudence 

it is recommended that the Council adopts option b for government 
supported borrowing and option d for unsupported borrowing, with a 
caveat that the asset life is an absolute maximum and wherever possible 
the debt should be repaid over a shorter period. To this end it is 
recommended that the standard repayment period should be up to 25 
years or less if the asset life is shorter, unless approval is sought to 
extended the repayment provision over a longer period and a formal 
business case is made to the Executive to do so. 

 
77. It should be noted that with all debts, the longer the repayment period the 

more is paid in interest over the period of the loan.  It is therefore deemed 
as prudent to reduce the period over which the repayments are made.   

 
Policy on use of External Service providers  
 
78.  The Council uses Sector Treasury Services as its external treasury 

management advisers. 
 
79.  The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management 

decisions remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that 
undue reliance is not placed upon our external service providers. 

 

Page 195



80.  It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of 
treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist 
skills and resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their 
appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are 
properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. 

 
Scheme of Delegation and the Role of the Section 151 Officer 
 
81.  Those charged with governance are responsible for the treasury 

management activities and these need to be clearly defined within the 
organisation.  Attached at Annex G are the Treasury Management 
Scheme of Delegation and also the Treasury Management role of the 
section 151 officer (the Director of Resources). 

 
Corporate Priorities 
 
82. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential Indicators 

are aimed at ensuring the Council maximises its return on investments and 
minimises the cost of its debts, to allow more resources to be freed up to 
invest in the Council’s priorities, values and imperatives, as set out in the 
Corporate Strategy. 

 
Implications 
 

• Financial – The revenue implications of the treasury strategy are set 
out in the Revenue Budget report on this agenda.   

• Human Resources (HR) – None 

• Equalities – None 

• Legal – Complying with the Local Government Act 2003 

• Crime and Disorder – None  

• Information Technology (IT) – None 

• Property – None 

 
Risk Management 
 
83. The treasury management function is a high-risk area because of the 

volume and level of large money transactions. As a result of this the Local 
Government Act 2003 (as amended), the CIPFA Prudential Code and the 
CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice (the 
code) are all adhered to as required.  The Prudential Indicators, adopted 4 
Clauses of “the Code” and the treasury management policy statement are 
all attached at Annex A, B and C respectively. 

 
 

Page 196



Recommendations 
 
84. The Executive are asked to recommend that Council approve: 

 
a. The proposed Treasury Management Strategy for 2009/10 
b. The Prudential Indicators for 2009/10 to 2013/14 (Annex C); 
c. The revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2009 “the 

Code” and revised Treasury Management Policy Statement (Annex A 
& B) 

d. The Specified and Non-specified investments schedule (Annex F) 
e. The Scheme of Delegation and the Role of the Section 151 Officer 

(Annex G) 
f. The Financial Regulations be amended to give delegated authority to 

the Director of Resources to have full discretion to choose the length of 
the repayment period for all prudential borrowing as set out in 
paragraph 35. 

g. The Treasury Management Reporting arrangements set out in 
paragraph 16, table 1, as described by “the Code” and the terms of 
reference in the Constitution be amended to include that Audit & 
Governance Committee scrutinise the Treasury Management Strategy 
and Monitoring reports 

 
85. Reason: To enable the continued effective operation of the Treasury 

Management function and ensure that all Council borrowing is prudent, 
affordable and sustainable. 

 
Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

 
Louise Branford-White 
Technical Finance Manager 
Corporate Accountancy 
Tel No. 551187 
 
Ross Brown 
Corporate Accountant 
Corporate Accountancy 
Tel No. 551207 
 
 

Ian Floyd 
Director of Resources 

Report 
Approved  Date 03/02/10 

Ian Floyd 
Director of Resources 

Report 
Approved 

Y Date 03/02/10 
 

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  
 
N/a 
 
Wards Affected:   All Y 

 
 

Page 197



For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers  
2009/10 monitoring workings 
Prudential Indicator Workings 09/10 – 13/14 
Treasury Management budget 10/11 
Capital Budget Control 09/1008/09. 
Sector Treasury Services -Treasury Management Advisers Commentary. 
 
Annexes 
Annex A – Revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 2009 
Annex B – Treasury Management Policy Statement 
Annex C – Prudential Indicators 2009/10 – 2013/14 
Annex D – Prospects for Interest Rates 
Annex E – Economic Background 
Annex F – Specified and Non-Specified Investments categories Schedule 
Annex G – Scheme of Delegation and the Role of the Section 151 Officer 
 
 
 

Page 198



          Annex A 
Adoption of the revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 
2009 
 
1. The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Local Authorities was last 

updated in 2001 and has been revised in 2009 in the light of the default by 
Icelandic banks in 2008. The revised Code requires that a report be submitted to 
the council, board or other appropriate body, setting out four amended clauses 
which should be formally passed in order to approve adoption of the new version of 
the Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes.   

 
2. The revised Code also includes an amended version of the treasury management 

policy statement (TMPS) incorporating just three clauses and a revised definition of 
treasury management activities.   The Code does not require this statement to be 
approved by the council, board or other appropriate body. 

 
3. The revised Code has also set out various requirements which have been 

summarised in paragraph 14 of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
report. 

 
4. CIPFA recommends that all public service organisations adopt the following four 

clauses. 
 

1. This organisation will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective 
treasury management: 
• a treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives 

and approach to risk management of its treasury management activities 
• suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in 

which the organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, 
and prescribing how it will manage and control those activities. 

 
The content of the policy statement and TMPs will follow the recommendations 
contained in Sections 6 and 7 of the Code, subject only to amendment where 
necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of this organisation. Such 
amendments will not result in the organisation materially deviating from the 
Code’s key principles. 

 
2. This organisation (i.e. full board/council) will receive reports on its treasury 

management policies, practices and activities, including, as a minimum, an 
annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-year review and an 
annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMPs. 

 
3. This organisation delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular 

monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices to the Executive, 
and for the execution and administration of treasury management decisions to 
the Director of Resources, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s 
policy statement and TMPs and, as a CIPFA member, CIPFA’s Standard of 
Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

 
4. This organisation nominates Audit & Governance Committee to be responsible 

for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and 
policies. 
 

 
 

 

Page 199



Page 200

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex B 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 

 
 
1. This organisation defines its treasury management activities as: “The 

management of the authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks”. 

 
2. This organisation regards the successful identification, monitoring and 

control of risk to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its 
treasury management activities will be measured. Accordingly, the 
analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will focus on 
their risk implications for the organisation.  

 
3. This organisation acknowledges that effective treasury management 

will provide support towards the achievement of its business and 
service objectives. It is therefore committed to the principles of 
achieving value for money in treasury management, and to employing 
suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within 
the context of effective risk management.” 

Page 201



Page 202

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex C 
 PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS  2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2013/14 

   Probable 
Outturn 

estimate estimate estimate estimate estimate 

1) Capital Expenditure  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 To allow the authority to plan for capital financing as 
a result of the capital programme.  To enable the 
monitoring of capital budgets to ensure they remain 
within budget 

    Non - HRA 6,884 6,908 7,575 7,128 8,973 0 

     HRA 56,043 66,116 57,297 35,891 20,845 24,183 

     TOTAL 62,927 73,024 64,872 43,019 29,818 24,183 
2) Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream        

 This indicator estimates the cost of borrowing in 
relation to the net cost of Council services to be met 
from government grant and council tax payers. In the 
case of the HRA the net revenue stream is the 
income from Rents and Subsidy 

    Non - HRA 6.90% 9.30% 10.06% 10.57% 10.61% 10.50% 

     HRA 3.10% 3.11% 1.20% 0.81% 0.52% 0.52% 

        
3) Incremental impact of capital investment 

decisions - Council Tax 
 £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p 

 Shows the actual impact of capital investment 
decisions on council tax. The impact on council tax is 
a fundamental indicator of  affordability for the 
Council to consider when setting forward plans. The 
figure relates to how much of the increase in council 
tax is used in financing the capital programme and 
any related revenue implications that flow from it. 

Increase in Council 
Tax (band D) per 

annum 

19.49 25.43 21.82 16.69 8.53 0.19 

4) Incremental impact of capital investment 
decisions - Hsg Rents 

 £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p £   p 

 Shows the actual impact of capital investment 
decisions on HRA rent.  For CYC, the HRA planned 
capital spend is based on the government's approved 
borrowing limit so there is no impact on HRA rents. 

Increase in average 
housing rent per 

week 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

5) Capital Financing Requirement as at 31 March   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 Indicates the Council's underlying need to borrow 
money for capital purposes. The majority of the 
capital programme is funded through government 
support, government grant or the use of capital 
receipts.  The use of borrowing increases the CFR. 

Non - HRA 106,763 128,483 140,617 149,257 149,736 148,384 

 HRA 12,235 12,610 12,610 12,610 12,610 12,610 

 TOTAL 118,998 141,093 153,226 161,866 162,345 160,994 

P
age 203



6a) Authorised Limit for external debt -   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 The authorised limit is a level set above the 
operational boundary in acceptance that the 
operational boundary may well be breached because 
of cash flows.  It represents an absolute maximum 
level of debt that could be sustained for only a short 
period of time.  The council sets an operational 
boundary for its total external debt, gross of 
investments, separately identifying borrowing from 
other long term liabilities for 3 financial years. 

borrowing 187 192 202 211 221 221 

 other long term 
liabilities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

 TOTAL 187 192 202 211 221 221 

6b) Operational Boundary for external debt -   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 The operational boundary is a measure of the most 
likely, prudent, level of debt.  It takes account of risk 
management and analysis to arrive at the maximum  
level of debt projected as part of this prudent 
assessment.  It is a means by which the authority 
manages its external debt to ensure that it remains 
within the self imposed authority limit.  It is a direct 
link between the Council’s plans for capital 
expenditure; our estimates of the capital financing 
requirement; and estimated operational cash flow for 
the year. 

borrowing 167 172 182 191 201 201 

 other long term 
liabilities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

 TOTAL 167 172 182 191 201 201 

7) Adoption of the CIPFA in Public Services: Code 
of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 

Recommended in the Treasury Management Strategy 2010/11 to 2014/15 

8a) Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure        

 The Council sets limits to its exposures to the effects 
of changes in interest rates for 3 years.  The Council 
should not be overly exposed to fluctuations in 
interest rates which can have an adverse impact on 
the revenue budget if it is overly exposed to variable 
rate investments or debts   

Net principal re fixed 
rate borrowing / 

investments 

114% 108% 105% 104% 104% 104% 

8b) Upper limit for variable rate exposure        

 The Council sets limits to its exposures to the effects 
of changes in interest rates for 3 years.  The Council 
should not be overly exposed to fluctuations in 
interest rates which can have an adverse impact on 
the revenue budget if it is overly exposed to variable 
rate investments or debts   

Net principal re 
variable rate 
borrowing / 
investments 

-14% -8% -5% -4% -4% -4% 

P
age 204



   2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2013/14 
9) Upper limit for total principal sums invested for 

over 364 days 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 The Council sets an upper limit for each forward 
financial year period for the level of investments that 
mature in over 364 days. These limits reduce the 
liquidity and interest rate risk associated with 
investing for more than one year. The limits are set 
as a percentage of the average balances of the 
investment portfolio. 

Upper Limit £10,000 £10,000 £10,000 £10,000 £10,000 £10,000 

10) Maturity structure of new fixed rate borrowing 
during 2006/07 

 Upper   
Limit 

Lower 
Limit                   

    

  under 12 months 20% 0%     

 To minimise the impact of debt maturity on the cash 
flow of the Council.  Over exposure to debt maturity 
in any one year could mean that the Council has 
insufficient liquidity to meet its repayment liabilities, 
and as a result could be exposed to risk of interest 
rate fluctuations in the future where loans are 
maturing.  The Council therefore sets limits whereby 
long term loans mature in different periods thus 
spreading the risk. 

12 months and within 
24 months 

20% 0%     

 24 months and within 
5 years 

25% 0%     

 5 years and within 10 
years 

40% 0%     

 10 years and above 90% 30%     

         
Glossary Of Abbreviations        

HRA Housing Revenue Account CYC City of York Council     
SORP Statement of Recommended Practice - for Local 

Authority Accounting 
CFR Capital Financing 

Requirement 
    

        
        
 Explanation of Certain Indicators:       

2 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream – In 10/11 this indicator significantly increase due to the amount of borrowing required to 
be taken out in due to the capital receipts not being received.  In future years this indicator remains fairly static due to the timing of the capital 
receipts being received, which reduces the affect of further borrowing. 

3 Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on Council Tax – the increased borrowing in 10/11 increases the finance costs in 
11/12 and therefore a marked rise in the increase on council tax. 

 
 

P
age 205



P
age 206

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex D 
Interest Rate Forecasts  

The data below shows a variety of forecasts published by a number of 
institutions.  The first three are individual forecasts including those of UBS and 
Capital Economics (an independent forecasting consultancy).  The final one 
represents summarised figures drawn from the population of all major City banks 
and academic institutions.   
 
The forecast within this strategy statement has been drawn from these diverse 
sources and officers’ own views. 

1. INDIVIDUAL FORECASTS 

Sector Treasury Services interest rate forecast – 23.11.09 
 

 
 
Capital Economics interest rate forecast – 5.11.09 
 

 
 
UBS interest rate forecast (for quarter ends) – 30.10.09 
 

  

Page 207



Continued Annex D 

2. SURVEY OF ECONOMIC FORECASTS 

HM Treasury December 2009 – summary of forecasts of 23 City and 12 
academic analysts for Q4 2009 and 2010.  Forecasts for 2010 to 2013 are based 
on 21 forecasts in the last quarterly forecast – November 2009. 
  

 
 
 

Page 208



          Annex E 
Economic Background 

Introduction 

1. The credit crunch storm of August 2007 eventually fed through to the near 
collapse of the world banking system in September 2008.  This then pushed 
most of the major economies of the world into a very sharp recession in 2009 
accompanied by a dearth of lending from banks anxious to rebuild their 
weakened balance sheets.  Many governments were forced to recapitalise 
and rescue their major banks and central banks precipitately cut their central 
bank rates to 0.10 – 1.00% in order to counter the recession.  

 
2. The long awaited start of growth eventually came in quarter 3 2009 in the US 

and the EU.  However, there was disappointment that the UK failed to emerge 
from recession in quarter 3. 

 
3. Inflation has plunged in most major economies and is currently not seen as 

being a problem for at least the next two years due to the large output gaps 
and high unemployment putting a lid on wage growth.  In many countries 
there have been widespread pay freezes in 2009 and these are likely to be 
persistent for some time. 

 
4. Deflation could become a threat in some economies if they were to go into a 

significant double dip recession. 
 
5. Asian countries, especially China, are buoying world demand through their 

own stimulus measures. 
 
6. There still needs to be a radical world rebalancing of excess savings rates by 

cash rich Asian and oil based economies and excess consumption rates in 
Western economies if the world financial system is not to avoid a potential 
rerun of this major financial crisis in years to come. 

 
7. Most major economies have resorted to a huge expansion of fiscal stimulus 

packages in order to encourage a fast exit from recession.  This, together with 
expenditure on direct support provided to ailing banks, has led to a drastic 
expansion in government debt levels which will take many years to eliminate 
and to restore the previous health of national finances. 

 
Two growth scenarios 

8. The current big issue is ‘how quickly will the major world economies recover?’  
There is a sharp division of opinion on this question as set out below. The 
knock on effects on forecasts for interest rates can be seen in Annex D – 
UBS strong recovery, Capital Economics – weak recovery. 

Page 209



 
Scenario 1: Strong recovery 

9. This is a normal cyclical recovery which will be strong in the major world 
economies.  The US still has potential to add further fiscal stimulus in 2010 to 
ensure that strong recovery continues after the current round of stimulus 
measures end.  Growth in the EU is likely to be strong in 2010 and not require 
such help.   

 
The UK: 

10. GDP growth will almost get back to the long term average of about 2.5% in 
2011 but is likely to peak in the first half of the year as inventory rebuilding 
and stimulus measures fade and fiscal contraction kicks in later in the year. 

 
11. The economy will rebalance with strong growth in exports and import 

substitution helped by strong recovery in the EU and the rest of the world.  
 
12. Sterling has depreciated by 25% since the peak in 2007 and is likely to stay 

weak. 
 
13. Consumer spending – only a mediocre recovery is expected due to a steady 

increase in the savings ratio from +5.6% in 2009 to about 8% in 2011 as 
consumers pay down debt or build cash balances.  Consumer incomes will be 
held down by wage freezes and increases in taxation. 

 
14. House price recovery is expected to persist helped by a low Bank Rate for a 

prolonged period; the peak to trough fall in house prices is now expected to 
be no more than 20%.  House prices to rise by about 6% in 2010, and 3% in 
2011; mortgage approvals will rise back to the level of 75 - 80,000 per month 
needed to ensure a continuation of a trend of rising house prices. 

 
15. CPI inflation to peak @ 2.5% in early 2010 after the rise in VAT in January but 

then to fall to a trough near 1.5% in early 2011 and to stay below 2% for the 
rest of 2011. 

 
16. The current MPC attitude is one of hang on as long as possible before 

increasing Bank Rate.  The aim of this would be to try to ensure that growth 
gets going at a decent rate and that Bank Rate gets back to 4 – 5% before 
the next recession and that all assets purchased through QE have been sold 
off by then. The first Bank Rate increase is expected in Q3 2009. 

 
17. If there is a change of Government in 2010 with a more aggressive fiscal 

approach then this could delay the timing of Bank Rate starting to go up. 

Page 210



18. The fiscal deficit is 6.4% of GDP, about £90bn, which is expected to fall at 
£11bn p.a. over eight years at currently planned rates.  This is similar to the 
peak deficit of 7% in 1990s which was remedied to a surplus of 1.6% in the 
space of 6 years helped by strong, steady economic growth of 3% p.a. 
supported by loose monetary policy that compensated for the fiscal squeeze. 

 
19. Gilt yields, especially longer term ones, are currently artificially low due to the 

Bank of England’s Quantitative Easing operations.  £200bn of gilts, 
commercial bonds and paper are being purchased under this scheme which 
has inflated prices and depressed yields.  Once this campaign ends, yields 
will inevitably rise but will also rise due to the huge level of issuance of new 
gilts to finance the fiscal deficit. Long gilt yields are therefore forecast to reach 
6% during 2011. 

 
20. Gilt yields could rise higher if there was a hung Parliament in 2010 or if the 

fiscal situation deteriorates further. 
 
21. The major risk to this scenario would be a lack of supply of bank credit.  

However, it is felt that the Bank of England is on alert to ensure that this does 
not happen and would continue various measures to assist the expansion of 
credit. 

 
Scenario 2 - Weak recovery 
22. The current economic cycle is not a normal business cycle but a balance 

sheet driven cycle.  Over borrowed banks, corporates and consumers are 
focused on shrinking their levels of borrowing to more viable and affordable 
levels and this balance sheet adjustment will take several years to be 
effected.  Repayment of debt will therefore act as a major head wind to the 
required increase in demand in the economy.  Consequently there will only be 
weak economic recovery over the next few years after the initial sharp 
inventory rebuilding rebound fades. GDP growth is forecast to reach only 
+1.5% in 2011. 

 
23. Fiscal contraction will further dampen economic recovery driven by a strong 

political agenda to accelerate cuts in expenditure and increases in taxation 
after the general election in 2010. 

 
24. The consumer savings ratio will rise so as to eliminate over borrowing and to 

insure against people losing their jobs during this downturn.  This will depress 
consumer expenditure, the main driver of the UK economy. 

 
25. Growth will also be hampered by a reduced supply of credit from weakened 

banks compounded by weak demand for credit. 

Page 211



26. The eventual reversal of Quantitative Easing will take cash out of the 
economy and reduce demand in the economy. 

 
27. Unemployment is likely to rise to near to 3m in 2010 and take years to 

subside due to weak growth.  High unemployment will reduce tax income and 
increase expenditure on benefits and the costs of local authority services. 

 
28. Inflation will not be a threat for several years as the current 6% output gap will 

take until 2014 to be eliminated.  However, deflation is a major danger for 
some years: the major falls in manufacturing prices over the last 12 -18 
months have still to feed through to the economy and then to impact wage 
deflation. 

 
29. CPI inflation will blip up over 2% in early 2010 but will then be on a strong 

downward trend to about -1% in 2011. 
 
30. There is no need for the MPC to change Bank Rate from 0.5% in 2010 or 

2011 and possibly for 5 years as they will need to counter the fiscal 
contraction which will dampen demand in the economy. 

 
31. Long PWLB rates will FALL from current levels to near 4% in 2010 due to 

weak economic recovery and minimal inflation so that the real rate of return 
(net of inflation) on long gilts is healthy at these low levels  

 
Treasury Management Advisers - Sector Treasury Service’s view 

32. Sector Treasury Services recognises that at the current time it is difficult to 
have confidence as to exactly how strong the UK economic recovery will 
prove to be.  Both the above scenarios are founded on major assumptions 
and research which could or could not turn out to be correct.  Sector Treasury 
Services has adopted a more moderate view between these two scenarios 
outlined above i.e. a moderate return to growth. 

 
33. It is felt that the risks that long term gilt yields and PWLB rates will rise 

markedly are high. 
 
34. There are huge uncertainties in all forecasts due to the major difficulties of 

forecasting the following areas: - 
i. degree of speed and severity of fiscal contraction after the general 

election 
ii. timing and amounts of the reversal of Quantitative Easing,  
iii. speed of recovery of banks’ profitability and balance sheet imbalances 
iv. changes in the consumer savings ratio 
v. rebalancing of the UK economy towards exporting and substituting imports  

Page 212



 
35. The overall balance of risks is weighted to the downside i.e. the pace of 

economic growth disappoints and Bank Rate increases are delayed and/or 
lower. 

 
36. There is an identifiable risk of a double dip recession and deleveraging 

creating a downward spiral of falling demand, falling jobs and falling prices 
and wages leading to deflation but this is considered to be a small risk and an 
extreme view at the current time on the basis of current evidence 

 
 

Page 213



Page 214

This page is intentionally left blank



          Annex F 
Specified and Non-Specified Investments Categories 
 
SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: 
All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to 
maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ rating criteria where applicable 
 

 Minimum ‘High’ Credit 
Criteria Use 

Debt Management Agency 
Deposit Facility -- In-house 

Term deposits – local authorities  -- In-house 

Term deposits – banks and 
building societies  

Coded: Orange on 
Sectors Matrix. 
Fitch’s rating: 
Short-term F1+, Long-
term AA-, Individual B, 
Support 2 
Or equivalent rating 
from Standard & Poors 
and Moody’s 

In-house  

Certificates of deposits issued by 
banks and building societies 
covered by UK Government 
guarantee 

Fitch’s rating: Short-
term F1+, Long-term 
AA-, Individual B,  
Support 2 or equivalent 
rating from Standard& 
Poors and Moodys 

In-house buy and 
hold and Fund 
Managers 

UK Government Gilts Long term AAA 
In-house buy and 
hold and Fund 
Managers 

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks  Long term AAA 

In-house buy and 
hold and Fund 
Managers 

Bonds issued by a financial 
institution which is guaranteed by 
the UK government 

Long term AAA 
In-house buy and 
hold and Fund 
Managers 

Sovereign bond issues (i.e. other 
than the UK govt) AAA  

In-house buy and 
hold and Fund 
Managers 

Treasury Bills -- Fund Managers 
Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies 
(OEICs): - 

    1. Government Liquidity Funds 
Short-term F1, 
 Long-term AAA 
Volatility rating  

In-house and Fund 
Managers 

    2. Money Market Funds 
Short-term F1, 
 Long-term AAA 
Volatility rating  

In-house and Fund 
Managers 

    .3. Enhanced cash funds 
Short-term F1, 
 Long-term AAA 
Volatility rating  

In-house and Fund 
Managers 

    4. Bond Funds Long-term AAA 
Volatility rating  

In-house and Fund 
Managers 

Page 215



    5. Gilt Funds Long-term AAA 
Volatility rating  

In-house and Fund 
Managers 

 
Since the credit crunch crisis there have been a number of developments that 
require separate consideration: 
 
Nationalised banks in the UK have credit ratings, which do not conform to the 
credit criteria usually used by local authorities to identify banks, which are of 
high creditworthiness.  In particular, as they no longer are separate institutions 
in their own right, it is impossible for Fitch to assign them an individual rating for 
their stand-alone financial strength.  Accordingly, Fitch have assigned an F 
rating which means that at a historical point of time, this bank failed and is now 
owned by the Government.  However, these institutions are now recipients of 
an F1+ short term rating as they effectively take on the creditworthiness of the 
Government itself i.e. deposits made with them are effectively being made to 
the Government. They also have a support rating of 1; in other words, on both 
counts, they have the highest ratings possible. 
 
UK banking system support package. Please note that the UK Government 
has NOT given a blanket guarantee on all deposits but has underlined its 
determination to ensure the security of the UK banking system by supporting 
eight named banks with a £500bn support package.  Therefore, this authority 
will authorise lending to those named banks on the basis of that implicit 
guarantee on local authority deposits placed with these eight banks up to a limit 
of 1 year.  The eight Banks eligible for support under the UK bail-out package: 
Abbey, Barclays, HBOS, Lloyds TSB, HSBC, Nationwide Building Society, 
RBS, Standard Chartered 
 
Blanket guarantees on all deposits. Some countries have supported their 
banking system by giving a blanket guarantee on ALL deposits e.g. Ireland and 
Singapore.  The sovereign rating of those countries is considered to take 
precedence over the individual credit ratings for the banks covered by that 
guarantee, if the sovereign rating has a credit criteria of AAA.  Currently this is 
not the case and no deposits are invested with Countries with blanket 
guarantees.   
 
Other Countries banking system support packages.  In addition, this 
authority does not rely on the implicit guarantee for the banking systems of 
other countries, like the UK banking support package.  Sector Treasury 
Services, treasury management advisers, do not provide an information service 
on other countries support packages. 
 

 Minimum Credit 
Criteria Use 

Max % of 
total 
investments 

Max. 
maturity 
period 

UK Government support to 
the banking sector Sovereign rating 

In-house 
and Fund 
Managers 

100% 1 Year 

 
 Points to Note: 

Page 216



If forward deposits are to be made, the forward period plus the deal period 
should not exceed one year in aggregate.   
N.B. buy and hold may also include sale at a financial year-end and 
repurchase the following day in order to accommodate the requirements of 
SORP. 
Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ 
from the underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions made 
by this Council. To ensure that the Council is protected from any adverse 
revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, a review of the 
accounting implications of new transactions will be occur before they are 
undertaken. 
 
NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: 
 A maximum of 100% can be held in aggregate in non-specified investment 
 
1.  Maturities of ANY period 
 

 * Minimum Credit 
Criteria Use 

*** Max % of 
total 
investments 

Max. 
maturity 
period 

Term deposits – banks and 
building societies 

Coded: red and 
green on Sectors 
Matrix. 
Fitch’s rating: 
Short-term F1, 
Long-term A-,  
Or equivalent rating 
from Standard & 
Poors and Moody’s  

In-house 100% 3-6 
Months 

Fixed term deposits with 
variable rate and variable 
maturities: -Structured 
deposits 

 Short-term F1+, 
Long-term AA-, 
Individual B, 
Support 2 

In-house  25% 1 Year 

Certificates of deposits 
issued by banks and building 
societies NOT covered by 
UK Government guarantee  

Short-term F1+, 
Long-term AA-, 
Individual B, 
Support 2  

In-house 
buy and 
hold and 
Fund 
Managers 

30% 1 Year 

Commercial paper issuance 
by UK banks covered by UK 
Government guarantee 

UK Government 
explicit guarantee 

In-house 
and Fund 
Managers 

30% 1 Year 

Commercial paper other  

Short-term F1+, 
Long-term AA-, 
Individual B, 
Support 2  

In-house 30% 1 Year 

Corporate Bonds issued by 
UK banks covered by UK 
Government guarantee: the 
use of these investments 
would constitute capital 
expenditure  

UK Government 
explicit guarantee  

In-house 
and Fund 
Managers 

N/A – Capital 
Expenditure 

N/A – 
Capital 
Expenditu
re 

Page 217



Corporate Bonds other: the 
use of these investments 
would constitute capital 
expenditure  

Short-term F1+, 
Long-term AA-, 
Individual B, 
Support 2 

In-house 
and Fund 
Managers 

N/A – Capital 
Expenditure 

N/A – 
Capital 
Expenditu
re 

Other debt issuance by UK 
banks covered by UK 
Government guarantee 

UK Government 
explicit guarantee 

In-house 
and Fund 
Managers 

30%  

Floating Rate Notes: the use 
of these investments would 
constitute capital 
expenditure unless they are 
issued by a multi lateral 
development bank 

 Long-term AAA Fund 
Managers 

N/A – Capital 
Expenditure 

N/A – 
Capital 
Expenditu
re 

Property fund: the use of 
these investments would 
constitute capital 
expenditure 

-- Fund 
Managers 

N/A – Capital 
Expenditure 

N/A – 
Capital 
Expenditu
re 

 
2.  Maturities in excess of 1 year 
 

Term deposits – local 
authorities  -- In-house 10% > 1 year 

Term deposits – banks and 
building societies  

Coded: Purple on 
Sectors Matrix. 
Fitch’s rating: 
Short-term F1+, 
Long-term AA-, 
Individual B, 
Support 2  
Or equivalent rating 
from Standard & 
Poors and Moody’s  

In-house 10% > 1 year 

Certificates of deposits 
issued by banks and 
building societies 

Short-term F1+, 
Long-term AA-, 
Individual B, 
Support 2 

In house 
and Fund 
Managers 

10% > 1 year 

UK Government Gilts   AAA 
In-house 
and Fund 
Managers 

10% > 1 year 

Bonds issued by 
multilateral development 
banks  

AAA 
In-house 
and Fund 
Managers 

10% > 1 year 

Bonds issued by a financial 
institution which is 
guaranteed by the UK 
government  

AAA 
In-house 
and Fund 
Managers 

10% > 1 year 

Sovereign bond issues (i.e. 
other than the UK govt)  AAA  

In-house 
and Fund 
Managers 

10% > 1 year 

 
 
 

Page 218



          Annex G 
Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 
(i) Executive / Full Council 

• receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, 
practices and activities 

• approval of annual strategy. 

 

(ii) Executive 

• approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices 

• budget consideration and approval 

• approval of the division of responsibilities 

• receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 
recommendations 

• approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms 
of appointment. 

 

(iii) Audit & Governance Committee 

• receiving and scrutinising reports on treasury management policies, 
practices and activities 

• scrutinising the annual strategy 

 

(iv) Director of resources (Section 151 Officer) 

• reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the responsible body. 

 

The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer 
The S151 (responsible) officer 

• recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance 

• submitting regular treasury management policy reports 

• submitting budgets and budget variations 

• receiving and reviewing management information reports 

• reviewing the performance of the treasury management function 

• ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function 

• ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit 

• recommending the appointment of external service providers. 

Page 219



Page 220

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

   
 
Executive 
 

16 February 2010 

Report of the Director of Resources  
 
Financial Strategy 2010-2016 

Summary 

1 This paper presents the Financial Strategy 2010-2016 including the detailed 
Revenue Budget proposals for 2010/11.  There are separate reports on the 
agenda covering the capital budget and the treasury management strategy.  
The proposals in this paper present a balanced budget for the council for 
2010/11 with the following key features: 

a. Revenue investment of £14.794m the funding for which will be achieved 
through: 

i Revenue savings.  The council has gone through a very rigorous and 
difficult exercise to propose revenue savings of £6.627m which increase 
the efficiency of the organisation but will have minimal impact on front 
line services 

ii Efficiency savings from the first year of the More for York programme will 
deliver further savings of £4.500m of which £0.775m is incorporated into 
the council tax base leaving £3.725m to fund revenue investment 

iii An additional £2.564m from a City of York Council tax rise of 2.9% 
resulting in a Band D Council Tax, for City of York Council only, of 
£1,092.97, an increase of £30.80 

iv Meeting £0.500m of one-off expenditure from the venture fund 

v Meeting £0.288m of one-off expenditure from the collection fund surplus 
available 

vi Additional formula grant funding of £1.090m; 

b. A net revenue budget of £117.978m, which will be funded by: 

i Council tax income of £72.619m 

ii Government grant of £44.571m 

iii Use of reserves at £0.500m 

iv Collection fund surplus adjustment of £0.288m; 

Agenda Item 14Page 221



c. Funding for pupil led aspects of education, primarily schools, of £92.905m to 
be met by the Dedicated Schools Grant; 

d. A comprehensive consultation exercise has been undertaken as part of the 
budget process.  The recommendations in this report are based on a set of 
proposed growth and savings items which when amalgamated with the 
grant settlement and a 2.9% council tax increase produce a balanced 
budget.  In considering whether or not to accept any of these additional 
proposals Members need to take due cognizance of the need to ensure that 
any amendments to the budget are balanced, that is 

- savings and growth must either equal each other, or 
- the net value of savings and growth changes must be corrected via 

appropriate transfers to or from reserves, or  
- the net value of savings and growth changes must result in equivalent 

adjustments to the council tax levied by the council, or  
- the net value of savings and growth changes must be reflected in 

adjustments to the fees and charges levied. 

2 The directorate savings identified are likely to result in 35 fte posts being lost, 
with approximately a further 100 from the More for York transformation 
programme.  Every effort will be made to redeploy the staff affected.  However, 
these proposals will enable the council to maintain and continue to improve its 
existing quality services (such as education and social care) whilst investing in 
core priorities and areas of need.   

3 Alongside this the council has also been able to maintain public priorities such 
as:  

• free national bus passes for the over 60's 
• free evening car parking for residents 
• freeze most parking charges 
• enhanced waste recycling arrangements, and 
• invest £1m of capital resources in highways maintenance. 

4 It is useful to put this in the context of a council tax increase of approximately 
59 pence per week and that in 2009/10 York had the second lowest council tax 
and the lowest spend per person of any Unitary Authority. 

5 In addition to known commitments there are increasing volume and price/cost 
demands on services, particularly in children’s and adult social services and in 
waste:   

• landfill tax increase of £8 per tonne per annum will add around £0.5m to 
costs 

• the number of looked after children in York continues to increase, with a rise 
of 35% in the numbers between March 2008 and December 2009.  
Associated costs include fostering, out-of-city placements and guardianship 
and legal fees.  In total an additional sum of £1.5m has been included in the 
budget 

Page 222



• A further £0.5m has been incorporated to fund increased demand for adult 
learning and disabilities services, including complex cases, and for home 
care contracts.   

6 The total non-schools directorate growth allowed for in the proposed budget is 
£10.551m.  A full list of these pressures is shown at Annex 3.  

7 To help fund the rising budget pressures and keep council tax down the non-
schools budget proposals include efficiency savings and income generation 
proposals of £6.627m.  A full list is shown at Annex 4.  In addition to this a 
further gross efficiency saving of £4.5m (net £3.725m) will be delivered through 
the council’s transformation programme, More for York.  In total these savings 
amount to a gross sum of £11.128m. 

8 Members should note that there are a number of potential expenditure 
pressures which may materialise in 2010/11 but which cannot at this stage be 
quantified with any certainty.  Whilst there were no ongoing allocations made 
during 2009/10 it has been crucial in providing funding for issues that have 
arisen in year, and the proposed base budget contingency provision of £855k is 
recommended as a minimum level for 2010/11 based on a risk assessment of 
all the as yet unquantified financial issues that face the council next year.  The 
contingency allows for just under 80% of the known issues to be funded should 
they arise.  Possible calls on this contingency are detailed in Annex 7 and 
summarised in paragraph 57. 

9 The medium term plan sets out the forecast expenditure plans for the council 
for the following five years compared with projected levels of grants and council 
tax.  It identifies the need for efficiencies/savings of around £10m per annum.  It 
is clear that the council faces a number of significant pressures in coming years 
resulting in the need to deliver efficiency savings whilst ensuring service quality 
is maintained and improved.  A number of key assumptions are made within the 
financial plans, and these are set out later in this report. 

10 The budget as set out continues significant investment in a range of council 
priorities and provides for affordable investment in a range of pressures and 
priorities facing the council.  Medium term planning has been enhanced through 
the revised strategies, which seek to ensure prudent and affordable financial 
planning over the longer term.  The impact of the budget proposals is 
considered within the report, with specific reference to council priorities, the 
economic downturn and consultation. 

11 The strategy takes particular account of the economic downturn, this is 
important in terms of risk and also in terms of the council making a positive 
contribution to dealing with the economic situation.  In terms of risk various 
factors are considered, including particularly levels of income, eg car parking 
and treasury management.  Additional information is included in the section on 
budget impact assessment.  

Page 223



 REVENUE BUDGET 2010/11 - DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Background 

12 The base for the 2010/11 budget is the council's net revenue budget for 
2009/10 of £113.536m.  The medium term financial strategy (MTFS) for 
2009/10 (presented to the Executive on 15 December 2009) included the 
following key assumptions: 

a a council tax rise of 2.9% 
b a formula grant rise of 2.5% 
c cash limiting budgets for directorates, with the need to self-fund all non-

exceptional budget pressures within this cash limit, including: 
i pay increases, i.e. operating on a cash standstill basis 
ii inflationary increases, as above 
iii any cost of appeals and increments arising from the pay and grading 

review 
iv one-off growth items to reduce pressure on the council’s reserves 

d an assumed level of savings gained through the More for York programme 
e reinvestment of any such savings into priority areas identified as part of 

ongoing budget monitoring and from the corporate strategy. 

13 The provisional funding settlement for 2010/11 was released on 26 November 
2009 and final details were published on 20 January 2010.  This gave the 
council a 2.51% increase in grant compared to a unitary average increase of 
3.0%.  York’s annual increase is top sliced under the ‘damping’ system to 
guarantee other councils a minimum level of grant, meaning a loss of £1.155m 
in 2010/11.  At the same time the average formula grant funding per person that 
York receives is £224.19 compared with the unitary average of £378.18. 

14 In accordance with the budget approach directorates were required to self-
manage all non-exceptional or non-priority budgetary pressures.  This included 
identifying areas where savings or efficiencies could be made in order to fund 
costs relating to pay and price inflation, increments, additional costs following 
the implementation of the pay and grading review and other areas where an 
investment need was identified.  Major items were considered as part of the 
overall corporate budget. 

15 In arriving at the budget proposals to be recommended to Council consideration 
has been given to the savings and growth proposals considered by the 
individual Executive Decision Making Sessions (EDMS) meetings and the 
representations thereon, as well as the responses to the budget consultation 
exercise.  The following changes have been made to the growth and savings 
schedules taken to the EDMS meetings: 

• include £100k corporate provision for the revenue implications of increasing 
capital investment on highways and drainage by £1m in response to both 
the consultation exercise and also in recognition of the damage done to the 
infrastructure by the recent spell of bad weather  

Page 224



• in response to the feedback from the consultation exercise, and the need to 
retain front line service provision, revise the saving proposal within Housing 
and Adult Social Services for a reduction in social care assessment staffing 
of 5.5 ftes to just 0.5 fte, a currently vacant post (a change in the value of 
the proposal of £150k) 

• introduce a new saving proposal within Housing and Adult Social Services 
relating to the recent decision to amend the non-residential charging policy.  
An analysis of the implementation costs have identified that costs can be 
reduced by £25k which partially offsets the cost of the assessment team  

• reduce the overall sum allocated for home to school transport within LCCS 
by £200k, with the service to seek through the More for York programme to 
constrain this area of growth.  Whilst this sets a stretching target it is 
considered that in view of the tight financial position the council needs to 
seek to mitigate growth as much as possible. 

16 Members of the Executive will be asked to recommend the expenditure and 
income proposals in this budget paper for the approval of full Council on 25 
February 2010. 

Expenditure Pressures & Budget Position 

17 Annex 1, summarised in Tables 1 to 6, sets out the latest estimate of the 
budget position for 2010/11, using the funding assumptions described in the 
earlier section and the savings and growth being recommended to Council.  
Annex 2 summaries the same information on a directorate basis. 

Expenditure Requirements 2010/11 
£’000 

Net Expenditure Budget for 2009/10 
Less: One-off Funding for non-recurring items 
Starting Expenditure Requirements for 2010/11 
 
Expenditure Pressures in 2010/11 
Unavoidable and corporate non-schools expenditure pressures 
Priority investment 
Directorate growth funded via reprioritisation 
One-off growth 
Total Expenditure Pressures 
 
Total Expenditure Requirements for 2010/11 

117,010 
-3,474 

113,536 
 
 

3,235 
4,374 
6,177 
1,008 

14,794 
 

128,330 
 
 Table 1 - 2010/11 Expenditure Requirements 

Page 225



18 The corporate, priority investment and directorate spending pressures and 
growth proposals are outlined in Annex 3 and summarised below: 

 
 Proposed 

Ongoing 
Proposed 
One-off 

 £’000 £’000 
Unavoidable and Corporate Growth   
Treasury management 2,363 500 
Economic downturn 420 0 
Loss of YPO dividend 97 0 
Neighbourhood priorities 100 0 
Contingency fund 255  
Single Persons Review  35 
Total unavoidable and corporate growth 3,235  535 
   
Priority Investment   
Children’s social care 1,557  
Adult social care 544  
Concessionary fares 900  
Waste 879  
Pay and grading allowances 364  
Barbican Centre maintenance 120  
Youth Offending team 90  
Home to school transport 120  
Proposal to reduce departmental growth -200  
Total priority investment 4,374    0 
   
Directorate Growth funded via Reprioritisation   
Chief Executive 585 0 
City Strategy 651 251 
Housing and Adult Social Services 1,473 0 
Learning, Culture and Children’s Services 1,894 20 
Neighbourhood Services 981 202 
Resources 593 0 
Total directorate growth 6,177  473 

 
Table 2 - 2010/11 Summary of Growth 

19 Annex 3 lists growth proposals totalling £14.794m split between base budget of 
£13.786m and one-off of £1.008m.  Within this, £10.551m relates to recurring 
directorate pressures, including both the priority investment items listed above 
and directorate growth funded via reprioritisation.  The proposed funding for the 
one-off growth items are £0.500m from the council’s venture fund, £0.220m 
from utilising the final year’s receipt of Housing and Planning Grant (this is 
shown as a one-off saving in Annex 4) and the remaining £0.288m will be met 
by the surplus available from the collection fund (which is also one-off income, 
see paragraph 50 for further information). 

Page 226



 Unavoidable and Corporate Growth 

 Treasury Management (£2,363k recurring and £500k non-recurring) 

20 The council has to make provision within the revenue account to fund the 
interest and principal repayments on any borrowing it undertakes.  Overall there 
is a growth proposal for £2,363k in the treasury management budgets mainly 
due to a reduction in the interest earned from investments (£860k) and the 
additional cost (£1,360k) of the minimum revenue provision (MRP).  In addition 
there is a small cost of interest being paid on external borrowing (143k).   

21 Pending the market improving some asset sales are being delayed.  This has a 
potential financial benefit in the longer term, but in the short-term will mean we 
have to incur short-term borrowing at an estimated cost of £500k.  The use of 
the venture fund to support this is considered financially prudent, with a view to 
maximising capital receipts in the longer term.  

22 The MRP represents the minimum amount the council must set aside to repay 
its debt, rather like the principal element of a mortgage repayment.  This is 
calculated as a percentage of the council's capital financing requirement.  The 
capital financing requirement reflects the council's underlying need to borrow for 
a capital purpose.  Further detail on treasury management is included in a 
further report on this agenda. 

 Other Unavoidable and Corporate Growth (£872k recurring and £35k non-
recurring) 

23 There is still pressure on income streams resulting from the economic 
downturn, and together with the impact of the reinstatement of VAT to 17.5% 
the loss of income, particularly on car parking and planning income, is expected 
to be £420k.  This proposal would enable the relevant budgets to be set at a 
level which is likely to be achieved.  Equally there is an expectation that the 
trading profits of the Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation will be deflated by 
£97k. 

24 One of the priority areas for increased spending from the public consultation 
was on maintaining or increasing spending on road and footpath maintenance.  
The recent bad weather has had a further detrimental effect on their condition.  
An increased budget of £100k is therefore included to provide the revenue 
funding to support an additional £1m capital spend on highways and drainage. 

25 Whilst there have been no ongoing allocation from the current base 
contingency of £600k it has been crucial in providing funding for issues that 
have arisen in the year.  The items identified as potentially needing additional 
funding during 2010/11 include £860k relating to income reductions if the 
current economic position continues.  It is therefore recommended that the 
minimum level for 2010/11 is a contingency in the sum of £855k, an increase of 
£255k.  This is based on a risk assessment of all the as yet unquantified 
financial issues that face the council next year.  This level of contingency allows 
for just under 80% of the known issues to be funded should they arise.   

Page 227



26 External consultants have undertaken a review of residents who claim single 
persons discount against their council tax.  This review has resulted in the 
removal of many of these claimants and increased the council tax base of the 
council.  This has lead to an anticipated increase in the surplus expected on 31 
March 2010 and it is proposed to fund the fees from this increased surplus 
during 2010/11. 

Priority Investment 

27 The council has experienced cost pressures during 2009/10 due to 
demographic and demand-led changes which will have continuing impact in 
2010/11.  At the same time there are other pressures that result from council 
and government priorities.  Each of these has been separately addressed 
during the preparation of the budget and is detailed below.  It should be noted 
that these pressures were included within the appropriate EDMS report and are 
included within the departmental analysis in Annex 2. 

28 As previously reported to Members, the number of looked after children in York 
continues to increase.  Between March 2008 and December 2009 there was an 
increase of 59 children (35%).  In addition, the existing arrangement for 
accommodating and supporting 16/17 year olds who present as homeless have 
very recently been challenged by a House of Lords ruling.  The Lords ruling 
suggests that where there are more than one category of need (i.e. more than 
needing a roof over their head) then the young people should be considered ‘in 
need of accommodation’ under S20 of the Children Act 1989 (Looked After).  
This means that where 16-17 year olds have previously been accommodated 
under housing legislation, unless they were clearly identified as extremely 
vulnerable, now all 16-17 years will be assessed with the presumption that care 
services should be provided under section 20 of the Children Act 1989.  It is 
estimated that growth of £1.557m would be required in 2010/11 to 
accommodate both these pressures and others on a range of social care 
issues.  This budget includes £0.5m for the potential costs of the 1989 Act.  It is 
recommended that this budget is not released until there has been a further 
report to the Executive setting out the full implications, including costings. 

29 Adult social care costs are increasing due to demographic changes, increased 
demand and known costs associated with individuals with complex needs 
transferring from Children’s Services.  The pressures include costs of increased 
placements for older people and people with mental health needs as well as the 
necessity to increase the number of home care hours available to support 
people in their own homes due the aging population of the city.  In total 
increased investment of £544k is being made to meet all these demands.  

30 The concessionary fare scheme is a government initiative that provides free 
bus travel to anyone over the age of 60 years and for persons with a disability 
that meet set criteria in order to qualify for a pass.  The rising costs are due to 
increased usage, inflation and increased take-up of the token scheme.  These 
increased costs are offset by savings and additional grant, which are included 
in Annex 4. 

Page 228



31 In order to avoid increasing landfill tax liabilities and penalties the council is 
undertaking a joint procurement exercise with North Yorkshire County Council 
(NYCC) for a waste processing facility to reduce the amount of waste landfilled.   
There are ongoing costs from the procurement, primarily legal and financial 
consultants, as the preferred bidder is appointed and a commercial contract is 
drawn up, for which it is estimated that CYC’s contribution will be £200k.  In the 
meantime, landfill tax increases £8 per tonne up to and including 2010/11 and 
contract step increases in landfill processing cost £2 per tonne from 2010/11.  
Further investment costs arise from the implementation of the approved waste 
strategy refresh report and from further promoting the need to reduce landfill 
and increase recycling.  Altogether £879k is being invested. 

32 Other areas where investment is being made is to cover the additional costs of 
allowances following the implementation of the pay and grading review in line 
with costs identified in the monitoring reports during 2009/10; funding to 
maintain the Barbican Centre while the current tendering exercise is being 
completed; funding to secure provision of statutory youth justice services, 
compliance with National Standards, requirements of HM Inspectorate of 
Probation, Youth Justice Board/CAA Capacity & Capability review, and 
conditions of YJB grant which were formerly funded through the use of reserves 
and short-term funding; and to provide additional costs for increased demand 
for home to school transport.  In addition to the priority investment of £120k for 
home to school transport the EDMS for Learning, Culture and Children’s 
Services report included a growth item for a further £311k.  It is proposed to 
reduce this by £200k. 

Directorate Budget Growth and Investment 

33 As set out in paragraph 14 directorates identified cost pressures relating to pay 
and price inflation, increments, additional costs following the implementation of 
the pay and grading review and other areas which require increased investment 
for which they needed to identify savings/efficiencies.  The full list of the 
directorate growth proposals, including those that are shown as priority 
investment in Table 2, are detailed in Annex 4. 

Funding Position 

Government Settlement - 2010/11 

34 The government has committed itself to longer-term financial settlements linked 
to the Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) cycle.  The CSR 07 announced 
in September 2007 covered the three year period 2008/09 to 2010/11.  Annex 
1, summarised in Table 3, shows how these changes in funding affect the 
overall funding position for the council. 

Page 229



 
Funding Requirements 2010/11 

£’000 
Existing funding 
Removal of one-off funding for non-recurring exp. 
One-off use of collection fund surplus 
Starting Funding for 2010/11 
 
Funding Changes in 2010/11 
Increase in formula grant 
Contribution from collection fund surplus 
Use of venture fund 
Total Additional Funding for 2010/11 
 
Additional council tax income received from an increase in 
council tax of 2.9% 
 
Net Funding Available 
 
Additional Funding in 2010/11 

117,010 
-3,474 

-236 
113,300 

 
 

1,090 
288 
500 

1,878 
 
 

2,800 
 

117,978 
 

4,678 
 

Table 3 - Funding Available 2010/11 

Budget Position Summary 

35 The above has highlighted both corporate and departmental expenditure 
pressures and new funding that the council will be receiving in 2010/11.  The 
following table shows the budget position at this stage. 

 £’000 
Corporate expenditure pressures 
Priority investment 
Directorate growth requirements 
One-off growth 
Total Expenditure Pressures 
 
Additional government grant 
Additional council tax income at 2.9% 
Net collection fund surplus 
Use of venture fund 
Total Additional Funding 
 
Budget Gap 

3,235 
4,374 
6,177 
1,008 

14,794 
 

-1,090 
-2,800 

-52 
-500 

-4,442 
 

10,352 
 

Table 4 - Budget Position Summary 

Page 230



Savings and Income Generation 

36 As required by the budget approach directorates have put forward savings of 
which £5.507m is being recommended, with a further £0.9m identified to 
address the priority investment in concessionary fares and £0.220m to fund 
items of non-recurring expenditure, giving a total of £6.627m.  Net corporate 
efficiency savings, through the More for York programme, of £3.725m have also 
been identified.  Annex 4, summarised in Table 5, details the £6.627m of 
individual savings and income generation proposals on a directorate basis. 

 2010/11 
£’000 

Chief Executive 
City Strategy 
Housing and Adult Social Services 
Learning, Culture and Children’s Services 
Neighbourhood Services 
Resources 
Net Total of Savings 
Corporate Savings 
Total Savings 

468 
1,811 

930 
1,778 
1,030 

610 
6,627 
3,725 

10,352 
 

Table 5 - Saving Proposals 

37 The savings proposals above, if accepted, will reduce the establishment by 35 
fte posts, with approximately a further 100 from the More for York 
transformation programme.  It is not possible to calculate a cost in terms of 
redundancy or early retirement as staff may be redeployed into other posts.  
Comments from the Head of Human Resources on the implications of these 
proposals in terms of posts lost and possible redundancy situations are detailed 
later in this report. 

More for York Efficiency Programme 

38 At the heart of the council’s budget strategy and medium term plan is the More 
for York programme.  This seeks to transform how the council delivers services 
and ensure we can meet financial pressures without the need for service 
reductions/cuts. 

39 More for York set a 3-year target of £15m net real efficiency gains.  
Recognising that there will be a natural "build up" of these efficiencies, the plan 
set a lower level of savings for 2010/11.  The programme was expected to 
deliver £3.5m savings in 2010/11 net of any investments and fees.  Following 
the end of the NKA involvement in the programme a wholesale review of 
expected savings and investments has been undertaken.  All assumptions have 
been explored and revised savings targets have been identified.  Following this 
work the expected savings went down and to ensure that the overall target was 
achieved further work was brought into scope or accelerated from future years.  
Table 6 below sets out the estimated savings in the original More for York  

Page 231



 programme followed by the estimates after the review, for years 1 and 2 
totalling in the ongoing revenue savings per year from 2010/11 onwards.  Gross 
savings of £5.254m and investment of £1.251m give a net savings estimate of 
£4.003m.  The financial strategy for 2010/11 sets out the need for savings of 
£4.5m in 2010/11, leaving a further net savings target of £497k still to be 
identified.  The overall position is set out in Table 6 below and is detailed in 
Annex 5a.  The majority of this work has already been authorised by Executive 
but additional work is proposed in City Strategy and LCCS. 

 
Table 6 - More for York Savings 

40 On 20 October 2009 Executive agreed a capital and revenue investment 
budget for More for York to deliver these efficiencies, to be financed through 
prudential borrowing, with associated revenue implications being funded from 
savings arising from the programme.  In addition to this, fees for the efficiency 
partner were also to be paid from savings, over 4 years. 

41 This investment profile has been revised and is presented in detail in Annex 5b.  
A summary is presented in Table 7 following: 

Original Review Original Review Review 2009/10 & Original 2010/11
Year 0 Year 0 Year 1 Year 1 Gross 2010/11 Estimated Budget
2009/10 2009/10 2010/11 2010/11 Total One Offs Savings Total

Customer Services 267      95        672      356      451      71            939          380          
Neighbourhood Services 401      273      1,308   901      1,174   1,709       1,174       
Income Collection 735      70        1,403   296      366      150          2,138       316          
Procurement 20        38        410      362      400      150          430          400          
ICT -       18        390      517      535      390          535          
Human Resources -       -       230      373      373      230          373          
Property -       -       -       165      165      -           165          
Adult Social Care -       18        470      119      137      470          137          
Finance -       -       -       85        85        -           85            
Chief Executives -       -       -       50        50        -           50            
City Strategy -       -       -       91        91        -           91            
Organisational Review -       -       305      600      600      305          600          
LCCS -       -       -       100      100      -           100          
Housing -       -       73        73        73        73            73            

Total 1,423   512      5,261   4,088   4,600   371          6,684       4,479       

Adjustment for increase in
  council tax base 775      775      775          

Total 512      4,863   5,375   5,254       

Investment 250      1,251   1,501   1,251       

Net Savings 262      3,612   3,874   4,003       

Workstream Area

Page 232



 
 2010/11 

Agreed 
Budget 

£’000 

2010/11 
Revised 
Budget 

£’000 

 
 
Difference 
£’000 

 
 
Comment 

Capital Investment     

Capital budget (funded 
from prudential 
borrowing) 

 
 

225 

 
 

210 

 
 

-15 

See separate capital 
report 

Revenue Investment     

Revenue support for 
capital 

 
 

153 

 
 

148 

 
 

-5 

Cumulative costs for 
2009/10 and 2010/11 
capital programme 

Recurring revenue  
 

410 

 
 

184 

 
 

-226 

Removed data centre 
ongoing investment 
£200k 

One-off revenue 115 120 +5  
CYC programme 
resources 

 
100 

 
789 

 
+689 

Increased CYC 
delivery team 

Total revenue 
investment 

 
778 

 
1,241 

 
+463 

 

 
Table 7 - More for York Investment 

42 This revised estimate requires an additional net revenue investment of £463k 
with a reduced recurring revenue requirement (- £231k) offset by an increase in 
one off costs (+£694k).  There are significant changes in two areas, firstly there 
is a significant drop in the recurring revenue requirement due to taking out of 
scope the outsourcing of the data centre where the business case for this 
indicates that this would cost significantly more to run externally than internally.  
The revenue amount for the CYC programme team has significantly increased 
because in order to deliver the expanded programme by ourselves, it will be 
necessary to supplement the current in house team.  However the impact of 
this will be more than offset by the fact that we will no longer be liable for fees 
from an efficiency partner. 

43 It is proposed to identify the precise gaps in our internal capacity skills and 
experience and fill these with a combination of additional CYC programme staff 
or external specialists with a track record of transformation and efficiency in the 
functional areas of the programme.  A full report on this will be brought back to 
Members in April but in the meantime CYC will need to initiate work and will 
therefore need to recruit or procure additional capacity into the team.  Members 
are asked to delegate authority to the Chief Executive and the Director of 
Resources to make decisions on programme resourcing within the bounds of 
the overall investment profile set out in Annex 5. 

Page 233



Expanding the Programme 

44 The medium term financial plan sets out the scale of efficiency/other savings 
that will be required in future years and these are projected at around some 
£10m per annum over the next few years.  This means that the More for York 
programme will need to be much wider than the current agreed reviews, and 
will need to consider both efficiency and overall level of service provision. 

45 The council needs to begin to identify further savings that will contribute to 
these future financial pressures, and therefore it is recommended that further 
work commence immediately in a number of areas set out below.  These will 
have a target saving of £497k in 2010/11, with a view of achieving a much 
greater full year impact in 2011/12. These represent a further step in the More 
for York programme, and in time the programme will need to look into and 
challenge all service areas within the council and is unlikely to leave any area 
untouched.  This initial list suggests some areas that are likely to deliver 
significant savings and have delivered efficiencies for other councils, as well as 
some ideas that have been suggested by staff.  

 
Project 

 
Detail 

Potential 
Saving 

Review of 
corporate transport, 
fleet management 
and travel 
expenses 

Fleet management is already being 
worked on in Neighbourhood Services 
but we have extensive fleets in Adults 
and Children’s social services which 
could be rationalised.  We also procure 
significant transport through bus and 
taxi contracts in these areas and 
savings could be made.  Travel 
arrangements also need to come into 
scope to ensure that corporate 
contracts deliver value for money and 
we are managing all travel spend 
through these contracts.   

£200 - 250k 

Early exit from a 
CYC admin building 
(e.g. 10-12 George 
Hudson St)  

Extend programme of flexible and home 
working and exit one or more buildings 
ahead of the move to the new HQ (1-2 
year saving).  For 10-12 GHS the lease 
runs until 2016.  Break point in lease 
due June 2011 and may not be 
extended until new HQ.  May be 
possible to terminate early and make a 
£200k pa saving but this is a hub in the 
CYC fibre network and hosts the back 
up data centre.  Costs of re-provisioning 
this may be incurred.  Other sites could 
be considered to produce a saving for 2 
years ahead of the move to the new 
HQ.  

£100-200k 
pa 

Page 234



Review commercial 
property portfolio to 
increase revenue 
income 

The council reviewed its commercial 
portfolio in 2007 and the approach 
agreed at that time was to review 
properties as leases drop out and bring 
forward proposals if the revenue yield 
was low or the repair and maintenance 
liability was high.  A more 
comprehensive review of broad options 
for delivering higher levels of income 
with less cost could deliver a better yield 
on this investment portfolio. 

£250k pa 

Shared services Identify high performing/low performing 
services and enter into shared service 
partnerships with other agencies/local 
authorities.  Potential is already being 
explored in ICT, HR and procurement.  
Potential to reduce management and 
administration costs across partners 
also a possibility. 

£500k 
speculative 

Advertising and 
sponsorship 

Contract with an external advertising 
agency to provide income from 
advertising and sponsorship of the CYC 
Website, roundabouts, bus stops and 
CYC properties.  Planning issues may 
have an impact on potential income 
levels. 

£200k 
speculative 

Review of library 
provision 

The new Explore Centres have 
successfully shown that a new model of 
library provision is very successful.  The 
whole provision of library services 
needs to be reviewed to ensure that the 
funding put in delivers value for money. 

Unknown 

Review of all non 
statutory services 
and service levels 

The council funds a host of services 
which are discretionary.  These should 
be reviewed (along with associated 
service levels) to see whether they can 
be delivered more cheaply or whether 
they are delivering value for money. 

£100k 

Review of fees and 
charges especially 
areas where no 
fees are levied 

In benchmarking exercises York’s fees 
and charges are routinely low compared 
with other comparable unitary 
authorities.  CYC provide some services 
free where other authorities make 
charges.  Income could be generated by 
applying reasonable charges in these 
areas and reviewing charges elsewhere 
to ensure that we are covering the cost 
of the service. 

£100k - £1m 

Page 235



Total Place Exploration of the possibilities of sharing 
service delivery or commissioning 
functions with other agencies in the city 
could give rise to substantial efficiencies 
over the next few years. 

Unknown 

Review the 
management 
arrangements for 
partnerships 

The council supports many partnership 
forums and provides secretariat 
functions which could be rationalised 
and made more efficient. 

Unknown 

 
Table 8 - More for York Programme Expansion 

46 It is proposed that there is a further report back to Executive early in the new 
financial year setting out detailed proposals for these further workstreams, 
including the projected savings and investments needed to deliver the work. 

Council Tax and the Collection Fund 

47 The existing components of the current (2009/10) band D council tax for a CYC 
resident are shown in the Table 9.  It should be noted that these figures exclude 
parish precepts which are an additional charge in some areas. 

 £ 
City of York Council 
North Yorkshire Police Authority 
North Yorkshire Fire Authority 
TOTAL 

1,062.17 
199.17 

60.89 
1,322.23 

 
Table 9 - Make Up of 2009/10 Council Tax 

48 The recommendation made in these papers is that from April 2010 the CYC 
element of the council tax will rise by 2.9% to £1,092.97.  Such an increase 
would yield £2.8m in additional income for the council. 

49 The collection fund is the ring-fenced account where all council tax is credited.  
This account can either be in surplus or deficit at the year-end, depending on 
whether the authority has managed to collect more or less than it originally 
anticipated and the growth in property numbers.  If there is a surplus, the funds 
are used to reduce the council tax.  If in deficit, a higher council tax must be set 
and the taxpayer must fund the shortfall.  All major precepting authorities share 
in any surplus or deficit on the fund; York's share of the surplus in 2009/10 is 
80%. 

50 For a number of years, due to high collection rates and the buoyancy of the 
housing market, York's collection fund has been in surplus.  During 2009/10, 
despite the current economic position but also reflecting the fact that there are 
increased numbers of accounts paid through the benefits system, the position 
has been maintained.  As a result a one-off contribution towards the council's 

Page 236



budget of £288k is being made, which is being used to partially fund the non-
recurring growth items identified in Annex 4. 

Fees and Charges Proposals 

51 Detailed proposals for fees and charges were included in each directorate’s 
budget EMDS papers in January 2010 and as such are available in the 
Members library.  The vast majority of proposals are in line with a 
recommended increase of 2.5%. 

Reserves 

52 The agreed budget for 2009/10 included the following: 

 “Transfer of £2m of the council’s accumulated balances to a capital reserve 
fund, this sum to be earmarked to support the capital programme in later 
years.”  

 In the light of the latest in-year monitoring position, as reported elsewhere on 
this agenda, it is recommended that Members agree that this transfer is not 
made at this time, but that the principle will be kept under review if resources 
are sufficient to support the transfer.   

53 Table 10 shows the position on all of the un-earmarked general fund reserves 
which, it is anticipated, will decrease from an estimated £6.347m at the start of 
the 2010/11 financial year to £5.010m by the end of 2010/11.  These figures are 
based on the assumption that Members agree the recommendation in 
paragraph 52.  In the longer term the council's budget should not rely on one-off 
funds to support recurring expenditure, but it is good financial practice to use 
such funds to support one-off expenditure.  It should be noted that the figures 
below include an estimated overspend on the 2009/10 budget of £2.3m and the 
release of venture fund money to the easy@york project of £0.626m, previously 
approved, and to support one-off growth of £0.500m in 2010/11. 

 2009/10 
Projected 
Out-turn 

2010/11 
Budget 

 £’000 £’000 
General Fund 
Venture Fund 
Total at end of year 
Prudent Minimum Reserves 
Headroom/(Shortfall) in Reserves  

4,160 
2,187 
6,347 
5,686 

661 

4,160 
850 

5,010 
5,893 
-883 

 
Table 10 - Projected General Reserves 

54 Formerly CPA guidance recommended a prudent level of reserves should be 
5% of the net non-schools revenue budget.  For 2010/11 this would be equal to 
5% of £117.978m, or approximately £5.899m.  However in line with best 
practice the council also undertakes a targeted calculation taking into account 

Page 237



identified risks and known commitments.  In considering what level of general 
purpose balances that should be held, rather than those held for earmarked 
purposes, it has been determined that, as a minimum, the prudent level must: 

i. Provide sufficient cover to match the highest peak values for net 
departmental overspends over the last three financial years (£2.333m); 

ii. be sufficient to fund the council's contribution to the Bellwin scheme relating 
to the costs of two major disasters in a financial year (£0.840m); 

iii. Cover a shortfall in council tax income of approximately 0.5% (£0.360m); 
vi. Cover 2% of the council's net revenue budget (£2.360m). 

55 The total of the above is that the prudent minimum level of reserves is 
calculated at £5.893m compared to the former CPA guideline figure of 
£5.899m.  For calculation purposes, the overall general reserves comprise the 
general fund reserve and the venture fund reserve.  Details of these are shown 
in Annex 6. 

General Contingency 

56 In order to meet any unforeseen or currently unquantifiable costs which may 
arise during the financial year, the council sets aside a contingency amount in 
the budget.  This is a prudent way to ensure that unforeseen costs do not result 
in any substantial overspends against budget, which would impact on council 
reserves or require in-year cuts to be made.  Since decisions to release 
contingency funds are reserved to the Executive it also allows a clear and 
transparent decision to be made about the release of contingency funds based 
on information provided in reports to the Executive.  Due to the uncertainty of 
the size and nature of the issues and indeed whether some of them will happen 
at all, the level of funding provided is less than the total potential demands. 

57 The general contingency for 2010/11 will need to be set at a level to allow the 
council to cope with some potentially significant financial issues, which are at 
this stage not fully quantifiable.  Details of possible calls on the contingency are 
set out in Annex 7 and summarised in Table 11 below. 

Possible Calls Ongoing One-off 
 £’000 £’000 
Chief Executive   

Economic Downturn 300 0 
City Strategy   

Economic Downturn 330 0 
Learning, Culture and Children’s Services   

Economic Downturn 235 0 
Building Schools for the Future 125 0 

Neighbourhood Services   
Security at Towthorpe HWRC 83 0 

TOTAL 1,073 0 
 

Table 11 - Summary of Potential calls on Contingency 

Page 238



58 In the context of the estimates provided above and the difficulties of forecasting 
whether or not the economic downturn will continue it is recommended that 
Members set a contingency for 2010/11 of £0.855m (80%).   

59 The contingency included in the 2009/10 budget was £0.6m which has been 
used to fund one-off items of expenditure, with the remaining sum held against 
overspending areas.  Whilst this has not been allocated to schemes in the year 
it has been referred to in current year budget monitoring reports as being used 
to offset the pressures across all areas, and the monitoring reports have 
identified this specifically.  The base figure available for 2010/11 therefore 
remains at £0.6m.  This means that if the contingency amount is agreed at 
£0.855m there is a need for an increase from the base budget of £0.255m. 

Adopting Changes to the Proposals 

60 Details of service budgets and plans were provided to Members as part of the 
EMDS papers for consultation.  Included in those papers were a number of 
items identified as to be proposed to the Executive.  The recommendations in 
this report are based on a set of proposed growth and savings items which, 
when amalgamated with the grant settlement and a 2.9% council tax increase, 
produce a balanced budget. 

61 At Executive or Full Council members are invited to move amendments in order 
to either 

a. to make amendments to, delete or enhance the list of budget options that 
are proposed 

b. to alter the council tax level, taking account of the information about possible 
capping and allowing for the fact that each 0.5% reduction in council tax 
requires a further £353k of budget to be identified. 

62 Members also need to take due cognizance of the need to ensure that any 
amendments to the budget are balanced, that is savings and growth must either 
equal each other; or be corrected via appropriate transfers to or from reserves; 
or result in equivalent adjustments to the council tax levied by the council; or 
reflect adjustments to the fees and charges levied. 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

63 There is a separate budget report for the HRA which is attached at Annex 8.  
The result of all the adjustments outlined within the report is an in-year surplus 
of £662k.  Together with the projected brought forward working balance of 
£8,254k and after making a contribution to the capital programme, this leaves a 
working balance of £8,918k on the account. 

64 This surplus is broadly in line with that forecast in the HRA business plan.  The 
HRA surplus needs to remain on the account to be reviewed once the HRA 
business plan is updated to reflect both the budget detailed in this report and 

Page 239



the 2008/09 outturn position.  Members are reminded that the HRA surplus is 
needed to fund expenditure in future years. 

65 In 2000 the government announced that from April 2002 all councils and 
housing associations had to set their rents on a new, fair and consistent basis.  
This involved a phased change in rents over 10 years beginning in April 2002 
based on a formula for rent setting created by Central Government.  The 
implications of this for the level of housing rents for 2010/11 are set out in 
Annex 9 and lead to an average rent increase of 1.83%. 

Dedicated Schools Grant and the Schools Budget 

66 For schools funding through the dedicated schools grant (DSG), 2010/11 is the 
third year of a Department of Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) three-year 
budget period.  For 2010/11 therefore the DSG allocation for York will be based 
on the December 2007 announcement, updated for changes in pupil numbers. 

67 The DSG is ring-fenced for funding the provision of education for pupils in 
schools (maintained, Pupil Referral Units [PRUs], private, voluntary and 
independent [PVI] nurseries or externally purchased places).  As such it covers 
funding delegated to individual council maintained schools through the local 
management of schools (LMS) funding formula and funding for other pupil 
provision which is retained centrally by the council (eg special educational 
needs [SEN], early years, PRUs etc.).  It is distributed according to a formula 
that guarantees a minimum per pupil increase for each authority (2.9% in 
2010/11).  Additional funding is then allocated based on Ministers' priorities.  
For 2010/11 personalised learning was identified as a priority. 

68 The council itself cannot use the DSG for any purpose other than schools block 
funding, although with the permission of the Schools Forum limited 
contributions can be made to the following areas: 

• Combined budgets supporting every child matters objectives where there is 
a clear educational benefit. 

• Prudential borrowing, where overall net savings to the schools budget can 
be demonstrated. 

• Some SEN transport costs, again only when there is a net schools budget 
saving. 

69 There are also strict limits (central expenditure limits [CEL]) on the amount of 
the DSG that the council can retain to fund pupil costs outside mainstream 
schools e.g. SEN, Out of City Placements, early years, PRUs, behavioural 
support, etc. 

70 The headline figures from the DSG settlement show that for 2010/11 York's 
increase in DSG is estimated at £4.307m (+4.4 %) giving a sum of £4,103 per 
pupil (+4.2%).  For 2010/11 this includes additional funding (above the 
minimum 2.9% per pupil) of £1,145k that has been allocated to York for 
personalised learning at KS3 and in primary schools. 

Page 240



71 Despite these increases York's actual funding level is still at the lower end 
nationally, 23rd lowest out of 149 local authorities.  If York received the national 
average funding in 2009/10 there would be an extra £295 for every pupil or 
£6.630m in total.  This would be enough to give an extra £292k to every 
secondary school and £62k to every primary school.  This is also the equivalent 
of an additional 168 teachers or 306 additional classroom assistants. 

Funding Available within the DSG 

72 The funding available, £92.905m, includes an initial estimate of the 2010/11 
DSG allocation (£92.259m) less an estimated deficit carry forward from 2009/10 
based on the 2nd budget monitor for 2009/10 reported to the Executive in 
December (£0.354m).  This estimate will be updated once the provisional 
results of the annual schools and early years census are known. 

Balancing the Dedicated Schools Grant 

73 There is still a budget gap within the schools budget of £105k at the time of 
writing this report.  Further work will be undertaken in conjunction with the 
Schools Forum at its meeting on 30 January to identify options for bridging this 
gap.  At its budget meeting on 16 February the Executive will be updated on the 
outcome of the discussions with and decisions/comments of the Schools 
Forum. 

Precepts 

74 In addition to the council tax to be charged by the City of York, the overall 
charge must include the precepts from the Police Authority, Fire Authority and 
parish councils.  Due to the timing of this report these precepts are not yet 
available but will be included in the report which is considered by full Council on 
26 February. 

• The Police Authority will be meeting on 5 February 2010 to determine its 
precept and council tax charge 

• The Fire Authority will be meeting on 11 February 2010 to determine its 
precept and council tax charge. 

75 Table 12 demonstrates both the cash and percentage increase in 2009/10 for 
these which resulted in a total band D council tax for a York property of 
£1,322.23. 

 2008/09 2009/10 
 Charge Increase  Increase Council Tax 
 £ (£) (%)  
CYC 1,028.74 33.43 3.25 1,062.17 
Police 193.37 5.80 3.00 199.17 
Fire 58.56 2.33 4.00 60.89 
Total 1,280.67 41.56 3.25 1,322.23 

 
Table 12 - Headline Council Tax Figures for City of York Area 

Page 241



76 There are 31 parish councils within the City of York Council area all of which 
have now set their precepts for 2010/11 at an average decrease of 0.5%, 
however there is a wide range of variations from a reduction of 14.06% to an 
increase of 28.00% in the individual precepts.  These increases lead to 
variations in the band D charges as demonstrated in Chart 1 below. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Aca
ste

r M
alb

is

Ask
ha

m B
rya

n

Ask
ha

m R
ich

ar
d

Bish
op

tho
rp

e

Clift
on

 W
ith

ou
t

Cop
man

tho
rp

e

Deig
hto

n

Dun
nin

gto
n

Ear
sw

ick

Elvi
ng

ton

Fu
lfo

rd

Hax
by

 T
ow

n C
ou

nc
il

Hes
lin

gto
n

Hes
sa

y

Hew
or

th
 W

ith
ou

t

Holt
by

Hun
tin

gt
on

Kex
by

M
ur

ton

Nab
ur

n

Neth
er

 P
op

ple
to

n

New
 E

ar
sw

ick

Osb
ald

wick

Raw
cli

ffe

Ruff
or

th 
an

d 
Kna

pto
n

Ske
lto

n

Stoc
kto

n-
on

-th
e-

Fo
re

st

Stre
ns

all
 w

ith
 T

ow
tho

rp
e

Upp
er

 P
op

ple
ton

W
he

ldr
ak

e

W
igg

int
on

B
an

d
 D

 C
o

u
n

ci
l T

ax
 (

£)

2009/10 2010/11

 

Chart 1 - Parish Band D Charges 

National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR) 

77 In April 2009 the two NNDR multipliers were 48.5p in the pound for normal 
properties and 48.1p in the pound for smaller properties (based upon the total 
rateable values of all properties held by a single owner).  In April 2010 the 
quinquennial review of business rates will be implemented and at the same 
time there will be lower revised multipliers.  These multipliers will decrease to 
41.4p (14.64%) and 40.7p (15.38%) respectively. 

78 During the consultation meeting with the business community concern was 
expressed that as a city York did not benefit from growth in its business 
community through the payments made by companies via NNDR.  The NNDR 
income that the council collects is remitted in full to the Treasury, which 
redistributes amounts to local authorities as part of the RSG settlement 
process. 

 THE FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2011-2016 

79 The medium term revenue plan is based on an analysis of the key influences 
on the council's financial position and an assessment of the main financial risks 
facing the council.  Attached, as Appendix 1 is the background to the Financial 
Strategy, including information on its purpose, links, priorities and issues, 

Page 242



objectives and financial context.  The financial forecast is set out below and the 
individual components of it are discussed in more detail in the following 
sections. 

 
RESOURCES 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 
 £m £m £m £m £m 
Increase in Grants 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Increase in Council 
Tax (1% in 2011/12; 
2% from 2012/13) 

 
 

0.72 

 
 

1.46 

 
 

1.49 

 
 

1.52 

 
 

1.55 
      
TOTAL 
RESOURCES 
AVAILABLE 

0.72 1.46 1.49 1.52 1.55 

      
INDICATIVE 
ALLOCATIONS 

     

Cash Allocations in 
budgets (pay/prices) 
1% in 2011/12; 2% 
from 2012/13 

 
 
 

1.20 

 
 
 

2.45 

 
 
 

2.50 

 
 
 

2.56 

 
 
 

2.61 
Increments 1.39 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Treasury 
Management 

 
2.00 

 
2.00 

 
2.00 

 
2.00 

 
2.00 

National Insurance 0.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Pension Deficit 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.81 
Waste PFI 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.00 
Concessionary Fares 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 
General 
Demographic 
Pressures 

 
 

1.50 

 
 

2.50 

 
 

2.50 

 
 

2.50 

 
 

2.50 
Contingency Sum 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 
      
 10.75 10.81 10.86 10.92 10.27 
      
Financial gap to be 
met from 
efficiencies and 
other savings 

 
 
 

10.03 

 
 
 

9.35 

 
 
 

9.37 

 
 
 

9.40 

 
 
 

8.72 
 

Table 13 - Revenue Plane 2011-2016 

80 The figures outlined in Table 13 show the scale of the financial gap that will 
have to be met from efficiencies and other savings.  In broad terms this is 
estimated at some £10m per annum, equivalent to almost a 10% reduction in 
net expenditure. 

Page 243



81 This sort of scale of reduction is very much in line with the forecasts of other 
public sector organisations, and clearly represents a major challenge for the 
council.  Members should note the statutory advice of the Director of Resources 
in paragraphs 128 to 140 in this context. 

82 The council will need to plan effectively for the achievement of these 
efficiencies, in order to ensure continued financial stability of the council.  This 
will require both a major programme of transformation/efficiency (which the 
council has embarked upon through More for York) and also a complete review 
of all areas of activity, the range of services provided, and the scale of such 
provision.  Further regular reports to the Executive will be required over the 
coming year to consider these issues. 

Increase In Grants and Council Tax 

83 This assumes a freeze in grant funding for all years and council tax increases of 
1% in 2011/12 and 2% from 2012/13 onwards.  Clearly these forecasts are 
merely for planning purposes, but they are based upon the broad objective that 
the medium term plan should not be based upon excessive council tax rises.  
Ultimately it will be for Members to consider the balance between council tax 
and spending pressures, but an effective plan should promote the development 
of choices, rather than making an assumption that a high level of council tax will 
be the solution. 

Cash Allocations 

84 An increase of 1% for both pay and prices is assumed for 2011/12 with 2% for 
future years, recognizing both the general trend on pay and prices at present, 
but also the need to keep cost pressures to manageable levels in future years. 

Increments 

85 The implementation of the pay and grading review has resulted in all pay scales 
consisting of four incremental points.  2011/12 is the final year that there will be 
major costs resulting from annual increments for staff who were placed at the 
bottom of the new scales in April 2008. 

Treasury Management 

86 For a very long time the council has had good treasury management 
performance.  In recent years this has become excellent with our borrowing 
rates being among the lowest in the country and loans almost always being 
taken out at market low points.  Investments have outperformed market 
benchmarks and cash flow has been very strong, although more could still be 
done in terms of the timeliness of income collection.  This performance and the 
interest earned is now built into our interest and borrowing budgets and we 
have to achieve it in order to meet our budget expectations.  With the global 
economic situation there is risk that this will not be achievable and the reliance 
on continuing with this level of performance over future years cannot be 
guaranteed. 

Page 244



87 The capital programme is funded from a combination of sources including 
capital receipts and revenue contributions.  The current state of the economy 
and the general depressed property market make it an unfavourable time to be 
disposing of high value assets and this results in pressures being placed on 
capital receipts values being realised as discussed in the capital report.  In 
addition, as there are no further surplus assets to dispose of to fund new capital 
expenditure requirements, the use of revenue contributions to fund capital 
expenditure on a permanent basis was introduced as part of the 2009/10 
budget process.  This has resulted in growth in the treasury management 
budget to allow for a certain level of capital expenditure to be supported in line 
with the levels set out in the Capital Programme Budget report. 

88 Further growth in revenue will be needed to fund the proposed capital 
programme and these assumptions will be incorporated into the council’s 
medium term financial strategy, but will clearly need to be considered/reviewed 
as part of each years budget setting process.  In particular it may be that 
additional capital receipts are identified over coming years which would reduce 
the need for prudential borrowing, and also some capital schemes within the 
programme are still subject to detailed business cases being considered by the 
Executive, and as such some of the assumptions for future years will potentially 
change. 

National Insurance Increase 

89 The government has already announced a 1% increase in the employer’s 
national insurance rate from April 2011.  This is forecast to cost the council 
£800k pa. 

Deficit on the Pension Fund 

90 The last triennial valuation of the pension fund showed that whilst the overall 
deficit had reduced slightly and the term for recovery until there is no deficit has 
reduced to 21 years, there is still a substantial deficit of over £95m.  This in 
itself is a key risk for the authority as the valuation was at a time when stock 
markets were high compared to the current significant global financial problems 
and the new contribution rate of 18% is based on an assumption of strong 
investment returns which now look very questionable.  Unless there is a 
substantial improvement from the current position the next triennial valuation, 
which will take place over the next six months, may require a substantial 
increase in the contribution rate.  The medium term financial forecast includes 
an assumption that costs will have to increase by 1% pa to contain the 
increase.  Each 1% increase in the rate costs over £810k per year. 

Waste Management 

91 There are significant cost pressures facing the waste management budget over 
coming years.  Landfill tax is currently increasing by £8 per tonne per annum 
and the introduction of landfill allowances limits the amount of biodegradable 
municipal waste that the council can dispose using landfill.  On current 
forecasts the council will not achieve the landfill allowance trading scheme 

Page 245



(LATS targets) at some point in the future (probably 2011/12 or 2012/13) and 
will then have to buy LATS permits or pay fines of £150 per tonne.  This is a 
consequence of the landfill allowance falling significantly to 20,640 tonnes by 
2020.  On current estimates this could potentially cost the council £3.4m in 
LATS fines and £1.6m in landfill tax increases over the next four years leading 
up to the implementation of the Waste PFI solution.  The council is currently 
monitoring developments within the local area particularly around anaerobic 
digestion plants to determine whether short-term contracts can be secured to 
divert waste until such time as the PFI facility comes on stream.  However, if 
short-term solutions can not be secured, then the council will be looking to 
purchase LATS permits.  The council also needs to set aside significant 
resources from the start of 2010/11 onwards in order to fund the waste 
management or LATS costs that will be incurred over the next four years and to 
build up a base budget to fund the council's share of the Waste PFI solution.  
The financial strategy currently assumes a sum of £700k per annum needs to 
be built into the base budget from 2010/11 to 2014/15.  This will need to be 
reviewed once the project reaches commercial close. 

Concessionary Fares 

92 The gross cost of concessionary fares approaches £5m.  Following additional 
government grant of £350k in 2010/11 and a proposed reduction in the 
reimbursement rate payable to operators (subject to appeal) it has been 
possible to contain increases in council support within current resources for 
2010/11.  However inflationary increases of 5% and growth in usage as the 
population grows older will result in likely pressures of £350k per annum over 
future years. 

General Demographic Pressures 

93 Nationally there are projections of significant demographic pressures expected 
over the next 10 - 15 years with respect to both the older peoples population 
and people with learning disabilities.  York starts with a slightly above average 
older population for England and a 14% increase in the number of over 65s is 
expected by 2015 along with a 6.4% increase in the number of adults with a 
learning disability.  The impact of this growth in the client base will be further 
magnified should historic increases in the average cost per client also continue.  
Alongside this a number of actions have been taken to control social care costs.  
In order to maintain a balanced budget into the future it is imperative that these 
actions are successfully monitored and delivered.  Adult Social Services face a 
number of significant challenges and changes, mainly related to personal 
choice and funding agenda and the procurement of services.  In addition the 
Personal Care at Home Bill proposes free personal care for those with the 
highest needs, adding an additional financial pressure in future years.  The 
Council’s response to these issues and the changing demographics is critical to 
its future financial stability. 

94 Services providing housing related support are currently funded by the 
Supporting People Grant.  It is expected that there will be a 5% pa reduction in 

Page 246



the level of grant provided which is used to fund a range of services, including 
warden call, sheltered housing, homelessness support workers and support to 
vulnerable adults including victims of domestic violence. 

Contingency Sum 

95 A sum of £2m is included for each of the next 6 years, for pressures that will 
affect the council, in line with recent practice of providing such a contingency for 
cost pressures that are not easily quantifiable when the budget is set. 

 IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF THE BUDGET PROPOSALS 

96 The budget set out aims to tackle a variety of issues.  Clearly it aims to be 
prudent and to set medium term plans which are set out in the report.  
However, a financial plan is more than just about the numbers, it is about how 
resources are allocated and what impact that allocation has upon a range of 
issues.  The following sections bring together how this budget has contributed 
to the following: 

• Council Priorities 
• Feedback from consultation 
• Economic downturn 
• Sustainability 
• Equalities 

Council Priorities 

97 The budget proposals contained within this report will support the achievement 
of the council’s overall objectives in many ways, specific initiatives include; 

• investment of £420k for issues that arise due to the economic downturn 
(Thriving City) 

• investment of £180k in increased recycling (Sustainable City) 
• investment of £2.9m in elderly residential care, fostering and external 

placements of children and home to school transport (Inclusive City). 
• increased spend of £1m in the capital programme supported by £100k in 

revenue on highway maintenance (Safer City). 
• cuts in administration, including staffing and back office savings, and 

embarking on an ambitious efficiency programme (Effective Organisation). 

Feedback from Consultation 

98 The council has consulted on its budget through various forms including a 
postal questionnaire to every household, face to face sessions and budget 
forum.  The feedback from the consultation is shown in detail at Annex 10 and a 
summary of the results is shown in Table 14 below. 

Page 247



 
 % Support 
Increase fees and charges rather than increase council tax 56 
Greater spending on social care and support in the community 
to help people live in their own homes for longer 

80 

Support for sorting recyclable waste at home before collection 63 
In favour of having three recycling boxes the same size as the 
current box 

83 

In favour of retaining the existing boxes and bags for recycling 71 
Replace council-run paying points with links through local shops 
and post offices to pay council bills 

70 

Reduce the number of city centre reception points to save 
money 

63 

Invest in energy efficiencies to reduce energy usage and save 
money in the long term 

83 

Take a strong/robust approach to chasing unpaid council bills 93 
Reduce the number of council staff to release money for front-
line services 

64 

Maintain the current cost of school meals, as opposed to 
reducing them 

67 

Maintain or increase spending on road and footpath 
maintenance 

97 

Maintain or increase spending to create and maintain jobs 93 
 

Table 14 - Summary of Consultation Feedback 

99 At its meeting on 12 January 2010, Effective Organisation Scrutiny Committee 
received a report on the Budget Strategy for 2010/11 and on the Medium Term 
Financial Planning for 2011/12-2013/14.  This was after the Executive had 
already considered and approved the report on 15 December 2009.  The 
Committee were particularly keen to receive a similar report at an earlier stage 
in 2010/2011 before the Executive considered it so that scrutiny could help 
inform the Executive's decisions on financial planning for the future. 

100 In accordance with constitutional practice, Scrutiny Management Committee 
considered a scrutiny budget consultation report at its meeting on 1 February 
2010.  That report set out spend to date in the current financial year against 
scrutiny reviews undertaken.  It also invited the Committee, in accordance with 
the constitutional requirement, to recommend an appropriate level of budget to 
the Executive for 2010/11 in relation to supporting scrutiny reviews.  The 
Committee recommended the Executive to maintain the current level of funding 
for scrutiny reviews (marketing & research) at £17k.  It noted that the carry 
forward agreed in 2009/10 for the traffic congestion survey would be spent in 
the current financial year.  

Page 248



101 The budget proposals included in this report if accepted are addressing the 
following: 

• most areas are proposing inflationary increases in fees and charges; 
although car parking charges are being frozen and RESPARK charges are 
to rise for high emission vehicles. 

• £660k is being invested in supported living in community based housing. 
• increased roll-out of kerbside recycling collection. 
• capital investment of £1m on highways is being supported by revenue 

funding of £100k. 
• the council’s efficiency programme is addressing such issues as replacing 

council-run paying points and reducing the number of reception points, as 
well as improving income collection rates. 

Responding to the Economic Downturn 

102 The financial strategy addresses the economic downturn in a number of ways.  
Within the separate report on the capital programme and referred to within this 
report, the impact of declining capital receipts is considered.  This has major 
implications for the council and in order to provide for a balanced capital 
programme and to limit the extent of borrowing, the council will need to make 
prudent revenue provision to support the capital programme. 

103 The revenue budget also considers the impact on a range of budgets and this 
includes car parking and planning charges, where income is likely to suffer.  
The budget for treasury management also considers the impact of reduced 
interest rates.   

104 The continuing extent and impact of the economic downturn will be constantly 
monitored throughout 2010/11 and the council will endeavour to respond 
wherever possible or practicable to any events as they arise. 

Sustainability 

105 The council is making further investment in kerbside recycling in an effort to 
keep landfill to a minimum and is also continuing to support the joint waste PFI 
project with NYCC.  The project’s relocation to a new building is still ongoing 
and any solution will involve the most environmentally friendly features as 
possible. 

Equalities 

106 Dealing with inequality in social and economic outcomes, is at the heart of the 
budget strategy.  In addition, the council is required by legislation, the Audit 
Commission and allied inspectorates/quality of service frameworks, to:  

• engage groups/representatives from the equality strands in decision-making  
• assess any the impact of major decisions like budget savings, on people 

and staff from the equality strands  
• consider ways to tackle concerns. 

Page 249



107 In addition, the recently approved CYC Fairness and Inclusion Strategy 2009-
10 states that “…councillors and managers will work with partners and 
stakeholders to consider the allocation of resources”.  As result, in developing 
the strategy officers have: 

• analysed responses to the 2010 Budget consultation from residents who 
identified themselves as belonging to equality strands  

• held a face-to-face consultation with members of the TalkAbout panel, 
selected to be representative of the equality strands.  This also helped to 
identify needs for additional investment 

• considered the impact of proposed council savings on people from the 
equality strands, identified possible impacts and discussed their findings 
with the SIWG on 28 January.  The draft minutes from the meeting of Social 
Inclusion Working Group (SIWG) are in Annex 11.  The SIWG has been set 
up to advise the Executive on major projects and initiatives on equalities 
issues in CYC.  The Executive is asked to note the comments from SIWG 
but also to take into account that these are draft notes yet to be agreed. 

108 This process has identified a number of areas where residents from the equality 
strands would like to see more investment, as well as possible negative effects 
for people from the equality strands arising from proposed revenue savings. 
Key findings are as follows: 

Proposed Investment  

 Replies to the budget consultation offered by respondents from the equality 
strands, indicated that their views were that more investment is needed in: 

• recycling facilities: Younger respondents - those aged 18 to 34 years (51%), 
BME respondents (48%) and non-heterosexual respondents (47%) are 
more likely to want more investment in recycling facilities than respondents 
overall (38%). 

• road and footpath maintenance: Older respondents - those aged over 75 
years (66%) and disabled respondents (63%) are significantly more likely to 
want more investment in road and footpath maintenance than respondents 
overall (49%). 

• facilities for older people: Older respondents - those aged over 75 years 
(54%), female respondents (50%) and disabled respondents (61%) are 
more likely to want more investment in facilities for older people than 
respondents overall (45%). 

• facilities for disabled people: Older respondents - those aged over 75 years 
(51%), disabled respondents (62%) and non-heterosexual respondents 
(47%) are more likely to want more investment in facilities for disabled 
people than respondents overall (40%). 

• creating and maintaining jobs: Disabled respondents (53%) are more likely 
to want more investment in creating and maintaining jobs than respondents 
overall (49%). 

• working with other organisations to reduce crime: Older respondents - those 
aged over 75 years (58%) and disabled respondents (58%) are significantly 

Page 250



more likely to want more investment in working with other organisation to 
reduce crime than respondents overall (49%). 

• keeping the streets clean: Older respondents - those aged over 75 years 
(42%) and disabled respondents (40%) are significantly more likely to want 
more investment in keeping the streets clean than respondents overall 
(33%). 

• providing more affordable housing: Older respondents - those aged over 75 
years (45%), female respondents (41%) and disabled respondents (49%) 
are more likely to want more investment in providing more affordable 
housing than respondents overall (36%). 

Proposed Reductions 

 Proposed reductions in the mediation service for private tenants, the availability 
of respite care, adult social care assessment posts, support for community arts 
and proposed increase in warden call charges, may have impacts for disabled 
people, women, members of the black and minority ethnic communities, older 
people and gay, lesbian and transsexual people especially those who have 
limited financial means.  If these proposed savings are approved by the 
Council, full equality impact assessments will take place with a view to tackling 
any negative impact. 

More for York Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs)  

 Following the completion of the EIA process for Year 0 (2009/10), undertaken 
with support from the SIWG, officers are currently finalising the schedule of 
EIAs of blueprints to be considered in year 1 (2010/11) of the programme.  
Actions arising from the EIA process in Year 0, have already been integrated in 
the final blueprints for that year. 

109 In considering the information above, the attention of Members of the Executive 
is drawn to: 

• growth proposals that have a beneficial effect on people from the strands:  
- the council in conjunction with the North Yorkshire Concessionary Fare 

partnership has agreed to widen the eligibility criteria for disabled bus 
pass users entitled to travel with a companion free of charge.  Residents 
in receipt of higher rate of care component disability living allowance, 
higher rate attendance allowance or higher rate mobility component of 
disability living allowance as well as those who are blind or partially 
sighted will be able to apply for a bus pass allowing this additional 
benefit. 

- CG01 - looked after children increase £1,557k.  This responds to a 
significant increase in the number of vulnerable children looked after by 
the council.  In addition, the existing arrangement for accommodating 
and supporting 16/17 year olds who present as homeless have very 
recently been challenged by a House of Lords ruling and budget is being 
set aside to cover the costs of providing support to this group. 

Page 251



- the saving from reduced placements in bed & breakfast and more 
placements in private accommodation has a positive impact, as the 
saving identified has been netted off after additional investment in 
homelessness prevention, which may have a positive impact on 
potentially all 6 groups. 

- following a review of adults with learning disabilities currently living in 
residential care schemes, a person centred review has been completed 
for each customer involving the individuals, their families, key workers, 
etc.  The outcome of these reviews has enabled the council to develop 
service specifications for integrating residents into community based 
housing and support solutions offering increased independence and 
choice.  Growth of £325k is included in the 2010/11 budget to cover the 
increased cost of this approach. 

• The council’s fairness and inclusion strategy 2009-2012, which has been 
widely consulted upon and which states: “In keeping with the expectations of 
local residents and good management requirements, fair and inclusive 
services and employment must happen within the council’s existing financial 
means.  This means targeting the council’s resources where they will have 
the most impact, in other words where they will benefit large numbers of 
people or address an issue that affects a large number of people.  
Therefore, it will not always be possible to meet the needs of every 
individual.  The council has to prioritise and work in partnership with a 
number of organisations to make sure that it acts in a fair and inclusive, but 
cost-effective, way.” 

• the general duties that the council has under disability, race and gender 
equality legislation.  In summary, these require the council to eliminate 
discrimination and harassment, promote equality of opportunity, promote 
positive attitudes towards gender, disability and race, as well as in the case 
of disabled people to “take steps to take account of disabled persons’ 
disabilities, even where that involves treating disabled persons more 
favourably than other persons.“ 

• other equality legislation that places a requirement on Council not to 
discriminate in service delivery and/or employment in terms of sexual 
orientation, religion and belief and age.  

Specialist Implications 

110 The following implications apply to this report: 

Financial 

111 These comprise the body of the report. 

Human Resources (HR) 

112 Any HR implications will be managed in accordance with established council 
procedures.  As part of this process consultation with affected staff will be 
undertaken to ensure they have every opportunity to find suitable alternative 
employment with the council. 

Page 252



Risk Management 

113 Attached at Annex 12 is a schedule of risks connected to the budget; these will 
be monitored regularly throughout the year. 

Legal 

114 The Council is required to set a Council Tax for 2010/11 before 11 March 2010.  
It may not be set before all precepts have been issued or before 1 March 2010, 
whichever is the earlier.  This decision is reserved to Council and cannot be 
taken by the Executive or delegated to officers, although the Executive has to 
recommend a budget to the Council.  These comments are intended to apply to 
both the Executive meeting and the subsequent Council meeting.  Before 
setting the level of the tax, the Council must have agreed a balanced budget, 
differentiated by services, which is sufficient to meet estimated revenue 
expenditure, levies, contingencies and any amounts required to be transferred 
between funds.  The tax itself must be sufficient to cover the difference between 
the agreed budget less government grants credited to the revenue account, and 
any other expenditure which must be met from the Collection Fund, less any 
surplus (or plus any deficit) brought forward from previous years. 

115 In addition, following the implementation of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
Council’s Chief Financial Officer (under s151 Local Government Act 1972) is 
required to report to the Council on the robustness of the estimates made for 
the purposes of the calculations, and the adequacy of the proposed financial 
reserves.  The Council must have regard to the report when making decisions 
about the calculations in connection with which it is made.  The Chief Financial 
Officer is also obliged to report to the Council if in relation to the previous 
financial year it appears that a controlled reserve is or is likely to be inadequate.  
A controlled reserve is one where the Secretary of State has, by regulation, 
defined the appropriate minimum level of reserve.  The s151 officer must report 
the reasons for that situation, and the action, if any, which he considers it would 
be appropriate to take to prevent such a situation arising in relation to the 
corresponding reserve for the financial year under consideration.  No 
Regulations defining controlled reserves have been made. 

116 In reaching decisions on these matters, Members are bound by the general 
principles of administrative law.  Lawful discretions must not be abused or 
fettered and all relevant considerations must be taken into account.  No 
irrelevant considerations may be taken into account, and any decision made 
must be one which only a reasonable authority, properly directing itself, could 
have reached.  Members must also balance the interests of service users 
against those who contribute to the Council’s finances.  The resources available 
to the Council must be deployed to their best advantage.  Members must also 
act prudently. 

117 Members have a fiduciary duty to the council tax payers and others in the local 
authority’s area.  This means that members must behave responsibly in 

Page 253



agreeing the budget.  Members have no authority to make anything other than 
a balanced budget.  

118 Among the relevant considerations which Members must take into account in 
reaching their decisions are the views of business ratepayers and the advice of 
officers.  The duty to consult representatives of non-domestic ratepayers on the 
Council’s expenditure plans is contained in Section 65 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992. 

119 In considering the advice of officers, and the weight to be attached to that 
advice, Members should have regard to the personal duties placed upon the 
Director of Resources as Chief Financial Officer.  The Council may take 
decisions which are at variance with his advice, providing there are reasonable 
grounds to do so.  However, Members may expose themselves to risk if they 
disregard clearly expressed advice, for example as to the level of provision 
required for contingencies, bad debts and future liabilities.  In addition, if 
Members wish to re-instate savings recommended by the Director of Resources 
in order to balance the budget, they must find equivalent savings elsewhere. 

120 The Director of Resources is required by Section 151 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 and by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 (as amended) to 
ensure that the council’s budgeting, financial management, and accounting 
practices meet relevant statutory and professional requirements.  He is in 
addition subject to the requirements set out in paragraph 115 above.  

121 Members must also have regard to, and be aware of, the wider duties placed 
upon the council by various statutes governing the conduct of its financial 
affairs.  These include the distinction between revenue and capital expenditure, 
specified in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.  The law in relation to 
the council’s borrowing has been changed by the Local Government Act 2003. 
The previous regime of capital controls was abolished and the Council is now 
required to set prudential indicators in line with capital investment plans that are 
prudent, affordable and sustainable. 

122 In setting the council tax for the next financial year and in agreeing the council’s 
budgetary requirements, the Council also needs to take into account the fact 
that the Government still has power to cap local authority budgets under the 
Local Government Act 1999.  The government may either set a maximum 
amount for the budget in the forthcoming year or put an authority on notice to 
set a maximum budget in the next financial year.  If the government proposes to 
cap the council, the council will be given a short period to put its case.  If the 
cap is then confirmed in the current year, this could require the authority to 
revisit its budget decisions and would be likely to require rebilling of council tax.  

123 Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 makes it a criminal 
offence for any Member with arrears of council tax which have been 
outstanding for two months or more to attend any meeting at which a decision 
affecting the budget is to be made, unless the Member concerned declares at 
the outset of the meeting that he or she is in arrears and will not be voting on 

Page 254



the decision for that reason.  The Member concerned must not vote but may 
speak.  If an Executive member has arrears outstanding for two months or 
more, they are prevented from taking any part in such a decision.  The 
application of Section 106 of the 1992 Act is very wide and Members should be 
aware that the responsibility for ensuring that they act within the law at all times 
rests solely with the individual Member concerned. 

124 The importance of setting a balanced budget cannot be over emphasised.  
Members have a duty to consider this seriously and to endeavour to reach a 
decision which, if not in accordance with the advice of the s151 officer has at 
the very least taken his advice conscientiously into account.  Members are also 
required to act reasonably and this duty extends to their conduct in the meeting 
agreeing the Budget.  Members should endeavour to agree a balanced budget 
and the level of council tax at this meeting. 

Crime and Disorder 

125 None other than the growth and savings proposals in this report. 

Information Technology (IT) 

126 None other than the growth and savings proposals in this report. 

Property 

127 None in this report. 

Statutory Advice From the Director of Resources/Comments 

128 The Local Government Act 2003 places responsibilities upon the council's Chief 
Finance Officer to advise the council on the adequacy of its reserves and the 
robustness of the budget proposals including the estimates contained in this 
document.  This section also addresses the key risks facing the council in 
relation to current and future budget provision.  The following paragraphs give 
my views on the budget (both 2010/11 and beyond), reserves and general 
robustness of the process. 

129 The proposals in this budget give a balanced budget for 2010/11 and give 
consideration to the financial years 2011/12 to 2015/16.  The council has taken 
many steps to try to put itself on a firmer long-term financial position, with 
longer term planning and improved budget monitoring.  Full scrutiny of the 
budget proposals for 2010/11 has taken place and I believe that a proper risk 
assessment of a range of issues has been conducted. 

130 There are significant savings contained within the budget proposals, and clearly 
there are risks in the achievement of some of these.  I would draw Members 
attention specifically to the proposals within the More for York programme.  
Whilst I am assured of the robustness of the projected savings, and the extent 
of rigour in their calculation, they represent a major challenge for the council, 
and one that will only be achieved through full commitment across the 

Page 255



organisation to the Transformation process.  I consider there are naturally some 
risks in terms of their achievement, and very careful monitoring of the More for 
York programme will be essential.  

131 I consider that the overall estimates in the budget are sound and that the 
proposals to achieve a balanced budget are achievable, albeit demanding.  The 
overall package, which includes provision for a contingency (which I consider to 
be an essential feature of the budget proposals), and provision for 1% 
increased public sector pay (again I consider this an essential component of the 
robust budget) is a realistic approach in dealing with the potential financial 
pressures facing the council next year.  In addition the major financial pressures 
being experienced during 2009/10 have been addressed through significant 
additional investment (e.g. looked after children, adult social care) and this is 
key to ensuring a prudent budget.  Whilst I consider the budget to be robust, it 
is not without its challenges, and there will be a need for very tight cost control 
and robust monthly monitoring. 

132 I would highlight that any significant variation in terms of the assumptions 
regarding the level of contingency and provision for pay awards could require 
me to amend my statement, as would any other potential amendments to the 
budget proposals that I felt were not prudent/properly assessed. 

133 Looking ahead there remains a range of very significant pressures for the 
future.  The major challenge facing the council in coming years will be to secure 
savings from real efficiency gains (i.e. no deterioration in service quality) and for 
cost pressures to be managed effectively.  In doing so, the council will also 
need to provide capacity for additional investment in unavoidable costs and 
priorities. 

134 In addition however, looking ahead over the next few years the economic 
situation clearly provides a further major challenge to the council.  The council 
has sought to recognise this in a number of ways within this budget, however it 
is a very volatile position and whilst the full impact of the recession and its 
impact on public spending in the future (especially post General Election) still 
needs to be assessed, there is a very high likelihood that all public 
organisations will need to reduce expenditure significantly.  Whilst efficiency 
improvements will go some way towards these likely reductions, the council will 
need to prepare itself for fundamental reviews of the services, and respective 
levels, that it provides.  Tackling this financial challenge will clearly be one of 
the major challenges facing the council in coming years. 

135 Key to tackling these medium term challenges will be the need for the council to 
continue its transformational change programme, through the More for York 
programme.  However, as outlined elsewhere in this report that programme 
needs to deliver not only very significant efficiency improvements, but also the 
council will need to consider the level and type of service it provides, as it is 
highly unlikely that the scale of financial savings required in future years can be 
met from true efficiency alone.  There is likely to be a need for reductions in the 
scope and level of services provided by all public sector organisations in 

Page 256



coming years, and this needs to be planned for at an early stage.  Meeting the 
financial challenges facing the council in coming years will require the council to 
think very carefully about its core priorities, how it works with its partners and 
key stakeholders, and its overall provision of public services. 

136 In terms of reserves, there are no proposals contained within this report that 
use balances to fund recurring items of expenditure, which is a positive feature.  
It is particularly important that there is continual review of reserves, and 
Members are advised that there should in the foreseeable future be very little 
utilisation of existing General Reserves.  The scale of pressures on the 2009/10 
budget are placing potential further calls on reserves, and it may be that at 
some point in the future reserves need to be increased.  There remains a risk 
that I may need to advise Members of the need to consider increasing reserves 
at some point in the medium term. 

137 Ensuring adequate reserves is particularly important as there is potentially great 
pressure/risks in future years and there are significant commitments against the 
venture fund in coming years which mean that reliance upon this reserve is very 
limited.  The decision on the adequacy of the level of reserves is linked to the 
general robustness of the budget process and the council's systems of 
budgetary control and risk management.  These need to ensure that the council 
will not be exposed to any unforeseen major financial problem requiring the use 
of reserves to resolve.  I stress that it should not be assumed that the council 
has significant reserves - as can be seen from the tables in this report, the 
future calls on those reserves are potentially putting the council in a position 
whereby reserves may approach, or even reduce below minimum levels. 

138 The government have announced that they will again consider capping councils 
who they feel are raising council tax levels excessively.  The capping criteria 
they use are based on budget growth and council tax increases.  The 
government have talked about average increases needing to be well below 5% 
and in the past have clearly meant maximum rises of 5%, but they do not 
publish the criteria they will use until after we will have set our budget.  Based 
on their actions in the past I believe that in 2010/11 the maximum council tax 
rise that York should consider is 3%, which is marginally higher than the 2.9% 
in this report 

139 I would highlight that this is a maximum figure and whilst this report currently 
does assume an increase of 2.9%.  Members may wish to consider further 
options to bring this increase down, in order to reduce any risk of the possibility 
of being capped this year.  In reaching their final decision Members need to 
consider that if the council were capped it would bring with it reputational 
damage and potential costs of re-billing which are estimated at £170k. 

140 I also would highlight the separate capital programme report, and the issues 
that are set out within that.  In particular, the capital plan has some significant 
implications in terms of the revenue budget in coming years, and both 
programmes will need to be carefully managed in terms of ensuring proper 
provision is made in the medium term. 

Page 257



Recommendations 

141 Members are asked to consider the appropriate levels of council tax that they 
wish to see levied by the City of York Council for 2010/11.  In doing so they 
should pay due regard to factors such as: 

a expenditure pressures facing the council in 2010/11 as detailed at Annex 1; 

b the impacts in 2010/11 of the growth requirements and savings proposals 
outlined in Annexes 3 and 4; 

c medium term financial factors facing the council as outlined in the report; 

d the levels of reserves projected to be held at the 31 March 2010, 2011, 
2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 (Annex 6); 

e significant future pressures identified; 

f the statutory advice from the Director of Resources; 

g the need to ensure that any adjustments to these proposals are self-
balancing within the requirements laid down by the Director of Resources as 
the council's responsible financial officer. 

142 In light of these considerations Members are asked to recommend to Council 
approval of the budget proposals as outlined in this report, and set out in detail 
within the financial strategy.  In particular: 

a the net revenue expenditure requirement for 2010/11 of £117.978m, as set 
out in Annex 1; 

b the housing revenue account proposals outlined in Annex 8; 

c the dedicated schools grant proposals outlined in the report; 

d the revenue growth proposals of £13.786m on-going for 2010/11, plus one-
off growth of £1.008m, outlined in Annex 3; 

e the revenue savings proposals of £10.352m for 2010/11 outlined in Annex 4; 

f in terms of the council's reserves to agree the use in 2010/11 of £0.500m 
from the venture fund; 

g use of prior year collection fund surplus of £0.288m; 

h agree that release of growth of £500k for 16/17 year olds is subject to a 
further report to the Executive setting out the full implications (paragraph 28) 

i agree that the £2m transfer from general balances to the capital reserve 
fund is not made (paragraph 52); 

Page 258



j approve the increase for council dwelling rents by an average of 1.83% in 
line with government guidance on rent restructuring as set out in Annex 9; 

k Note the medium term financial strategy projections that indicate the need 
for savings/efficiencies in future years of £10m per annum. 

143 In relation to the More for York programme Members are also asked to: 

a note the revised More for York savings set out in Annex 5a; 

b agree to undertake to incorporate into More for York a programme of 
efficiency in City Strategy to 

• rationalise the administration teams in light of changes to HR, ICT, 
Customer Services EDRMS and Finance 

• improve processes in Planning and Building control through better use of 
technology and improved customer contact arrangements. 

c agree to undertake to incorporate into More for York a programme of 
efficiency in Chief Executive’s directorate to 

• rationalise use of administrative buildings over the Christmas period, 
saving on heating, lighting, etc. 

d incorporate a review of out of area placements for Looked After Children 
into the Children’s Social Care blueprint 

e agree a revised More for York investment total of £1.241m, as set out in 
Annex 5b, and to delegate to the Chief Executive and the Director of 
Resources the authority to decide on the early resourcing needs of the 
programme in advance of a detailed report to Executive 

f note the proposal to expand the programme focussing initially on the areas 
identified in this report and to receive a further report on this early in the new 
financial year. 

144 The effect of approving the income and expenditure proposals included in the 
recommendations would result in an increase in the City of York element of the 
council tax of 2.9%.  It is intended that the total council tax increase including 
the parish, Police and Fire Authority precepts, will be agreed at the full council 
meeting on 25 February 2010. 

 

Contact Details 
 

 

Authors: Chief Officers responsible for the report: 
Janet Lornie 
Corporate Finance Manager 
Resources ext 1170 

Ian Floyd 
Director of Resources 

Page 259



Keith Best 
Assistant Director of Resources (Finance) 

Report Approved  
√ 

Date 05/02/10 

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  Human Resources 
Name 
Title 
Tel; No. Extension 
Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all All  

√ 
 

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers 
Medium Term Financial Strategy - Executive 
3rd Finance and Performance monitoring report - Executive 
Executive Member Decision Session reports and minutes January 2010 
Government Grant settlement papers 

Annexes 
1 Summary of Budget 
2 Directorate Analysis of Budget Proposals 
3 Growth and Reprioritisation 
4 Saving Proposals 
5 More for York 
6 Estimated Reserve Balances 
7 Contingency Items 
8 Housing Revenue Account budget report 
9 Housing Revenue Account Rent Increase  
10 Public Consultation on Budget Proposals 
11 SIWG Draft Minutes 
12 Risk Assessment 

Appendix 
Financial Strategy 

 
 

Page 260



Summary of Budget
Annex 1

2010/11
£'000

Net Expenditure Budget Brought Forward 117,010.0
Removal of one-off funding for non-rec exp. from Reserves/Balances -3,474.0 

Starting Expenditure requirement 113,536.0

Corporate Expenditure Pressures
Economic Downturn 420.0
YPO Dividend Shortfall 97.0
Additional financing for borrowing (capital programme) 884.0
Minimum Revenue Provision - new borrowing 476.0
Interest Paid on Borrowing 143.0
Interest earned on cash balances 860.0
Neighbourhood Priorities 100.0
Contingency 255.0

Additional Budget Pressures Identified
Departmental Recurring 10,551.0
Departmental and Corporate Non-recurring 1,008.0

Total Expenditure Pressures 14,794.0

Reduced Costs and Additional Income
Council wide savings (M4Y) - total £15m by year three -3,725.0 
Departmental Savings Taken -6,627.0 

Total Expenditure Reductions -10,352.0 

Revised Projected Budget Requirement 117,978.0Revised Projected Budget Requirement 117,978.0

FUNDING
Existing Funding -117,010.0 
Removal of one-off funding for non-rec exp. from Reserves/Balances 3,474.0

Starting Funding -113,536.0 

Funding Changes
Variation in Revenue Support Grant -1,090.0 
Use of Reserves -500.0 
Adjustment for prior year Collection Fund Surplus 236.0
In-year Collection Fund surplus (-) or deficit (+) -288.0 
Increased Council Tax from assumed 2.90% rate -2,025.0 
Increased Council Tax from increased base at new rate (M4Y) -775.0 

Revised Funding -117,978.0 

Annex1SummaryofBudget0.xls

Page 261



Page 262

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 2

Base Priority Directorate Final
Budget Investment Recurring One-off Savings Budget
2010/11 2010/11

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Directorate
Chief Executives 4,934 0 585 0 -468 5,051
City Strategy 7,691 1,100 651 251 -1,811 7,882
Housing and Adult Social Services 43,597 544 1,473 0 -930 44,684
Leisure, Culture and Children's Services

43,303 2,051 1,894 20 -1,778 45,490
Neighbourhood Services 29,777 679 981 202 -1,030 30,609
Resources 3,485 0 593 0 -610 3,468

132,787 4,374 6,177 473 -6,627 137,184
Corporate Budgets
Treasury Management 8,168 2,463 0 500 0 11,131
Other Corporate Budgets -28,019 517 0 35 0 -27,467
Contingency 600 255 0 0 0 855
Corporate Efficiency Savings 0 0 0 0 -3,725 -3,725

-19,251 3,235 0 535 -3,725 -19,206

TOTAL BUDGET 113,536 7,609 6,177 1,008 -10,352 117,978

Directorate Growth

Directorate Analysis of Budget

Page 263



Page 264

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 3

Recurring One-off
£'000 £'000

Directorate
Chief Executives 585 0
City Strategy 1,751 251
Housing and Adult Social Services 2,017 0
Leisure, Culture and Children's Services 3,945 20
Neighbourhood Services 1,660 202
Resources 593 0
Corporate 3,235 535

General Fund Impact 13,786 1,008

Non-General Fund
Dedicated Schools Grant 3,585 0

2010/11

Detailed Growth and Reprioritisation - Summary

Page 265



Annex 3

Detailed Growth and Reprioritisation

Chief Executives
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
Report Pay and Price Increases 72

Based on a pay increase for Local Government staff of 1.0% (from 1 
April 2010), and due to the underlying low rate of inflation, there is a 
general price freeze on most budgets.  The amount allowed for price 
inflation is to fund known price increases, e.g. contract payments. 

CEXEG01 Cost of Increments 141
Cost of increments across the Directorate for 2010/11.

CEXEG02 Cost of P&G Appeals 155
The cost of successful pay and grading appeals across the directorate 
totals £155k.

CEXEG05 Water Management (Legionella) 100
The council agreed at Executive 9th June 2009 to undertake water 
monitoring at its establishments. The growth bid would support the 
majority of the additional costs of undertaking this work.

CEXEG06 Contribution to Leeds City Region 23
Continuation of the Leeds City Region growth agreed in 2008/09 as a 
two year bid. The regional agenda has moved quickly and given the 
consequences of becoming a forerunner region the secretariat costs 
have increased. The ongoing cost of this therefore remains within the 
council budget. Further liabilities will be supported by secondments etc.

CEXEG07 Coroner's Pay Budget 10
The Coroner’s terms and conditions are set by the Ministry of Justice 
based on workload. Latest figures suggest an increase cost to the 
council of £10k.

CEXEG08 Additional Savings 2009/10 84
Unallocated savings from the 2009/10 budget resolution. The allocation 
of the savings are being formalised within 2010/11 savings proposals.

Total 585 0

City Strategy 
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
Report Pay Award 96

Based on a pay increase for Local Government staff of 1.0% (from 1 
April 2010).

Report Price Increases 71
Due to the underlying low rate of inflation, there is a general price 
freeze on most budgets.  The amount allowed for price inflation is to 
fund known price increases, e.g. contract payments.  

2010/11

2010/11

Page 266



Annex 3

CSTRCOR1 Concessionary Fares 900
The delivery of the concessionary fare scheme for anyone over the age 
of 60 years and for persons with a disability that meet set criteria in 
order to qualify for a pass. The additional funding required covers the 
budget shortfall in 2009/10 (£420k) inflation and increased usage 
(£380k) and the costs of increased take up from tokens (£100k). Note 
that these increased costs will be offset by savings and additional 
grant.

CSTRCOR2 Waste PFI procurement budget: 200

The council is undertaking a joint procurement exercise with NYCC for 
a waste processing facility to reduce the amount of waste landfilled. 
This is important due to the need to avoid increasing landfill tax 
liabilities and potential LATS penalties. There are ongoing costs from 
the procurement, primarily legal and financial consultants, as the 
preferred bidder is appointed and a commercial contract is drawn up. 
Current estimates of CYC’s contribution for the procurement is £200k.

CSTRG01/02 Staffing Cost Increases 358
Cost of increments across the Directorate and Pay and Grading 
appeals.

CSTRG06 Companion Passes 35
Extension of the eligibility of companion passes has been accepted by 
the Concessionary Fares Partnership. This has been estimated to have 
a small additional cost for the council.

CSTRG07 Environment Agency Levy 16
The EA are looking to increase the council levy from £33k to £49k in 
2010/11. The 50% increase is to fund flood prevention measures 
across the Yorkshire and Humber area.

CSTRG08 Cycle Training Income 15
The council historically has enjoyed income levels from providing 
training courses to cycle trainers from other Local Authorities. This 
income stream is no longer providing significant revenue.

CSTRG09 Roll Out of Kingsway West Initiative 40
It is intended to learn from the successful Kingsway West Pilot 
targeting more deprived parts of the council and roll out into other 
areas of the city.

CSTRG11 Learning City Partnership 20
Funding is required to support the work of the Learning City 
Partnership to address economic inclusion and adult skills across the 
city; this issue has increased in importance to enable residents to be 
well equipped to respond to the current economic situation. 

CSTRN02 Local Development Framework 180

One-off

There are still significant costs to completing the Local Development 
Framework process. The budget to support the initiative is only set to 
March 2010. It is proposed to use the anticipated one-off final year 
award of Planning Delivery Grant (see below) to fund the programme 
for 2010/11. The largest costs to be incurred relate to the examinations 
of the core strategies and Area Action Plans. A new approach to York 
North West will have to be considered with the preparation of new and 
revised planning briefs and frameworks.

CSTRN03 Speed Limit Review 15
One-off Budget to allow review of appropriate speed limits across the city.

Page 267



Annex 3

CSTRN05 Car Parking Initiatives 25

One-off
To purchase 4 new parking ticket machines in selected car parks to 
accept credit and debit card payments.

CORPN02a One-off Growth Agreed During Previous Year's Budgets 31
One-off Land Options Waste - year three of three.

Total 1,751 251

Housing and Adult Social Services
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
Report Pay Award 226

Based on a pay increase for Local Government staff of 1.0% (from 1 
April 2010).

HASSG01 Cost of Increments 150
Cost of increments across the Directorate for 2010/11.

HASSG02 Cost of P&G Appeals 375
The cost of successful pay and grading appeals across the directorate 
totals £155k.

HASSG06/COR
PG09 Reprovision of Residential Care as Supported Living 325

The full year effect of previously agreed growth associated with 
residents currently living residential care moving to community based 
housing and support.

HASSG07/COR
PG11 Increased Demand - Complex Needs 320

Known costs associated with individuals who are transferring from 
Children's Services into adulthood with extremely complex needs.

HASSG08 Increased Demand - Older People 286
Costs of increased placements for older people and people with mental 
health needs.

CORPG10 Community Based Care 335
To increase the number of home care hours available to support 
people in their own homes.

Total 2,017 0

Learning, Culture and Children's Services
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
Report Pay Award 1272

Based on a pay increase for Local Government staff of 1.0% (from 1 
April 2010) and Teaching staff of 2.3% (from 1 September 2010), the 
net costs of staff increments after allowing for new starters at the lower 
point of the grade, the estimated cost of successful pay & grading 
appeals, and the additional cost of allowances following the 
implementation of the pay and grading review.

2010/11

2010/11

Page 268



Annex 3

Report Price Increases 123
Due to the underlying low rate of inflation, there is a general price 
freeze on most budgets.  The amount allowed for price inflation is to 
fund known price increases, e.g. contract payments, and is net of any 
inflationary allowance included in on-going grants supporting core 
services.  

CG01 Children's Social Care - Looked After Children Increase 1557
As previously reported to Members, the number of Looked After 
Children (LAC) in York continues to increase.  In March 2008 the 
number was 166, but by December 2009 it had risen to 225.  It is 
estimated that growth of £1,657k will be required in 2010/11 to manage 
this significant increase, and cover the consequent pressures on a 
range of social care budgets.  
In addition, the existing arrangement for accommodating and 
supporting 16/17 year olds who present as homeless have very 
recently been challenged by a House of Lords ruling.  The Lords ruling 
suggests that where there are more than one category of need (i.e. a 
roof over their head) then the young people should be considered ‘in 
need of accommodation’ under S20 of the Children Act 1989 (Looked 
After).  This means that where 16-17 year olds have previously been 
accommodated under housing legislation, unless they were clearly 
identified as extremely vulnerable, now all 16-17 years will be 
assessed with the presumption that care services should be provided 
under section 20 of the Children Act 1989.  Work is on-going between 
LCCS and HASS but there is a potential additional GF cost that could 
be in excess of £500k.

 In order to mitigate these pressures we are looking to review the 
overall efficiency of the service, and a More for York Blueprint is 
therefore being developed with the aim of generating savings of £600k.

CG02
Children's Social Care - Integrated Children's System Support Post 
Grant 40
This is a key system that requires supporting on an on-going basis.  
DCSF grant ceased in 2009/10 and additional funding is required to 
maintain this important post.

CG03 Youth Offending Team - YOT Budget Stabilisation 90
This bid is to secure provision of statutory youth justice services, 
compliance with National Standards, requirements of HM Inspectorate 
of Probation, Youth Justice Board/CAA Capacity & Capability review, 
and conditions of YJB grant.
Current resources are inadequate to fund these core demands, and the 
shortfall has been met through (a) expenditure of reserves, now 
depleted and (b) short-term funding now expired (most significantly 
LPSA2) and (c) efficiencies.
Although technically a growth bid, this is in fact a bid to stabilise the 
YOT ability to deliver statutory services and involves no expansion.  
The sum requested is net of a further £90k of efficiency savings 
expected to be made by the service in 2010/11.

CG04 Children's Trust Unit - Training & Development Grant 30
The cost of the training and development team has been part funded 
by grant which ended in 2008/09.  The service has been funded from a 
carry forward of grant in 2009/10 but this will no longer be available 
from 2010/11.

Page 269



Annex 3

CG05 Extended Schools - Grant Shortfall 180

A shortfall in external grant resources to support the Extended 
Services team in 2010/11.  Discussions are in place with schools to 
explore the potential to retain a greater proportion of the grant centrally 
from 2011/12 which could reduce this pressure in future years.

CG06 Young People's Service - Grant Reductions 39
Youth provision previously funded by grant but now regarded as key 
elements of the youth service.

CG07 Young People's Service - Youth Service Premises Costs 15
The service continues to be responsible for a number of buildings for 
which it no longer holds the budget.  The original intention had been to 
facilitate local community management of these buildings that has not 
proved possible.

CG08 Access Services - Home to School Transport 231

Members will be aware of the significant pressures being experienced 
within this budget in 2009/10.  This growth item provides the additional 
resources required to deal with the higher cost of providing transport 
and escorts for SEN pupils, rising fuel costs, impact of the increase in 
the LAC population, overspend in discretionary transport due in part to 
successful appeals, and an increase in mainstream transport costs due 
to over optimistic savings assumptions.

CG09 Access Services - Primary School Admissions 25
A new statutory requirement for the local authority to administer 
primary admissions.  This funding would support the additional staffing 
required.

CG10 Human Resources - Independent Safeguarding Authority 42
A new statutory requirement for all staff who have contact with children 
to be registered with the Independent Safeguarding Authority (ISA) by 
October 2013, at a cost of £64 per registration.  All new appointments 
need to be registered immediately with existing staff on a phased basis 
over 5 years.

CG11 Human Resources - School Workforce Census 19

A new DCSF requirement from 2010/11 for which no staffing resource 
is available within the existing HR team.  In the first year of the new 
survey the equivalent of a full time post will be required for 9 months to 
set up new systems, with a 0.5 fte post required on an ongoing basis.

LG01 Libraries & Heritage - Archives Manager 32
The post was created in 2009/10 but funding was only provided on a 
one-off basis.  This item is matched against the savings generated 
through the library service restructure (LS05).

LG02 Libraries & Heritage - Library Service Self Issue Machines 35
The additional cost of annual prudential borrowing repayments to 
finance the purchase of self issue machines.  This item is matched 
against the savings generated through the library service restructure 
(LS05).

LG03 Libraries & Heritage - Library Service Grant Income 32
Reduction in grant income received by the service.  This item is 
matched against the savings generated through the library service 
restructure (LS05).

LG04 Sport & Active Leisure - Barbican Centre Interim Funding 120
The additional funding required to maintain the centre in its current 
mothballed state and complete the current tendering exercise.

Page 270



Annex 3

LG05 Sport & Active Leisure - External Grant Funding Reductions 63
The loss of grant funding from LPSA2 for the Physical Activity Co-
ordinators and Sport England for the Physical Disability Coach, plus 
the part year loss of Sport England Grant for the Community Sports 
Coach and Aquatics Coach.  In 2011/12 the full effect of the 
Community Sports Coach and Aquatics Coaches grant losses will be 
felt.  The growth pressure has been reduced by an assumption that 
new external funding of £20k can be secured.

CORPN02b One-off Growth Agreed During Previous Year's Budgets 20
One-off Contribution to 2010 Mystery Plays - year five of five.

Total 3,945 20

Neighbourhood Services
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
Report Pay Award 207

Based on a pay increase for Local Government staff of 1.0% (from 1 
April 2010).

NSERG01 Cost of Increments 301
Cost of increments across the Directorate for 2010/11.

NSERG02 Cost of P&G Appeals 407
The cost of successful pay and grading appeals across the directorate 
totals £155k.

NSERG06 Rent Increase at Peel Street Car Park 13
The rental increase on Peel Street Car Park has increased by more 
than inflation for 2010/11 as calculated by the terms of the contract.

NSERG07 Electricity Income at Picadilly 9
Additional meters have only recently been charged for at Piccadilly car 
park.  The current budget does not give sufficient to cover the full cost 
of electricity.

NSERG08 Shortfall to Fund Noise Patrol Service 24
This is linked to a move in shift patterns.  Funding of the Noise Patrol 
service was identified as a pressure in 08/09.  The additional costs 
were funded from carry forwards in 09/10 but this growth request is to 
fund the full service.

NSERG09 New Statutory 'On Farm' Inspection Requirement 8
There has been an additional statutory requirement for animal feed 
inspections in 09/10.  This is being funded from underspends for the 
part year of 09/10 but there is insufficient budget to fund this for 10/11 
onwards.

NSERG10 Licensing Fee Review Costs 12
New legislation for sex shop licences that means only the cost of the 
inspection can be recovered.  As part of the fees and charges review 
these licenses have been revised which gives a shortfall of income.

2010/11

Page 271



Annex 3

CORPG29 Waste - Landfill Tax 388
Landfill Tax increases by £8 per tonne up to and including 2010/11. 
This projection is based on 56,000 tonnes per year which gives a 
£448k charge for 10/11 plus £144k unfunded for 09/10.  A stretched 
target reduction of approximately 4160 tonnes at £48 per tonne Landfill 
Tax has been set for 10/11 to give a reduction of £200k.  Therefore the 
final growth request is for £388k.

CORPG30 Waste - Waste Processing Contract 111
Contract step increase in landfill processing cost £2.00 per tonne from 
2010/11 - Yorwaste Contract.  Plus £700k per year for Waste PFI 
contract.

CORPG31 Waste - Roll-Out Kerbside Recycling 130
The Waste Strategy refresh report to Exec on 23 Sept 2008 approved 
the rollout of Kerbside recycling to all properties, where practicable, to 
conform with the statutory target to provide collection of 2 recyclates.  
2010/11 is the final year of a 3 year programme.

CORPG33 Waste - Waste Minimisation 50
For the waste strategy team to push the message about reducing 
landfill and increasing recycling.  This links to the delivery of the 
stretched target on landfill tax at CORPG29 and the kerbside rollout 
CORPG31.

CORPN02c One-off Growth Agreed During Previous Year's Budgets 202
One-off Ward Committees - year three of four.

Total 1,660 202

Resources Directorate
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
Report Pay Award 88

Based on a pay increase for Local Government staff of 1.0% (from 1 
April 2010).

Report Price Increases 28
Due to the underlying low rate of inflation, there is a general price 
freeze on most budgets.  The amount allowed for price inflation is to 
fund known price increases, e.g. contract payments, and is net of any 
inflationary allowance included in on-going grants supporting core 
services.  

RESOG01 Cost of Increments 150
This is the anticipated cost of the staff increments for the Directorate.

RESOG02 Cost of P&G Appeals 101
This is the anticipated cost of the Pay and Grading appeals across the 
Directorate.

2010/11

Page 272



Annex 3

RESOG06 IT Development Plan Growth 226
The new process for IT development seeks to fund on-going 
requirements from existing revenue budgets, therefore the budget 
pressure reported here matches against the IT savings reported. The 
overall amount of £226k is made up from 2 areas. 1) Full year effect of 
the 2009/10 Development plan is £111k. 2) Due to previous delays in 
project delivery the Executive agreed to under fund the 2009/10 IT 
Dev't plan in year 1, this budget of £115k is now required for 2010/11. 

Total 593 0

Corporate Budgets
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
CORPG34 Treasury Management 884

Revenue Funding for Government Supported Borrowing.
CORPG35 Treasury Management - Interest Paid on Borrowing 143

As a result of reduced Capital Receipts.
CORPG36 Treasury Management - Increased MRP 476

As a result of borrowing resulting from reduced receipts.
CORPG37 Treasury Management - Interest Earned on Balances 860

Required revenue funding to cover the Government approved level of 
borrowing.

CORPG42 YPO Dividend Shortfall 97

CORPG47a Economic Downturn 220
To cover the underlying income shortfall and the increase of VAT back 
to 17.5% for car parking income.

CORPG47b Economic Downturn 200
To cover the underlying income shortfall for planning income.

CORPG41 Increased Corporate Contingency 255

Neighbourhood Treasury Management 100
Priorities Funding needed to pay for revenue consequences of the £1m increase 

in the capital programme.

CORPN01
Treasury Management - Venture Fund Contribution to Interest Earned 
On Balances 500

One-off
CORPN03 NKA Fees for SPD Work 35

One-off

NKA reviewed the claimants claiming single person's discount on 
council tax, and as a result of their work the number of properties in 
receipt of this discount has reduced.  The cost of this work has to be 
charged to the general fund, and is matched by an increase in the 
council tax base (leading to a smaller charge to each individual 
property).

Total 3,235 535

2010/11

Page 273



Annex 3

DSG
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
Report Schools Minimum Funding Requirement 2928

The DCSF have confirmed that the MFG will continue to deliver a 
minimum per pupil increase for all schools until at least 31 March 2011.  
The MFG for all schools set at 2.1% for 2010/11.  The estimated 
amount required to deliver the MFG for all York schools is £2,928k in 
2010/11.

Report Pay Increases 193
Based on a pay increase for Local Government staff of 1.0% (from 1 
April 2010) and Teaching staff of 2.3% (from 1 September 2010), the 
net costs of staff increments after allowing for new starters at the lower 
point of the grade, the estimated cost of successful pay & grading 
appeals, and the additional cost of allowances following the 
implementation of the pay and grading review.

Report Inflation 114
Due to the underlying low rate of inflation, there is a general price 
freeze on most budgets.  The amount allowed for price inflation is to 
fund known price increases, e.g. contract payments, and is net of any 
inflationary allowance included in on-going grants supporting core 
services.  

CG12 Special Educational Needs Service - External Placements 250
Based on the current position projected forward, which includes the 
planned ending of some placements, plus an amount for new unknown 
placements during 2010/11.

CG13 Behaviour Support Service - Demand Pressures 100
In setting the 3 year schools budget strategy, the Schools Forum have 
already agreed to provide additional for the service.  This additional 
£100k reflects the current level of demand and expenditure in 2009/10 
and projected forward.  Further work being undertaken on a review of 
the Behaviour Support Service management and staffing structure may 
reduce this requirement in the future but is included as a separate 
savings proposal (CS54) at Annex 3.

Total 3,585 0

2010/11

Page 274



Annex 4

Savings Summary
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Directorate
Chief Executives -468 0
City Strategy -1,591 -220
Housing and Adult Social Services -592 -338
Leisure, Culture and Children's Services -1,703 -75
Neighbourhood Services -1,030 0
Resources -610 0
Corporate -3,725 0

General Fund Impact -9,719 -633

Non-General Fund
Dedicated Schools Grant -488 -200

Detailed Savings Proposals - Summary

2010/11

Page 275



Annex 4

Detailed Savings Proposals

Chief Executive
Recurring One-off

Ref Brief Description £'000 £'000
CEXES01 Vacancy Factor 3% -163

Introduction of a vacancy factor to most staffing areas across the 
Directorate of 3%.

CEXES02 Increased Income From the Recruitment Pool -68
Due to the increased volume of temporary work now being processed 
through the Recruitment Pool, the operation is able to return a greater 
surplus than is currently budgeted for.  

CEXES03 Savings from Rebase of Chief Executive's Office Budget -16
A number of factors have resulted in a surplus on the salary budget for 
the Chief Executive’s Office.

CEXES04 Cessation of Shadow Executive -23
Effect of changes to the council's political structure in 2009/10.

CEXES05 Fewer SRA's Following Abolition of EMAP's -17
Effect of changes to the council's political structure in 2009/10.

CEXES06 Saving From Rebase to Central Marketing Salary Budget -5
Follows the completion of a restructure within the Central Marketing 
team.

CEXES08 Delete Vacant Scrutiny Assistant Post -21
Proposal to delete the Scrutiny Assistant post that has been held 
vacant since its creation in 2006/07. This is likely to impact on service 
delivery and given the recent increase in the number of scrutiny 
committees, it was planned to recruit to this post to provide support to 
the existing 2 Scrutiny Officers.

CEXES10 Delete Vacant Post PA to Director -26
It is proposed to delete this post and share support between other 
teams across the directorate.

CEXES13 Completion of Graduate Management Trainee Programme -12
The Graduate Management Trainee Programme is due for completion 
in October 2009 and it is not proposed to continue the post funded from 
the Chief Executive's budget.

CEXES14 Remove Ad-Hoc Hospitality Budgets -11

Deletion of a number of small hospitality budgets within the Directorate. 
CEXES15 CMT Administrative Support -10

Delete part time vacant post to provide Corporate Management Team 
with administrative support. This role is undertaken within current 
resources.

CEXES16 Delete 1 fte Democracy Officer -27
Proposal to reduce the number of Democracy Support Officers from 5 
to 4. Whilst there are fewer public meetings to support, this will impact 
on service delivery within the team. This will lead to a potential 
redundancy within the team.

CEXES17/18 Review of Responsibility Allowances -10
Proposals to reduce by on the number of planning sub-committees and 
also to merge the Licensing and Regulation committee with the 
Licensing and Gambling committee.

CEXES19 Review of Directorate Overhead Budgets -18
Proposed cut of 20% on staff travel, equipment and stationary budgets 
across the Directorate will provide a saving of £18k.

2010/11

Page 276



Annex 4

CEXES20 Delete 0.5 fte vacant Civic Administrator -8
The proposal is to delete 0.5fte vacant post within civic services. This 
is unlikely to have an impact on service as alternative arrangements 
have been put in place.

CEXES21 Reduce Marketing and Communications team by one fte -33
Proposal to review the functions undertaken with in the team with the 
intention to reduce the establishment by one fte. This will have an 
impact on the Council's ability to market to and communicate with 
residents. This will lead to a potential redundancy within the team.

Total Savings -468 0

City Strategy
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
CSCOR01 Concessionary Fares Reimbursement Rate Reduction -612

Anticipated savings arising from a reduced reimbursement rate paid to 
operators from 1st Dec 2009.

CORPS03 Concessionary Fares Additional Special Grant -288
Anticipated additional grant from Department for Transport for 
supporting concessionary fares in 2010/11. This element combined 
with CSCOR01 will fund the growth pressure.

CSTRS01 Vacancy Factor 2.5% -190
Introduction of a vacancy factor to most staffing areas across the 
Directorate will result in a reduction in budget totalling £175k.

CSTRS02 Review of RESPARK Charges -10
Review of charges for RESPARK charges resulting in an increased 
charge for high emission vehicles (£110). It is proposed to freeze 
charges for standard permits at £93 and widen the eligibility for low 
emission vehicles (£44) to include VED bands A-C.

CSTRS03 Savings across Land Charges budget -19
Reduced costs in transmission fees and other supplies and services to 
fund additional staffing costs leaving service a non profit area.

CSTRS04 Secretarial Services Restructure -15
A restructure of the management support service structure in Autumn 
2009 resulted in the deletion of one post from the team.

CSTRS05 Development Control Restructure -130
Restructure of the planning team resulting in the split of teams into 
Major and Other applications rather than the current geographic split. 
This will result in a number of posts being deleted as workload 
reduces. It is likely also to result in the reduction of one area planning 
sub-committee.

CSTRS06 Contribution re Park & Ride City Centre Support -15
Review of Park & Ride support arrangements undertaken within 
council and bus operator resource.

CSTRS07 Reduction in Transport Planning Initiatives -40
A 20% reduction in educational campaigns. The reduction would be for 
promotions seen as 'soft' measures.

2010/11

Page 277



Annex 4

CSTRS08 Economic Assessments -40

The council has been awarded additional grant of £65k to fund 
Economic Assessments of the city. A lot of this work has already been 
carried out in-house therefore can be funded without the full grant.

CSTRS09 Anticipated Additional Concessionary Fare Grant -82
The growth of £900k required for concessionary fares can be funded 
from a reduction in the reimbursement rate to operators and a first call 
on the additional grant assumed from the government. There remains 
a further £82k which can be offered as a saving.

CSTRS10 Seek external funding to support Economic Development activity -40
Seek to maximise regional and other external funding to support 
economic development programme.

CSTRS11 Car Parking Initiatives -60
Rolling out improved technology (ticket machines that accept debit / 
credit cards) and redesignating Esplanade car park as a short stay car 
park is expected to increase income yields. Proposal also to increase 
maximum permitted length of stay at short stay car parks.

CSTRS12 Park & Ride additional income -50
Proposal to maximise value from the Park & Ride licence fee including 
potential 10p fare increase for return trip. 

CSTRN06 Housing & Planning Delivery Grant -220

One-off

Assumed additional grant from Department of Communities and Local 
Government from Year 3 of the Housing and Planning Delivery Grant 
(£365k compared to £145k budget). This saving will fund one-off 
growth proposals.

Total -1,591 -220

Housing and Adult Social Services
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
HASSS06 Reduce Respite Care -20

A cut in the level of respite care offered will result in approximately 200 
fewer weeks of care being available.

HASSS07 Review Use of Area Based Grants -75
One-off Review use to identify efficiencies.
HASSS08 Use of Supporting People Grant -118
One-off Review use to identify efficiencies.
HASSS09 Outsource Training & NVQ Team -75

The department retains an in-house NVQ assessment team and 
organises external training for both the in-house services and other 
providers of social care services.  This proposal would involve 
outsourcing the services provided by 5.5 ftes although there would be a 
need to retain a role to organise strategic training and development.

HASSS10 Reduction In Social Care Assessment Staffing -15
This would involve the removal of a half time vacant social care 
assessment post.

2010/11

Page 278



Annex 4

Additional Income -25
The recent decision to amend the non residential charging policy 
included an estimate of additional costs for implementing the changes.  
Further work on the implementation of the revised policy has identified 
that the costs can be reduced by £25k.   

HASSS11 Reduction in Administration Costs -8
The deletion of a vacant post.

HASSS12 Policy Posts -90
Identify alternative funding for the housing strategy and carers strategy 
posts, and remove the Social Services Policy post and the Equalities & 
Information post -  these posts provide support to the development and 
improvement of services.

HASSS13 Mediation Service -20
A reduction in service levels will mean that in future this service will 
only be available for council tenants as it will be solely funded from the 
Housing Revenue Account.

HASSS15 Review Use of Social Care Reform Grant -145
One-off Review use to identify efficiencies.
HASSS16 Increase Warden Call Charges -8

Increase charges by 1.5%.
HASSS17 Increase Other Non Residential Charges -110

Increase charges by 1.5%.
HASSS18 Review Pool Car Usage -21

Review to enable a reduction in the number of pool cars used.
HASSS19 Management Efficiency -200

Undertake a thorough review of all budgets across the department to 
identify further savings.

Total -592 -338

Learning, Culture and Children's Services
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
Report Full Year Effect of 2009/10 Savings -26

Adult Ed Centre relocation (£4k), Finance team efficiencies (£7k) and 
TDU Management responsibilities (£15k).

Report Fees and Charges Increase -83
Increase in fees and charges by 2.5% except where there are 
nationally set charges.

CS01/LS01 Staff Vacancy Factor -94
Increase the vacancy factor on non-frontline staffing budgets by 1.0% 
(from the current 4.0% up to 5.0%).

CS02/LS02 Reduction in Office Budgets -33
A cut in all directorate general office expenses, equipment, travel and 
subsistence budgets by 5%.

CS03 Childrens' Social Care - Recruitment Advertising Budget Reductions -10
A 30% reduction in the budget.

CS04 Childrens' Social Care - The Glen Staffing Efficiencies -70
Existing arrangements allow for a reduction in staffing budgets with no 
impact on existing staff.

2010/11

Page 279



Annex 4

CS05 Childrens' Social Care - External Grant Reprioritisation -30

One-off
Reprioritisation of activity within a number of external grant streams 
towards core services.

CS07
Education Welfare Service - Review of EWS & Behaviour Support 
Service Management Arrangements -15
The potential for savings being generated from the development of 
greater integration of these services - supported by the planned 
implementation of a new 'Front Door' for children's services.

CS08 Local Safeguarding Children Board - Efficiency Savings -5

One-off

A review of budget headings shows that efficiency savings can be 
made to reflect small changes in activity levels and procedures which 
have not previously been reflected in budget setting.

CS09 Adult & Community Education - Adult Education Staffing Restructure -65
The revised staffing structure agreed at the Children & Young People's 
Services Executive Member Decision Making Meeting on 12 January 
2010 generates a significant saving.

CS10 Arts & Culture - Music Service Revised Staffing Model -35
A new business model for the Peripatetic Music Service involving new 
patterns of service delivery to schools and to members of the public will 
also introduce new terms and conditions for all teachers in the service 
from September 2010.

CS11 Arts & Culture - Arts Consultants: Cease Service to Schools -100

The saving would be generated from making the 3 consultants posts 
redundant and removing the curriculum support currently provided to 
schools.  However, we would want to continue to make cultural 
opportunities and activities available to young people, and the saving is 
therefore net of funding to appoint staffing to undertake project work to 
increase the range of cultural opportunities available to young people.

CS12 Children's Trust Unit - Reduce CYC Contribution to Children's Trust -6
The trust will manage this reduction by utilising the Think Family Grant 
to support an element of salary costs.

CS13 Children's Trust Unit - TDU Staffing Saving -20
Vacant TDU manager post being covered at lower grade, and 
temporary reduction in hours of Support Service co-ordinator post, 
pending planned restructure.

CS14
Early Years & Children's Centres - Cease Funding Health Service 
Posts from ICC Grant -120
This would remove council funding for 3.8 posts based at Children's 
Centres.  Instead, as in other LA areas, we would look to health 
colleagues to provide support from within their mainstream services.

CS15

Early Years & Children's Centres - Reduced Posts in Proposed ICC 
Structure for 2010/11Cease Funding Health Service Posts from ICC 
Grant -130
As part of the phased implementation of Integrated Children's Centres 
the original budget plans included increased investment of £400k in 
2010/11.  In light of the budget pressures being faced it is felt that this 
investment could now be reduced to £270k in 2010/11 without 
significantly compromising the overall aims of the centres.

CS16 Young People's Service - Additional Hours Moratorium -21
Additional hours will not be allocated to cover holidays, sickness etc.  
This may mean some youth work sessions will not run.

Page 280



Annex 4

CS17 Young People's Service - Reduced Usage of Mobile Phones -4
Essential use only will be made the normal practice.

CS18
Young People's Service - Delete Curriculum & Accreditation Co-
ordinator -20
The current vacancy will be left unfilled.

CS19
Young People's Service - Delete Quality Assurance & Voluntary 
Services Liaison Post -22
Delete a 0.5fte post.  The current postholder is on secondment until 
31/03/2011; issue to be re-addressed well before then.

CS20
Young People's Service - Review Information, Advice & Guidance 
Posts -25
This could result in redundancy for one member of staff.

CS21 Young People's Service - Review Administration Posts including MIS -30
This could result in 1.5 fte posts being made redundant. 

CS22 Young People's Service - Review Training Co-ordination -19
This could result in a 0.5 fte redundancy. 

CS23
Young People's Service - Cease CYC Subsidy for Momentum on 2 
Wheels Project -18
If replacement external funding cannot be found this would result in the 
project having to cease.  This could result in a redundancy. 

CS24 Young People's Service - Connexions External Budget Reduction -15
Reduce external commissioning and bought in service budget 
(currently £200k).

CS25 Young People's Service - Review Locality Team Structure -52
Current vacancy for Team Leader post to be left unfilled.

CS26
Young People's Service - Review of YOT & Young People's Service 
Management Arrangements -31

Deletion of 1 fte management post.  This could result in a redundancy.
CS27 Access Services - Access Officer Post Deletion -18

This would require a restructure of the existing staffing establishment, 
taking account of the changes proposed in the Behaviour Support 
Service review.

CS28 Finance - Finance Service Operational Budgets -11
Includes cuts in training, staff travel, car allowances, printing, IT 
hardware, conference expenses and subscriptions.  This will mean we 
will no longer be able to support a trainee accounting technician (the 
current trainee is coming to the end of his training programme).  
Schools will stop receiving funding and other financial information in 
hard copy.  We will no longer be a member of organisations such as 
f40.

CS29 Finance - Finance Service Staffing Reductions -8
A 0.5fte post was deleted in 2009/10 and the full year effect of this is 
higher than originally estimated.  In addition the service currently 
retains a small budget to help support the significant peak in workload 
at the time of the annual school funding and closedown cycle.  It is 
proposed to remove this budget and take advantage of the new flexible 
working arrangements that the service is currently trialling as part of 
the “Office of the Future” pilot.

Page 281



Annex 4

CS30 Finance - School Business Service Charges to Schools -20

There is a continuing increase in the level of buy in from schools to the 
School Business Support Service, particularly for dedicated School 
Business Manager support.  The saving is net of the additional staffing 
capacity required to deliver the increased hours of support in schools.  
Due to the high regard in which the service is currently held by schools, 
and an expansion of the range of support available to schools, it should 
also be possible to increase unit charges to all schools by 4%.

CS31 ICT Client Services - Learning Platform Grant Utilisation -40

One-off

Reduce the base budget provision for the directorate and schools 
learning platform service by charging elements of the new 
infrastructure requirements against the DCSF Harnessing Technology 
capital grant in 2010/11.

CS32 Management Information Service - MIS Income Generation -21
Increased income from the sale of school level management and 
performance information to schools.  In addition the new information 
requirements to support the integrated children’s centres can be 
charged to the new ICC grant but will be delivered within existing 
staffing resources.

CS33 Planning & Resources - Reductions in Project Management Capacity -45
The potential to delete 2fte posts supporting capital schemes is being 
explored.  This reflects the steadily reducing schools capital 
programme now that the main secondary school schemes and 
children's centres are nearing completion. 

CS34 Strategic Management - Delete LCCS Development Fund -6
Remove the remaining balance on the development fund.

CS35 Strategic Management - Beacon Status Bid Budget Cut -2
Remove the full budget.  The budget supports Beacon and other award 
bids.

CS36 Strategic Management - Delete Graduate Trainee Post -7
Delete the post once the current cohort of trainees have passed 
through the directorate.

CS37 Strategic Management - Restructuring of Directorate PA Support -20
A reorganisation of support to the Management Team is proposed that 
will lead to the deletion of one post.   

CS38 Educational Development Service - Delete 0.6 fte Administrator Post -3
Reorganisation of administrative support with the reduction of a 0.6 fte 
post.

CS39 Educational Development Service - Delete 0.5 fte Advisor Post -20
One advisor post was reduced to 0.5 fte from September 2009 as part 
of 2009/10 budget process.  The intention is to reduce the advisory 
team by another 0.5 for 10-11 from Sept 10.

CS40 Educational Development Service - Delete Curriculum Consultant Post -44
he proposal is to delete one consultant post, and reorganise the 
remaining team roles.  The gross saving is £54k, less £10k to allow for 
some lead teacher support to be funded instead.

CS41
Educational Development Service - Supplies and Services Budgets 
Further Reductions -7

Reduced use of taxis, and discontinue paying certain IT costs for staff.

Page 282



Annex 4

CS42
Educational Development Service - Discontinue Summer School for 
Able, Gifted & Talented Pupils -13

Cancel the summer school for AG&T pupils.  Provision for these pupils 
in future will be from classroom learning, ASTs or lead teachers.

CS43 Educational Development Service - Delete Residential Conference -3
Replace residential conference with 2 days of non-residential 
conferences saving on accommodation costs.

CS44
Educational Development Service - Reduce Service Bought from 
NYBEP -15
School Improvement currently buys in a service from NYBEP.  It is 
proposed to reduce the amount commissioned from £40k to £25k.

CS45
Educational Development Service - Reduce Budget for SEN, ICT & 
PSHCE Support to Schools -35
Reduce the £132k budget for schools support and project funding 
under these three headings.

CS46
Educational Development Service - Reduce Number of External 
School Improvement Partners -10
Replace an external SIP with a Principal Adviser fulfilling the role 
instead.

CS47
Educational Development Service - Utilise Existing Consultant to 
Deliver "Every Child a Talker" from within Grant Funding -25
A grant of £112k is being provided in 2010/11 to deliver  this project.  
The LA can retain an amount to fund central costs, and this proposal 
deploys an existing member of staff for part of this role.

CS48
Educational Development Service - Reduce One to One External 
consultancy -13
A reduction from 3 days to 2 days, with the remainder being picked up 
by the Principal Advisers.

CS49 School Governance Service - Governance Service Efficiency Savings -10
A number of small efficiencies including; deleting the temporary staffing 
budget (£3k), further reductions in the stationary budget (£2k) and an 
increased proportion of management costs being charged to the 
clerking service (£6k).

LS03 Arts & Culture - Arts Service Level Agreements Reduction -7
The annual agreements with Pilot Theatre, York Guildhall Orchestra, 
Yorkshire Film Archive, and the Late Music Festival would not be 
renewed in 2010/11.

LS04 Arts & Culture - Cease Funding the Community Arts Service -67
he Community Arts service will cease with 2 fte redundancies.  Officer 
capacity will remain to support community arts groups with advice and 
to seek external funding for community projects.

LS05 Libraries & Heritage - Library Service Staffing Restructure -99
The revised structure agreed at the Leisure & Culture Executive 
Member Decision Making Meeting on 12 January 2010 generates a 
significant saving.  This is being reinvested within the service through 
the linked growth proposals LG01, LG02 & LG03.

LS06 Libraries & Heritage - York Explore Income Target -80
The new facilities within the York Explore Library will open up 
increased opportunities for income generation.  In the first instance any 
additional income will be used to reduce the current library service 
income deficit, with any interim shortfall against the target being funded 
by a reduction in the bookstock budget.

Page 283



Annex 4

LS07 Parks & Open Spaces - Micklegate Stray Income -26
Additional income from smaller commercial & property rents.

LS08 Parks & Open Spaces - Reduce Event & Animation Budget -2
A saving in the budget available to support events and activities within 
the city's parks.

LS09
Parks & Open Spaces - Cease Funding Bowling Facilities Outside of 
the Main Parks & Gardens -2
Remove maintenance support from self-managed bowling greens and 
croquet facilities at Scarcroft Green and the Retreat.  This will lead to a 
saving in staff time in 2011.

Total -1,703 -75

Neighbourhood Services
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
NSERS01/2/3 Highways Administration Efficiencies -92

The Highways Infrastructure team moved from City Strategy to 
Neighbourhood Services in January 2009.  A review of the workload of 
the new consolidated team has identified duplication of roles and 
efficiencies from a restructure.  This identifies savings in addition to 
those included in the MoreForYork programme.  This would involve the 
deletion of three posts (including one administration post) but only one 
potential redundancy.

NSERS04 Fleet Efficiency in the Civils Highways team -16
This involves the reduction of the Highways fleet by 1 vehicle by 
reviewing workload planning.

NSERS05/06
Deletion of unallocated budgets and vacant staffing budgets in Building 
Maintenance -112
This is the removal of budgets within the Building Maintenance team 
where vacancies had been held.

NSERS07 Takeover Operation of School Recycling From Yorwaste -6
The collection of schools recycling is currently provided by Yorwaste 
outside of the main Yorwaste contract.  With the recent provision of 
appropriate vehicles this service can now be performed in house 
therefore producing a saving.

NSERS08
Reduce Car Allowances Budget in the Environmental Enforcement 
Team -3
More Efficient use of the pool vehicles held in the Street Environment 
and Enforcement team will mean that the car allowances budget can 
be removed.

NSERS09/10 Parking Services structure review -25
A review of the structure within Parking Services has identified 
efficiencies within the service from the removal of a vacant post and 
the review of use of overtime for absence cover.

NSERS11 Increase in PCN Income -10
A review of roles in Parking Services to provide more front line hours 
therefore increases in PCNs expected.

NSERS13 Review of Cleaning Services Structure -10
This review has identified the removal of a part time post (currently 
vacant).

2010/11

Page 284



Annex 4

NSERS14 Reduction of ad-hoc cleaning hours -28
Review of sick and holiday cover to reduce additional hours in Building 
Cleaning.  This will mean less cover for absences and potential 
reduction in standards.

NSERS15 Recovery of Void Cleaning Via Increased Charges to HRA -6
The increased staffing costs from the pay increase and increments is 
to be passed onto the customer via an increased charge in the hourly 
rate.

NSERS16 Recovery of School Cleaning Via Increased Charges to Schools -62
The increased staffing costs from the pay increase and increments is 
to be passed onto the customer via an increased charge in the hourly 
rate.

NSERS18 Increase in Fees and Charges at the Crematorium -29
A review of the fees and charges made by the Crematorium which 
brings some charges in line with those made by other Crematoria 
would give an increase in income.

NSERS19 Delete 0.5 FTE Environmental Protection Officer Post -15
This is the deletion of a post which is currently vacant.

NSERS20 Flexible Retirement of Business Advice & Ed Officer -11
This is the deletion of 0.4 fte.

NSERS21 Reduce 1 Senior Trading Standards Officer post to 0.8 FTE -7
This reduction is possible following a return from maternity leave.

NSERS22 Introduce Shift Working for Noise Patrol -7
A review of the provision of the service in light of the changes since 
pay and grading has identified that the service could be staffed on a 
shift basis giving a saving on the staffing costs.

NSERS23 Delete 0.5 FTE Admin Officer Post in EHTS -10
This is the deletion of a post which is currently vacant.

NSERS25 Recharge to Housing for Noise Nuisance Call Outs -25

NSERS27 Licensing Vacancy Saving -8

NSERS28 Increase in Fees in Licensing -6
This is an increase in fees to pass on the staff costs of increments and 
pay award.

NSERS29/30/31 Increase Fees and Charges at Registrars -37
Additional income from the increase in fees and charges for 2010/11.

NSERS32 Administration Budget Savings -27
This is the removal of relocation, staff advertising, staff training and 
staff medical fees budgets within the overheads account.

NSERS33/34 Reduce The Depot Energy Budgets -40
Review of energy budgets due to efficiencies of new depot.  The 
charges for Water and Electricity are much reduced since the move 
from the old Depot on Foss Islands Road to the new EcoDepot at 
Hazel Court.  These savings are now sustainable.  This is a 66% 
reduction in water and a 28% reduction in electricity.

NSERS35 Full Year Savings on Transport Leases -43

Purchase of all vehicles has been identified as a function which should 
be performed in house so the saving is related to not having to pay add 
on costs on the leases on vehicles previously purchased by DSG.

Page 285



Annex 4

NSERS36 Transport Structure Review -100
The review of the provision of fleet based on the service being 
provided in house.

NSERS37/17/24 2% Reduction in Supplies and Services Budgets -40
A targeted reduction in the supplies and services budgets (mainly in 
office spend) has been identified at 2%.

NSERS38 3% Vacancy Factor -255
This is the standardisation of a 3% vacancy factor across the 
directorate.  Current indications are that a 3% vacancy is the average 
within the directorate.

-1,030 0

Resources Directorate
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
RESOS01 Vacancy Factor -105

For 2009/10 the Directorate introduced a vacancy (staff turnover) 
saving of £55k, this proposal increases the vacancy factor across all 
Resources to 3%. It should be noted that this figure represents an 
average across the directorate, there are some service areas e.g. 
Council Tax, Benefits, customer services, where there maybe 
significant financial / service impacts from holding vacancies.

RESOS02 Post Reductions -107
These relate to two posts where the post holders have already left the 
employment of the Council and the posts will not be filled.  (Finance 
Manager and Business Support Manager).

RESOS03 Reduction in FMS Project Support -100
This saving reflects the reduction to the FMS project team. Work 
associated with the FMS system will be integrated into the corporate 
finance sections work. 

RESOS04 IT Savings -226
The new process for IT Development seeks to fund new project 
development from existing revenue budgets including those budgets 
no-longer required to fund historic IT prudential borrowing 
requirements. Therefore the IT savings reported here match against 
the IT growth item reported. The overall saving of £226k is made up 
from 3 areas. 1) Savings of £92k have been made where IT goods and 
services have been delivered at less than budget, or where the IT 
schemes have been cancelled. 2) Prior years IT prudential funding, the 
amount available for 2010/11 is £102k.  3) Further miscellaneous 
project savings of £32k have been identified. 

RESOS05 Reduction in Agency Staff Within Corporate Finance -20
Agency staff within Corporate finance will no longer be used.  This 
follows reductions in the use of agency staff introduced in the current 
year within other service areas in Resources.

RESOS06 Reduced Level of District Audit Fees -20
Based on the latest guidelines from the Audit commission it is 
estimated that there will be a  reduction in the level of DA fees payable.  
If any service specific inspections are introduced for 2010/11 then 
there would be an additional charge for this work.

2010/11

Page 286



Annex 4

RESOS07 Reduction in the Subsidy Loss From Placing Fewer Cases in B&B -20
Through a variety of means the Housing team are reducing the number 
of homeless cases which need to be placed in B&B accommodation.  
This is then reducing the subsidy loss incurred by the authority.  Some 
additional investment is required to support this work which has been 
netted off against the saving available. This saving has been put 
forward on the basis that the reduced number of cases being placed in 
B&B accommodation continues in the future. There is a level of risk 
associated with this saving, and regular monitoring of the number of 
cases is already in place.

RESOS08 Miscellaneous Savings -12
These comprise of small item reductions primarily relating office 
equipment.

Total -610 0

Corporate Budgets
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
CORPS01 More for York Savings -3500

Adjusted by council tax base change. 178
CORPS04 More for York Savings - additional stretch target -1000

Adjusted by council tax base change. 597

Total -3,725 0

DSG
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Ref Brief Description
CS01 Staff Vacancy Factor -16

Increase the vacancy factor on non-frontline staffing budgets by 1.0% 
(from the current 4.0% up to 5.0%).

CS02 Reduction in Office Budgets -7
A cut in all directorate general office expenses, equipment, travel and 
subsistence budgets by 5%.

CS50
Special Educational Needs Service - Cease Speech, Language & 
Communication Needs Project -19
This proposal entails a withdrawal of Local Authority funding for the 
Speech, Language and Communication Needs projects at three 
primary schools.

CS51
Special Educational Needs Service - Limetrees CAMHS Teaching 
Income -5
Increased income from other LAs for CAMHS teaching at Limetrees.  
This proposal would move the service towards being more self-
sufficient in that the income would pay for a greater proportion of the 
service provided.

2010/11

2010/11

Page 287



Annex 4

CS52
Early Years & Children's Centres - Nursery Education Funding 
Pathfinder Grant -200

One-off

It should be possible to continue to use an element of the grant being 
provided to extend the free entitlement for 3 and 4 year olds as a 
contribution to the increased demand the pathfinder has generated 
within the base budget.

CS53 Strategic Management - Delete LCCS Development Fund -3
Remove the remaining balance on the development fund.

CS54
Behaviour Support Service - Review of EWS & Behaviour Support 
Service Management Arrangements -15
The potential for savings being generated from the development of 
greater integration of these services - supported by the planned 
implementation of a new 'Front Door' for children's services.

CS55 Behaviour Support Service - Cease Skills Centre Horticulture Course -27
This course is currently bought in at an annual cost of £55k.  The 
course would not be renewed from Autumn 2010, so the full saving 
would not be generated until 2011/12.

CS56 Behaviour Support Service - Delete 0.5 fte Teaching Assistant Post -13
Delete a vacant 0.5 fte post.

CS57
Traveller & Ethnic Minority Service - Replace 2 Teachers with 2 
Teaching Assistants -29
Delete two teacher posts and replace with 2 TA posts with a small 
increase in overall hours.  Could result in one redundancy.

CS59 School Funding - Schools Pay & Grading Contingency -354
The remaining balance within the contingency budget was intended to 
be allocated to schools following the outcome of the appeals process.  
It is now proposed that no further allocations are made.  Schools will be 
asked to fund the cost of their own appeals by using the savings they 
will have made from the difference between the pay award assumed in 
the LMS Funding formula for 2009/10 & 2010/11 of 2.5%, and the 
actual or expected pay awards for these years of 1%.

Total -488 -200

Page 288



Annex 5a

Customer Services 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Closure of 20 George Hudson St customer reception - move to City Finance Centre 21
Closure of Mill House customer reception 21
Closure of 10-12 George Hudson St staff reception 21
Reduction of cashiers & introduce All Pay 140
Transfer of LCCS transport calls 12
Transfer of Licensing work in YCC 0
Transfer of Complaints to the YCC 38
Transfer of Planning into YCC 0
Transfer of Leisure Services 23
YCC transfers undertake BPR 105

TOTAL 380

Neighbourhood Services 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Review Rounds & staff related savings 496
Audit Trade Waste 25
Reduce Vehicle Damage 30
reduce use of temporary Staff and Overtime 26
Highways Maintenance Contracts 106
Processes - Highways & Street Light Repairs 87
Insource Traffic Control 25
Street Lighting Controls 40
Business Support/Admin 74
Integrated inspections 25
Fleet Management review 240

TOTAL 1,174

Income Collection 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Performance management culture and generic working 85
Reduced Invoicing 45
Improved Collection of sundry debtors 100
Delete Vacant Post 20
Roll out e-benefits 27
Improved in collection of housing benefit overpayts 39

TOTAL 316

Transformation (More for York) Savings Details

Page 289



Annex 5a

Procurement 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Procurement Card Rebate 15
Postage and consumables based on e-transactions 8
Reduced Admin / Streamlined Requisitioning 47
On Contract Spend Review (2% reduction) 100
Off Contract Spend Review (4%) reduction 80
Forensic Audit 150

TOTAL 400

ICT 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Managed Print
- Reduction in energy, paper & consumables 126
Review all Print Units 20
Desktop Review
- Reduction in Fax and Lines 20
- Rationalise thin client estate 20
Consolidate support teams 134
Forensic Audit (network lines) 20
Mobile (establish network link to supplier) 20
Software Licence and Application rationalisation 175

TOTAL 535

Human Resources 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Staff Efficiencies 73
Change in sourcing arrangements for temporary & fixed term employees (to be 
validated in line with resourcing strategy) 300

TOTAL 373

Property 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Outsourcing Facilities Management 165

TOTAL 165

Page 290



Annex 5a

Adult Social Care 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Review In House homecare service 117
Electronic Homecare Monitoring 20

TOTAL 137

Finance 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Streamlined working practices 85

TOTAL 85

Performance 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Streamlined working practices 50

TOTAL 50

City Strategy 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Admin & EDRMS streamlining 37
Temporary Closure of Accommodation over Christmas 10
Planning & Building Control process efficiencies 44

TOTAL 91

Organisational Review 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
New organisational structure 600

TOTAL 600

Learning, Culture and Children's Services 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
Out of Area Placements 100

TOTAL 100

Page 291



Annex 5a

Housing General Fund 2010/11 
Budget

Brief Description £'000
M&E supervision/Tradesmen/Admin up to 4 @ £20k+£3k 73

TOTAL 73

TOTAL SAVINGS 4,479

Page 292



Annex 5b

CAPITAL INVESTMENT

Workstream Area/ Requirement

 Year 0 
2009/10 
£'000 

 Year 1 
2010/11 
£'000 

 Description 

Neighbourhood Services

Purchase of Segregated Recycle Bins 300        190        
Investment to buy additional recycling containers to allow customers to 
sort their own recycling.

Route Smart IT system 50          Investment to optimise the scheduling and routing of vehicles.
Traffic Management System 66          Investment to allow control of temporary traffic light systems.

Health and Safety System 23          
Investment to support Health & Safety risk assessments and to 
manage the tagging of equipment.

Neighbourhood Services Total 439        190        

Human Resources

CRM Development 20          Investment to allow HR cases to be managed / tracked in one system.
Human Resources Total -         20          

CAPITAL INVESTMENT TOTAL 439        210        

REVENUE INVESTMENT

Workstream Area/ Requirement

 Year 0 
2009/10 
£'000 

 Year 1 
2010/11 
£'000 

 Description 

REVENUE SUPPORT FOR CAPITAL
Annual Revenue Costs 10          148        

10          148        

RECURRING
Neighbourhood Services
Route Smart IT system 4            20          Investment to optimise the scheduling and routing of vehicles.
Neighbourhood Services Total 4            20          

Procurement

Procurement Officers 160        
The expansion of Procurement team to deliver expanded programme of 
activity.

Procurement Total -         160        

RECURRING TOTAL 4            184        

ONE-OFF REVENUE
Neighbourhood Services
EXOR Highways system development and 
integration 40          Development to allow viewing of assets across the city.
Neighbourhood Services Total 40          -         

Customer Services
Refurb of Customer Service Centre 40          Refurbishment of 9 St Leonard's Place.
Consolidation of new services, training YCC 
staff 100        

Backfill staff whilst they undertake training in order to maintain service 
levels.

Allpay set up costs 23          Set up costs in relation to introduction of allpay payment systems.
Customer Services Total 63          100        

Procurement

Interim Procurement Officers 133        
Interim upfront resource for 3 months to allow early savings to be 
realised.

FMS amendment 20          Changes to Authority Financials.
Procurement Total 133        20          

ONE-OFF TOTAL 236        120        

Page 293



Annex 5b

CYC PROGRAMME RESOURCES

Customer Services 143        
Programme Delivery Staff - LAGAN Business Change Manager to lead 
on self service + 2 Business Analysts.

Organisational Review 45          
Programme Delivery Staff - Support for modelling new management 
structures and management levels across all Directorates.

Income Collection 39          Programme Delivery Staff - 1 Business Analyst.

ICT 57          

Programme Delivery Staff - 1 Technical Analyst - Data Centre + 1 
Technical Analyst -Managed Network + 2 Business Analysts: 1 
Software Audit + 1 ICT consultation.

HR Transformation 40          Programme Delivery Staff -System Implementation Project Manager.
LCCS 16          Programme Delivery Staff - 1 Business Analyst.
Neighbourhood Services Fleet Mgt 20          Programme Delivery Staff - Fleet Services Manager.
HASS 115        Programme Delivery Staff - 3 Business Analysts.
Neighbourhood Services/Hsg Repairs 39          Programme Delivery Staff - 1 Business Analyst.

Property 90          
Programme Delivery Staff - 1 Property Specialist to conduct Facilities 
Management market testing.

Procurement 90          Programme Delivery Staff - 2 Business Analysts.

Programme  Management Office 95          

Programme Delivery Staff - Risk Analyst and consultancy support for 
securing behavioural and cultural change to ensure delivery of  the 
programme improvements and savings.

CYC PROGRAMME RESOURCES TOTAL -         789        

REVENUE INVESTMENT TOTAL 250        1,241     

Page 294



Estimated Reserves Balances
Annex 6

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund Reserve
Balance at 1 April (10,012) (4,160) (4,160) (3,910) (3,910) (3,910) (3,910)
Less: Committed To Annual Budget 3,697     -   250     -       -       -   250 

Transfer to capital reserve fund 2,000     -       -       -       -       -       -   
B/Fwd Underspend released 472     -       -       -       -       -       -   
Supplementary Estimates 100     -       -       -       -       -       -   

Revised General Fund Reserve (3,743) (4,160) (3,910) (3,910) (3,910) (3,910) (3,660)

Add: Other Adjustments
NNDR Rebates (50)     -       -       -       -       -       -   
Transfers in:
from trading activities reserve (300)     -       -       -       -       -       -   
from Insurance reserve (400)     -       -       -       -       -       -   

(750)     -       -       -       -       -       -   

Net Overspend on General Fund 2,333     -       -       -       -       -       -   

Anticipated Reserve at 31 March (2,160) (4,160) (3,910) (3,910) (3,910) (3,910) (3,660)

Recommended reversal of transfer
to capital reserve fund (2,000)

Estimated Reserve at 31 March (4,160) (4,160) (3,910) (3,910) (3,910) (3,910) (3,660)

Venture Fund
Balance at 1 April (2,276) (2,187) (850) (775) (229) (494) (494)
Add: Repayments (696) (47) (406) (755) (374)     -       -   
Less: Advances 785 1,384 481 1,301 109     -       -   
Estimated Balance at 31 March (2,187) (850) (775) (229) (494) (494) (494)

Total Revenue Reserves at 31 March (6,347) (5,010) (4,685) (4,139) (4,404) (4,404) (4,154)

Estimated Minimum Threshold 5,686 5,893 6,070 6,252 6,439 6,633 6,832 

(Headroom)/Shortfall in Reserves (661) 883 1,385 2,113 2,035 2,229 2,678 

The Council also holds Earmarked Reserves which could be called on in an emergency.
If they were used the reserves would need to be reimbursed in the future, or the costs relating to the 
purpose for which they were set up would need to be met from general budgets. 
These include developers' contributions, which support the capital programme, the council's
insurance reserve and schools' balances.

Page 295



Page 296

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 7

Contingency Items Summary
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Directorate - Recurring Items
Chief Executives 300 0
City Strategy 330 0
Housing and Adult Social Services 0 0
Learning, Culture and Children's Services 360 0
Neighbourhood Services 83 0
Resources 0 0
Corporate Services 0 0

Total 1,073 0

Detailed Contingency Items - Summary

2010/11

Page 297



Annex 7

Detailed Contingency Items

Chief Executive
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Brief Description
Economic Downturn - Commerical Portfolio 250
Pressures as a result of additional voids, but in particular at Harewood 
Whin, the Ambulance Station and Parkside.
Economic Downturn - Surplus Property 50
Given the current financial climate there is little opportunity for quick 
sales and this represents costs of maintaining, keeping safe and 
holding costs (NNDR etc).

Total 300 0

City Strategy
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Brief Description
Economic Downturn - Building Control 100
Workloads reduced by 20% over three year period, resulting in an 
income shortfall.
Economic Downturn - Section 38 Income 80
Number of highway adoptions has declined significantly.
Economic Downturn - Yorwaste Dividend 130
A 20% decrease in trade waste being processed by Yorwaste will have 
an impact on the Council's dividend budget.
Economic Downturn - Newgate Market Income 20
A downturn in income due to changing consumer purchasing habits. 
Increased charges has a negative impact on traders.

Total 330 0

Learning, Culture & Children's Services
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Brief Description
Economic Downturn - Lifelong Learning & Culture 235
Continuing shortfalls in budgeted income across Lifelong Learning and 
Culture servcies (libraries, Music, Adult Education and sports), the 
impact of which has been compounded by the current economic 
downturn.
Building Schools for the Future (BSF) 125
The estimated costs of developing BSF proposals to replace or 
refurbish secondary schools in the city.  The costs, totalling c£750k, are 
one-off and spread over 3 to 5 years.  The profile will depend on when 
York is admitted to the BSF programme.

Total 360 0

2010/11

2010/11

2010/11

Page 298



Annex 7

Neighbourhood Services
Recurring One-off

£'000 £'000
Brief Description
Security Costs at Towthorpe HWRC 83
There is no base budget for security staff costs and the site’s isolated 
location makes it vulnerable.  The high cost of scrap metal has 
exacerbated this. If further security is required these measures will be 
funded from contingency, with a maximum cost of £83k.

Total 83 0

2010/11

Page 299



Page 300

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 8 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

1 Local Authorities are required, by legislation, to keep a HRA.  The Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 stated that items of income and 
expenditure only relating to Council housing must be contained within the 
account.  Thus the terms “ring fenced” or “landlord account” are now referred 
to, as transfers between the HRA and General Fund are normally prevented. 

2 The Act also outlined the arrangements whereby subsidy is allocated on a 
“notional” HRA.  This account is based on the government’s assessment of 
what local authorities should charge in rents and spend on management and 
maintenance, rather than what they actually do charge and spend.   

3 Authorities have a duty to ensure that the HRA balances, to keep the budget 
under review and to take all reasonable steps to avoid a deficit.   

 HRA Negative Subsidy & rent increase 

4 The two major sources of funding HRA expenditure have been Government 
Subsidy and rent income.  Following the removal of the payment of rent 
rebates through the HRA there is now a net surplus on the notional HRA as 
the rent income now exceeds the subsidy payable by the Government for 
HRA expenditure on management, maintenance, etc.  This results in a 
“negative” subsidy payable by the authority to the Government of £6,152k for 
2010/11.  This compares to £6,575k for 2009/10. 

 2009/10 Estimate 
£’000 

2010/11 Estimate 
£’000 

HRA subsidy payable (including 
MRA) 

18,887 19,134 

Less Notional Rent Income from 
council tenants 

(25,462) (25,286) 

Equals Negative Subsidy payable (6,575) (6,152) 

  

4 Housing rents are based on a formula for rent setting created by central 
government.  Under the original formula similar properties should be charged 
similar rents by 2012 regardless of who owns the property.  This is known as 
rent convergence.  This formula rent takes account of various factors 
including the number of bedrooms a property has, property valuation, average 
earnings and the date at which all rents are expected to converge.  The 
guideline rent increase for 2010/11 is 3.1% with convergence due to be 
achieved in 2012/13.  The actual average rent increase for this council, taking 
all these factors into account, is expected to be 1.83%. 

Page 301



Annex 8 

 HRA Borrowing and Debt Repayment 

5 From 1 April 2004 authorities can determine for themselves what capital 
investment is required and have the freedom to borrow (within prudential 
principles) to deliver housing services.  Some supported borrowing continues 
and the interest charges for the elements used to fund HRA capital 
expenditure is paid from the HRA and refunded through subsidy.  Prudential 
borrowing which takes place over and above the (supported) capital financing 
requirement is “unsupported” in that the authority must find the means of 
paying back interest and principal from within its own resources.   

6 In October 2009 the Executive Member agreed to submit a bid to the Homes 
and Communities Agency for grant to build in the region of 18 new family 
council houses.  We have just received confirmation that this bid has been 
successful, therefore the HRA will undertake prudential borrowing during 
2010/11, which will be funded from the rental income stream received from 
the new properties. 

7 Previously authorities were required to make a revenue provision to repay 2% 
of net HRA debt and this was funded through HRA subsidy.  Authorities are 
no longer compelled to make this provision and any voluntary contribution will 
not be paid by subsidy.  Guidance suggests it is advisable to make a 
voluntary contribution and as a result since 2004/05 a provision of 2% has 
been made on outstanding HRA debt.  This will continue in 2010/11. 

8 The result of all the adjustments outlined within this report is an in-year 
surplus of £662k.  Together with the budgeted brought forward working 
balance of £8,254k and after making a contribution to the capital programme, 
this leaves a working balance of £8,918k on the account. 

9 This surplus is broadly in line with that forecast in the HRA business plan.  
The HRA surplus needs to remain on the account to be reviewed once the 
HRA business plan is updated to reflect both the budget detailed in this report 
and the 2009/10 outturn position.  Members are reminded that the HRA 
surplus is needed to fund expenditure in future years. 

10 A review of the operation of both the HRA and the current subsidy system is 
currently being undertaken by the department of Communities and Local 
Government (CLG).  This review is looking at all aspects of housing finance, 
however it is not expected that there will be any impact on the HRA in 
2010/11.   

 

Page 302



HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT Annex 8a

BUDGET BUDGET
2009/10 2010/11
£'000 Expenditure: £'000

Repairs & Maintenance
4,941 Jobs General 4,993
1,010 Projects 956
289 Estate Improvements 257
108 Decoration Allowance 109
47 Rechargeable Repairs 47

6,395 6,362

General Management
87 Neighbourhood Pride Unit Recharge 88
51 Tenant Support and Information 51
44 City Strategy Recharge 45

125 Property Services Recharge 126
51 Neighbourhood Services Recharge 52

1,287 HASS Recharge 1,299
76 Head of Housing Services 88

2,517 Housing Operations 2,540
549 Asset Management 560
30 HRA Training 30

4,817 4,879

Special Services
818 Sheltered Housing 805
93 Energy Costs 94

1,164 Temporary Accommodation 718
180 Discus Bungalows 180
375 Grounds Maintenance 379
231 Caretaking Costs 233
19 Cleaning Costs 19
40 Lifts 41
5 Communal Aerials 5
6 Contribution to Energy Efficiency 6

2,931 2,480

Rents etc.
5 Rent & Rates 6

218 Insurance 220
1 RTB Legal Fees 1

224 227

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts
101 Council Housing 104
101 104

Housing Subsidy
6,576 HRA Subsidy (negative) 6,152
6,576 6,152

Capital Charges
8,701 Depreciation 8,701

5 Debt Management 6
8,706 8,707

29,750 TOTAL EXPENDITURE 28,911

Page 303



HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT Annex 8a

BUDGET BUDGET
2009/10 2010/11

Income:
Rents

-26,002 Council Housing -25,771
-541 Temporary Accommodation -311

-26,543 -26,082

Non Dwellings Rents
-290 Council Garages -293
-251 Council Shops -251
-35 General Rents -35

-576 -579

Charges for Services and Facilities
-11 Fees & Charges - Council Housing -9
-84                           -  Legal Fees -84
-85                           -  RSL management fee -85

-524                           - Sheltered Housing -524
-2                           - Temporary Accommodation -2

-60 Cookers   -55
-87 Leaseholder Admin Charge -87

-853 -846

Contribution Towards Expenditure
-11 -    Sheltered Housing -12
-42 -    Rechargeable Repairs -42
-11 -   Temporary Accomodation 0
-64 -54

Supporting People Income
-740 -   Temporary Accomodation -467
-44 -   Tenancy Enforcement 0
-31 -   Mediation Face-to-Face -38
-39 -   Tenancy Support Wrker 0

-854 -505

Transfer from General Fund
-3 Amenities Shared by the Whole Community -3
-3 -3

-28,893 TOTAL INCOME -28,069

857 NET COST OF SERVICE 842

1,173 Loan Interest 887
-5 Mortgage Interest -2

-300 Revenue Cash -200
401 Voluntary Debt Repayment 430
708 Capital Expenditure financed from Revenue 838

-3,574 Contribution to/(from) MRR -3,459

-740 (SURPLUS) / DEFICIT IN YEAR -664

-7,514 (SURPLUS) / DEFICIT BROUGHT FORWARD -8,254
-740 (SURPLUS) / DEFICIT IN YEAR -664

-8,254 (SURPLUS) / DEFICIT CARRIED FORWARD -8,918

Page 304



Annex 9 

HOUSING RENTS 2010/11 

1. In 2000 the Government announced that from April 2002 all councils and housing 
associations had to set their rents on a new, fair and consistent basis.  This 
involved a phased change in rents over 10 years beginning in April 2002 based on 
a formula for rent setting created by Central Government.  This is known as rent 
restructuring and will mean that rents charged will move towards a Government set 
target rent.  By 2012 similar properties should be charged similar rents regardless 
of who owns the property.  This is known as rent convergence. 

2. Current Government rents’ policy assumes that through the process of rent 
restructuring there will be eventual convergence between the rents in the local 
authority and registered social landlord (RSL) sectors.  At this point actual and 
guideline rents for a single authority should all have the same value.  

3. The actual rent is the rent charged to the tenant.  The guideline rent is a notional 
rent and a feature of the HRA subsidy system.  This is the level of rent the HRA 
subsidy system assumes an authority is receiving for the purpose of calculating its 
HRA subsidy entitlement.   

4. This Government formula rent takes account of various factors including the 
number of bedrooms a property has, property valuation, average earnings and the 
date at which all rents are expected to converge.   

5. The CLG have proposed in the draft subsidy determination a guideline rent increase 
of 3.1%.  Taking into account the rent calculations on individual properties and the 
impact of moving all rents towards the guideline rent results in an actual average 
rent increase for York of 1.83%.   

6. The recommended option is to increase rents in line with Government guidance, 
resulting in an average increase of 1.83%.  This is in line with the recommendation 
from CLG and matches the assumed level of income in the HRA subsidy 
calculations.   

7. The rent increase will apply to all council properties including hostels and travellers 
sites.  It is necessary to serve notices on tenants to vary their current rent and a 
minimum of four weeks notice is required. 

Page 305



Page 306

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 10 

Budget Consultation Feedback 

1 The council’s budget has been widely consulted on.  The forms of consultation 
included the following 

1) the postal and web based survey of citizen’s priorities for budget growth 
and savings 

2) budget forums held separately for citizens and the business community, 
where an in-depth analysis of the situation and options were discussed 

4) Scrutiny Management Committee 
5) Executive Member Decision Sessions where budget proposals, options 

and details including Service Plans were presented 

2 The main form of consultation was the postal and online survey of citizen’s views.  
The information in this report is based on a total of 12,694 responses, an 
exceptional level at 14.6% return.  This is an excellent response rate for this type 
of survey, and up almost 64% on the 2009 consultation . 

3 Members are in no way bound by the consultation as it is not a referendum, but 
is a process to gather opinion and aid informed decision making.  Members are 
reminded that none of the consultation options are included in the budget 
proposals in this report and that the aim is for members to propose the ones they 
wish to approve, whilst ensuring that the overall budget still balances. 

4 Some key messages are that respondents would prefer to see increases in fees 
and charges above average to help the Council balance its budget in this difficult 
economic climate, and there is support to increase financial help for social care in 
the community; helping residents to separate their recycling prior to collection; 
and to pay bills electronically, over the phone or at local shops, rather than at 
council receptions. 

5 In particular an analysis of the returns shows that respondents: 

• favour long term energy efficiency measures, including closing some 
reception points and chasing people who haven’t paid their bills 

• there is minimal support for increasing the subsidy on school meals 
• would welcome more investment in road and footpath maintenance, 

creating and maintaining jobs in the area and working with other 
organisations to reduce crime 

• think the council should not invest money on the fireworks display 
• think the council could make savings on arts and cultural events and 

reducing inequalities 

6 Statistically the results show that: 

• Over half (56%) of respondents would prefer increases in fees and charges 
above average to help the council balance its budget in this difficult 

Page 307



Annex 10 

economic climate.  This was the preferred option of three choices – 
providing fewer services was the second favoured option at 30% and an 
increase in Council Tax levels was the least favoured at 14%. 

• Eight out of ten (80%) respondents support the council spending a greater 
share of the social services budget on social care and support in the 
community to help people live in their own homes for longer. 

• Overall, 63% of respondents support separating recycling at home before 
collection.  Considerably more (83%) are in favour of using three boxes as 
opposed to using existing boxes and bags (71%). 

• 54% of respondents are in favour of increasing the fees the council charges 
for services like pest control and trade waste disposal, however, a sizeable 
minority (26%) oppose this proposal.   

• 81% of respondents pay for council services by Direct Debit, via the website 
or over the phone and are happy to continue to do so.  A further 5% would 
consider switching to these methods to pay bills. 

• 70% of respondents support replacing council-run paying-in points with links 
through local shops and post offices to pay council bills. 

• 63% of respondents support reducing the number of city centre reception 
points to save money. 

• 83% of respondents think the council should invest in energy efficiencies to 
reduce energy usage and save money in the long term. 

• 93% of respondents support the council’s approach to chasing unpaid 
council bills.   

• 64% of respondents are in favour of reducing the number of council staff in 
order to release money for front line services. 

• Only 17% of respondents think the price of school meals should be reduced 
by providing additional subsidy from the Council Tax and reducing spending 
on other services.  The majority (67%) oppose this idea.   

• Around half of respondents would like the council to invest more on road 
and footpath maintenance, creating and maintaining jobs in the area and 
working with other organisations to reduce crime.   

• Over two thirds of respondents think the council is spending the right 
amount on libraries (76%), parks and open spaces (71%) and schools 
(66%).  There is also support for the current spending levels on keeping the 
streets clean (65%) and child care facilities (63%).    

• Having a fireworks display on Bonfire Night was the least favoured option 
for spending (76%).  Although a minority, sizeable proportions of 
respondents think spending could be reduced on arts and cultural events 
(38%) and reducing inequalities (33%). 

• 39% of respondents are aged between 18 and 54 years and 59% are aged 
over 55 years. 

7 A summary of the written and verbal representations made to each EDMS is held 
in the Members’ Library. 

Page 308



Annex 11 

City of York Council  Draft Committee Minutes 

Meeting Social Inclusion Working Group 

Date 28 January 2010 

Present Councillors Ayre (Chair), Aspden, Brooks, 
Crisp (Vice-Chair) and Gunnell 
 
Non-voting Co-opted Members: 
Nicola Bedford - Higher York 
Sue Lister - York Older People's Assembly 
Sarah Fennell - LGBT Forum 
Daryoush Mazloum  - York Racial Equality 
Network 
Corry Hewitt  - York Interfaith 
Paul Wordsworth - Churches Together in 
York 
Carolyn Suckling – York Access Group 
 

Apologies Rita Sanderson - York Racial Equality 
Network 
David Brown – York Access Group 
Steve Rouse – Equalities Team Leader – 
Youth Service 

 
26. Declarations of Interest  

 
Members were invited to declare at this point in the meeting any 
personal or prejudicial interests they might have in the business 
on the agenda.  None were declared. 
 
 

27. Minutes and Matters Arising  
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting of 2 

December 2009 be presented at the next 
meeting. 
 

In accordance with the Group’s request that their 
recommendations were tracked to ensure that they were being 
actioned, an update was given on matters arising from the 
previous minutes: 
 
 

Page 309



(i) Display Boards 
 

Discussion took place regarding the possibility of using the 
display boards during International Women’s Week.  
Possible venues put forward included Energise or the 
foyer at York St John University.1 
 

(ii) Hate Incidents 
 

The Group’s recommendations that the Hate Incident 
Reporting Strategy be reviewed as a matter of urgency 
and that the council work with partner organisations to 
ensure that a Community Cohesion Strategy was put in 
place as soon as possible, had been considered by the 
Executive at their meeting on 19 January 2010.  The 
Director of Neighbourhood Services informed SIWG that 
she had been asked by the Chief Executive to put 
together an action plan to move these issues forward. The 
action plan would be presented to SIWG for 
consideration.2 

 
Action Required  
1. Evie Chandler to discuss with Sue Lister before 
the next meeting  
2.  Include as an item on SIWG Workplan   
 

 
EC  
 
EC  

 
28. Public Participation  

 
It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak 
under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme. 
 
 

29. Workshop:  Council Revenue Budget 2010-11 - Equality 
Issues  
 
Officers gave a presentation on the Council Revenue Budget.   
They explained how the council received its revenue and the 
main areas of expenditure.  Details were also given of additional 
expenditure that would be needed over the next three years and 
of the ways in which the council consulted with the community 
regarding the budget. 
 
Officers outlined  how the  budget EIA process worked and 
noted that it was developing. They explained that they had 

Page 310



examined the revenue savings proposals taken forward to 
Executive Member Decision Sessions  and had identified those 
that they thought were likely to have a negative impact on 
people from the equality strands. They then invited members of  
SIWG to look at these proposals and consider their impact on 
people and groups from the equality strands. 
 
Officers summarised each of the service areas concerned, 
focusing on what they currently do, who their clients are and 
what could happen if these services were changed as a result of 
suggested efficiencies.   After each summary the Group was 
asked: 
 

1. What are the effects on the equality strands if this 
action is taken? 

2. What do you see as possible solutions to deal with 
any negative effects? 

 
The group then worked in small groups, recording their 
comments on post-it notes. Comments from the post-it notes 
are summarised below.             
 
Reducing the Mediation Service for private tenants 
 
What are the effects on the equality strands, if this action is 
taken? 

 
• Will place increased demands on neighbourhood policing 

and environmental services. 
• Could lead to increased criminal damage, due to 

unresolved neighbour disputes. 
• Could have implications for students, as they occupy 

mainly privately rented properties. 
• LGBT people who are subject to harassment, would lose 

support from this service 
• What happens if the issue is with a council tenant and a 

private tenant – can the service still help? 
• Impacts on community cohesion 
 

What do you see as possible solutions to deal with any negative 
effects? 
 

• Raise awareness of the issue – particularly [amongst] 
trans and gay men 

Page 311



• Regarding disputes involving students in private 
accommodation, explore partnership with York St John 

• Put the service out to the voluntary sector 
• Explore Housing Association links 
• Could the police and environment officers help? 
• Can voluntary organisations help e.g. a service level 

agreement with YREN? 
 

Reducing the availability of respite care  
 
What are the effects on the equality strands, if this action is 
taken? 
 

• Will put more pressure on the voluntary sector, which is 
also being squeezed, possibly leaving vulnerable people 
unsupported (see next point) 

• Less respite care (especially as it is means tested), may 
impact on vulnerable people by having a negative impact 
on the mental health of their carers - as they in turn will 
have access to less time away from their charges. 

• It will impact on all carers as they will have less time away 
from their charges. The ability of the carer to care will 
diminish and therefore vulnerable people that need the 
care, are likely to suffer. 

• Means testing – this will affect civil partnerships/marriage  
• Will force people who cannot afford it, into the private 

sector. 
• Will lead to deterioration in people’s quality of life 
• For people with multiple disabilities, support from the 

council is a key resource.  
 
What do you see as possible solutions to deal with any negative 
effects? 
 

• Use of individual budgets 
• Use of voluntary sectors 
• Make cuts elsewhere instead 
• Use specific charities for respite care e.g. MENCAP 
• Explore other funding sources  e.g. funds available from 

the government for children and young people. 
• Council needs to speak to individuals affected and guide 

them to find solutions - by signposting to respite services 
offered by the private sector for example. 

 

Page 312



 
Reduction in Adult Social Care Assessment posts 
 
What are the effects on the equality strands, if this action is 
taken? 
 

• It could cost more in the long run if people are not 
assessed quickly enough. 

• Longer waiting lists, may mean services/funding is 
delayed for vulnerable people. 

• It will affect LGBT people who are disproportionately likely 
to have mental health issues (see Stonewall website for 
statistics) that need speedy support. 

 
What do you see as possible solutions to deal with any negative 
effects? 
 

• Can other staff/volunteers be trained to support/assist to 
speed the process? 

• Prioritise people who are referred as having urgent mental 
health needs or ones that GPs or schools ask to be 
prioritised. 

• Have triage assessment of needs when referred and then 
prioritise based on that – like they do in A&E or CAB. 

• Some level of self- assessment? 
• Community assessment? 
 

Increase in Warden Call charges 
 
What are the effects on the equality strands, if we take this 
action? 
 

• This is unlikely to be an increase that makes people stop 
using the service 

• Seems reasonable – only a slight increase 
• 5p is negligible 

 
What do you see as possible solutions to deal with any negative 
effects?  None were put forward 
 
Increase in Residential Care charges 
 
What are the effects on the equality strands, if this action is 
taken? 

Page 313



 
• £4 a week rise may not work for people already struggling 

with a limited personal budget 
 
What do you see as possible solutions to deal with any negative 
effects?  None offered 
Whilst discussing Residential care, community representatives 
noted that there  is a risk of homophobia and transphobia in 
current residential care arrangements, as care is organised 
based on assumed straightness. For example, a trans person 
may wish to live on a male wing if they identify as male but may 
have female bodied health issues e.g. cervical cancer. It is 
important to ensure that LGBT issues are part of regular 
training, both in terms of health and also diversity. 

 
Reducing support for Community Arts 
 
What are the effects on the equality strands, if this action is 
taken? 
 

• Will have a disproportionate effect on young people and 
people from BME groups 

• There would be less arts and cultural provision for young 
people – the community arts service currently offer a huge 
number of projects 

• Would impact on community cohesion and hence impact 
on prejudice and crime 

• It will adversely affect people with mental health and 
disability issues, who access community arts for 
therapeutic issues  

•  
 
What do you see as possible solutions to deal with any negative 
effects? 
 

• More volunteering opportunities for students (students are 
seeking volunteering opportunities to enhance their CVs 
etc) 

• Look at other sources of funding – schools or voluntary 
groups? 

 
Views were put forward by community representatives that the 
proposals would have the greatest impact on the sick, the 
disabled and the poor and that these were the people who may 
be least able to make representation about the proposals.  

Page 314



Community representatives suggested that, if implemented, the 
proposals would be a lessening of investment in care and 
compassion in the city.    
 
It was noted that the information that had been presented to the 
group had focussed only on proposed savings and therefore 
members of the group may not be aware of areas of investment, 
for example in children’s social care. 
 
The group was informed that the consultation with SIWG formed 
part of the wider consultation that the council had carried out, 
which included a budget questionnaire sent to residents and 
meetings with businesses and the public.  Findings from all 
consultation would inform the budget EIA. 
 
Concerns were expressed regarding the way in which the 
consultation with SIWG had taken place. The following 
recommendations were identified for future consultation with 
SIWG on the council budget: 
 

• Consultation should take place at an earlier stage in the 
budget setting process.  The short timescale from specific 
proposals entering the public domain to the time at which 
decisions were taken made meaningful consultation very 
difficult.  

• More detailed information on the proposals was required – 
in writing as well as verbally.  The proposals should be 
circulated before the meeting to enable full consideration 
of the issues.  

• An overall picture of the budget was needed (including 
areas of proposed investment as well as cuts to 
expenditure). 

• A representative from each of the services affected should 
be present at the meeting to provide more information and 
answer questions. 

• Different options should be put to the group to enable 
them to comment on which of the proposals would have 
the most severe impact and to enable them to suggest 
priorities for expenditure. 

• Consideration should be given to holding two meetings – 
one in the daytime and one in the evening.  This would 
enable greater representation from SIWG members. 

• Consideration should be given as to whether it would be 
more appropriate for Members not to be present when the 
consultation took place, in view of the restrictions placed 

Page 315



upon them when issues in respect of the budget were 
discussed. 

 
 
RESOLVED: (i) That the feedback from the workshop be 

circulated to members of SIWG for 
further and final comment, before it is 
passed to the Executive.  

 
(ii) That the findings from the workshop be 

forwarded to the Executive when they 
meet on 16 February 2010 to consider 
the budget. 

 
(iii) That the recommendations made 

regarding improvements to the 
consultation process be taken on board 
when future consultations on the budget 
take place. 

 
REASONS: (i) To consider issues arising from the 

Equality Impact Assessment of the 
Council draft revenue budget for 2010-
11, and to assist officers in completing 
the relevant Equality Impact 
Assessment. 
 

(ii) To ensure effective and informed 
consultation on the budget. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 316



Annex 12 

RISK ASSESSMENT AND SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 
 
Risk Likelihood Seriousness How we will manage the risk 
Fluctuations in inflation, 
government grants and 
changes in legislation 

Medium High • reviewed through the financial strategy and monitored 
throughout the year 

• any changes in legislation fully considered 
• ensure that the minimum level of reserves is maintained to 
mitigate against risks 

Budgets are overspent Medium High • robust budget setting process 
• regular monitoring with corrective action 
• develop a culture of awareness 
• ensure budget holders have ownership of their budgets 
• ensure budget holders get adequate training in financial 
management 

• effective project planning and management 
• ensure sufficient contingency sums in the budget 

Savings are not achieved High High • regular budget monitoring to identify issues at an early stage 
• where savings are not achieved alternative savings must be 
identified 

• incorporation of a contingency sum within the budget 
• establishment of reserves to mitigate against non-achievement 
of savings 

• transformation programme is to be managed by the Chief 
Executive and the CMT 

Reserves are inadequate High High • minimum levels of reserves are set and reviewed each year 
with consideration given to budget risks 

• a quarterly report is to be prepared on the current reserve 
position 

 

P
age 317



Annex 12 

RISK ASSESSMENT AND SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 
 
Risk Likelihood Seriousness How we will manage the risk 
Changes in usage and 
demand affect revenue 
streams 

High High • regularly monitor income  
• review trends 
• ensure income budgets are realistic 
• ensure an adequate contingency sum is included 

Budget does not reflect 
corporate priorities 

Low High • ensure corporate involvement in the budget process 
• bids that are associated with the delivery of the corporate 
strategy milestones given a higher weighting 

• early consideration of budget pressures and changes in 
legislation 

• approved scoring criteria for prioritising capital bids 
The capital programme is 
not affordable 

Low High • all schemes are monitored through the 5 year capital 
programme 

• capital contingency reserve provides a balance to mitigate 
against overspends on capital schemes 

• budget growth provided to increase revenue support to capital 
• schemes are monitored and reported on a regular basis 

Poor planning with 
decisions being made 
without proper 
consideration/consultation 

Low High • develop a long term financial strategy 
• set out a clear budget timetable 
• regular updates to members 
• effective consultation process 

Budget does not consider 
the full impact of 
sustainability 

Medium Medium • the council has developed a sustainability policy which 
contains principals and measures that are to be implemented 
over the coming years 

The Budget does not 
assess equalities impact 
on its population and 
community groups 

Medium Medium • consult with SIWG 

 

P
age 318



Appendix 

Financial Strategy 2010-2016 

  Paragraph 
Numbers 

 A Purpose and scope of the strategy 1 - 2 

 B Links with other strategies 3 

 C Local and national priorities 4 - 8 

 D Current national issues 9 - 28 

 E The financial strategy’s objectives 29 - 39 

 F Development of the financial strategy 40 - 46 

 G Consultation 45 - 46 

 H Financial context 47 - 48 

(note: the capital plan will be incorporated into the final financial strategy - this report is 
considered as a separate agenda item) 

A. PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF THE STRATEGY 

1 The Financial Strategy sets out the framework of the council's budget by 
detailing how available resources will be allocated between services, reflecting 
council priorities, and providing the framework for the preparation of annual 
budgets.  In particular it: 

• sets out the council's medium term financial aims; 
• sets out the measures to be taken to ensure they will be achieved; 
• sets out the council's approach to delivering improved services and value 

for money over the next few years; 
• describes the council's arrangements for developing the medium term 

financial plan, including: 
- the identification and prioritisation of spending needs 
- the key financial influences on our medium term financial planning and 

the assumptions made in developing the plan 
- the challenges and risks associated with the plan and how we will deal 

with them. 
• sets out the council's policy on reserves and balances. 

2 The financial strategy covers all revenue and capital spending plans (the capital 
report is covered as a separate agenda item). 

B. LINKS WITH OTHER STRATEGIES 

3 The council's financial strategy and plan is linked with and supports service 
priorities and the council's other strategies and plans.  These include: 

Page 319



Appendix 

• The Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) 
There are 7 themes within the Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS), 
which was developed through a wide ranging, city wide consultation 
exercise and evidence analysis.  It is a partnership document, owned by the 
Local Strategic Partnership which describes the vision for York over the next 
20 years.  The Council support s the delivery of the SCS via the Local Area 
Agreement (LAA - the 3 year action plan), and most importantly, the aligning 
of the council’s Corporate Strategy to the themes of the SCS (therefore 
making a financial commitment to the delivery.)  

• The Council's Corporate Strategy 
The Corporate Strategy has been fully aligned to the SCS and the LAA.  
The development of the milestones and the budget process run 
simultaneously,  to ensure realistic targets are set  to meet the council’s 
commitments.  

Service planning carries the golden thread of delivery to work plans, 
ensuring that the financial commitments made are delivered successfully.  
Progress and corrective action , if needed, are discussed at CMT on a 
monthly basis and by the Executive quarterly, completing the picture of full 
integration of the financial and corporate planning functions. 

• The Asset Management Plan 
The Capital Resource Allocation Model (CRAM) process invites bids from 
Directorates asking them to put forward their main capital priorities as 
identified through their asset management plans which are aligned to the 
Council’s Corporate Strategy.  The financial strategy manages the impact of 
decisions taken on the Capital Programme resulting from the Asset 
Management Plan. 

• The IT Strategy and work programme 
There are 5 themes within the IT strategy, of these the following themes 
reflect issues dealt with as part of this financial strategy, particularly through 
the council’s Transformation Programme: 

1. Use technology to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of Council 
Services and the internal working of the Council 

2. Use technology to make services easy to access, high quality and efficient, 
effectively managed, and responsive to the particular needs of individuals 
and/or Customer groups. 

• The Procurement Strategy 
The current procurement strategy is being revised as part of the More for 
York workstream and its focus will be in support of the Councils drive for 
efficiency over the next three years.  Targets for savings from procurement 
activity have been identified and the strategy will set out how CYC intend to 
increase the effectiveness of expenditure control regimes, increase the 
commercial focus of the Council’s procurement activity and improve the 
future planning and visibility of its procurement activity. 

Page 320



Appendix 

• The Treasury Management Strategy 
Treasury Management is the management of the Authority’s cash flows its 
banking, money market and capital transactions, the effective control of 
risks associated with those activities and the pursuit of optimum 
performance associated with those risks. 

In order to comply with the various statutory frameworks within which the 
Treasury function has to operate, the Treasury Strategy and associated 
Prudential Indicators have to be approved by Council prior to 1st April of 
each financial year. 

Treasury Management strategy and activity is influenced by the capital 
investment and revenue spending decisions made by the Council.  

• The HR Strategy and other related HR policies 

C. LOCAL AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES 

Our priority themes 

4 The corporate strategy is in the second year of its three year life, with 
milestones currently being updated to ensure the successful delivery of the 
three year commitments.  This in turn will make a significant contribution to 
many of the priority local area agreements targets, and the aims of the 
sustainable community strategy, to which the corporate strategy has been fully 
aligned. 

5 The development of the milestones and the budget process run simultaneously 
to ensure realistic targets are set  to meet the council’s commitments.  Bids that 
are associated with the delivery of the corporate strategy milestones are given 
a higher weighting of importance than that of unrelated bids. 

6 The corporate strategy milestones undergo a large amount of scrutiny before 
being finalised.  This includes consideration by the corporate management 
team (CMT), the corporate leadership group and the Executive.  This ensures 
that the strategy is fully embedded within the culture of City of York Council, 
and value for money is considered at many levels before final agreement at 
budget council.  Thus the projects the corporate strategy committed to the 
public to deliver are funded where at all possible. 

7 Service planning carries the golden thread of delivery to work plans ensuring 
that the financial commitments made are delivered successfully.  Progress and 
corrective action, if needed, are discussed at CMT on a monthly basis and by 
the Executive quarterly, completing the picture of full integration of the financial 
and corporate planning functions. 

8 The council’s medium term financial planning is driven by these priorities.  By 
integrating the development of the budget and financial plan with these 
priorities we seek to ensure that resources have been allocated to deliver the 
corporate priorities in a robust and sustainable manner.  The financial strategy 

Page 321



Appendix 

also seeks to make links with national priorities.  In considering any proposals 
for investment the links to national priorities are considered.  By planning over a 
number of years the financial strategy aims to ensure that local and national 
priorities are delivered in the long term and service improvement and 
realignment is planned in an effective manner. 

D. CURRENT NATIONAL ISSUES 

External Influences 

9 Council tax provides for about 17% of the council's gross revenue spending, 
with the majority of the council's resources coming from central government as 
either direct or indirect grants.  Consequently, our financial strategy is to some 
extent shaped by factors outside our immediate control.  

10 However, there are many facets to an effective financial strategy and the 
council must ensure it proactively manages its resources with a view to 
ensuring robust financial planning that delivers council priorities. 

Comprehensive Area Assessment 

11 The white paper ‘Strong and Prosperous Communities' set out wide ranging 
proposals for support and improvement of local services.  A key part of these 
proposals is a new performance assessment framework, the comprehensive 
area assessment (CAA), which came into operation from 1 April 2009. 

12 CAA focuses on the delivery of outcomes that are the responsibility of the 
council and our partner organisations including police, health, fire and rescue 
services and other local authorities.  The process is based on two 
assessments: an area assessment and an organisational assessment.  

13 Community outcomes, efficiency, partnership working and value for money are 
key measures in these assessments with a new set of national indicators 
measuring the performance of the council and its partners against government 
priorities. 

14 The results of the first year's assessments were published in December 2009.  
The city received a Green Flag for its integrated services for disabled children 
and no Red Flags in the Area Assessment.  The council was found to be 
'Performing Adequately' overall in its organisational assessment. 

Three year settlements for Formula Grant and Revenue Financing 

15 In July 2005 the government announced the introduction of a multi-year 
settlement process in order to give more stability and certainty to local 
authorities.  The first full three-year settlement was announced in December 
2007 and covered the 2008/09, 2009/10 and 2010/11 financial years. 

16 The introduction of 3-year settlements is intended to improve the ability to 
forecast the overall financial position for the council.  However there will remain 

Page 322



Appendix 

significant uncertainties in long term planning as the level of grant is only part of 
a complicated set of assumptions used. 

Public Spending Plans and National Priorities 

17 It should be recognised that the growth in public spending in recent years 
(primarily towards health and education) is unlikely to continue at the same 
rate.  However, public services are under increased pressure from their 
customers for improved service provision.  In addition, national targets for 
improved service delivery are becoming common, including electronic service 
delivery, planning, concessionary fares and recycling.   

18 This financial strategy seeks to ensure national priorities are considered 
alongside local priorities. 

Efficiencies 

19 In October 2007 the Department of Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) published a report ‘Delivering Value for Money in Local Government’.  
The report highlights that public services have been set a target of achieving at 
least 3% net cash releasing value for money (VFM) gains per annum, between 
2008 and 2011. Collectively councils are expected to achieve £4.9 billion cash 
releasing efficiency by 2010/11. 

20 These efficiencies have to be achieved through a greater focus on VFM and 
through a culture of innovation.  Responsibility for identifying opportunities for 
efficiency gains is left to individual councils and it will be up to them to put in 
place the processes that they need to plan VFM projects, track delivery, 
measure achievement and assure service quality.  All councils’ progress on 
efficiency will be monitored and challenged through a number of methods 
including the CAA and a new performance framework consisting of 198 
performance indicators which includes a new national VFM indicator. 

21 The council recognises the need to ensure VFM and this is reflected in the 
corporate strategy.  To ensure the council can respond proactively to the major 
financial challenges it faces it launched the More for York programme during 
2009.  Savings from the programme are included in the 2010/11 budget and will 
be a key feature of future budgets beyond 2010/11. 

Sustainability 

22 Sustainability is a key measure of CAA.  It is about long term social and 
economic benefits, ensuring a strong healthy and just society as well as 
environmental concerns.  In order to ensure that the council’s services and 
actions promote sustainability the council has developed a sustainability policy 
which contains principles and measures that are to be implemented over the 
coming years. 

Page 323



Appendix 

Local Area Agreements 

23 Local area agreements (LAA) are about improving local services through a 3-
year agreement between the main public sector agencies working in an area 
and the government. 

24 Local public service agreements (LPSA) were developed by government as a 
means of raising performance and providing better public services in key areas. 
LPSA agreements focus on the performance of a selection of services and set 
specific improvement targets for them to hit.  The participating services are 
provided with up-front investment to aid achievement of this enhanced 
performance.  For meeting the targets set or for making significant progress 
towards them a reward grant is payable by government. 

25 York's second LPSA ran from April 2005 to December 2008 and had a potential 
performance reward grant (PRG) of £3,935,028.  There were 12 areas for 
improvement under this second agreement, which on completion attracted a 
reward of £2,008,451, approximately 51% of the total available.  We submitted 
a claim for this to DCLG in 2008/09 and received a first instalment of £874,451.  
A second claim will be submitted this year for the remainder.  After repayment 
of the venture fund (£1.09m) which helped pump prime the LPSA2 
improvement projects and other calls on the reward grant, a fund of 
approximately £660,000 was established and allocated to support projects 
which contributed to the achievement of LAA targets. 

Significant Partnerships 

26 In order to deliver more efficient services the council continues to work with a 
range of partner organisations throughout the area.  In some cases it has 
entered into a formal agreement with partners for the delivery of services and 
projects, examples include: 

• Safer York Partnership 
• Joint commissioning with the health authority 
• Joint agency panel for out of authority placements 
• Learning disabilities integrated services 
• Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation 
• Waste PFI with North Yorkshire County Council 

Area Based Grants (ABG) 

27 The government has significantly increased local authorities' flexibility over the 
use of their main stream resources in recent years by moving at least £5 billion 
into non-ring fenced general grants over the comprehensive spending review 
(CSR) period.  £4 billion of this amount has been moved into ABG.  ABG are 
allocated on a 3 year basis to tie in with 3 year finance settlements.  The grants 
are non ring fenced and the grant determinations do not include any conditions 
for use.  Local authorities are therefore free to use the grants as they see fit to 
support the delivery of local, regional and national priorities in their areas.  
During 2010/11 the council will receive ABG of £15.4m. 

Page 324



Appendix 

External Funding 

28 The Audit Commission sees the achievement of external funding as a key part 
in the demonstration of VFM.  External funding opportunities include European 
funding, lottery funding, and Yorkshire Forward funding . The council must 
carefully appraise the role that external grant resources can play in meeting its 
objectives.  Decisions about bidding for external grants must be taken in the 
context of the priorities in the corporate plan. 

E. THE FINANCIAL STRATEGY'S OBJECTIVES 

29 The financial strategy is designed to maintain financial stability and, as far as 
possible, avoid the need for large unplanned increases in council tax and 
unaffordable borrowing, whilst ensuring we have sufficient resources to achieve 
the corporate aims and priorities.  To this end, it is proposed that the medium 
term financial strategy should ensure the following specific objectives: 

30 Objective 1 - Budgets are prudent and sustainable in the long term 

This seeks to ensure that budgets recognise real cost pressures, and that no 
over reliance is placed upon any one-off savings, and/or use of one-off 
reserves.  This will be achieved by ensuring: 

• adequate provision is made for inflation pressures, current economic 
conditions, pay awards, and new legislation 

• the revenue budget is not supported by one-off savings, or any 
significant use of reserves 

• effective budget monitoring to ensure early identification of issues and 
action planning 

31 Objective 2 - Financial plans recognise corporate priorities and objectives 

This seeks to ensure that financial plans link with corporate planning and 
priorities, and that there is provision within the financial strategy for 
growth/development funding on an ongoing basis.  This will be achieved by 
ensuring: 

• additional investment and savings proposals make explicit reference to 
corporate priorities 

• local and national targets are considered 
• long term vision and objectives are considered within the report 
• provision within financial planning figures for growth and contingency 

amounts based upon perceived risk, 
• a review capital prioritisation process/option appraisal 

32 Objective 3 - Significant risks are identified, and factors to mitigate 
against those risks are identified 

Risk management is crucial in long term planning and it is essential that the 
financial strategy clearly identifies the associated risks and that this is 

Page 325



Appendix 

supported by an embedded risk management culture within the organisation.  
This will be achieved by: 

• risk management being embedded in corporate and service planning 
• financial risks being specifically considered on an ongoing basis, and 

specifically reflected within the financial strategy 
• targeting high risk areas when setting budgets and monitoring these 

areas closely throughout the year 

33 Objective 4 - The capital programme is planned over a 5 year period, with 
the revenue implications of planned capital investment incorporated into 
the financial strategy 

This seeks to ensure that advance provision is made within the financial 
strategy for the estimated revenue implications over the long term.  This will be 
achieved by ensuring: 

• the development of a 5 Year capital programme 
• the clear identification of potential unsupported borrowing 
• contingency funding is included within the capital programme 
• a corporate approach to external funding opportunities to maximise 

resources to the council. 

34 Objective 5 - Constraints on capital and revenue resources, including the 
uncertainties around future government funding, are recognised and 
taken into account 

It is important that the financial strategy is realistic and that there is a corporate 
awareness of the constraints on council funding.  This will be achieved by 
ensuring: 

• specific reference within each financial strategy of constraints and 
current issues 

• regular reporting to Executive on local government finance issues 
• awareness of the financial position within the organisation through an 

effective communication strategy 

35 Objective 6 - Council tax increases will be kept below the government's 
expected upper level of increase, and the broad anticipated increase for 
future years will be set out within the financial plans, recognising that 
these increases may be subject to change 

The government may in the future require authorities to set out planned council 
tax increases for the next three years.  It is important in developing the financial 
plan that an assumed council tax increase is included, ensuring that financial 
plans do not place over-reliance upon excessive council tax increases.  This 
will be achieved by ensuring that financial plans take account of this level of 
council tax increase, government expectations on council tax increases, and, in 
particular, that target efficiency gains reflect the likely levels of council tax.  
However, it has to be recognised that additional burdens and demands can be 

Page 326



Appendix 

placed upon local authorities, and that it may not always be feasible to achieve 
an increase in council tax in line with the inflation rate. 

36 Objective 7 - Prudent levels of general balances, reserves and 
contingencies are maintained in the context of an assessment of the risks 
facing the council 

It is important to strike a balance between maintaining adequate reserves and 
contingencies and delivering priorities and achievement of VFM.  This will be 
achieved by ensuring an annual review of reserves, linked to corporate 
priorities and treasury management implications. 

37 Objective 8 - VFM and achievement of improved efficiency and service 
delivery underpin the financial strategy 

VFM should be at the heart of everything the council does, and the pursuit of 
improved efficiency and performance needs to be established as an ongoing 
underlying principle.  This is being achieved through: 

• a corporate efficiency programme, linked to transformation through the 
More for York programme 

• a corporate approach to external funding 
• embedded finance and performance reporting to Members 
• benchmarking the costs and performance of our services 

38 Objective 9 - The financial strategy supports the achievement of 
excellence in financial management and use of resources 

A financial plan in isolation will achieve little.  It needs to be supported by: 

• effective financial governance arrangements 
• effective corporate governance embedding the principles contained 

within the CIPFA/SOLACE good governance framework, and the 
implementation and assurance of these principles through the council’s 
improvement plan/business model 

• financial management that supports performance 
• effective monitoring arrangements 
• effective financial reporting 

This will be achieved by: 

• implementation of the action plan in relation to the use of resources 
assessment.  A highly visible improvement plan focused on core 
procedures and processes that an effective council needs to have in 
place 

• developing the financial culture within the council 
• financial reporting and documentation based upon stakeholder needs 
• new financial systems (general ledger upgrade) 
• training and development - both financial and non-financial 
• integration of financial and non financial performance measures 

Page 327



Appendix 

39 These objectives are further explored throughout the report. 

F. DEVELOPMENT OF THE FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

40 As noted above, the development of the budget and medium term financial plan 
is driven by the council's priorities.  The financial strategy aims to help 
Members to determine priorities and forecasts the changes in demand for 
services, and the likely financial implications of changes in legislation.  The 
strategy also demonstrates the future cost of policies or proposals, and seeks 
to balance the demand for spending with the resources likely to be available.  
The strategy provides a financial framework within which departments and 
individual managers can plan their services. 

41 The financial strategy comprises a 5-year revenue plan and a 5-year capital 
plan. The plans will be reviewed annually and rolled forward by a year. 

42 The process, from the start of the review of the financial plans through to the 
approval and allocation of budgets, will span the whole year and will engage 
regularly with senior Members and senior managers throughout the council.  
Ownership and understanding of the financial strategy is crucial in ensuring 
effective long term planning within the council. 

43 One of the key features of the budget process is the linkage between the 
corporate financial requirements and the operational needs and demands of the 
council.  This is done through the service plans that identify funding 
requirements for the revenue and capital budget, performance outcome 
expectations and risk assessments. 

44 The financial strategy will be communicated to staff and other key stakeholders. 

G. CONSULTATION 

45 The council's budget has been widely consulted on.  The forms of consultation 
included the following: 

• the postal and web based survey of citizen's priorities for budget growth 
and savings 

• budget forums held separately for citizens and the business community 
where an in-depth analysis of the situation and options were discussed 

• Scrutiny Management Committee 
• Executive Member Decision Sessions (EMDS) where budget proposals, 

options and details, including service plans, were presented 

46 The main form of consultation was the postal and online survey of citizens’ 
views.  These surveys had a total of 12,694 responses up from 7,748 
responses last year.  This is around a 14.6% return, which is an exceptional 
response rate for this type of survey and up almost 64% up on the 2009 
consultation.  

Page 328



Appendix 

H. FINANCIAL CONTEXT 

47 Ever since York became a Unitary Council in 1996 its funding and spend 
position has been comparatively low compared to other the unitary authorities 
which were created at the same time.  York has a comparatively low level of 
council tax, spend per head and receives one of the lowest grant per head 
settlements as the following three charts show. 

48 In 2009/10 York had the second lowest Band D equivalent council tax of all 55 
unitary councils, it had the lowest spend per head and received the 9th lowest 
government grant per head.  Therefore York can be considered to be one of the 
lowest funded authorities in the country which is why decisions about the 
budget and the consequential impact on the council's priorities and services are 
difficult and important. 

2009/10 BAND D COUNCIL TAX (excl. precepts)

£0

£200

£400

£600

£800

£1,000

£1,200

£1,400

£1,600

  
Chart 1 - 2009/10 Band D Council Tax - All Unitaries 

Page 329



Appendix 

2009/10 SPEND PER HEAD

£0

£200

£400

£600

£800

£1,000

£1,200

 
Chart 2 - 2009/10 Spend per Head - All Unitaries 

2009/10 GOVERNMENT GRANT PER HEAD

£0

£100

£200

£300

£400

£500

£600

£700

 
Chart 3 - 2009/10 Grant per Head - All Unitaries 

Page 330


	Agenda
	
	2 Minutes
	4 Executive Forward Plan
	5 10:10 Campaign and Sustainability Update
	Sustainability Update Appendix 1
	Sustainability Update Appendix 2
	Sustainability Update Appendix 3 Campaign Project Breakdown

	6 Community Stadium - Update Report
	ANNEX 1

	7 Review of Discretionary Concessions Provision and the Introduction of a "Taxicard" for Disabled York Residents
	Annex A - Answers to Taxicard questions updated

	8 Comments from the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee Regarding the Referral from the Executive on Overspends in Adult Social Services
	Annex A - HASS Context
	Annex B - overspend report for health scrutiny
	Annex B1 -summary of overspends for scrutiny
	Annex B2 - Health Scrutiny Jan 2010

	9 Third Performance and Financial Monitor for 2009-10
	10 Capital Programme Monitor 3
	Annex A Capital Monitor 3

	11 Treasury Management Monitor 3 and Prudential Indicators 09/10
	Treasury Management Monitor 3 Annex A

	12 Capital programme Budget 2010/11 to 2014/15
	Annex A
	Annex B

	13 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential Indicators for 2010/11 to 2014/15
	Annex A
	Annex B
	Annex C
	Annex D
	Annex E
	Annex F
	Annex G

	14 Financial Strategy 2010 - 2016
	Annex 1 Summary of Budget
	Annex 2 Directorate Analysis of Budget
	Annex 3 Growth and Service Reprioritisation
	Annex 4 Detailed Savings Proposals
	Annex 5a More4York
	Annex 5b More4York
	Annex 6 Estimated Reserve Balances
	Annex 7 Contingency
	Annex 8 HRA Report
	Annex 8a HRA
	Annex 9 HRA Rent Increase
	Annex 10 Budget Consultation Feedback
	Annex 11 SIWG Draft Minutes
	Annex 12 Risk Assessment and Sensitivity Analysis
	Appendix - Financial Strategy 2010


